
Page 1 of 5 

 

AGENDA 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

CITY COUNCIL MEETING 
MONDAY, JUNE 07, 2021 
7:00 PM AT CITY HALL 

 

 
 
The City is providing in-person and electronic options for this meeting in accordance with the Governor's 
Proclamation of Disaster Emergency regarding meetings and hearings.  The City encourages in-person attendees 
to follow the latest CDC guidelines to reduce the risk of COVID-19 transmission. 

The meeting will be accessible via video conference and the public may access/participate in the meeting in the 
following ways: 
 
a) By dialing the phone number +13126266799 or +19292056099 or +12532158782 or +13017158592 or 
+13462487799 or +16699006833 and when prompted, enter the meeting ID (access code) 962 7287 1738. 
b) iPhone one-tap: +13126266799,,96272871738#  or +19292056099,,96272871738# 
c) Join via smartphone or computer using this link: https://zoom.us/j/96272871738.   
d) View the live stream on Channel 15 YouTube using this link: https://www.youtube.com/channel/UCCzeig5nIS-
dIEYisqah1uQ  (view only).  
e) Watch on Cedar Falls Cable Channel 15 (view only). 
 
To request to speak when allowed on the agenda, participants must click “Raise Hand” if connected by 
smartphone or computer, or press *9 if connected by telephone. All participants will be muted by the presiding 
officer when not actually speaking. 

Call to Order by the Mayor 

Roll Call 

Approval of Minutes 

1. Regular Meeting of May 17, 2021. 

Agenda Revisions 

Public Forum. (Speakers will have one opportunity to speak for up to 5 minutes on topics germane to City 

business.) 

Special Presentations 

2. Proclamation recognizing June 13-19, 2021 as Bird-Friendly City Week. 

3. Proclamation recognizing June 19, 2021 as Juneteenth - Freedom Day.  

Special Order of Business 

4. Public hearing on a proposal to undertake a public improvement project for the Ashworth Drive 
Extension Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published May 21, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 

1



Page 2 of 5 

d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving a public improvement project for the Ashworth Drive Extension Project, and 
authorizing acquisition of private property for said project. 

5. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the West 
27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published May 21, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project. 

6. Public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost for the Oak 
Park Boulevard Sanitary Sewer Replacement Project. 
 
a) Receive and file proof of publication of notice of hearing. (Notice published May 21, 2021) 
 
b) Written communications filed with the City Clerk. 
 
c) Staff comments. 
 
d) Public comments. 
 
e) Resolution approving and adopting the plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate of cost 
for the Oak Park Boulevard Sanitary Sewer Replacement Project. 

Old Business 

7. Pass Ordinance #2989, amending Section 26-118 of the Code of Ordinances by removing certain 
property located west of Cedar Heights Drive and north of Huntington Road from the A-1, Agricultural 
District and R-1, Residential Zoning District, and placing the same in the MU, Mixed Use Residential 
Zoning District, upon its second consideration. 

8. Pass Ordinance #2990, amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
Boards and Commissions, upon its second consideration. 

9. Pass Ordinance #2991, amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of 
Ordinances relative to prohibiting parking on portions of Algonquin and Ashworth Drives, upon its 
second consideration. 

New Business 

Consent Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by voice vote on a single motion without separate 
discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered separately.) 

10. Receive and file the Mayor's Monthly Report for May 2021. 

11. Receive and file the report of the Mayor relative to the appointment of standing committees for 2021. 

12. Receive and file the resignation of Willie B. Barney, Jr. as a member of the Human Rights 
Commission effective June 15, 2021. 

13. Approve the following recommendations of the Mayor relative to the reappointment of members to 
Boards and Commissions: 

2



Page 3 of 5 

a) Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Metropolitan Transit Authority Board of Trustees, term ending 
06/30/2024. 
b) Lauren Finke, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2025. 
c) Kendra Wohlert, Art & Culture Board, term ending 07/01/2025. 

14. Receive and file the Committee of the Whole minutes of May 17, 2021 relative to the following items: 
a) Downtown Zoning Ordinance. 
b) Recreation Update. 

15. Receive and file a communication from the Civil Service Commission relative to a certified list for the 
position of Public Safety Officer. 

16. Receive and file Departmental Monthly Reports of April, 2021. 

17. Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) Cypress Lounge, 209 State Street Suite A. 
b) Fareway, 4500 South Main Street. 
c) Fareway, 214 North Magnolia Drive. 
d) Hill Street News & Tobacco, 2217 College Street. 
e) King Star, 2228 Lincoln Street. 
f) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive. 
g) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street. 
h) Kwik Star, 4515 Coneflower Parkway. 
i) Panther Travel Center, 1525 West Ridgeway Avenue. 
j) Suds, 2223 1/2 College Street. 
k) Tobacco Outlet Plus, 4116 University Avenue Suite 104-105. 
l) Walgreens, 2509 Whitetail Drive.  
m) Walmart, 525 Brandilynn Boulevard. 

18. Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal.  
b) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 
c) Famous Dave's, 6222 University Avenue, Class C liquor -renewal. 
d) Harry's Five and Dime, 123 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
e) Los Cabos Mexican Restaurant, 112-114 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
f) Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 
g) Mulligan's Brick Oven Grill & Pub, 205 East 18th Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 
h) Hy-Vee Food Store, 6301 University Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal. 
i) Prime Mart, 2323 Main Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
j) Moonshine Mob Bar, 419 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - sidewalk café. 
k) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - temporary expansion of outdoor 
service area. (June 25-27, 2021) 
l) Sturgis Falls Celebration, Gateway Park, Special Class C liquor & outdoor service - 5-day permit. 

Resolution Calendar: (The following items will be acted upon by roll call vote on a single motion without 
separate discussion, unless someone from the Council or public requests that a specific item be considered 
separately.) 

19. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to remove snow and ice from the 
property located at 1122 West 22nd Street. 

20. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to remove snow and ice from the 
property located at 2413 Olive Street. 

21. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to remove snow and ice from the 
property located at 804 West Seerley Boulevard. 

22. Resolution levying a final assessment for costs incurred by the City to remove snow and ice from the 
property located at 818 West Seerley Boulevard. 

3



Page 4 of 5 

23. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Easement Agreement, in conjunction with a 
sidewalk café at 419 Main Street. 

24. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with WEX Health, 
Inc. relative to providing COBRA Administrative Services. 

25. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of the renewal of the City's Long Term Disability 
Policy with National Insurance Services for FY22-FY24. 

26. Resolution approving a Proposal for Facilitation Services, and authorizing execution of a contract 
with Iowa State University Extension relative to the Racial Equity Task Force. 

27. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of the Cedar Falls 
Community Theatre, Inc. relative to an FY2022 Community Betterment Grant. 

28. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of the Cedar Falls 
Historical Society relative to an FY2022 Community Betterment Grant.  

29. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of the College Hill 
Partnership relative to an FY2022 Community Betterment Grant. 

30. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of the University of 
Northern Iowa - Gallagher Bluedorn relative to an FY2022 Community Betterment Grant. 

31. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of the Robert J. Hibbs 
Cedar Falls VFW Post 3896 Gold Star Family Memorial relative to an FY2022 Community 
Betterment Grant. 

32. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement in Support of the Waterloo-Cedar 
Falls Symphony relative to an FY2022 Community Betterment Grant. 

33. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with 
ePRepSolutions, LLC for a Comprehensive Financial Analysis of Recreation & Community 
Programs. 

34. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Service/Product Agreement with Bear Creek 
Archeology, Inc. for cultural resources identification survey (CRIS) services in the industrial park, in 
conjunction with the Iowa Economic Development Authority (IEDA) Certified Site Program. 

35. Resolution approving a College Hill Neighborhood (CHN) Overlay Zoning District site plan for facade 
improvements at 2125 College Street. 

36. Resolution approving and accepting an Ingress and Egress Easement relative to the 302 Main Street 
and 123 East 3rd Street properties. 

37. Resolution approving the Blain’s Corner 2nd Addition Minor Subdivision Plat. 

38. Resolution approving a Hwy-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District site plan for construction of a 
grocery store at 315 Brandilynn Boulevard, as recommended by City staff. (contingent upon approval 
of previous item) 

39. Resolution approving and authorizing the expenditure of funds for the purchase of an end loader for 
the Public Works Department. 

40. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of a Lease Agreement with the Black Hawk County 
Solid Waste Management Commission relative to the use of certain city-owned property located at 
1500 Bluff Street by the WasteTrac environmental education team. 

41. Resolution approving the Certificate of Completion and accepting the work of Boulder Contracting, 
LLC for the 2020 Street Patching Project. 

4



Page 5 of 5 

42. Resolution receiving and filing the bids, and approving and accepting the low bid of Peterson 
Contractors Inc., in the amount of $6,520,858.73, for the Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction 
Project, and authorizing the City Engineer to execute the required contract, bond and insurance, 
using the Iowa Department of Transportation (IDOT) electronic file management system.  

43. Resolution approving and authorizing execution of Supplemental Agreement No. 3 to the 
Professional Service Agreement with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for construction services relative to 
the Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project. 

Allow Bills and Claims 

44. Allow Bills and Claims of June 7, 2021. 

City Council Referrals 

City Council Updates 

Staff Updates 

Executive Session to discuss 

45. Executive Session to evaluate the performance of the City Administrator pursuant to Iowa Code 
Section 21.5(1)(i). 

Adjournment 

5



CITY HALL 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, MAY 17, 2021 
REGULAR MEETING, CITY COUNCIL 

MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN PRESIDING 
  

The City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, met in Regular Session, 
pursuant to law, the rules of said Council and prior notice given each member 
thereof, at 7:00 P.M. on the above date. Members present: Miller, deBuhr, Kruse, 
Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn. Absent: None.  

 
53323 - It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the minutes of the Regular 

Meeting of May 3, 2021 be approved as presented and ordered of record. Motion 
carried unanimously.  

 
53324 -    Tammy Stahl, 1009 Lakeshore Drive, spoke in favor of removing mask mandate.   
 
  Jim Skaine, 2215 Clay Street, spoke opposed to the agenda format and the 

recent adoption of Ordinance #2988 relative to roles of the Mayor and City 
Administrator.   

 
  T.J. Frein, 1319 Austin Way, requested suspending the rules requiring 

consideration at three separate meetings for the proposed ordinance establishing 
parking near the Place to Play Park. 

   
53325 - Mayor Green read the following proclamations: 
 

 Proclamation recognizing May 16-22, 2021 as National Public Works Week.  
Public Works Director Schrage accepted the proclamation. 

 Proclamation recognizing June 5, 2021 as National Trails Day.  Cedar Trails 
Partnership President Troy Olson spoke about the local trails system. 

53326 -     Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of May 7, 2021, this 
was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposal to undertake a public 
improvement project for the Olive Street Box Culvert Project and to authorize 
acquisition of private property for said project. It was then moved by Darrah and 
seconded by Miller that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received 
and placed on file. Motion carried unanimously.  

53327 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
proposed project and acquisition. Upon being advised that there were no written 
communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. Civil Engineer 
Tolan provided a brief summary of the proposed project and acquisitions. Dan 
Breitbach, 9713 Westbrook Road, Jim Kerns, 3123 Cottonwood Lane, and 
Kathryn Sogard, Executive Director of College Hill Partnership, spoke in support 
of the project.  There being no one else present wishing to speak, the Mayor 
declared the hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
53328 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that Resolution #22,361, 

6

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 2 - 

 

approving a public improvement project for the Olive Street Box Culvert Project 
and authorizing acquisition of private property for said project, be adopted. 
Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,361 duly passed and adopted. 

  
53329 -     Mayor announced that in accordance with the public notice of May 7, 2021, this 

was the time and place for a public hearing on a proposed rezoning from A-1, 
Agricultural District and R-1, Residential Zoning District to MU, Mixed Use 
Residential Zoning District of a certain property located north of Huntington Road 
and west of Cedar Heights Drive, and also on an associated amendment to the 
Future Land Use Map by changing the designation from Office & Business Park 
to Planned Development. It was then moved by Kruse and seconded by Darrah 
that the proof of publication of notice of hearing be received and placed on file. 
Motion carried unanimously.  

53330 -  The Mayor then asked if there were any written communications filed to the 
proposed rezoning and amendment. Upon being advised that there were no 
written communications on file, the Mayor then called for oral comments. 
Planning and Community Services Manager Howard provided a summary of the 
proposed rezoning and land use amendment. Following comments by Attorney 
Eric Johnson speaking on behalf of the developer, the Mayor declared the 
hearing closed and passed to the next order of business. 

 
53331 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,362, 

approving an amendment to the Future Land Use Map by changing the 
designation from Office & Business Park to Planned Development, for property 
located west of Cedar Heights Drive and north of Huntington Road, be adopted. 
Following questions by Councilmember Harding and responses by Planning and 
Community Services Manager Howard, the Mayor put the question on the motion 
and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: 
Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion carried. 
The Mayor then declared Resolution #22,362 duly passed and adopted.  

 
53332 -     It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Kruse that Ordinance #2989, 

amending Section 26-118 of the Code of Ordinances by removing certain 
property located west of Cedar Heights Drive and north of Huntington Road from 
the A-1, Agricultural District and R-1, Residential Zoning District, and placing the 
same in the MU, Mixed Use Residential Zoning District, be passed on its first 
consideration. Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the 
question on the motion and upon call of the roll, the following named 
Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, 
deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion carried. 

 
53333 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that a resolution extending the 

face mask mandate for the City of Cedar Falls be adopted. Following comments 
by Rick Sharp, 1623 Birch Street, T.J. Frein, 1319 Austin Way, and 
Councilmembers Dunn and deBuhr, the Mayor put the question on the motion 

7

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 3 - 

 

and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: None. 
Nay: Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, deBuhr. Motion failed. 

 
53334 - It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Harding that the following items on the 

Consent Calendar be received, filed and approved: 
 

Approve the following applications for cigarette/tobacco/nicotine/vapor permits:  
a) Dollar General Store, 2921 Center Street. 
b) Dollar General Store, 1922 Valley Park Drive. 
c) Fleet Farm, 400 West Ridgeway Avenue. 
d) Fleet Farm Fuel, 108 West Ridgeway Avenue. 
e) Mini Mart, 1420 West 1st Street. 
f) Prime Mart, 2323 Main Street. 

Approve the following applications for beer permits and liquor licenses: 
a) Hurling Hatchet, 100 East 2nd Street, Class B beer - renewal. 
b) Hy-Vee Clubroom, 6301 University Avenue, Special Class C liquor - renewal. 
c) Berk's Main Street Pub, 207 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
d) Voodoo Lounge, 401 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 
e) Casey's General Store, 2425 Center Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 
f) Casey's General Store, 5226 University Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal. 
g) Walgreens, 2509 Whitetail Drive, Class E liquor - renewal. 
h) North Shore Boat Club, Island Park, Class B beer & outdoor service - 5 day 
permit. 
i) Mini-mart, 1420 West 1st Street, Class E liquor – new. 

        Motion carried unanimously. 

53335 -     It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Miller that the following resolutions be 
introduced and adopted: 

 
 Resolution #22,363, approving and adopting the City’s FY22 Appropriations 

Resolution. 

 Resolution #22,364, amending an inter-fund loan from the Capital Projects Fund 
to the Sewer Enterprise Fund relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV 
Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities Improvements Project and the Bluff 
Street Lift Station.  

 Resolution #22,365, amending an inter-fund loan (#1) from the Health 
Trust  Fund to the Sewer Enterprise Fund relative to funding for the Water 
Reclamation UV Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities Improvements 
Project. 

 Resolution #22,366, amending an inter-fund loan (#2) from the Health Trust Fund 
to the Sewer Enterprise Fund  relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV 
Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #22,367, amending an inter-fund loan (#3) from the Health Trust Fund 
to the Sewer Enterprise Fund relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV 

8

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 4 - 

 

Disinfection & Biosolids Handling Facilities Improvements Project. 

 Resolution #22,368, amending an inter-fund loan (#4) from the Health Trust Fund 
to the Sewer Enterprise Fund relative to funding for the Water Reclamation UV 
Disinfection & Biosolids Handing Facilities Improvements Project, Bluff Street Lift 
Station and the Park Drive Lift Station. 

 Resolution #22,369, designating the dates and locations for the annual Sturgis 
Falls Celebration and Cedar Basin Music Festival. 

 Resolution #22,370, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
the Use of State or Local Overtime and Authorized Expense/Strategic Initiative 
Program for Organized Crime Drug Enforcement Task Forces (OCDETF) for 
FY2021. 

 Resolution #22,371, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Wrecker/Towing/Storage Service with L&M Transmission. 

 Resolution #22,372, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Wrecker/Towing/Storage Service with Rasmussen Towing, Inc. 

 Resolution #22,373, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement to 
Support Economic Development Program of the College Hill Partnership relative 
to an FY22 Economic Development Grant. 

 Resolution #22,374, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement to 
Support Economic Development Program of Cedar Falls Community Main Street 
relative to an FY22 Economic Development Grant. 

 Resolution #22,375, approving and accepting an Access Easement relative to 
proposed development at 422 Main Street.  

 Resolution #22,376, approving and authorizing execution of a Subrecipient 
Agreement for Federally Funded Project with the Northeast Iowa Food Bank for 
Community Development Block Grant (CDBG-CV2) funding relative to the 
CARES Act. 

 Resolution #22,377, approving an amendment to the Autumn Ridge Master Plan 
relative to Autumn Ridge Tenth Addition. 

 Resolution #22,378, approving the preliminary plat of Autumn Ridge Tenth 
Addition. 

 Resolution #22,379, approving the final plat of Autumn Ridge Tenth Addition. 

 Resolution #22,380, approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement for 
Maintenance and Repair of Primary Roads in Municipalities with the Iowa 
Department of Transportation. 

 Resolution #22,381, approving and authorizing execution of two Owner Purchase 
Agreements, and approving and accepting two Temporary Construction 
Easements and three Permanent Easements, in conjunction with the West 27th 

9

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 5 - 

 

Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project. 

 Resolution #22,382, setting June 7, 2021 as the date of the public hearing on a 
proposal to undertake a public improvement project for the Ashworth Drive 
Extension Project, and to authorize acquisition of private property for said project.  

 Resolution #22,383, receiving and filing, and setting June 7, 2021 as the date of 
public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 
of cost for the West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project.  

 Resolution #22,384, receiving and filing, and setting June 7, 2021 as the date of 
public hearing on the proposed plans, specifications, form of contract & estimate 
of cost for the Oak Park Boulevard Sanitary Sewer Replacement Project. 

Following due consideration by the Council, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted. 
Aye: Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion 
carried. The Mayor then declared Resolutions #22,363 through #22,384 duly 
passed and adopted. 

53336 -   It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that Resolution #22,385, 
approving and authorizing execution of an Agreement to Support Economic 
Development in the Cedar Valley with Grow Cedar Valley relative to an FY22 
Economic Development Grant, be adopted. Following due consideration by the 
Council, the Mayor then put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, 
the following named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Sires, Dunn, 
Miller, deBuhr. Nay: None. Abstain: Darrah.  Motion carried. The Mayor then 
declared Resolution #22,385 duly passed and adopted. 

    
53337 -    It was moved by Harding and seconded by Darrah that Ordinance #2990, 

amending Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code of Ordinances relative to 
Boards and Commissions, be passed upon its first consideration. Following a 
question by Councilmember Harding and responses by City Attorney Rogers, the 
Mayor put the question on the motion, and upon call of the roll, the following 
named Councilmembers voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, 
deBuhr. Nay: None. Motion carried.  

 
53338 -      It was moved by Darrah and seconded by Miller that Ordinance #2991, 

amending Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, of the Code of Ordinances 
relative to prohibiting parking on portions of Algonquin and Ashworth Drives, 
upon its first consideration.  Following a question by Councilmember deBuhr and 
response by Director of Public Works Schrage, the Mayor put the question on the 
motion, and upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers voted.  
Aye:  Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, deBuhr.  Nay:  None.  Motion 
carried. 

 
53339 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the bills and claims of May 

17, 2021 be allowed as presented, and that the Controller/City Treasurer be 
authorized to issue City checks in the proper amounts and on the proper funds in 
payment of the same. Upon call of the roll, the following named Councilmembers 

10

Item 1.



 
 

 

- 6 - 

 

voted. Aye: Kruse, Harding, Darrah, Sires, Dunn, Miller, deBuhr. Nay: None. 
Motion carried. 

 
53340 - It was moved by Dunn and seconded by Darrah to refer to the Committee of the 

Whole consideration of the Bicycle and Pedestrian Advisory Committee 
becoming a formal commission.  Following a comment by Councilmember Kruse, 
the Mayor put the question on the motion and the following named 
Councilmembers voted.  Motion carried 6-1, with deBuhr voting Nay. 

    
53341 -     City Administrator Gaines announced that facemasks will not be required to be 

worn in City buildings by staff or public after the current mandate expires.  Mayor 
Green encouraged compassion towards those who continue to wear face masks. 

 
53342 -    It was moved by Kruse and seconded by Harding that the meeting be adjourned 

at 8:00 P.M.  Motion carried unanimously. 
 
 
     ________________________________ 
  Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 
 

 

11

Item 1.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 

 
 

BIRD-FRIENDLY CITY WEEK 
June 13-19, 2021  

 
WHEREAS, Cedar Falls has many parks, lakes, continuous forests, and walking and 

bike trails hospitable to birds; and 

 

WHEREAS, Cedar Falls is home to the Hartman Reserve Nature Center, Black Hawk 

County Park, Big Woods Lake, Prairie Park Lake, University of Northern Iowa, the 

North Cedar Natural Resource Project, the Wildlife Rehabilitation Center, Darrell 

Smith Prairie, the Dry Run Creek Initiative, and many citizens’ front and back yards 

with native pollinators; and  

 

WHEREAS,  through the hard work of dedicated local ornithophiles, Cedar Falls was 

in 2020 designated as an official Bird Friendly City for the first time, by Bird Friendly 

Iowa; and 

 

WHEREAS, it is proper and fitting that Cedar Falls residents be encouraged to 

promote healthy habitats and bird populations (particularly for the most at-risk 

birds), because a healthy bird population is closely connected to a healthy world 

environment; 

 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, do hereby 

proclaim the week of June 13-19, 2021 as Bird Friendly City Week in Cedar Falls 

and encourage residents to celebrate and promote our avian friends through efforts 

to expand habitats, visiting our area’s natural resource sites, and choosing small 

ways to make our community more bird-friendly. 

 Signed this 3rd day of June, 2021. 

 

______________________________________                                          

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 
   

 
12

Item 2.



 

   MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

 

 

 

 
 

JUNETEENTH – FREEDOM DAY 
JUNE 19, 2021 

 
WHEREAS, on January 1, 1863, President Lincoln issued the Emancipation Proclamation,  declaring 

all enslaved people in the Confederacy “shall be then, thenceforward, and forever free”; and 

 

WHEREAS, on June 19, 1865, Union soldiers arrived in Galveston, Texas, deep in the former 

Confederacy, to proclaim the end of slavery to the enslaved people of that region; and 

WHEREAS, June 19th is celebrated as Juneteenth – National Freedom Day each year by descendants 

of more than four million enslaved people, to commemorate the end of American slavery; and  

WHEREAS, after 250 years of institutionalized slavery, descendants of these enslaved people have 

faced oppression through segregation, red-lining, racial profiling, and other injustices; and 

WHEREAS, healing and reconciliation from the trauma of slavery and its repercussions can only 

occur through open, frank dialogue, and a recognition of the dangers and damages caused by 

continued racism -- both overt and subtle; and 

WHEREAS, the State of Iowa recognizes Juneteenth as an official state holiday; and 

WHEREAS, the Cedar Valley is home to a richly diverse community committed to the health, safety, 

and well-being of every one of its members, we as the Citizens of Cedar Falls stand in solidarity with 

those pursuing equality, inclusion, and justice in their homes, workplaces, and communities in our 

region, across our state and nation, and around the world; and 

WHEREAS, Juneteenth offers residents of Cedar Falls an opportunity to reflect and act on our 

individual and community responsibility to ensure justice for every member of society; 

NOW, THEREFORE, I, Robert M. Green, Mayor of the City of Cedar Falls, do hereby proclaim June 

19, 2021 as Juneteenth in Cedar Falls and encourage residents to celebrate the end of American 

slavery, work to end continued inequalities and discrimination, and to actively participate in 

Juneteenth commemoration events both physical and virtual in Black Hawk County and beyond. 

 Signed this 3rd day of June, 2021. 

 

______________________________________                                          

Mayor Robert M. Green 

 
   

 

13

Item 3.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO:   Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 
 
 FROM:  Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE:  June 3, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Ashworth Drive Roadway Extension 
    City Project No. CP-197-3244 
    Public Hearing 
 
 
The City of Cedar Falls is planning to extend Ashworth Drive from Prairie Winds 4th 
Addition to Hudson Road. The project will require the acquisition of easements to 
complete the street connection. The project will include placement of water main, storm 
sewer and sanitary sewer.  
 
Plans for the project shows the need for fee title and/or easement acquisitions from two 
(2) properties. The proposed plan for the constructed street shows the need for 
permanent acquisition of the driveway easement at 4923 Hudson Road and a 
permanent acquisition from property at 4919 Hudson Road. 
 
Iowa law requires that the City Council holds a public hearing to authorize proceeding 
with the project, including the purchase of right-of-way. The public hearing offers an 
opportunity for the public, especially those from whom the fee title and easement 
acquisition will be purchased, to comment on the project. 
 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

14

Item 4.



PROPOSED
31' WIDE P.C.C. PAVEMENT

ASHWORTH DRIVE
(60' R.O.W.)

LOT 18 LOT 17 LOT 16 LOT 15 LOT 14

"PRAIRIE WINDS 4TH ADDITION"

"P
RA

IR
IE

 W
IN

DS
 4

TH
 A

DD
IT

IO
N"

"UNPLATTED"

SE 1/4 NW 1/4
SEC. 26-T89N-R14W

10' UTILITY
EASEMENT

30'± 31'±

4923 HUDSON ROAD
(APPROXIMATE HOUSE LOCATION) EXISTING INGRESS/EGRESS

EASEMENT

44'± 45'±

PROPOSED
P.C.C. DRIVEWAY

PRELIMINARY LAYOUT FOR
ASHWORTH DRIVE EXTENSION TO

HUDSON ROAD
JANUARY 2021

HU
DS

ON
 R

OA
D

SCALE:  1" = 40'
15

Item 4.

AutoCAD SHX Text
ONLY

tolanm
Polygon

tolanm
Callout
4919 HUDSON ROAD(APPROXIMATE HOUSE LOCATION)



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: June 3, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension  
  City Project Number RC-000-3240 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the West 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project. 
 

We recommend setting Monday, June 7th, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public 
hearing on this project and Tuesday, June 15th, 2021 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by May 
21st, 2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on May 21st, 
2021, allowing more than three (3) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 

This project consists of 1,600 linear feet of sanitary sewer placement to extend sanitary sewer 
service prior to the West 27th Street Reconstruction project. This proposed sanitary sewer 
extension will be a separate construction contract with street improvements to follow in 2022-
2023. The proposed sewer extension will serve the proposed Cedar Falls High School site 
along with future residential development north of West 27th Street and east of Union Road.  
 

The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $281,396.00.  The City will use 
Sanitary Sewer Rental Funds for the design and right of way portion of this project, until the 
sanitary sewer district is established at the end of the project. 
 

The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 

xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

16

Item 5.



4/30/2021

ITEM NO. DESCRIPTION UNIT
ESTIMATED 
QUANTITY

ESTIMATED 
UNIT PRICE

TOTAL

1 CLEARING AND GRUBBING ACRE 0.7                6,000.00$     4,200.00$                   
2 STRIP, SALVAGE, AND RESPREAD TOPSOIL CY 3,580.0         12.00$          42,960.00$                 
3 SUBGRADE PREPARATION, 12 INCH SY 251.0            1.60$            401.60$                      
4 MODIFIED SUBBASE, 6 INCH SY 251.0            7.00$            1,757.00$                   
5 REPLACEMENT OF UNSUITABLE BACKFILL MATERIAL CY 100.0            28.00$          2,800.00$                   
6 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, TRUSS, 8 INCH LF 8.0                90.00$          720.00$                      
7 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, TRUSS, 12 INCH LF 8.0                90.00$          720.00$                      
8 SANITARY SEWER GRAVITY MAIN, TRENCHED, TRUSS, 15 INCH LF 1,644.0         80.00$          131,520.00$               
9 SUBDRAIN INSTALLATION, LESS THAN 10 INCH LF 200.0            12.00$          2,400.00$                   

10 MANHOLE, SW-301, 48 INCH EA 5.0                6,500.00$     32,500.00$                 
11 CONNECTION TO EXISTING SANITARY MANHOLE EA 1.0                700.00$        700.00$                      
12 GRANULAR SURFACING SY 36.7              10.00$          367.00$                      
13 TEMPORARY PAVEMENT SY 214.0            45.00$          9,630.00$                   
14 PAVEMENT REMOVAL SY 214.0            7.00$            1,498.00$                   
15 PAINTED PAVEMENT MARKINGS, WATERBORNE STA 1.8                60.00$          107.40$                      
16 TRAFFIC CONTROL LS 1.0                5,000.00$     5,000.00$                   
17 SAFETY FENCE LF 300.0            5.00$            1,500.00$                   
18 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING - TYPE 3 SEED MIX ACRE 0.65              4,000.00$     2,600.00$                   
19 SEEDING, FERTILIZING AND MULCHING FOR HYDRAULIC SEEDING - TYPE 5 SEED MIX ACRE 0.65              4,000.00$     2,600.00$                   
20 SWPPP MANAGEMENT LS 1.0                2,500.00$     2,500.00$                   
21 TEMPORARY ROLLED EROSION CONTROL PRODUCTS (RECP) SY 600.0            3.00$            1,800.00$                   
22 SILT FENCE, INSTALLATION LF 1,555.0         3.00$            4,665.00$                   
23 SILT FENCE, MAINTENANCE LF 1,555.0         3.00$            4,665.00$                   
24 SILT FENCE, REMOVAL LF 1,555.0         1.00$            1,555.00$                   
25 CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE SY 175.0            18.00$          3,150.00$                   
26 MOBILIZATION LS 1.0                15,000.00$   15,000.00$                 
27 FIELD FENCE, REMOVAL AND REINSTALL LF 255.0            16.00$          4,080.00$                   

TOTAL ESTIMATED CONSTRUCTION COSTS 281,396.00$          

W. 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project 
Engineer's Opinion of Costs

17

Item 5.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 

 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 
 
 DATE: June 3, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair  
  City Project Number SA-002-3182 
  Public Hearing 
 
Submitted within for City Council approval are the Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs 
and Quantities for the Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair Project. 
 

We recommend setting Monday, June 7th, 2021 at 7:00 p.m. as the date and time for the public 
hearing on this project and Friday, June 11th, 2021 at 2:00 p.m. as the date and time for 
receiving and opening bids. We also request that the Notice to Bidders be published by May 
21st, 2021. The Plans and Specifications will be ready for distribution to contractors on May 21st, 
2021, allowing three (3) weeks of review before contract letting. 
 

This project consists of 800 linear feet of sanitary sewer removal and replacement. The project 
also includes the abandonment and removal of the previously failed aerial sanitary line that 
collapsed. The total estimated cost for the construction of this project is $545,000.00. The City 
will use Sanitary Sewer Rental Funds for the design, right of way portion, and construction of 
this project. 
 

The Plans, Specifications, and Estimate of Costs and Quantities are available for your review at 
the City Clerk's office or the Engineering Division of the Public Works Department. 
 

xc: David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 
 Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

  

18

Item 6.



5/12/2021

1 2010-C Clearing and Grubbing 1 LS 15,000.00$              15,000.00$              
2 2010-D-1 Topsoil, On-site 242 CY 7.50$                        1,815.00$                 
3 2010-E Excavation, Class 13 67 CY 13.00$                      871.00$                    
4 2010-G Subgrade Preparation 455 SY 3.00$                        1,365.00$                 
5 2010-I Subbase, 12" Modified 69 SY 15.00$                      1,035.00$                 
6 2010-J-1 Removal of Structure 4 EA 1,500.00$                 6,000.00$                 
7 2010-L Compaction Testing 1 LS 2,000.00$                 2,000.00$                 
8 3010-C Trench Foundation 59 TON 25.00$                      1,475.00$                 
9 3010-D Replacement of Unsuitable Backfill Material 103 CY 25.00$                      2,575.00$                 

10 3010-F Trench Compaction Testing 1 LS 2,000.00$                 2,000.00$                 
11 4010-A-1 Sanitary Sewer Gravity Main, Trenched, PVC, SDR 26, 8" 560 LF 150.00$                    84,000.00$              
12 4010-A-2 Sanitary Sewer Gravity Main, Trenchless, PVC, AWWA C900 SDR 18, 8" 284 LF 250.00$                    71,000.00$              
13 4010-E Sanitary Sewer Service Stub, PVC, SDR 23.5, 4" 78 LF 50.00$                      3,900.00$                 
14 4010-H Removal of Sanitary Sewer, All Types and Sizes 714 LF 25.00$                      17,850.00$              
15 4010-I Sanitary Sewer Cleanout 2 EA 3,000.00$                 6,000.00$                 
16 4010-L Sanitary Sewer Abandonment, Fill and Plug 49 LF 45.00$                      2,205.00$                 
17 4020-A-1 Storm Sewer, Trenched, RCP, 21" 48 LF 90.00$                      4,320.00$                 
18 4020-D Removal of Storm Sewer, RCP, 21" 48 LF 40.00$                      1,920.00$                 
19 4040-A Subdrain, Type 1, 6" 20 LF 25.00$                      500.00$                    
20 6010-A Manhole, SW-301, 48" 1 EA 9,000.00$                 9,000.00$                 
21 6010-A Manhole, SW-301, 60" 3 EA 10,000.00$              30,000.00$              
22 6010-A Manhole, SW-303, 60" 1 EA 8,000.00$                 8,000.00$                 
23 6010-C-2 External Drop Connection 2 EA 4,000.00$                 8,000.00$                 
24 6010-H Remove Manhole 4 EA 3,000.00$                 12,000.00$              
25 7010-A Pavement, PCC,  7" 69 SY 55.00$                      3,795.00$                 
26 7030-A Removal of Sidewalk 178 SY 15.00$                      2,670.00$                 
27 7030-A Removal of Driveway 204 SY 15.00$                      3,060.00$                 
28 7030-E Sidewalk, PCC, 4" 182 SY 40.00$                      7,280.00$                 
29 7030-H-1 Driveway, Paved, PCC, 6" 203 SY 45.00$                      9,135.00$                 
30 7040-B Subbase Over-excavation 143 TON 20.00$                      2,860.00$                 
31 7040-H Pavement Removal 69 SY 20.00$                      1,380.00$                 
32 8030-A Temporary Traffic Control 1 LS 2,500.00$                 2,500.00$                 
33 9010-B Hydraulic Seeding, Seeding, Fertilizing, and Mulching, Slope Mix 0.3 AC 10,000.00$              3,000.00$                 
34 9020-A Sod 167 SQ 100.00$                    16,700.00$              
35 9030-A Plants, Trees 5 EA 750.00$                    3,750.00$                 
36 9040-A-2 SWPPP Management 1 LS 5,000.00$                 5,000.00$                 
37 9040-D-1 Filter Sock, 12" 1362 LF 2.50$                        3,405.00$                 
38 9040-D-2 Filter Sock, Removal 1362 LF 1.50$                        2,043.00$                 
39 9040-E-0 Temporary RECP, Type 4 1000 SY 25.00$                      25,000.00$              
40 9040-O-1 Stabilized Construction Entrance 133 SY 10.00$                      1,330.00$                 
41 9040-T-1 Inlet Protection Device, Filter Sock 2 EA 1,000.00$                 2,000.00$                 
42 9040-T-2 Inlet Protection Device, Maintenance 2 EA 50.00$                      100.00$                    
43 11,020-A Mobilization 1 LS 100,000.00$            100,000.00$            
44 11,030-A Maintenance of Postal Service 1 LS 1,000.00$                 1,000.00$                 
45 11,030-B Maintenance of Solid Waste Collection 1 LS 1,000.00$                 1,000.00$                 
46 11,040-A Temporary Pedestrian Residential Access 176 SY 15.00$                      2,640.00$                 
47 11,050-A Concrete Washout 1 LS 2,500.00$                 2,500.00$                 
48 0000-999-A Railroad Requirements 1 LS 50,000.00$              50,000.00$              

TOTAL (ROUNDED): 545,000.00$            

UNIT PRICE

OPINION OF PROBABLE PROJECT COSTS

ITEM 
NO.

ITEM CODE ITEM UNIT

OAK PARK BLVD SEWER REPLACEMENT
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS

119.0115.08

QUANTITY EXTENDED PRICE

\\Gemini\Volume\Projects\2019\119.0115.08\CADD\EstRefInfo_OakParkBlvd.xlsm
1 of 1

5/13/2021
19

Item 6.



1 
 

DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 
 TO: Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Karen Howard, AICP, Planning & Community Services Manager  
 

 DATE: May 13, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Rezoning Request 4800 Block Cedar Heights Drive Oster Property (RZ21-001) 
_____________________________________________________________________________ 
 
REQUEST: 
 

Rezone property from A-1, Agricultural District and R-1, Residential Zoning 
District to MU, Mixed Use Residential Zoning District. Update the Pinnacle 
Prairie Master Plan accordingly. 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Oster Family Limited Partnership 
 

LOCATION: 
 

500 feet north of Huntington Road, west Side of Cedar Heights Drive 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
Oster Family Limited Partnership has requested to rezone approximately 15 acres of property 
from the A-1, Agricultural District (approx. 12 acres) and R-1, Residential Zoning District 
(approx. 3 acres) to MU, Mixed Use Residential Zoning District. As shown on the attached 
rezoning plat, this property is located 500 feet north of Huntington Road along the west side of 
Cedar Heights Drive. The applicant has submitted a concept plan for the area proposed for 
rezoning that will be intended largely for multi-unit dwellings.  
 
BACKGROUND 
A similar rezoning request was considered by the Planning and Zoning Commission in 
September and October 2020. That petition was denied by the Commission due to the lack of 
an east-west street connection through the development to Cedar Heights Drive. The applicant 
had revised their original proposal to modify the street pattern to include a street connection that 
will align with the Huntington Drive intersection with Cedar Heights Drive. They are now 
requesting to incorporate this new area of multi-unit dwellings into the Pinnacle Prairie Master 
Plan, which is zoned MU, Mixed Use Residential Zoning District.  
 
The approximately 624 acres to the west and south were rezoned from RP Planned Residential 
Zoning District and A-1 Agricultural Zoning District to MU Mixed Use Residential Zoning District 
in 2004, subject to a developmental procedures agreement and master plan, known as Pinnacle 

20

Item 7.



2 
 

Prairie. The submitted master plan was revised in 2015, with an associated amendment to their 
developmental procedures agreement. The approved 2015 Master Plan is shown below for 
reference and is also included in your packet as an attachment. 

 
The property north of the subject property is currently zoned C-1 Commercial Zoning District, 
and is developed with multi-unit dwellings. The property across Cedar Heights Drive to the east 
was zoned MU in 2006, but the area along Cedar Heights Drive intended for commercial uses 
remains undeveloped.  
 
The intent of this request for rezoning is to incorporate the subject property into the larger 
Pinnacle Prairie MU District and update the eastern portion of the master plan accordingly. A 
draft “Pinnacle Prairie East Concept Plan” is attached to this report.  
 
If the rezoning is approved and master plan updated, the next step would be to bring forward a 
preliminary plat for the larger concept plan area. This will make it possible to final plat the multi-
family area, so the owner can market it to potential buyers. A detailed site plan would be 
submitted when development is proposed, which will need to be in compliance with the adopted 
master plan and subdivision plat. The developmental procedures agreement will also need to be 
updated to address the changes in the master plan.  
 
 
 
 

21

Item 7.



3 
 

ANALYSIS 
 
Existing and Proposed Zoning 
The purpose of A-1 Agricultural District is to act as a "holding zone" in areas of the city that 
are undeveloped and not served by essential municipal services (i.e., sanitary sewer, water, 
roadways) but where future growth and development is anticipated according to the 
Comprehensive Plan. The purpose of R-1 Residential Zoning District is to provide 
opportunities for low density, primarily single-dwelling residential development in areas that 
are served by essential municipal services.  
 
The Mixed Use (MU) Residential Zoning District designation is established for the purpose of 
accommodating integrated residential and neighborhood commercial land uses on larger 
parcels of land for the purpose of creating viable, self-supporting neighborhood districts. The 
MU residential district strives to encourage innovative development that incorporates high-
quality building design, careful site planning, and preservation of unique environmental 
features with an emphasis upon the creation of open spaces and amenities that enhance the 
quality of life of residents. To that end, a detailed master plan is required at the time of 
rezoning. As stated previously, an updated master plan for the eastern portion of the Pinnacle 
Prairie development has been submitted by the applicant. This includes the area proposed for 
rezoning. The draft “Pinnacle Prairie East Concept Plan” is described in more detail below. 
However, the first test for a proposed rezoning is whether it complies with the Comprehensive 
Plan.  
 
Compliance with the Comprehensive Plan and Future Land Use Map 
 
During review of the previous rezoning proposal, the Commission voted to recommend a 
change to the Future Land Use Map in the in the City’s Comprehensive Plan. The Future Land 
Use Map in the City’s Comprehensive Plan designates the area that is the subject of the 
rezoning request as a combination of “Office and Business Park,” “Planned Development,” and 
“Greenways and Floodplain,” as shown on the following page. The applicant made a good case 
that the appropriate designation of the area east of the Green Creek floodplain is “Planned 
Development” as it will allow this area to be integrated into the master planned development to 
the west and south.  Staff concurred, provided there are adequate street connections provided 
from the new proposed MU area to the Pinnacle Prairie development to the west.  Staff also 
agreed with their assessment that “the property located on the east side of Cedar Heights Drive 
across the street from the subject property is identified on the City’s Plan as “Neighborhood 
Commercial/Mixed Use” and is entitled for a retail commercial center.  Additional residential 
units in this area will increase the viability of the development of the site for neighborhood 
commercial use and provide retail and service businesses within walking distance of the 
proposed project.”  There is a concern that there may be too much area designated on the 
future land use map for commercial use to be supported by the market, which may explain why 
the land on the east side of Cedar Heights Drive remains undeveloped. Additional residential 
development in the area may provide additional market demand for neighborhood commercial 
development. The Commission’s recommendation to amend the Future Land Use Map to 
designate the area east of the Green Creek floodplain and west of Cedar Heights Drive as 
appropriate for “Planned Development,” is being forwarded to City Council concurrently 
with the proposed rezoning request.  
 

22

Item 7.



4 
 

 
 
Future Land use Map (Legend) 

Planned Development- 
Office and Business Park -  
Greenways and Floodplain- 

 
 
Amendment to the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan 
As stated in the zoning ordinance, “the owner of a property may seek approval of a mixed use 
residential zoning designation with the simultaneous submittal of a comprehensive development 
site plan. Zoning approval cannot be given without an approved development site plan.”  
Fortunately, in this case a significant amount of work and thought has already been done on the 
Pinnacle Prairie MU District master plan, so it is a matter of amending the current (2015) master 
plan to incorporate the area proposed for rezoning into this larger plan for development of the 
mixed use neighborhood. There are a number of elements listed in the zoning code that are 
required to be addressed in the master plan, as listed below: 
 

(1)  Building locations.  

(2)  Streets, drives, accessways.  

(3)  Parking lots.  

(4)  Landscape plan, open space areas.  

(5)  Pedestrian traffic plan, including sidewalks, bicycle paths.  

(6)  Architectural renderings of all sides of each building, including accessory structures.  

(7)  Signage plan.  

(8)  List of expected uses within the development.  

Within the area east of Green Creek and north of 
Huntington Road, amend Future Land Use Map 
Designation from Office and Business Park to 
“Planned Development” 

Property to be rezoned MU  

23

Item 7.



5 
 

(9)  Stormwater detention and erosion control plans.  

(10)  Topographic features of the site including land and soils capability analysis.  

(11)  Residential densities.  

(12)  Natural drainageways, floodplain areas.  

(13)  Municipal utility locations.  

(14)  Residential recreation or park areas.  

 
In a larger MU District, such as Pinnacle Prairie, which encompasses more than 600 acres, 
build out takes years and portions of the master planned area may be sold to other developers, 
who will prepare detailed site plans for their portion of the development. Therefore, in practice, 
our expectation is that the master plan would address each of these elements generally, with 
the specific requirements met during subdivision review and site plan review for specific building 
sites once development is imminent.  
 
There does, however, need to be a level of detail necessary to evaluate the rezoning request 
and to establish how the area will function as a cohesive and well-planned neighborhood at full 
build-out, including the street network, plan for the extension of utilities, sanitary sewer, and 
stormwater management, proposed distribution of various land uses and housing types, and 
plan for parks, trails, and open space amenities, and any neighborhood-serving commercial 
areas. Each of these aspects of the proposed updated master plan is discussed in more detail 
below. 
 

 

24

Item 7.



6 
 

 
The revised Pinnacle Prairie East Concept Plan is shown above and is included as an 
attachment in your packet for more careful review. Note that there are a number of notable 
areas on the concept plan:  

 There are two north-south street connections through the concept plan area: Oster 
Parkway and Rownd Street/Street E to the roundabout that links Cedar Heights Drive to 
Viking Road.  

 With this proposal, Prairie View Road is extended in a curvilinear, yet easterly direction to 
connect with Cedar Heights Drive at the intersection of Huntington Road. This will provide 
an important means of access and circulation for area residents.  

 The townhome area illustrates that a majority of the units would have vehicular access 
from rear alleys. Additional information about the townhome area is described in the next 
section of the report; 

 A note has been added to the concept plan that street and lot layouts may need to be 
adjusted to ensure that new homes are not located in the floodplain. New lots cannot be 
platted with more than 25% of their lot area within a flood hazard area.  

 It should also be noted that the small commercial area in the southeast corner of the 
development that includes the extended Prairie View Road and Huntington Road 
intersection will be almost entirely within a flood hazard area, if the new preliminary 
FEMA Flood Insurance Rate Maps are adopted in 2022. This area will need to be platted, 
including the street connection across the Green Creek, prior to the adoption of the new 
maps to avoid violation of the subdivision platting rules as noted above.  

 The applicant has indicated that if for whatever reason the commercial area becomes 
unviable due to floodplain issues, that adequate area will be reserved for a potential east-
west street connection along the southern edge of the multi-family area to Cedar Heights 
Drive. This commitment will need to be included in the development agreement required 
with the change to the master plan. Currently the concept plan illustrates a drive flanked 
by parking spaces and garages. If the multi-family area is proposed for final plat and site 
plan review prior to the commercial area, the proposed layout of the multi-unit dwellings, 
drives, parking, and garages will need to be adjusted to reserve the area as an outlot 
unencumbered with garages and parking to ensure a street can be appropriately 
designed and constructed through this area. In addition, the centrally located access may 
need to be shifted to the north to ensure adequate spacing with this potential future 
street.  All these adjustments can be avoided if the commercial area is platted and street 
constructed prior to the multi-family area.  

 
Land Uses  
In the case of Pinnacle Prairie, since specific building designs were not known at the time of 
rezoning and the owner desired to establish a certain design aesthetic and ensure a high quality 
living and business environment, a set of design guidelines (The Pinnacle Prairie General 
Design Guidelines, dated 2-23-16) and a private design review process was set up to ensure a 
consistent quality of construction and design throughout the neighborhood.  
 
The Pinnacle Prairie MU district is divided into distinctive areas, each with its own set of allowed 
uses and design guidelines. The area generally east of Oster Parkway is entitled, The Villages, 
which is in large part residential in character, with a mix of single family, townhouses, and with 
the addition of this newly proposed area along Cedar Heights Drive, it will contain approximately 
12 additional acres intended for multi-family dwellings and an additional 3 acres for single family 

25

Item 7.



7 
 

development. This area also includes the small neighborhood commercial area at the 
intersection of Cedar Heights Drive and Huntington Road. The applicant proposes to use the 
same set of design guidelines for the areas requested for rezoning.  
  
There are separate design standards for each residential building type. The pages of the design 
guidelines related to each of these dwelling types are attached for your reference. These 
standards will ensure that the area proposed for rezoning will be developed with the same level 
of design as the rest of the Pinnacle Prairie development, including landscaping, signage, and 
the general Prairie-style aesthetic envisioned by the owner.  
 
Staff notes that when individual site plans are submitted for review, the placement of the 
buildings, parking, and open space amenities should be carefully reviewed through the Planning 
and Zoning Commission and City Council to ensure a high quality living environment for future 
residents. Multi-family buildings should be oriented toward the street with parking located 
behind, under, or to the side of buildings and screened with landscaping. Each building should 
have usable yard/courtyard areas as well as good access to neighborhood open space 
amenities and trails.  
 
For townhomes, staff recommends a focus on alley-loaded models as shown in the design 
guidelines as there is a general lack of this housing type in the community and it will reduce the 
need for extensive driveway curb cuts along neighborhood streets and ensure that these higher 
density dwellings will fit more seamlessly into the single family residential character of the 
neighborhood. The applicant has refined the townhome area in the concept plan to show a 
concept of rear-loaded units that front on the street with garages located at the rear of the units 
with access from an alley. Some additional minor adjustments to the street pattern when the 
area is platted may yield a more efficient layout and break up the longer blocks, but staff finds 
that the concept captures the intent to provide an alley-loaded product. If driveways are moved 
to the alley rather than the street, it will:  

 reduce traffic congestion and vehicular conflict points on fronting streets;  

 achieve streets with sidewalks uninterrupted by front driveways;  

 provide more room for street trees and front yard landscaping; and  

 reserve the street space for on-street parking for visitors.  
 
Staff also notes that if alley-loaded townhome designs are used there may be more 
opportunities to integrate townhomes strategically throughout the neighborhood rather than 
concentrating them in just one large area.  
 
With regard to the small commercial area, buildings would also have to meet the Pinnacle 
Prairie design guidelines and will be reviewed in detail at the time the area is proposed for 
development. As noted below, the street access and trail access should be carefully designed to 
ensure that neighborhood residents have easy access to what is intended to be a 
neighborhood-serving commercial area.  
 
Street network and traffic circulation 
The 2015 master plan illustrates the roadway alignments, access locations and proposed 
intersection designs and locations for the major streets within the development (Prairie Parkway, 
Oster Parkway, Viking Road, and a portion of Prairie View Road. Other potential streets 
connections are also illustrated, but additional local streets are just conceptually shown with 

26

Item 7.



8 
 

arrows. Lots and blocks are not illustrated so it is difficult to understand how the neighborhood 
would be laid out with a local street pattern, and how the trails, parks, and stormwater 
management areas would be located in relation to the streets. Staff requested that the applicant 
submit a more defined concept plan showing a concept for streets, blocks and lots, so one can 
clearly see how the neighborhood could function as a whole. This preliminary work will be a 
precursor for the subdivision platting, which will be required prior to sale of any portion of the 
development, including the multi-family area proposed for rezoning.  
 
The submitted concept plan for the transportation network has a number of positive aspects:  

 There is good public access to the trail network and to the 3.5 park, which fronts on both 
Prairie View Road and Street B;  

 Streets are laid out in an attractive curvilinear and generally connected pattern. Some of 
the block lengths exceed the recommended block length of 600 feet, but with a few 
adjustments at the time of platting this can be addressed, such as extending Street G to 
connect with Street C.  

 Open space appears to be well distributed throughout the neighborhood with a trail 
system to linking them to provide walking and biking routes.  

 Prairie View Road, a major collector, will extend across the area to provide circulation 
within and through the neighborhood with connection points with major north-south routes 
at Oster Parkway, Rownd, and Cedar Heights Drive.   

 
The City will soon be making improvements to Cedar Heights Drive and associated 
infrastructure. With that project, adjustments in the right-of-way will be made at the intersection 
of Huntington Road to allow for a future roundabout, which would allow the street to be 
extended to the west to serve the commercial area and any additional development proposed in 
the future to the existing lots that were created behind the homes in the Ideal Acres subdivision 
along Cedar Heights Drive. While currently these lots are owned and used as extended yard 
areas for these homes, there would be the potential for additional homes to be developed if a 
means of access is provided. There are a number of possible scenarios for providing access. 
Extending a street north from an extended Huntington Road is one possibility. When this area is 
platted, this issue will need to be studied more fully to determine how best to provide access to 
this undeveloped land whether it is from an extended Huntington Road or from the east-west 
street connection in the multi-family area to the north or from both. 
 
Access to Public Services and Stormwater Management 
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available to the proposed future 
developments in accordance with the service policies of Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU). During 
preliminary plats, final plats and site plan reviews, more detail on the sizing of lines, location, 
and other aspects will be reviewed.  
 
As shown below, sanitary sewer lines extend east-west across the area coinciding with the 
natural drainage pattern of the area, so are readily available for extension to serve the 
neighborhood. There is also a north-south sanitary line that runs along Green Creek that serves 
the eastern portion of the development. On the master plan you will note that these sanitary 
lines are located along the proposed alignment of Prairie View Road until it reaches the larger 
neighborhood open space area, which coincides with the natural drainage pattern and the 
Green Creek riparian corridor.  
 

27

Item 7.



9 
 

A regional stormwater management system is proposed that follows the drainage pattern one 
can see on the aerial photograph below. Note also that the floodplain for Green Creek is 
extensive. While the floodplain is generally shown as green space on the proposed concept 
plan, there are lots along the south side of Street A and along the north side of a portion of 
Prairie View Road that are partially or wholly within the floodplain. The City’s floodplain 
regulations and subdivision rules will not allow development in these areas, except that up to 
25% of a residential lot may be located in the floodplain as long as the buildable area on the lot 
is not within the floodplain. While the applicant has not amended the concept plan to address 
this issue, they have included a note on the concept plan that adjustments to the block and lot 
layout may be necessary to ensure that new homes are not located within the floodplain. While 
it would be best to consider this issue early in the planning stage, the issue will have to be 
resolved prior to platting. With regard to the multi-family area east of Green Creek, the plan 
does a better job of respecting the floodplain boundary with no building encroachment into these 
areas.  
 

 
 
Open Space, Parks, and Trails 
The MU District requires 10% of the land area to remain as open space. The concept presented 
includes a refined representation of the open space that coincides with the floodplain for Green 
Creek and the proposed regional stormwater management area. Trails extend along Street J 
from the Pinnacle Prairie area to the west and follow Prairie Parkway into the greenway 
connecting the 3.5 acre park to the larger area to the west and across the creek to the east. The 
concept plan shows a well-connected trail network.  
 
It should also be noted that the April, 2015 staff report to City Council states:  

Per the original concept plan site data, 2% must remain specifically as park space. Based on 
the Commission’s favorable discussion March 3rd (2015), 2.6 acres of trail are part of that 
park amount. The Developmental Procedures Agreement addresses that. Note: Any trails along 
the road within that area calculation are counted at half the area, since a 5’ sidewalk is required. 
There could be changes in the future that would require adjustment to the Master Plan in order to 
meet the 2% requirement.  

28

Item 7.



10 
 

Any revised developmental procedures agreement should continue to include an updated parks 
and trails calculation based on the larger area included with this rezoning.  
 
Technical Comments:  

1. A preliminary and final plat will be required prior to any land sales within the master 
planned area. Platting is helpful in determining the lots and development areas that will 
benefit from the streets, regional stormwater management system, open space 
amenities, park areas, and trails, so that that cost of constructing and maintaining these 
facilities can be addressed through the sale of the lots and establishment of homeowner’s 
associations with appropriate fee structures. It is not in the best interest of either the 
owner or the City to plat this area in a piecemeal fashion since so much of the 
infrastructure is shared. The platting process will help the owner determine how these 
benefits and costs should be shared, so they can be assured that their investment will be 
appropriately recaptured as lots are sold. The sale of land to Immanuel Lutheran Church 
prior to platting is a case in point. The church had difficulty developing the land they 
acquired from Oster through a plat of survey and experienced considerable delay in 
preparing plat documents and obtaining off-site easements to address stormwater 
management since the larger area has not been platted and the regional stormwater 
system has not been established.  

 
2. A new or amended developmental procedures agreement will need to be drafted and 

signed prior to approval of the rezoning.  
 
PUBLIC NOTICE 
Notice of the public hearing was mailed to the adjoining property owners and published in the 
Waterloo-Cedar Falls Courier.   
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of the proposed 
amendment to the Future Land Use Map changing the designation east of the Green Creek 
floodplain and west of Cedar Heights Drive from “Office and Business Park” to “Planned 
Development;” and  
 
The Community Development Department recommends approval of RZ21-001, a request 
to rezone property from A-1, Agricultural District, and R-1, Residential Zoning District, to MU, 
Mixed Use Residential Zoning District, and to update the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan 
accordingly, subject to a new or amended development agreement that addresses the specific 
issues outlined in the staff report with regard to platting, connected street pattern, parks, trails, 
and open space, building forms and placement, stormwater management, and alternative street  
alignments and lot configurations, if necessary due to floodplain issues.  
 
At their meeting on October 14, 2020, on a vote of 8-0, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommended approval of the proposed amendment to the Future Land Use 
Map as described above; and on April 14, 2021, on a vote of 9-0, the Planning and Zoning 
Commission recommended approval of the proposed rezoning.   
 
 

29

Item 7.



11 
 

PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion  
3/24/2021 

The next item for consideration by the Commission was a request to rezone the area 
500 feet north of Huntington Road along the west side of Cedar Heights drive from A-
1 and R-1 to MU and update the Pinnacle Prairie Master plan. Chair Leeper 
introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background information. She noted 
that this was a new application for a rezoning, but a similar request was considered 
last year by the Commission and was denied.  She explained the current uses and 
how they would change if rezoned and noted that the applicant would like to 
incorporate this area into the larger Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan. The item was 
reviewed in the fall and part of the review included looking at the future land use map 
in this location and updating that as well. She noted that the Commission had 
recommended approval of the change to the Future Land Use Map at that time. She 
noted the applicant would like to refine the master plan for Pinnacle Prairie East. Ms. 
Howard displayed the 2015 Master Plan and discussed the potential update. She 
discussed the previous proposal in 2020 that was denied due to a lack of an east-
west street connection to Cedar Heights Drive. With this new master plan proposal 
they show a new street layout that includes extension of Prairie View Road to Cedar 
Heights Drive at its intersection with Huntington Road. They would propose to 
continue to use their same design standards as apply currently in the Pinnacle Prairie 
development, which establishes prairie-style aesthetic. Ms. Howard explained that 
there will be focus on alley loaded types of townhomes and the neighborhood 
commercial area will have street access and trail connections to ensure residents 
have easy access. She elaborated on the Prairie View Drive extension to connect 
with Cedar Heights Drive and noted that there are still some outstanding questions 
about the viability of the commercial area shown on the master plan due to floodplain 
issues. If it is determined that the commercial area is not feasible, the applicant has 
agreed to shift the east-west extension of Prairie View Road to the north to extend 
along the southern boundary of the multi-family area that is the subject of this 
rezoning. Howard noted that if this were to occur, then the concept plan shown for the 
multi-family area will need to be modified to accommodate the street right-of-way.  

Ms. Howard displayed a view of the area proposed for rezoning, noting that it will 
contain primarily multi-family development with approximately 12 units per acre with 
buildings oriented toward the street and good access to open space amenities and 
trails. The street network and traffic circulation will provide good public access to the 
trail network and a park, the streets will be laid out in an attractive yet connected 
curvilinear pattern, and the open space is well distributed. She explained some of the 
potential adjustments with regard to the east-west connection. The location has 
access to public services and Ms. Howard noted that adjustments to the open space, 
parks and trails will be addressed in the development agreement. With regard to 
technical comments she explained that a preliminary and final plat will be required 
prior to any land sales within the master plan area. Although the issues in the 
previous developmental procedures agreement have now been resolved, a new 
agreement will need to be drafted and signed prior to setting a public hearing at City 
Council for the requested rezoning. Staff recommends initial discussion at this time 
and setting public hearing for April 4. 

LeaAnn asked why we don’t know if commercial will be allowed in that spot. Ms. 
Howard explained that the floodplain maps are currently under review for changes so 
it will depend on when the plan is submitted and whether they can comply with the 
new flood insurance rate maps, likely to be finalized by FEMA next spring. 

Eric Johnson, Beecher Law Firm, asked if Carrie Hansen had joined the meeting 
online. Staff stated that she was not. He explained that he is available for any 

30

Item 7.



12 
 

questions with regard to the project.  

Since there were no questions, Mr. Larson made a motion to set the public hearing 
for April 14, 2021. Ms. Sears seconded the motion. The motion was approved 
unanimously with 8 ayes (Holst, Larson, Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, Schrad and 
Sears), and 0 nays. 

 

Public 
hearing 
and vote  
4/14/2021 

 

The Commission then considered a rezoning request near Huntington Road and 
Cedar Heights Drive from A-1 Agricultural District and R-1 Residential District to 
MU Mixed Use Residential District, and to update the Pinnacle Prairie Master 
Plan to include this new area. Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard 
provided background information. She explained that approximately 12 acres of 
the property would be rezoned from A-1 to MU and approximately three acres 
from R-1 to MU. The proposal would incorporate the new land into the larger 
Pinnacle Prairie Mixed Use District and update the master plan appropriately. 
She displayed a revised concept for Pinnacle Prairie East and the view of the 
area proposed for rezoning to MU and discussed the plans for those areas. She 
discussed the street network and traffic circulation as well as alternate routes 
and adjustments that may need to be made. Ms. Howard noted that a 
preliminary and final plat will be required prior to any land sales within the master 
planned area and a new developmental procedures agreement will need to be 
drafted and signed prior to setting a public hearing at City Council. Staff 
recommends approval of the request to rezone property from A-1 and R-1 to 
MU, and to update the Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan accordingly, subject to a 
new or amended development agreement that addresses the specific issues 
outlined in the staff report.  

Carrie Hansen, Schoppe Design Associates, spoke about the connection of 
Prairie View out to Cedar Heights and the location of Huntington where the new 
roundabout is planned to go. She stated that if this is not possible they have 
agreed to relocate it to another portion of the proposed multi- family area. She 
noted that they have met their obligations for the Goldenrod and Prairie Parkway 
roundabout improvement that had been noted previously. They have also 
submitted a revised development procedures agreement that addresses the 
items in staff’s report and will continue to work with staff to finalize those 
documents.  

 Mr. Holst made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Lynch seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 9 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, Schrad and Sears), and 0 nays. 

 
 
 
Attachments: Rezoning Plat 
  2015 Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan  
  Proposed updated master plan and concept plan for “Pinnacle Prairie East” 
  Updated Design Guidelines for Pinnacle Prairie 
  Applicant’s letter requesting rezoning 

31

Item 7.



32

Item 7.



33

Item 7.



Schoppe Design Associates, Inc.
LAND PLANNING & LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

March 8,2021

Department of Community Development
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Re: Cedar Heights Drive Property Rezoning Request (2)

CEDAR HEIGHTS DRIVE PROPERTY
Explanation of Request

The initial MU rezoning justification submitted for the subject petition was included with the original
application packet on June 12, 2020. The reasons noted in the Cedar Heights Drive Property —

Explanation of Request letter dated June 12, 2020 remain valid and as such are again submitted and
attached to this updated rezoning justification for reference. A number of events and changes to the
petition have transpired since the original request was filed and are explained below.

The Planning and Zoning Commission first heard the land use map amendment and rezoning request on
September 9, 2020. While the proposed land uses were generally well received by both staff and
Commissioners, there was significant discussion regarding the lack of an east-west connection to Cedar
Heights Drive. It was the petitioner’s position that the proposed access points were adequate to
facilitate effective traffic operations, and further that vehicular crossings of the floodplain and open
space corridors should be limited due to environmental impacts. A number of residents also spoke at
the meeting, and it was ultimately decided to continue the case to the Commission’s next meeting to
explore solutions to noted comments and so that the petitioner could meet with the adjacent residents
to further discuss the project and answer any questions.

The resident meeting was held via Zoom on October 1, 2020 and nine residents participated. The
proposal was clarified and numerous questions were answered. The meeting went very well and the
resident response to the project was generally positive.

In response to the comments made by staff and Commissioners at the September 9, 2020 meeting,
several revisions were made to the request and resubmitted for consideration at the October 14, 2020
Planning and Zoning Commission meeting:

• Pinnacle Prairie East Concept Plan:
o Nose-in parking was removed in the revised townhome pod.
o The trail was relocated immediately adjacent to the proposed commercial pod at

Huntington and Cedar Heights.
A note was added to the plan regarding potential floodplain adjustmen 126 5. Main Street

Oswego, IL 60543
p: 630 551 3355

1: 630 551 3639
schoppeclesign. net34

Item 7.



Schoppe Design Associates, Inc
LAND PLANNINC & LANDSCAPE ARC HITECTIJRF

• Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan:
The updated Pinnacle Prairie East Concept Plan was dropped into the overall Master
Plan.
Site data was updated to reflect new land use acreages.

Both staff and the Commission concurred that the map amendment for the 15-acre parcel be changed
to Planned Development to allow for the combination of multi-family and single-family uses as part of
the overall Pinnacle Prairie development and the Commission voted 8-0 in favor of this portion of the
request.

The revised plans did not however, include an east-west roadway connection to Cedar Heights Drive.
There was discussion amongst the Commissioners that the crossing might make sense at Huntington
given the proposed roundabout improvement and proximity to the commercial pod. However, without
a commitment from the petitioner to provide this connection, the rezoning request ultimately failed by
a vote of 4-4.

Rather than proceed to the City Council with a negative recommendation from the Planning and Zoning
Commission, the petitioner continued negotiations with staff to come to resolution on the outstanding
roadway connection issue. A number of options were explored, ultimately culminating in the now
revised and proposed plan that incorporates an east-west roadway crossing of the creek at Huntington.
The addition of this crossing resulted in a slight redesign of the single-family pod to the west.
Additionally, given the unknown impact of the floodplain on the viability of the proposed commercial
pod at this location, a note has been added to the plan that if in the future it is determined that the
commercial pod is undevelopable, the east-west connection road would be relocated to the southern
edge of the multi4amily pod to the north.

In addition to the plan changes, the petitioner’s obligations for the improvements at Goldenrod and the
Prairie Parkway roundabout previously noted in staff’s report have been satisfactorily addressed.

It is the petitioner’s position that we have successfully resolved the outstanding issues and concerns
noted to date and respectfully request approval of the petition for rezoning to MU.

Thank you for your consideration.

S~erely, ~

Carrie L Hansen
Director of Planning and Government Services

CLH:

Page 2 of 2
35

Item 7.



June 12, 2020

Department of Community Development
City of Cedar Falls
220 Clay Street
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613

Re: Cedar Heights Drive Property Rezoning Request

To Whom It May Concern:

Per the City’s rezoning application requirements, below please find a brief explanation of the
proposal.

Cedar Heiahts Drive Property
Explanation of Request

The petitioner is requesting a rezoning of the subject property to MU, Mixed Use Residential for
future development of both multi-family and single-family residential uses. The two residential
use areas would be separated by an existing wide drainage corridor with proposed multi-family
units to the east and single-family lots to the west. While there are no specific development
plans at this time, the rezoning is being requested to assist with marketing to interested
buyers/builders who would still be required to come back to the City for formal plan approval for
ultimate product and design.

It is the petitioner’s intent to add the 15-acre property to the Pinnacle Prairie project,
immediately adjacent to the west and south. Doing so will result in the application of and
adherence to the same high-quality development design standards of the Pinnacle Prairie
development and add an additional mix of residential uses to the overall project. The City’s MU
District “strives to encourage innovative development that incorporates high-quality building
design, carefUl site planning, preservation of unique environmental features with an emphasis
upon the creation of open spaces and amenities that enhance the quality of life of residents.” The
accompanying Rezoning Concept Plan focuses on this goal and represents an idea of how the
newly added MU property could be integrated into the Pinnacle Prairie project.

1265, Main Street
Oswego, IL 60543

~
schopp eclesign. net

Schoppe Design Associates, Inc.
LAND PLANNING & LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

36

Item 7.



~ia
Schoppe Design Associates, Inc.
LAND PLANNING & LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

The proposed multi-family use on the eastern portion of the property is a compatible extension of
the existing medium density residential land use immediately adjacent to the property on the
north. The physical barrier of the drainage corridor to the west orients the subject property more
to the east, and as such the design contemplates a grand entry from Cedar Heights Drive. The
conceptual design depicts 180 total units in 6,24-unit and 2, 18-unit three story buildings. The
design incorporates an open space theme immediately upon entering the development and
continues with both a visual and physical extension of this amenity throughout the site. There is
a main open space corridor in the middle of the project that serves not only as a gathering space
for the residents but also visually connects the project entrance to the open space and drainage
corridor to the west. The space can include a variety of complementary elements such as trails,
benches, and a gazebo. In addition to the more centralized open space, each individual building
has access to its own open space/courtyard area on a more intimate scale. There is an
interconnected system of walking paths which all lead either to the central open space corridor
within the project or to a fliture more regional frail within the adjacent open space and drainage
corridor, connecting to the Pinnacle Prairie project and trail system. The site plan also includes a
dog park, a desired amenity for multi-family projects of this type.

The proposed single-family use is located west of the drainage area and as such orients westward
in terms of compatible land use. This use is accordingly derived from the designated future
single-family land use of the Pinnacle Prairie project adjacent to the west, and additionally from
the existing single-family residences of the Green Creek Subdivision adjacent on the north. The
Concept Plan illustrates how approximately 6 single-family lots could be created utilizing a cul
de-sac design;

The City’s Comprehensive Plan designates the area contained in the MU rezoning request for a
combination of Planned Development and Office/Business Park. The delineation between these
two uses is in an unusual diagonal manner and leaves an oddly shaped triangle that would appear
extremely challenging to develop. The limited and awkward size of the office/business park
designated parcel and its lack of access to an arterial road do not seem conducive to development
of the property for office/business park use. Given that the remainder of the property is
designated as Planned Development and the proposal is to add the subject property to the
Pinnacle Prairie project, also designated as Planned Development on the City’s Comprehensive
Plan, the requested rezoning to MU appears to be compatible with the goals of the Plan for this
area. Additionally, the property located on the east side of Cedar Heights Drive across the street
from the subject property is identified on the City’s Plan as “Neighborhood Commercial/Mixed
Use” and is entitled for a retail commercial center. Additional residential units in this area will
increase the viability of the development of the site for neighborhood commercial use and
provide retail and service businesses within walking distance of the proposed project.

Page 2 of 3
37

Item 7.



Schoppe Design Associates, Inc.

Thank you for your consideration, and we respectfully request a favorable review of the request.

Sincerely,

Carrie L. Hansen
Director of Platming and Government Services

CLH:

LAND PLANNINC & LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE

Page 3 of 3
38

Item 7.



OFFICE / MULTI-FAMILY

COMM.

S.W.M.

TOWNHOME

SINGLE FAMILY

SINGLE FAMILY

FAITH     DR.

S.W.M.

OPEN SPACE

WATER  TOWER COMMERCIAL / OFFICE
OR

MULTI-FAMILYCOMMERCIAL OR
MULTI-FAMILY

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES TRACT C

OR
TOWNHOME

HEARTLAND
VINEYARD
CHURCH

PINNACLE RIDGE
SINGLE FAMILY

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH

BETHANY BIBLE
CHAPEL

 PROF. OFFICES /
PROF. SERVICES

WHISPERING PINES
TOWNHOMES

R.In/
R.Out

PR
IV

ATE
 D

RIV
E N

PRIVATE DRIVE N

STREET J

ST
REE

T M

STREET A COURT A

ST
RE

ET
 B

SINGLE FAMILYTOWNHOME

SINGLE FAMILY

S.W.M.

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

GREEN CREEK RD.

VIKING PL.

PARK

SINGLE FAMILY

SINGLE FAMILY

DR
AI

NA
GE

 W
AY

S.
W

.M
.S.W.M.

S.W.M.

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH

SIN
GLE

 FA
M

ILY

G
re

en
 C

re
ek

San. Easement

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

STREET H

PR
AI

RI
E 

   
  S

T.

CEDAR   HEIG
HTS   DR.

VIKING   RD.

OST
ER

    
PK

W
Y. 

   E
XT

.

O
STER   PKW

Y.

GREENHILL   RD.

RO
W

N
D 

   
ST

.
RO

W
N

D 
   

   
 S

T.

CEDAR
HEIG

HTS  DR.

STREET K
STREET C

STREET H

STREET F

ST
RE

ET
 G

STREET E

STREET L
STREET J

ST
REE

T M

PROPOSED
RE-ALIGNMENT OF
HUNTINGTON RD.

3.5 ac.
ST

REE
T I

ST
REE

T D

PR
IV

ATE
 D

RIV
E N

PRIVATE DRIVE N

STREET J

ST
REE

T M

STREET A COURT A

ST
RE

ET
 B

SINGLE FAMILYTOWNHOME

SINGLE FAMILY

S.W.M.

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

GREEN CREEK RD.

VIKING PL.

PARK

SINGLE FAMILY

SINGLE FAMILY

DR
AI

NA
GE

 W
AY

S.
W

.M
.S.W.M.

S.W.M.

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH

SIN
GLE

 FA
M

ILY

G
re

en
 C

re
ek

San. Easement

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

STREET H

PR
AI

RI
E 

   
  S

T.

CEDAR   HEIG
HTS   DR.

VIKING   RD.

OST
ER

    
PK

W
Y. 

   E
XT

.

O
STER   PKW

Y.

GREENHILL   RD.

RO
W

N
D 

   
ST

.
RO

W
N

D 
   

   
 S

T.

CEDAR
HEIG

HTS  DR.

STREET K
STREET C

STREET H

STREET F

ST
RE

ET
 G

STREET E

STREET L
STREET J

ST
REE

T M

PROPOSED
RE-ALIGNMENT OF
HUNTINGTON RD.

3.5 ac.
ST

REE
T I

ST
REE

T D

PR
IV

ATE
 D

RIV
E N

PRIVATE DRIVE N

STREET J

ST
REE

T M

STREET A COURT A

ST
RE

ET
 B

SINGLE FAMILYTOWNHOME

SINGLE FAMILY

S.W.M.

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

GREEN CREEK RD.

VIKING PL.

PARK

SINGLE FAMILY

SINGLE FAMILY

DR
AI

NA
GE

 W
AY

S.
W

.M
.S.W.M.

S.W.M.

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH

SIN
GLE

 FA
M

ILY

G
re

en
 C

re
ek

San. Easement

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

STREET H

PR
AI

RI
E 

   
  S

T.

CEDAR   HEIG
HTS   DR.

VIKING   RD.

OST
ER

    
PK

W
Y. 

   E
XT

.

O
STER   PKW

Y.

GREENHILL   RD.

RO
W

N
D 

   
ST

.
RO

W
N

D 
   

   
 S

T.

CEDAR
HEIG

HTS  DR.

STREET K
STREET C

STREET H

STREET F

ST
RE

ET
 G

STREET E

STREET L
STREET J

ST
REE

T M

PROPOSED
RE-ALIGNMENT OF
HUNTINGTON RD.

3.5 ac.
ST

REE
T I

ST
REE

T D

8

12

10

9

1099

7

6

14

11

11

7

11

10

9

9 10

8

10

7

7

10

11

8

8

6 7 9

9

14

9

7

9

8

5

6

9

9

9

12
9

9

PR
IV

ATE
 D

RIV
E N

PRIVATE DRIVE N

STREET J

ST
REE

T M

STREET A COURT A

ST
RE

ET
 B

SINGLE FAMILYTOWNHOME

SINGLE FAMILY

S.W.M.

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

GREEN CREEK RD.

VIKING PL.

PARK

SINGLE FAMILY

SINGLE FAMILY

DR
AI

NA
GE

 W
AY

S.
W

.M
.S.W.M.

S.W.M.

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH

SIN
GLE

 FA
M

ILY

G
re

en
 C

re
ek

San. Easement

PRAIRIE   VIEW   RD .

STREET H

PR
AI

RI
E 

   
  S

T.

CEDAR   HEIG
HTS   DR.

VIKING   RD.

OST
ER

    
PK

W
Y. 

   E
XT

.

O
STER   PKW

Y.

GREENHILL   RD.

RO
W

N
D 

   
ST

.
RO

W
N

D 
   

   
 S

T.

CEDAR
HEIG

HTS  DR.

STREET K
STREET C

STREET H

STREET F

ST
RE

ET
 G

STREET E

STREET L
STREET J

ST
REE

T M

PROPOSED
RE-ALIGNMENT OF
HUNTINGTON RD.

3.5 ac.
ST

REE
T I

ST
REE

T D

30
9.

00
1_

PD
P0

6

126 S. Main Street

p: 630 551-3355
Oswego, IL 60543

f: 630 551-3639
schoppedesign.net

North

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 S

ch
op

pe
 D

es
ig

n 
A

ss
oc

ia
te

s, 
In

c.
 2

02
0

D
IR

: P
:\3

09
\3

09
.0

01
\D

W
G

S\
3.

 P
R

EL
IM

 P
LA

N
S\

PD
P\

D
W

G
\3

09
.0

01
_P

D
P0

6.
dw

g

PINNACLE PRAIRIE EAST CONCEPT PLAN
Prepared
By:

Prepared
For:

Cedar Falls, Iowa

Oster Partners
Date: July 30, 2020

Scale: 1" = 200'

Rev.: Mar. 8, 2021

Graphic Scale0'

100' 400' 800'

200'

MULTI FAMILY
NEIGHBORHOOD

COMMERCIAL

FEMA 100 YEAR FLOODPLAIN
(PRELIMINARY)

FEMA 500 YEAR FLOODPLAIN
(PRELIMINARY)

FEMA 100 YEAR FLOODPLAIN
(EFFECTIVE)

PROPOSED VIKING
ROAD BIKE TRAIL

PINNACLE PRAIRIE
TRAIL SYSTEM

PROPOSED CEDAR HEIGHTS
RD. BIKE TRAIL

NOTE:

STREETS AND LOT LAYOUTS MAY NEED TO
BE ADJUSTED TO ENSURE THAT NEW HOMES
ARE NOT LOCATED IN THE FLOODPLAIN

39

Item 7.



BIKE TRAIL

Townhome

GENERAL SITE DATA & KEY
Residential UseNon-Residential Use

Single Family

Multi-Family

Institutional

Water Tower Site

Commercial

Commercial / Office

Mixed Use

S.W.M. (Storm Water Management) Parks and Open Space
Common Area Use

Mixed Use Commercial

Mixed Use Multi-Family

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

12.8

5.0

21.2

43.6

86.3

5.9

28.6

Ac.134.4

Ac.32.9

Ac.19.9

Ac.69.4 Ac.14.2

Office / Multi-Family Ac.7.0

*Included in "Mixed Use" total acreage

*Included in "Mixed Use" total acreage

Western Home Ac.103.0

Professional Services / Professional Offices Ac.62.4

Mixed Use Office Ac.51.8
*Included in "Mixed Use" total acreage Municipal Use

ACCESS POINTS

All Access Points are
full access unless noted
with "R.In/R.Out" for
Right in/Right out.

8.20 Miles of Trails
43,295 Linear Feet

R.O.W. (Dedicated Right of Ways) Ac.48.9

Commercial - Zoned HWY-1 Ac.64.4

Western Home - Zoned R-3 Ac.43.5

NOTE: All uses are zoned MU
unless otherwise noted.Parks, Open Space & S.W.M. - Zoned R-3 Ac.3.6

R.O.W. - Zoned HWY-1 Ac.4.5

S.W.M. - Zoned HWY-1 Ac.1.2

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 S

ch
op

pe
 D

es
ig

n 
A

ss
oc

ia
te

s, 
In

c.
 2

01
4

D
IR

: P
:\3

09
\3

09
.0

01
\D

W
G

S\
2.

 C
O

N
C

EP
T 

PL
A

N
S\

C
D

P\
D

W
G

\3
09

.0
01

_M
P1

6.
dw

g

Date: Apr. 9, 2015
Scale: 1" = 300'

Rev.: Mar. 8, 2021

30
9.

00
1_

M
P1

6

126 S. Main Street

p: 630 551-3355
Oswego, IL 60543

f: 630 551-3639
schoppedesign.netGraphic Scale0'

150' 600' 1200'

300'

North MASTER  PLAN

Prepared
By:

Prepared
For:

Cedar Falls, Iowa

Oster Partners

WAL-MART

MENARDS

COMMERCIAL  / OFFICE
              15.9 AC.

WATER
TOWER

5 AC.

COMMERCIAL / OFFICE
OR

MULTI-FAMILY
18.1 AC.

TOWNHOME
21.3 AC.

COMMERCIAL
OR

MULTI-FAMILY
14.0 AC.

OFFICE / MULTI-FAMILY
7.0 AC.

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH
3.1 AC.

SINGLE FAMILY
OR

MULTI-FAMILY
18.1 AC.

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TRACT C
OR

TOWNHOME
19.9 AC.

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TRACT A
20.1 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
(UNDER

CONTRACT)
7.9 AC.

COMMERCIAL
25.6 AC.

FARM & FLEET

WESTERN HOME
COMMUNITIES

146.5 AC.

HEARTLAND
VINEYARD
CHURCH

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

1.9 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
22.6 AC.

S.W.M.
8.7 AC.

BIOLIFE

S.W.M.
10.4 AC.

COMMERCIAL / OFFICE
9.6   AC.

S.W.M.
17.2 AC.

COMM.
2.4 AC.S.W.M.

1.0 AC.

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TRACT B
OR

TOWNHOME
17.2 AC.

FULL
ACCESS

COMM.   4.8 AC.

COMMERCIAL
5.9 AC.

TOWNHOME  1.6 AC.

SINGLE FAMILY
15.8 AC.

MIXED   USE
86.3 AC.

SINGLE FAMILY
8.3 AC.

WHISPERING PINES
TOWNHOME

10 AC.

COMMERCIAL
38.8 AC.

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

DISCOUNT TIRE

BETHANY BIBLE
CHAPEL
7.2 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
6.0 AC.

ARROWHEAD
MEDICAL CENTER

LOCKARD

MIDWEST
ONE BANK

PARK
3.5 AC.

PARK
3.6 AC.

S.W.M.
            1.2 AC.

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

SINGLE FAMILY
92.2 AC.

S.W.M. 2.0 AC.

CONNECTION TO
EXISTING BIKE TRAIL

CONNECTION TO
EXISTING MAIN
STREET BIKE TRAIL

CONNECTION TO
EXISTING MAIN
STREET BIKE TRAIL

S.W.M.
18.5 AC.

PARK
0.8 AC.

S.W.M.
0.6 AC.

PARK
2.6 AC.

S.W.M.
0.7 AC.

S.W.M.
1.0 AC.

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

PARK
1.5 AC.

 PROF. OFFICES /
PROF. SERVICES

3.3 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
12.0 AC.

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH
2.5 AC.

S.W.M.
10.3 AC.

40

Item 7.



G e n e r a l  D e s i g n  G u i d e l i n e s                 
C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1

D a t e :

41

Item 7.



C o n t e n t s         
C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1

D a t e :

I. THE VISION
Concept Plan ............................................................... 1

II. THE COMMUNITY GATEWAY
Key Map.............................................................................. 2
Gateways ............................................................................. 3

III. THE PRAIRIE BUSINESS PARK
Key Map.............................................................................. 4
Business Park Uses ............................................................. 5
Buildings ............................................................................. 5
Building Siting .................................................................... 5
Parking Lots ........................................................................ 5
Lighting ............................................................................... 6
Landscape ........................................................................... 7
Signage ................................................................................ 7
Common Area Association ................................................. 7

IV. THE PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT
Key Map.............................................................................. 8
Commercial District Uses ................................................... 9
Buildings ............................................................................. 9
Building Siting .................................................................... 9
Parking Lots ........................................................................ 9
Lighting ............................................................................. 10
Landscape ..........................................................................11
Signage ...............................................................................11
Common Area Association ................................................11

V. THE VILLAGES
Key Map............................................................................ 12
Single-Family .................................................................... 13
Attached Single Family .....................................................14
Multi-Family ..................................................................... 15
Signage ...............................................................................16
Parks and Pathways............................................................16
Common Area Association ................................................16

VI. WESTERN HOME
Key Map.............................................................................17
Applicability ......................................................................18
Buildings ............................................................................18
Landscape ..........................................................................18
Signage ...............................................................................18
Pathways ............................................................................18
Common Area Association ................................................18

VII. THE SUBMITTAL AND REVIEW PROCESS
Review and Submittal Process ......................................... 19
Approval Process .............................................................. 19

APPENDIX
Deciduous Trees ................................................................ 20
Evergreen Trees / Shrubs .................................................. 20
Ornamental Trees ..............................................................21
Deciduous Shrubs ..............................................................21
Perennials / Grasses .......................................................... 22

CREDITS ....................................................................................... 23

42

Item 7.



I

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r h c  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  V i s i o n         

THE VISION FOR PINNACLE PRAIRIE BEGAN AS THE DREAM 
of  Merrill J. Oster, whose global financial information and agribusiness 
companies were launched from Main Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa, a street 
he frequented as a farm boy. A fifth-generation Oster, Merrill saw the 
opportunity to create a new type of community, one that drew on his 
heritage and love for Cedar Falls. He wanted to create a unified community 
that will be developed in harmony with the land and wildlife; to work with 
the landform, which contains the highest point in Blackhawk County; to 
create a unique community in which to live, work, shop, play and raise a 
family. 

THE VISION IS BASED ON THE DESIRE to integrate the natural 
environment, and interweave it with the built  environment through 
landscape, trails, the use of native plants and naturally occurring colors.  
From the time visitors or future residents enter through the gateways and 
pass through the Business and Retail Cores and widely varied residential 
neighborhoods, they will perceive a unified, harmonious community in 
touch with the land and embracing the future.

HOW WILL THE VISION BE REALIZED? The entry experience will 
be accentuated throughout the landscape by using monumental signage 
and natural areas filled with native prairie. The rich color palette will be 
drawn from the natural environment: the colors of the soils and plants, the 
yellows, blues, reds, and browns of the clay, and the varying shades of 
greens and browns from the crops, grasses, and trees.

THE LANDSCAPE WILL BE DESIGNED using ornamental grasses and 
other similar plants, as well as naturally occurring fieldstone and limestone. 
Appropriate open space elements for active play and passive contemplative 
areas will be integrated into the overall design. By connecting the built and 
natural environments with a trail system, the visitor and resident alike will 
have access to areas that will provide solitude and spiritual restoration 
with color and elements to attract wildlife.

THE ARCHITECTURAL CHARACTER OF THE COMMUNITY 
will emphasize a pleasing visual environment achieved by breaking up 
rooflines and large facades through architectural movement, and varying 
textures while minimizing the negative impact of large expanses of 
featureless walls.  A system of cohesive signage will be implemented that 
is harmonious between the various uses and visually consistent elements.  
The size and visual prominence of parking lots will be de-emphasized by 
encouraging, when practical by users, placement to the rear of the buildings 
away from main streets, as well as providing adequate landscape islands 
and plantings for visual and general cooling effects.  Parking lots will be 
unified with the rest of the development through the use of landscape, 
signage, and a lighting system scaled to its intended use, whether for 
parking or for streets.

TAKEN TOGETHER, these elements will create a community that is fresh, 
vital, and brimming with the promise envisioned in Merrill Oster’s original 
vision. This community will be a source of pride for future generations of 
Cedar Falls residents, a place that they call HOME.

43

Item 7.



BIKE TRAIL

Townhome

GENERAL SITE DATA & KEY
Residential UseNon-Residential Use

Single Family

Multi-Family

Institutional

Water Tower Site

Commercial

Commercial / Office

Mixed Use

S.W.M. (Storm Water Management) Parks and Open Space
Common Area Use

Mixed Use Commercial

Mixed Use Multi-Family

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

Ac.

12.8

5.0

21.2

43.6

86.3

5.9

28.6

Ac.134.4

Ac.32.9

Ac.19.9

Ac.69.4 Ac.14.2

Office / Multi-Family Ac.7.0

*Included in "Mixed Use" total acreage

*Included in "Mixed Use" total acreage

Western Home Ac.103.0

Professional Services / Professional Offices Ac.62.4

Mixed Use Office Ac.51.8
*Included in "Mixed Use" total acreage Municipal Use

ACCESS POINTS

All Access Points are
full access unless noted
with "R.In/R.Out" for
Right in/Right out.

8.20 Miles of Trails
43,295 Linear Feet

R.O.W. (Dedicated Right of Ways) Ac.48.9

Commercial - Zoned HWY-1 Ac.64.4

Western Home - Zoned R-3 Ac.43.5

NOTE: All uses are zoned MU
unless otherwise noted.Parks, Open Space & S.W.M. - Zoned R-3 Ac.3.6

R.O.W. - Zoned HWY-1 Ac.4.5

S.W.M. - Zoned HWY-1 Ac.1.2

C
op

yr
ig

ht
 S

ch
op

pe
 D

es
ig

n 
A

ss
oc

ia
te

s, 
In

c.
 2

01
4

D
IR

: P
:\3

09
\3

09
.0

01
\D

W
G

S\
2.

 C
O

N
C

EP
T 

PL
A

N
S\

C
D

P\
D

W
G

\3
09

.0
01

_M
P1

6.
dw

g

Date: Apr. 9, 2015
Scale: 1" = 300'

Rev.: Mar. 8, 2021

30
9.

00
1_

M
P1

6

126 S. Main Street

p: 630 551-3355
Oswego, IL 60543

f: 630 551-3639
schoppedesign.netGraphic Scale0'

150' 600' 1200'

300'

North MASTER  PLAN

Prepared
By:

Prepared
For:

Cedar Falls, Iowa

Oster Partners

WAL-MART

MENARDS

COMMERCIAL  / OFFICE
              15.9 AC.

WATER
TOWER

5 AC.

COMMERCIAL / OFFICE
OR

MULTI-FAMILY
18.1 AC.

TOWNHOME
21.3 AC.

COMMERCIAL
OR

MULTI-FAMILY
14.0 AC.

OFFICE / MULTI-FAMILY
7.0 AC.

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH
3.1 AC.

SINGLE FAMILY
OR

MULTI-FAMILY
18.1 AC.

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TRACT C
OR

TOWNHOME
19.9 AC.

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TRACT A
20.1 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
(UNDER

CONTRACT)
7.9 AC.

COMMERCIAL
25.6 AC.

FARM & FLEET

WESTERN HOME
COMMUNITIES

146.5 AC.

HEARTLAND
VINEYARD
CHURCH

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

1.9 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
22.6 AC.

S.W.M.
8.7 AC.

BIOLIFE

S.W.M.
10.4 AC.

COMMERCIAL / OFFICE
9.6   AC.

S.W.M.
17.2 AC.

COMM.
2.4 AC.S.W.M.

1.0 AC.

 PROFESSIONAL OFFICES /
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES

TRACT B
OR

TOWNHOME
17.2 AC.

FULL
ACCESS

COMM.   4.8 AC.

COMMERCIAL
5.9 AC.

TOWNHOME  1.6 AC.

SINGLE FAMILY
15.8 AC.

MIXED   USE
86.3 AC.

SINGLE FAMILY
8.3 AC.

WHISPERING PINES
TOWNHOME

10 AC.

COMMERCIAL
38.8 AC.

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

CONNECTION TO
OFF SITE TRAIL

DISCOUNT TIRE

BETHANY BIBLE
CHAPEL
7.2 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
6.0 AC.

ARROWHEAD
MEDICAL CENTER

LOCKARD

MIDWEST
ONE BANK

PARK
3.5 AC.

PARK
3.6 AC.

S.W.M.
            1.2 AC.

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

SINGLE FAMILY
92.2 AC.

S.W.M. 2.0 AC.

CONNECTION TO
EXISTING BIKE TRAIL

CONNECTION TO
EXISTING MAIN
STREET BIKE TRAIL

CONNECTION TO
EXISTING MAIN
STREET BIKE TRAIL

S.W.M.
18.5 AC.

PARK
0.8 AC.

S.W.M.
0.6 AC.

PARK
2.6 AC.

S.W.M.
0.7 AC.

S.W.M.
1.0 AC.

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

R.In/
R.Out

PARK
1.5 AC.

 PROF. OFFICES /
PROF. SERVICES

3.3 AC.

MULTI-FAMILY
12.0 AC.

IMMANUEL
LUTHERAN

CHURCH
2.5 AC.

S.W.M.
10.3 AC.

2

44

Item 7.



II

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r h c  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  C o m m u n i t y  G a t e w a y         

GATEWAYS SERVE AS AN ENTRANCE OR MEANS OF ACCESS. 

The gateways of Pinnacle Prairie mark the signed entrances within your 

unique community, the place where you live, work, play learn, shop and 

most importantly raise your family.   The use of native Iowa limestone 

combined with native plants, create a grand statement to bring the 

natural landscape to your door and welcome you home.

45

Item 7.



2

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  C o m m u n i t y  G a t e w a y  -  K e y  M a p         

Primary 
Gateway

Secondary 
Gateway

Primary 
Gateway

Secondary 
Gateway

46

Item 7.



3

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  C o m m u n i t y  G a t e w a y         

1. Prairie Parkway entry sign

2. Typical Oster Parkway section

3. Typical Prairie View Rd. section 

GATEWAYS:
The gateways are designed 
using naturally occurring 
Iowa limestone in large slabs. 
These will be used to create a 
limestone outcrop onto which 
the graphics will be placed.

Landscape materials will 
primarily be ornamental and 
native grasses to enhance the 
feeling that Pinnacle Prairie 
once was part of the multi-state 
tallgrass prairie that covered 
the entire state of Iowa. Plants 
like Big Bluestem (also called 
Turkey’s foot), Little Bluestem, 
Cordgrass, Coneflower and 
Cardinal Flower that once 
dominated the landscape will 
dominate the “Gateway.”

1

2

3

47

Item 7.



III

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r h c  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  B u s i n e s s  P a r k         

IS A LOCATION CLOSE TO A WIDE VARIETY OF HOUSING   

types within walking distance of the office on your wish list?  Does 

having stores, restaurants and parks within a short stroll get your 

attention?  Concerned about the ability to grow your business someday?  

Will the telecommunication infrastructure in your business community 

keep up with your business needs?  These questions are part of any 

sound business location strategy.  At Pinnacle Prairie, we have the 

answers your business needs.  

48

Item 7.



4

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  B u s i n e s s  P a r k  -  K e y  M a p         

The Prair ie  Business
Park

49

Item 7.



5

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  B u s i n e s s  P a r k         

PRAIRIE BUSINESS PARK 
USES
1. General Office

Corporate
Multi-story Rental / Condo
Individual users-Architects, 
Attorneys, etc.

2. Office / Research  
3. Corporate Campus
4. Neighborhood Commercial

Grocery Store
Cleaner
Bakery
Card Shop  

5. Convenience Store
6. Gas Station
7. Medical / Dental
8. Financial
9. Ancillary Uses

Drugstore
Medical Supplies

10. Restaurant at appropriate 
locations

11. Multi-Family Residential
(For Multi-Family design 
standards, see page 13, The 
Villages - Multi-Family)

12. Townhomes
(For Townhome design 
standards, see page 12, The 
Villages - Attached Single-
Family)

BUILDINGS
Buildings will be of brick or 
naturally occurring stone to 
accentuate the prairie character of 
the Park.  

The architectural design of the 
buildings located in the 3.3 acre 
Professional Offices / Professional 
Services area at the southwest 
corner of Greenhill Rd. and Oster 
Parkway will use the existing 
nearby residential styles as the 
basis for their design on all side of 
the buildings

1. Brick will be as manufactured 
by: Glen-Gery Brick or equal. 

2. Stone for bases and plinths 
shall be Anamosa limestone or 
equal.

3. Windows shall be Bronze or 
Champagne to blend with the 
color choice of the brick. 

BUILDING SITING
1. Buildings will be sited on the 

lot so that the primary building 
elevation is oriented to the 
street, with primary parking 
facilities encouraged in the rear 
and softened by landscaping 
or berming. This is intended to 
present the natural landscape to 
the visitor rather than a parking 
lot.

2. Buildings are to take advantage 
of the terrain rather than 
creating a flat plane. This may 
mean that a building may 
appear as a one-story structure 
along the street, but may be 
two stories in the rear, with the 
main parking lot entry at the 
lower level.

3. Buildings on corner lots will be 

placed at corner setbacks with 
parking encouraged to the rear.

PRIMARY PARKING LOTS
1. Primary parking lot placement 

will be encouraged to the 
rear of the building and will 
contain landscape islands 
for the placement of shade 
trees and lighting.  If primary 
parking lots are located in the 
front, enhanced landscaping 
will be required around the 
perimeter.  Parking lot islands 
shall be a minimum of 10’ 
from back of curb to back of 
curb.

2. Number of parking spaces will 
be per Cedar Falls ordinance 
for the appropriate use.

3. Landscape plantings shall  
provide for shade and 
ornamental trees, deciduous 
and evergreen shrubs and 
evergreen trees along the 
periphery.    

4. Where parking lots for 
the Business Center abut 
residential uses, a minimum 
48” screen planting is required 
at installation.  Plantings 
shall reach a maximum of 
6’ at maturity, and can be 
deciduous, evergreen or a 
mix and shall be upright in 
growth habit so as to minimize 
maintenance.

1-5.  Typical Architecture

     

5

Pinnacle
Prairie

HVAC behind roof

Anamosa limestone
Brick

1

4

2 3

50

Item 7.



6

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  B u s i n e s s  P a r k  -  L i g h t i n g         

Notes:
 - The lighting fixtures illustrated are to be used in the undeveloped non-residential areas as depicted.
 - All light poles shall be the same or shorter than the height of the building to which they are accessory.

PRAIRIE BUSINESS PARK  (West of Prairie Parkway)

PRAIRIE BUSINESS PARK  (East of Prairie Parkway)
and PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

Green Lantern Box DownlightGreen Lantern Hanging 
Lantern

Bronze/Brown or Green Lantern 
pole mounted

Bronze/Brown or Green 
Box Downlight LED

Bronze/Brown or Green 
Box Downlight

51

Item 7.



7

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  B u s i n e s s  P a r k         

Graphics will match monument 
sign and be no more than 18” in 
height.

COMMON AREA 
ASSOCIATION
Each site owner will be a member 
of the Business Center Association 
as well and the overall Master 
Pinnacle Prairie Association for 
the maintenance of common areas, 
stormwater management basins, 
gateways and common open space.

LANDSCAPE
The intent of the landscape is to set 
Pinnacle Prairie apart from other 
developments and to bring the built 
environment into harmony with the 
natural environment.  Therefore, 
materials to be used will include:
1. Hardscape

- Retaining or decorative 
walls will be constructed of 
naturally occurring fieldstone 
or quarried limestone in 
color and texture to blend 
with the building.

 - Decorative paving will be 
clay brick also in colors to 
blend the structure into the 
landscape.

2. Irrigation required in all front 
yards to ensure that plant 
material thrives along all major 
streets.

3. Plant Types - Shade trees, 
ornamental trees, evergreen 
trees, deciduous and evergreen 
shrubs, perennials and grasses 
shall be ornamental and native 
species capable of thriving in 
USDA Plant Hardiness Zones 
4a and 5b.
 - Street trees: all streets 

will have parkway trees at 
50’ on center spacing and 
minimum 2.5” caliper size at 
installation.

 - Shade trees: shall be 2.5”- 
4”caliper with no more than 
50% of the trees in any one 
caliper size.

 - Ornamental trees: 
Ornamental trees shall vary 
in height from 6’-10’ and 
generally shall be used in 
multi-stem form.

 - Evergreen trees/shrubs:   
Evergreens shall be a mix 
of 6’-10’ in height at time 
of installation with no more 
than 50% of any one size.  
Shrubs shall be a minimum 
of 30” in height or spread 
depending on species.

 - Deciduous shrubs: shrubs 
shall be a minimum 24” in 
height at time of planting.

 - Perennials / grasses: these 
are the preferred plant 
for the landscape, as they 
require little maintenance 
or irrigation. Plantings 
shall be minimum of 1/2 
gallon containers at time of 
installation and spaced 18” 
on center.  

4. Planting Quantities – In 
keeping with the vision to 
distinguish Pinnacle Prairie 
from other developments, 
planting quantities shall 
generally be 10-15% greater 
than that required by City 
ordinances.

SIGNAGE
Monument signs shall be of the 
size detailed herein and shall 
be made of native limestone or 
equal. Corporate logos may be 
incorporated into the sign face and 
lettering shall be no more than 
24” in height unless the building 
size exceeds 10,000 square feet. 
In this case the lettering size will 
be determined by the Cedar Falls 
ordinance.

Secondary signage will be allowed 
at the main entry of the building. 

1. Typical site and landscape plan

2. Typical identity monument

3. Character of parking area 
landscape screening 

    

3

2

9’

8”

4’

1’

3’

1

52

Item 7.



IV

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r h c  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  C o m m e r c i a l  D i s t r i c t         

CONVENIENT, ACCESSIBLE AND DIVERSE. The Pinnacle Prairie 

Commercial District will provide for regional retail shopping areas.  

Residents of Pinnacle Prairie will benefit from the nearby opportunity to 

buy groceries, clothes, home improvement, and recreational goods.

53

Item 7.



8

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  C o m m e r c i a l  D i s t r i c t  -  K e y  M a p         

The Prair ie  Commercial 
Distr ict

54

Item 7.



9

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  C o m m e r c i a l  D i s t r i c t         

4

BUILDING SITING
1. Buildings within the 

Commercial Zoned   
HWY-1 areas will be sited to 
accentuate their prominence 
along Viking Road while 
taking advantage of the 
natural terrain and vistas when 
possible. Landscaping of these 
uses should emphasize natural 
and flowing movements and 
are not intended to block the 
view from Viking Road.

2. Buildings within the 
Commercial, Professional 
Services and Office areas will 
be sited on the lot so that the 
primary building elevation 
is oriented to the street, with 
primary parking facilities 
encouraged in the rear and 
softened by landscaping or 
berming. This is intended to 
present the natural landscape 
to the visitor rather than a 
parking lot.

3. The siting of buildings within 
the Professional Services and 
Office should take advantage 
of the terrain rather than 
creating a flat plane. As an 
example, a building may 
appear as a one-story structure 
along the street, but may be 
two stories in the rear, with the 
main parking lot entry at the 
lower level or vice versa.

PARKING LOTS
1. Parking lot placement within 

the Commercial Zoned HWY-
1 areas will be allowed in the 
front of the building and will 
contain landscape islands for 
the placement of shade trees 

1-4.   Typical Architectural style   PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL 
DISTRICT USES
1. Regional Commercial

 - Shopping Centers
 - Hotels / Motels
 - Restaurants
 - Service Stations
 - Retail Uses
 - Office / Research
 - Corporate Campus

2. Neighborhood Commercial
 - Grocery Store
 - Cleaner
 - Bakery
 - Card Shop
 - Convenience Store
 - Gas Station
 - Multi-family Residential

(For Multi-Family design 
standards, see page 13, The 
Villages - Multi-Family)

BUILDINGS
Buildings and structures should be 
built primarily of brick, naturally 
occurring fieldstone or quarried 
limestone with colors, designs and 
patterns that highlight the natural 
color palette and textures of rural 
Iowa and the prairie character of 
the District while still allowing for 
corporate branding and theming to 
come through in the overall design.
1. Brick will be as manufactured 

by: Glen-Gery Brick or equal.
2. Stone for bases and plinths 

shall be Anamosa limestone or 
equal.

3. Cultured Stone or approved 
equal shall be allowed in leiu 
of natural stone & full brick.

4. Windows shall be Bronze or 
Champagne to blend with the 
color choice of the brick. 

and lighting, in accordance 
with City of Cedar Falls 
requirements.  

2. Parking lot placement within 
the Commercial, Professional 
Services and Office will be 
encouraged to the rear of the 
building and will contain 
landscape islands for the 
placement of shade trees and 
lighting.  

3. If primary parking lots are 
located in the front, enhanced 
landscaping will be required 
around the perimeter.  Parking 
lot islands shall be a minimum 
width of 10’ from back of curb 
to back of curb.

4. Number of parking spaces will 
be per Cedar Falls ordinance 
for the appropriate use.

5. Landscape plantings shall 
include shade and ornamental 
trees, deciduous and evergreen 
shrubs and evergreen trees 
along the periphery.    

6. Where parking lots for 
the Prairie Commercial 
District abut residential 
uses, a minimum 48” high 
screen planting is required 
at installation.  Plantings 
shall reach a maximum of 
6’ at maturity, and can be 
deciduous, evergreen or a 
mix and shall be upright in 
growth habit so as to minimize 
maintenance.

1

2 3

55

Item 7.



10

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  C o m m e r c i a l  D i s t r i c t  -  L i g h t i n g         

Notes:
 - The lighting fixtures illustrated are to be used in the undeveloped non-residential areas as depicted.
 - All light poles shall be the same or shorter than the height of the building to which they are accessory.

PRAIRIE BUSINESS PARK  (West of Prairie Parkway)

PRAIRIE BUSINESS PARK  (East of Prairie Parkway)
and PRAIRIE COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

Green Lantern Box DownlightGreen Lantern Hanging 
Lantern

Bronze/Brown or Green Lantern 
pole mounted

Bronze/Brown or Green 
Box Downlight LED

Bronze/Brown or Green 
Box Downlight

56

Item 7.



11

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  P r a i r i e  C o m m e r c i a l  D i s t r i c t         

multi-stem form.
 - Evergreen trees/shrubs:   

Evergreens shall be a mix 
of 6’-10’ in height at time 
of installation with no more 
than 50% of any one size.  
Shrubs shall be a minimum 
of 30” in height or spread 
depending on species.

 - Deciduous shrubs: shrubs 
shall be a minimum 24” in 
height at time of planting.

 - Perennials / grasses: these 
are the preferred plant 
for the landscape, as they 
require little maintenance 
or irrigation. Plantings 
shall be minimum of 1/2 
gallon containers at time 
of installation and spaced 
18” on center.  Planting 
Quantities – In keeping with 
the vision to distinguish 
Pinnacle Prairie from other 
developments, planting 
quantities shall generally 
be 10-15% greater than that 
required by City ordinances.

SIGNAGE
Monument signs shall be of the 
size detailed herein and shall be 
made of brick, naturally occurring 
fieldstone or quarried limestone 
designs and patterns that highlight 
the natural color palette and 
textures of rural Iowa the signs 
should reflect the prairie character 
of the District while still allowing 
for corporate branding and 
theming to come through in the 
overall design and to blend with 
the building. Corporate logos may 
be incorporated into the sign face, 
and lettering shall be no more than 

1-4. Site & Parking Lot 
Landscaping

LANDSCAPE
The intent of the landscape is to set 
Pinnacle Prairie apart from other 
developments and to bring the built 
environment into harmony with the 
natural environment.  Therefore, 
materials to be used will include:
1. Hardscape

- Retaining or decorative 
walls will be constructed of 
naturally occurring fieldstone 
or quarried limestone in 
color and texture to blend 
with the building.

 - Decorative paving will be 
clay brick also in colors to 
blend the structure into the 
landscape.

2. Irrigation required in all front 
yards to ensure that plant 
material thrives along all major 
streets.

3. Plant Types - Shade trees, 
ornamental trees, evergreen 
trees, deciduous and evergreen 
shrubs, perennials and grasses 
shall be ornamental and native 
species capable of thriving in 
USDA Plant Hardiness Zones 
4a and 5b.
 - Street trees: all streets will 

have parkway trees planted 
at the rate of 1 tree per 
80’ of street frontage and 
minimum 2.5” caliper size at 
installation.

 - Shade trees: shall be 2.5”- 
4”caliper with no more than 
50% of the trees in any one 
caliper size.

 - Ornamental trees: 
Ornamental trees shall vary 
in height from 6’-10’ and 
generally shall be used in 

24” in height unless the building 
size exceeds 10,000 square feet. 
In this case the lettering size will 
be determined by the Cedar Falls 
ordinance.

Secondary signage will be allowed 
at the main entry of the building. 
Graphics will match the monument 
sign and be no more than 18” in 
height.

COMMON AREA 
ASSOCIATION
Each site owner will be a member 
of the Business Center Association 
as well and the overall Master 
Pinnacle Prairie Association for 
the maintenance of common areas, 
stormwater management basins, 
gateways and common open space.

1

2

4

3

57

Item 7.



V

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r h c  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  V i l l a g e s         

DIVERSE AND DISTINCTIVE LIFE STYLE OPPORTUNITIES 

will draw inspiration from Midwestern towns including that of Cedar 

Falls, where tree-lined streets, parks, traditional and contemporary 

architecture, and connecting sidewalks enhance the walkable character of 

the Community. Pinnacle Prairie will be a delightful blend of traditional 

neighborhood design and 21st century technology. Most of the diverse and 

distinctive homes and apartments will be less than a ten minute walk from 

shops, churches, medical care, parks and offices, all connected by the trail 

system. A wide variety of housing choices will accommodate everyone 

from singles to seniors, first-time buyers to empty nesters.

58

Item 7.



12

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  V i l l a g e s  -  K e y  M a p         

The Vi l lages

59

Item 7.



13

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  V i l l a g e s         

7. Landscape
 - Hardscape patios shall be 
brick or concrete

 - Wood decks shall be a 
natural color. 

 - Planting: Each single-family 
home shall have a minimum 
$2,500 landscape package. 
The package shall consist of 
one 2.5”caliper shade tree 
in the rear yard; one 7’H. 
ornamental or evergreen tree 
in the front yard and a mix 
of shrubs, perennials and 
grasses. 

 - Street trees: Street trees shall 
be a minimum of 2.5” caliper 
and shall be planted in the 
parkway at the rate of one 
(1) tree per lot. On corner 
lots, two (2) street trees per 
lot shall be required.

 - Perimeter: Where single-
family lots abut a community 
road, a minimum 10’ 
wide buffer planting will 
be provided. Buffer area 
shall include berming and 
planting. Berms shall be 
meandering and range in 
height from 2’-4’. Plantings 
shall be a mix of shade 
trees, ornamental and 
evergreen trees and shrubs 
and perennials. At time of 
planting, plants shall provide 
a minimum of 25% visual 
screen to the homes.

SINGLE FAMILY
The single-family neighborhoods 
will be a blend of traditional homes 
and contemporary design.  Each 
neighborhood will have a mix of 
lot sizes and architectural styles.  
1. Minimum single story home 

shall be 1,200SF.
2. Minimum two story home 

shall be 1,600SF with a 
minimum first floor of 800SF.

3. Sideyard sertback shall be 5’. 
All other setback requirements 
shall be per Cedar Falls 
ordinance

4. Fencing shall be per Cedar 
Falls ordinance. If chain link 
is used, it shall be black vinyl 
clad.

5. Garages that are separate 
from the main structure or 
attached by means of a garden 
room may have a second floor 
“granny flat” or work room 
with separate access.

6. Building Materials:
Exterior walls:
 - Siding; wood or vinyl   
clapboard

 - Brick; color range from red 
to brown and sand

 - Wood shingle
 - Native limestone
 - Hardi Plank
 - Cultured Stone

Roofing:
 - Composite shingles 30 year 
minimum

 - Wood shingles / shakes
 - Slate
 - Synthetic shake shingles
 - Metal roofing is not allowed

1. Entry Level Single Family

2. Entry Level Single Family

3. Move - Up Single Family 

4. Move - Up Single Family

5. Upper / Custom Single Family 

6. Upper / Custom Single Family

3 4

65

1 2

60

Item 7.



14

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  V i l l a g e s         

ATTACHED SINGLE-FAMILY
The attached single-family 
neighborhoods will be a blend 
of traditional  town homes and 
alley loaded court homes. Each 
neighborhood can have a mix of 
unit types and may have a mix of 
traditional and alley loaded homes.
1. Minimum single story home 

shall be 1,050SF.
2. Minimum two story home 

shall be 1,250SF.
3. Setback requirements shall be 

per Cedar Falls ordinance
4. Building Materials:

Exterior walls:
 - Siding; wood or vinyl   
clapboard

 - Brick; color range from red 
to brown and sand

 - Wood shingle
 - Native limestone
 - Hardi Plank
 - Cultured Stone

Roofing:
 - Composite shingles 30 year 
minimum

 - Wood shingles / shakes
 - Slate
 - Synthetic shake shingles
 - Metal roofing is not allowed

5. Landscape
 - Hardscape patios shall be 
brick or concrete

 - Wood decks shall be a 
natural color. 

 - Planting: Each unit shall 
have a minimum $1,500 
landscape package.  Plants 
are encouraged to be native 
species or hybrids of native 
species.

 - Street trees: Street trees shall 

be a minimum of 2.5” caliper 
and shall be planted in the 
parkway at the rate outlined 
in Cedar Falls ordinances.

1. Alley loaded townhome style 
unit

2. Typical plan view showing alley 
loaded townhome style unit

3. Typical plan view showing 
traditional townhome style unit

4. Traditional townhome style 
unit 

1 2

3 4

STREET

ST
RE

ET

61

Item 7.



15

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  V i l l a g e s         

MULTI-FAMILY
The multi-family neighborhoods 
may be a blend of rental and 
condominium units. Each 
neighborhood is intended to 
provide housing opportunities for 
those who do not wish to own a 
traditional home or town home or 
do not wish to purchase at their 
particular time in life. 
1. Minimum unit size shall be 

850SF.
2. Setback requirements shall be 

per Cedar Falls ordinances
3. Garages will be provided for 

minimum of 50% of all units. 
Garages may be internal to the 
main structure or in a separate 
location near the building.

4. Building Materials:
 - Exterior walls: 

 - Siding; wood or vinyl 
clapboard

 - Brick; color range from 
red to brown and sand

 - Stucco / plaster
 - Wood shingle
 - Native limestone
 - Cultured Stone or 

approved equal shall be 
allowed in leiu of natural 
stone & full brick.

 - Roofing:
 - Composite shingles 30-

year minimum
 - Wood shingles / shakes
 - Slate
 - Synthetic shake shingles
 - Metal roofing is not 

allowed.
6. Landscape

 - Hardscape patios shall be  
brick or concrete

 - Decks shall be cedar or 
redwood

 - Planting: Each unit shall 
have a minimum $1,000 
landscape package exclusive 
of sod or seed cost. Plants 
are encouraged to be native 
species of hybrids of native 
species. 

 - Street Trees: Street trees 
shall be a minimum of 2.5” 
caliper and shall be planted 
in the parkway at the rate 
of one (1) tree per 50’ of 
frontage.

 - Perimeter: Where multi-
family lots abut a community 
road, a minimum 10’ 
buffer planting area will be 
provided. Buffer will include 
berming and planting. Berms 
shall be meandering and 
range in height from 4’-8’. 
Plantings shall be a mix 
of shade trees, ornamental 
and evergreen trees, shrubs 
and perennials. At time of 
planting, plants shall provide 
a min. of 20% visual screen 
to the homes.

1

3

1. Typical 3-story multi-family 
units with underground parking

2. Typical 4-story multi-family 
units with underground parking

3. Typical 3-story multi-family 
units with at grade garage 
parking

4. Typical 3-story multi-family 
units with underground parking

5. Typical 3-story multi-family 
units with at grade garage 
parking

2

4

5

62

Item 7.



16

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  V i l l a g e s         

SIGNAGE
Signage will be allowed for each 
neighborhood and may be located 
at each entry from a community 
road.

Graphics may contain a logo and 
text may be no more than 24” in 
height. 
   - Placement will be as shown 
     herein. 
   - Graphic fonts will be at
     purchaser’s discretion.
   - Advertising or other
     miscellaneous signage,
     except directional signs will not 
     be allowed.

Signs will be constructed in 
accordance with the  
accompanying design. Materials 
will be native Anamosa limestone 
to match the “Community 
Gateway” shown elsewhere in this 
document. 

PARKS AND PATHWAYS
Pinnacle Prairie will be served 
by two parks.  Each park will be 
developed with a tot lot, a sitting 
area with a 10’-12’ shelter, and 
benches.  A 6 foot pathway system 
will be developed throughout 
Pinnacle Prairie to provide bicycle 
and pedestrian connectivity 
between the various commercial 
and business uses, the open space 
amenities, and the neighborhoods 
of the project. 

COMMON AREA 
ASSOCIATION
Each single family, attached   
single family and multi-family 
neighborhood will have a 
homeowners association for the 
maintenance of common areas, 
monument signage and buffers. 
Each residential area will also 
be part of the overall Master 
Pinnacle Prairie Association for 
the maintenance of the gateways, 
medians in major streets, 
stormwater management basins 
and parks.

1

1. Typical residential 
neighborhood sign

2. Typical street section 

3. Typical neighborhood park 
showing trail connection

2

3

10’

6”

4’

12”

4’
Walk

12’ 
Parkway

14’
Drive Lane

14’
Drive Lane

12’
Parkway

4’
Walk

3” Rolled 
Curb
 

3” Rolled 
Curb

 

63

Item 7.



VI

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r h c  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

W e s t e r n  H o m e         

LIFE PROGRESSES WITH A SERIES OF CHANGES, with 

fulfillment sought at every stage.  The Western Home development offers 

a superior retirement community for all seniors with various lifestyle 

wants and needs.  From independent living housing choices to high 

quality senior care and continuing care options, Western Home provides 

another component of the unified and inclusive community envisioned 

for Pinnacle Prairie.

64

Item 7.



17

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

W e s t e r n  H o m e  -  K e y  M a p         

The Western Home 
Community

65

Item 7.



18

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

W e s t e r n  H o m e         

1. Typical residential 
neighborhood sign

2. Western Home Master Plan

LANDSCAPE
 - Hardscape patios shall be brick 
or concrete

 - Wood decks shall be a natural 
color. 

 - Planting: Each single-family 
home shall have a minimum 
$2,000 landscape package. The 
package shall consist of one 
2.5”caliper shade tree in the 
rear yard; one 7’H. ornamental 
or evergreen tree in the front 
yard and a mix of shrubs, 
perennials and grasses. Plants 
are encouraged to be native 
species or hybrids of native 
species.

 - Street trees: Street trees shall 
be a minimum of 2.5” caliper 
and shall be planted in the 
parkway at the rate of one (1) 
tree per lot. On corner lots, two 
(2) street trees per lot shall be 
required.

 - Perimeter: Where residential 
units abut Prairie Parkway, 
a minimum 10’ wide buffer 
planting will be provided. 
Buffer area shall include 
berming and planting. Berms 
shall be meandering and range 
in height from 2’-4’. Plantings 
shall be a mix of shade trees, 
ornamental and evergreen trees 
and shrubs and perennials. At 
time of planting, plants shall 
provide a minimum of 25% 
visual screen to the homes.

SIGNAGE
Signage will be allowed for each 
neighborhood and may be located 
at each entry from a community 
road.

2

APPLICABILITY
The guidelines and standards 
within Western Home section of 
the General Design Guidelines 
shall be applicable to any land that 
is within 100’ if Prairie Parkway.

BUILDINGS
Due to the importance of the 
Pinnacle Prairie frontage, all 
buildings will incorporate four 
sided architecture where the side 
and rear elevations of the homes or 
buildings will be of same quality of 
design and materials that are used 
on the front elevation.

1

10’

6”

4’

12”

Graphics may contain a logo and 
text may be no more than 24” in 
height. 

 - Placement will be as shown 
herein. 

 - Graphic fonts will be at 
purchaser’s discretion

 - Advertising or other 
miscellaneous signage, except 
directional signs will not be 
allowed.

Signs will be constructed in 
accordance with the  
accompanying design. Materials 
will be native Anamosa limestone 
to match the “Community 
Gateway” shown elsewhere in this 
document. 

PATHWAYS
A bike path will be developed 
through Western Home along 
Western Boulevard that will 
connect to the bike path along 
South Main Street and Prairie 
Parkway.  This bike path will 
provide bicycle and pedestrian 
connectivity between commercial 
uses, open space amenities and the 
neighborhoods of the project.

COMMON AREA 
ASSOCIATION
Western Home will be a member 
of the overall Master Pinnacle 
Prairie Association for the 
maintenance of common areas, 
stormwater management basins, 
gateways, common open space and 
parks.

100’

LIMITS OF 
APPLICABILITY

66

Item 7.



VII

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r h c  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

T h e  S u b m i t t a l  a n d  R e v i e w  P r o c e s s         

THE SUBMITTAL AND REVIEW PROCESS - The General Design 

Guidelines include an efficient and equitable review process that will be 

administered by the Declarant of Pinnacle Prairie.  The review process 

has been established pursuant to, and in accordance with, the Master 

Declaration, for the purpose of implementing the Design Guidelines.

67

Item 7.



19

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

          

b. Lots
c. Setbacks
d. Common areas
e. Walks and bike paths

2. Landscape Plan including:
a. Location of buildings or 

lots, parking areas, walks 
and other paved surfaces

b. Quantity and locations of 
proposed trees, shrubs, 
perennials, groundcovers, 
and turf

c. Ground contours

3. Copy of proposed Covenants, 
Conditions and Restrictions

Note:  Architectural construction 
documents are not required for pre-
permit design approval.
III. REVIEW AND 

EVALUATION
Within 14 calendar days of receipt, 
the Declarant shall evaluate the 
applicant’s plans for conformance 
to the Pinnacle Prairie Design 
Guidelines and return one original 
package with an approval status 
together with any deficiencies 
so noted on the documents.  The 
approval status may be any one of 
the following:

 - Approved as submitted, no 
resubmittal required.

 - Approved as noted, no 
resubmittal required.  (In 
this case, specific elements 
that are deemed deficient 
will be identified.  Provided 
the noted deficiencies are 
addressed in the permit 
submittal, the plans will be 
approved for permit.)

 - Approved as noted, 
resubmittal is required.  (In 

1. Example Application include one full size set of plans 
and one electronic copy of the 
following documents:
1. Architectural Elements:

a. Design drawings of front, 
side and rear elevations of 
buildings

b. Description/Illustrations 
of representative exterior 
building materials/
manufacturers

c. Product brochures/collateral 
of front, side and rear 
elevations’ materials

2. Site Plan including:
a. Building and parking area 

locations
b. Walks
c. Setbacks
d. Type and location of light 

poles
e. Dumpster locations and 

screening

3. Landscape Plan including:
a. Location of buildings, 

parking areas, walks and 
any other paved surfaces

b. Quantity and location of 
required trees, shrubs, 
perennials, groundcovers 
and turf

c. Ground contours
d. Point tabulation based on 

City of Cedar Falls point 
system

The submittal for development 
within The Villages or Western 
Home shall consist of one full size 
set of plans and one electronic 
copy of the following documents:

1. Preliminary Plat including:
a. Street layout

this case, specific elements 
that are deemed deficient 
will be identified so that 
they may be addressed and 
verified in the subsequent 
resubmittal.)

 - Rejected, resubmittal is 
required.  (In this case, 
specific elements that are 
deemed deficient will be 
identified so that they may 
be addressed and verified in 
the subsequent resubmittal.)

Not withstanding the forgoing, 
the Declarant shall have final 
discretion to deviate from these 
guidelines to take into account the 
use,building lines, topography of 
the lot, access points, etc.

IV. CITY APPROVAL
Once the Applicant’s plans have 
been approved by the Declarant, no 
further design approval from the 
Declarant shall be required.  The 
Applicant may proceed through 
the typical City of Cedar Falls 
development approval process.  
The City of Cedar Falls will 
review the submitted plans for 
conformance to the City’s codes 
and ordinances. The City will 
be responsible to enforce zoning 
standards, setbacks, building 
construction and codes, and 
minimum landscape standards.  All 
architectural, landscaping and site 
plans shall be at the discretion of 
the Declarant.

THE REVIEW AND 
SUBMITTAL PROCESS

All proposed building and 
development within of Pinnacle 
Prairie must be reviewed and 
approved by the Declarant prior 
to seeking development approval 
from the City of Cedar Falls.  
The Declarant will review each 
builder’s development package 
for conformance to the Design 
Guidelines, and will review 
individual homeowner’s submittals 
using the same standards.

All reviews, substitutions and 
approvals by the Declarant will be 
considered binding and final.

The Declarant will have authority 
over both new construction and 
exterior remodels, additions and 
other improvements.

I. PRE-SUBMITTAL 
MEETING

Prior to submitting plans for 
approval, the Applicant is 
encouraged to meet with the 
Declarant to informally discuss 
Applicant’s plans.  The Declarant 
will be available to help interpret 
the standards and offer suggestions 
about the applicant’s design 
concepts.  The Applicant is urged 
to meet with the Declarant as 
early as possible to assist in the 
Applicant’s decision to build in 
Pinnacle Prairie.

II. SUBMITTAL
Applicant shall submit a master 
set of development plans to the 
Declarant of Pinnacle Prairie.  The 
submittal for development within 
the Prairie Business Park and 
Prairie Commercial District shall 

1

DEVELOPMENT APPROVAL APPLICATION 
 

Applicant shall submit plans for review as outlined in the Pinnacle Prairie Review and Submittal Process, 
as outlined on Page 18. 
 
List the specific documents being submitted: 
 
1)  ________________________________________________________________________________  

2)  ________________________________________________________________________________  

3)  ________________________________________________________________________________  

4)  ________________________________________________________________________________  

5)  ________________________________________________________________________________  

6)  ________________________________________________________________________________  

 
Builder/Developer:  __________________________  Contact Name:  ____________________________  

Address:  ____________________________________________________________________________  

City:  _____________________________________  State: _________________  Zip: _______________  

Telephone:  __________________________________________________________________________  

E-Mail Address:  ______________________________________________________________________  

Date Submitted:  ______________________________________________________________________  

 
Approval Status: 
 
 Approved as submitted, no resubmittal required 
 Approved as noted, no resubmittal required 
 Approved as noted, resubmittal required 
 Rejected, resubmittal required 

 
Reviewed by:  ________________________________________________________________________  

Date Reviewed:  ______________________________________________________________________  

Comments: 
_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________

_____________________________________________________________________________________ 

68

Item 7.



20

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

A p p e n d i x  -  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e  P l a n t  P a l e t t e         

1. Quercus macrocarpa - Bur Oak

2. Acer saccharum - Sugar Maple

3. Tilia cordata - Littleleaf Linden

4. Ulmus x sp. - Disease-Resistant 
Elm

5. Quercus alba - White Oak

6. Gleditsia triacanthos - 
Honeylocust

7. Carya ovata - Shagbark Hickory

8. Pseudotsuga mensiesii - 
Douglas Fir

9. Pinus strobus - Eastern White 
Pine

DECIDUOUS TREES 
Street trees: all streets will have 
parkway trees at 40’ on center and 
minimum 2.5” caliper size.
Shade trees: shall be 2.5”- 4”cal. 
with no more than 50% of the trees 
in any one caliper size.

Plant Palette:
Acer x fremanii - 

Freeman Maple cultivars
Acer saccharum - 

Sugar Maple
Carya ovata - 

Shagbark Hickory
Celtis occidentalis - 

Common   Hackberry
Gleditsia triacanthos -

Honeylocust 
Gymnocladus dioicus - 

Kentucky Coffeetree
Juglans nigra - 

Black Walnut
Quercus alba - 

White Oak
Quercus bicolor - 

Swamp White Oak
Quercus macrocarpa - 

Bur Oak
Quercus rubra - 

Red Oak
Platanus x acerifolia - 

London Planetree
Populus tremuloides -

Quaking Aspen
Tilia americana - 

American Linden
Tilia cordata - 

Littleleaf Linden
Ulmus x sp. - 

Disease-resistant Elm

EVERGREEN TREES  /
SHRUBS 
Evergreen  trees/shrubs: 
Evergreen trees shall be a mix 
of 6’-10’ in height at time of 
installation with more than 50% 
of any one size.  Shrubs shall be 
a minimum of 30” in height or 
spread depending on species.

Plant Palette: 
Juniperus communis sp. - 

Common Juniper cultivars  
Juniperus virginiana - 

Eastern Red Cedar
Juniperus chinensis sp. - 

Chinese Juniper
Picea glauca

Black Hills Spruce
Picea pungens
Colorado Spruce 
Pinus strobus - 

White Pine
Pinus nigra - 

Austrian Pine
Pseudotsuga menziesii - 

Douglas Fir 
Thuja occidentalis - 

Eastern Arborvitae

1

4

7 8 9

6

32

5

69

Item 7.



21

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

A p p e n d i x  -  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e  P l a n t  P a l e t t e         

1. Aronia arbutifolia - Red 
Chokeberry

2. Viburnum trilobum - American 
Cranberry Viburnum

3. Cornus racemosa - Gray 
Dogwood

4. Hamamelis virginiana - 
Common Witchhazel

5. Amelanchier canadensis - 
Shadblow Serviceberry

6. Cercis canadensis - Eastern 
Redbud

7. Euonymus alatus - Burning Bush

8. Rhus aromatica - Gro-Low 
Sumac

9. Syringa meyeri ‘Palibin’ - Dwarf 
Korean Lilac

1 2 3

4

7

5

8

6

9

ORNAMENTAL TREES
Ornamental trees shall vary in 
height from 6’-10’ and generally 
be used in multi-stem form.
Plant Palette:
Acer ginnala - 

Amur Maple
Alnus glutinosa - 

Black Alder
Amelanchier canadensis -

Shadblow Serviceberry
Betula Nigra -

River Birch
Betula papyrifera - 

Paper Birch  
Carpinus caroliniana - 

American Hornbeam
Cercis canadensis - 

Eastern Redbud
Crataegus crus-gali var. inermis -

Thornless Cockspur Hawthorn
Hamamelis virginiana - 

Common Witchhazel
Malus sp. - 

Flowering Crabapple cultivars
Ostrya virginiana - 

American Hophornbean
Prunus americana -

American Plum
Prunus serotina - 

Black Cherry
Viburnum prunifolium - 

Blackhaw Viburnum

DECIDUOUS SHRUBS
Shrubs shall be a minimum 24” in 
height at time of planting.
Plant Palette:
Aronia arbutifolia - 

Red Chokeberry
Cornus alternifolia -

Pagoda Dogwood
Cornus sericea - 

Redtwig Dogwood cultivars
Cornus racemosa - 

Gray Dogwood
Diervilla lonicera -

Dwarf Bush Honeysuckle
Euonymus alatus - 

Burning Bush 
Ilex verticillata -

Winterberry
Myrica pennsylvanica -

Northern Bayberry
Physocarpus opulifolius -

Common Ninebark
Rhus aromatica -  

Gro-Low Sumac
Rhus glabra  - 

Smooth Sumac
Rhus typhina - 

Staghorn Sumac
Rosa spp. - 

Shrub Rose cultivars
Spirea japonica sp. - 

Spirea 
Symphoricarpus albus -

Snowberry
Symphoricarpus orbiculatus -

Indiancurrant Coralberry
Syringa meyeri ‘Palibin’ - 

Dwarf Korean Lilac 
Viburnum dentatum - 

Arrowwood Viburnum
Viburnum trilobum - 

American Cranberry Viburnum

70

Item 7.



22

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

A p p e n d i x  -  R e p r e s e n t a t i v e  P l a n t  P a l e t t e         

1. Liatris pychnostachy - Prairie 
Blazing Star

2. Echinacea purpurea - Purple 
Coneflower

3. Heuchera micrantha ‘Palace 
Purple’ - Palace Purple Coral 
Bells

4. Leucanthemum ‘Becky’ - Becky 
Shasta Daisy

5. Equisetum hyemale - 
Scouringrush

6. Andropogon gerardii - Big 
Bluestem

7. Panicum virgatum - Switch 
Grass

8. Sedum spectable ‘Neon’ - Neon 
Sedum

9. Rudbeckia hirta - Black Eyed 
Susan            

1 2 3

4 5 6

7 8 9

PERENNIALS / GRASSES
These are the preferred plant for 
the landscape, as they require 
little maintenance or irrigation.  
Plantings shall be minimum of 
1/2 gallon containers at time of 
installation  and spaced 18” on 
center.  Mulch to be shredded 
hardwood bark mulch no more 
than  2” in depth.

Plant Palette:
Acorus calamus - 

Sweet Flag
Aquilegia canadensis - 

American Columbine
Andopogon gerardii - 
Big Bluestem
Andropogon scoparius - 

Little Bluestem
Asclepias incarnata - 

Swamp Milkweed
Aster novae-engliae - 

New England Aster
Baptesia sp. - 

False Indigo
Bouteloua curtipendula - 

Sideoats Grama 
Calamagrostis acutifolia ‘Karl     
Foerester’ - 

Karl Foerester Grass
Calamagrostis canadensis - 

Blue Joint Grass
Carex species - 

Sedges
Coreopsis sp. - 

Coreopsis
Echinacea pallida - 

Pale Purple Coneflower
Echinacea purpurea - 

Purple Coneflower
Equisetum hyemale -

Scouringrush
Filipendula rubra - 

Queen of the Prairie
Hemerocallis sp. - 

Daylily

Heuchera micrantha ‘Palace 
Purple’ - 

Palace Purple Coral Bells
Iris virginica var. shrevei - 

Wild Blue Flag Iris 
Leucanthemum ‘Becky’

Becky Shasta Daisy
Liatris pychnostachya - 

Prairie Blazing Star
Lobelia siphilitica - 

Brat Blue Lobelia
Miscanthus sinensis ‘Purpurascens’  

Purple Flame Grass
Nepeta racemosa

Walker’s Low Catmint
Panicum virgatum - 

Switch Grass
Physostegia virginiana - 

Obedient Plant cultivars
Ratibida pinnata - 

Yellow Coneflower
Rudbeckia hirta  - 

Black-eyed Susan
Scirpus species - 

Bulrushes
Sedum spectable ‘Neon’

Neon Sedum
Silphium laciniatum - 

Compass Plant
Silphium terebinthinaceum - 

Prairie Dock
Solidago species - 

Goldenrod
Sorghastrum nutans -

Indian Grass
Sporobolus heterolepis - 

Prairie Dropseed
Uniola latifolia - 

Northern Sea Oats
Verbena hastata - 

Blue Vervain

71

Item 7.



23

C e d a r  F a l l s ,  I o w a M a r c h  8 ,  2 0 2 1
D a t e :

          

Master Developer:

4501 Prairie Parkway
Cedar Falls, IA 50613
Phone 319.277.8000
Fax 319.277.8080

Owner:

Land Planner / Landscape Architecture:

126 S. Main Street
Oswego, IL 60543

Phone 630.551.3355
www.schoppedesign.net

72

Item 7.



73

Item 7.



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 
Prepared by: Karen Howard, Planning & Community Services Manager, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 (319) 273-8600 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2989 

 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 26-118, DISTRICT BOUNDARIES 

OF DIVISION I, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE III, DISTRICT AND DISTRICT  

REGULATIONS, OF CHAPTER TWENTY-SIX (26), ZONING,  

OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES, OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, 

AND RE-ENACTING SAID SECTION 26-118 OF SAID ORDINANCE, AS AMENDED, 

SO AS TO APPLY AND INCLUDE THE CHANGE IN THE ZONING MAP OF THE CITY 

OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AS PROVIDED BY THIS ORDINANCE. 

 

 WHEREAS, a proposal was submitted to the Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning 

Commission to rezone approximately 3 acres of property from R-1 Residence District to MU, 

Mixed Use Residential District; and approximately 12 acres of property from A-1 Agricultural 

District to MU, Mixed Use Residential District, more specifically described below; and  

 

 WHEREAS, said MU, Mixed Use Residential District, allows for development flexibility 

according to a master plan to ensure that the area is developed in an orderly manner according to 

the principles of the Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan; and 

 

 WHEREAS, said area shall be incorporated into the larger Pinnacle Prairie Master Plan, 

which has been amended to include said 15 acres, which amended master plan has been 

submitted with the rezoning application, the principles and provisions of which will be 

incorporated into a developmental procedures agreement between the City and the owners of the 

property, which will be considered for adoption in a separate action by resolution concurrent 

with this rezoning;  

 

WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission considered the rezoning request and 

proposed elements of the amended Pinnacle Prairie MU Master Plan and find that said rezoning 

and amended master plan is consistent with the City of Cedar Falls Comprehensive Plan and the 

intent of the MU Mixed Use Residential District;  

 

WHEREAS, the City Planning and Zoning Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, 

finds that the rezoning (Case #RZ21-001) is consistent with the adopted Comprehensive Plan of 

the City of Cedar Falls and therefore has recommended to the City Council of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, that all that area described below shall be removed from the A-1 Agricultural 

74

Item 7.



District and the R-1 Residence District and placed in the MU, Mixed Use Residential District, as 

follows: 

 

Legal Description 

The West 110 feet of Lot 1; Lots 2, 3, and 4 except that part deeded to the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa in 565 CLD 326 for street purposes, all in “Ideal Acres” in Black Hawk County, Iowa (now 

in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa) 

AND 

The North 528 feet of Lot 13, all in “Ideal Acres” in Black Hawk County, Iowa (now in the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa) 

 

And 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Council of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, deems it to be in the best 

interests of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, that said proposal be made and approved; and 

 

  WHEREAS, the said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, provides that the zoning map of the City of Cedar 

Falls, Iowa, attached thereto, is incorporated into and made a part of said Ordinance; 

 

 WHEREAS, notice of public hearing has been published, as provided by law, and such 

hearing held on the proposed amendment; now, therefore, 

 

 BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 

IOWA: 

 

 Section 1.  That the following described real estate: 

 

Legal Description 

The West 110 feet of Lot 1; Lots 2, 3, and 4 except that part deeded to the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa in 565 CLD 326 for street purposes, all in “Ideal Acres” in Black Hawk County, Iowa (now 

in the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa) 

AND 

The North 528 feet of Lot 13, all in “Ideal Acres” in Black Hawk County, Iowa (now in the City 

of Cedar Falls, Iowa) 

 

Be and the same is hereby removed from the A-1 Agricultural District and the R-1 Residence 

District and added to the MU, Mixed Use Residential District.  

 

Section 2. That the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is 

hereby amended to show the property described in Section 1, above, as now being in the MU, 

Mixed Use Residential District, and the amended map is hereby ordained to be the zoning map 

of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, as amended. 

 

 Section 3. That said Section 26-118, District Boundaries of Division I, Generally, of 

Article III, Districts and District Regulations, of Chapter Twenty-Six (26), Zoning, of the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, be and the same is hereby repealed and hereby 

75

Item 7.



re-enacted in the identical language as the same now is, in order that the same shall apply to and 

include the change hereby made in the zoning map of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. 

 

 

INTRODUCED:    May 17, 2021    

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  May 17, 2021    

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

 

         ________________________ 

         Robert M. Green, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

 

 

____________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

76

Item 7.



1 

 

   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE AND BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
PHONE 319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
Legal Services Division 

 TO: Mayor Green, City Council 

 FROM: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney 

 DATE: May 18, 2021 

   SUBJECT:   Amendment to Code of Ordinances Sec. 2-276 
 
 

There is an ambiguity in the reappointment process for members of City authorized Boards and 

Commissions.  While these members serve for a definite term as provided in the Code of 

Ordinances, there appears to be a just cause standard and hearing rights if a member is not 

reappointed for additional terms after the first term is served.  Such a situation basically renders 

terms meaningless. 

 

In order to clarify this ambiguity, Mayor Green has requested that the Section of the Code of 

Ordinances dealing with Boards and Commissions be amended to make it clear that 

reappointment for successive terms is within the discretion of the Mayor and Council, and non-

reappointment need not be for cause.   

 

Removal of a Board or Commission member mid-term, however, would still require just cause. 

 

The proposed amendment is attached. 

   

Please feel free to contact me if you have any questions.  

77

Item 8.



1 
 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. ________ 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 2-276, MEMBERS MOVING FROM CITY; 

ABSENCE FROM MEETINGS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, BOARDS 

AND COMMISSIONS, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU 

THEREOF A NEW SECTION 2-276, APPOINTMENT; MEMBERS MOVING FROM CITY; 

ABSENCE FROM MEETINGS; NON-REAPPOINTMENT. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Section 2-276, Members Moving From City; Absence From Meetings, of Division 

1, Generally, of Article IV, Boards and Commissions, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Section 2-276, Appointment; members Moving From City; Absence From Meetings; Non-

reappointment, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

Sec. 2-276. mMembers moving from city; absence from meetings; non-Appointment; 

reappointment. 

Members of boards and commissions established by this Code are appointed by the mayor with the approval 
of the council.  The permanent removal from the city of any such member of a board or commission wherein the 
members are appointed by the mayor with the approval of the council, or the absence from three consecutive 
regular meetings or five meetings within one year by sucha member of any of such boards or commissions, except 
in case of sickness or temporary absence from the city, without due explanation, shall render the member's office 
vacant.  Reappointment of such members for additional terms shall be at the discretion of the mayor and council.  
No hearing shall be afforded in the event of non-reappointment, which may be without cause.  

(Code 2017, § 2-211) 

 

INTRODUCED:  ___________________________________________________________ 
PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  _____________________________________________ 
PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:  _____________________________________________ 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:  ______________________________________________ 
ADOPTED:  _______________________________________________________________ 
 
                                                                                             ___________________________ 
                                                                                              Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
_________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk          

78

Item 8.



 
 

Prepared by: Kevin Rogers, City Attorney, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA  50613, (319)273-8600 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 2990 

AN ORDINANCE REPEALING SECTION 2-276, MEMBERS MOVING FROM CITY; 

ABSENCE FROM MEETINGS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, BOARDS 

AND COMMISSIONS, OF CHAPTER 2, ADMINISTRATION, OF THE CODE OF 

ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, AND ENACTING IN LIEU 

THEREOF A NEW SECTION 2-276, APPOINTMENT; MEMBERS MOVING FROM CITY; 

ABSENCE FROM MEETINGS; NON-REAPPOINTMENT. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA: 

       Section 1.  Section 2-276, Members Moving From City; Absence From Meetings, of Division 

1, Generally, of Article IV, Boards and Commissions, of Chapter 2, Administration, of the Code 

of Ordinances of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, is hereby repealed in its entirety and a new 

Section 2-276, Appointment; members Moving From City; Absence From Meetings; Non-

reappointment, is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

Sec. 2-276. Appointment; members moving from city; absence from meetings; non-

reappointment. 

Members of boards and commissions established by this Code are appointed by the mayor 
with the approval of the council.  The permanent removal from the city of any such member, or 
the absence from three consecutive regular meetings or five meetings within one year by such 
member, except in case of sickness or temporary absence from the city, without due 
explanation, shall render the member's office vacant.  Reappointment of such members for 
additional terms shall be at the discretion of the mayor and council.  No hearing shall be 
afforded in the event of non-reappointment, which may be without cause.  

 

INTRODUCED:    May 17, 2021   

PASSED 1ST CONSIDERATION:  May 17, 2021   

PASSED 2ND CONSIDERATION:      

PASSED 3RD CONSIDERATION:      

ADOPTED:         

 

____________________________ 

ATTEST:      Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

________________________________ 

Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

79

Item 8.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 

 FROM: Ben Claypool, Civil Engineer II, PhD, EI 
 

 DATE: May 12, 2021 
 

 SUBJECT: Updates to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets 
 
With the success observed of the Place to Play playground on the corner of Algonquin Drive and 
Ashworth Drive, the currently available off-street parking does not provide the adequate number of 
parking stalls. Through site observation, citizens utilizing the new playground can be found parking 
along both sides of Ashworth Drive and Algonquin Drive bordering the playground. During peak 
hours, this on-street parking creates a congested corridor that can lead to single lane traffic and 
dangerous pedestrian crossings for the primarily young family demographic that this park draws in. 
 
In cooperation with the police department, temporary parking restrictions at the proposed permanent 
locations have been in effect since late fall of 2020. Since the installation, we have seen the expected 
reduction of on-street parking congestion. To maintain this reduction, the Engineering division is 
recommending these areas permanently prohibit parking. Public Works street crews are planning to 
begin work on the installation of 14 additional angled parking stalls on the north side of Algonquin 
Drive, opposite the current parking area. This will provide a significant amount of space for citizens to 
still park close to the park, while reducing unsafe mid-block street crossings. 
 

 
80

Item 9.



The Engineering Division is proposing changes to City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on 
Specific Streets so the code matches what has been designed and will be constructed. Please see 
the attached changes for City Code Section 23-374 – Parking Prohibited on Specific Streets.  
 
The Engineering Division recommends approval to set the three newly defined areas to prohibit on-
street parking. These areas are highlighted in the image on the previous page. 
 
If you have any questions or concerns, please feel free to ask.  
 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer  

81

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 1 of 16 

Sec. 23-374. Parking prohibited on specific streets. 

When signs are erected giving notice thereof, no person shall park a vehicle at any time upon any of the 
streets or portions of streets enumerated in this section.  

Street  Portion Where  
Parking Prohibited  

First Street (West)  On both sides between Main Street and the west city limits.  

Second Street (West)  On both sides between Walnut Street and Francis Street.  

 On the north side between Francis Street and Hudson Road.  

Third Street (East)   

Third Street (West)   

 On both sides of said street between Clay Street and Franklin Street on Saturday 
mornings only commencing with the first Saturday of May of each year and continuing 
through the last Saturday of October each year during the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 
noon.  

 On the north side of said street from the most westerly point of the flare-out of the 
driveway approach to the north-south alley located in the 200 block between 
Washington Street and Clay Street, west a distance of 143 feet to the east curb line of 
Clay Street, extended northerly, as such east curb line is located in the 300 block of 
Clay Street, on Saturday mornings only commencing with the first Saturday of May of 
each year and continuing through the last Saturday of October of each year during the 
hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 On the south side of said street from the most westerly point of the flare-out of the 
driveway approach to the north-south alley located in the 300 block between 
Washington Street and Clay Street, west a distance of 143 feet to the east curb line of 
Clay Street, extended northerly, as such east curb line is located in the 300 block of 
Clay Street, on Saturday mornings only commencing with the first Saturday of May of 
each year and continuing through the last Saturday of October of each year during the 
hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 On the south side of said street from the west curb line of Ellen Street west to the east 
curb line of Hudson Road.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Tremont Street west to the east curb line 
of Ellen Street.  

 On the north side of said street from Cedar Crest Drive to Magnolia Drive.  

Fourth Street  On both sides from College Street to Hudson Road.  

 On the south side between Franklin Street and College Street.  

Fourth Street (East)   

Fourth Street (West)  On both sides from College Street to Hudson Road; on the north side from the west 
line of Main Street to a point 20 feet west thereof; on the north side from the west 
line of Cedar Crest Drive a distance of 30 feet west, and from the east line of Cedar 
Crest Drive a distance of 30 feet east; on the north side from the east line of Angie 
Drive to the west line of Hudson Road; on both sides of said street from the west line 
of Chateau Court to Hudson Road; on the south side from the west line of Main Street 
to a point ten feet west thereof; on the south side between Washington Street and 
College Street.  

 On the north side from the west line, extended north, of Jessica Lane to a point 200 
feet west thereof.  

Fifth Street (West)  On the north side from the west line of Main Street west a distance of 150 feet.  

82

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 2 of 16 

 On the south side from a point 48 feet east of the east line of Clay Street west to the 
alley between Clay Street and Franklin Street.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Franklin Street west to the east curb line 
of College Street.  

Sixth Street (East)  On the north side from the east curb line of Main Street east a distance of 200 feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Main Street east to the west curb line of 
State Street.  

Sixth Street (West)  On both sides between Main Street and Franklin Street, except that on the north side 
of West Sixth Street, from a point 40 feet west of the west curb line of Washington 
Street to a point 144 feet west of the west curb line of Washington Street.  

 On the north side from the east curb line of College Street east a distance of 150 feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of College Street east a distance of 75 feet.  

Seventh Street (East)  On the south side from State Street to the west line of Bluff Street.  

Seventh Street (West)  On the north side from Washington Street to Clay Street, except Saturdays and 
Sundays.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Division Street west a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the north side from the east curb line of Division Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Division Street west a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Division Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

Eighth Street (East)  On the north side from Main Street to State Street.  

Eighth Street (West)  On the north side between Franklin Street and College Street.  

 On the north side between Division Street and Ellen Street.  

 On the south side between College Street and Pearl Street.  

 On the south side from the centerline of Barrington Drive east a distance of 500 feet.  

 On the north side from the centerline of Barrington Drive east a distance of 110 feet.  

 On the north side from the centerline of Barrington Drive west a distance of 50 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

Ninth Street (East)  On the north side from Bluff Street east to Grove Street, except Sundays.  

Ninth Street (West)  On the north side from Clay Street east 100 feet.  

 On the north side from the west line of Tremont Street west to the east line of 
Catherine Street.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

Tenth Street (East)  On both sides from a point 180 feet east of the east curb line of Grove Street to a 
point 250 feet east of the east line of Grove Street.  

 On the north side from Main Street to Grove Street.  

Tenth Street (West)  On the north side from the west curb line of Tremont Street west to the east curb line 
of Division Street.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Iowa Street west a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

11th Street (East)  On the north side from State Street to Grove Street.  

83

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 3 of 16 

 On the north side from Main Street to State Street.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of State Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Grove Street west a distance of 40 feet.  

11th Street (West)  On the north side between Franklin Street and Walnut Street.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of College Street west to the east curb line 
of Division Street.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Catherine Street west a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Catherine Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

12th Street (West)  On both sides from Main Street to College Street.  

 On the south side from the east line of Clark Drive east a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the south side from the west line of Clark Drive west a distance of 40 feet.  

 On both sides from Hudson Road to Union Road.  

13th Street (West)  On both sides from the east curb line of Walnut Street east a distance of 20 feet.  

 On both sides from the west curb line of Walnut Street west a distance of 20 feet.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Clay Street west to the east curb line of 
Franklin Street.  

14th Street (East)  On the south side between State Street and Waterloo Road.  

14th Street Court 
(East)  

On the north side from the east curb line of Bluff Street east to the end of the street.  

14th Street (West)  On the north side of said street from Main Street to Franklin Street.  

15th Street (West)  On the north side of said street from the west curb line of Clay Street west to the east 
curb line of Franklin Street.  

16th Street (West)  On the south side from the west curb line of Main Street to the east curb line of 
Franklin Street.  

18th Street (East)  On both sides from Main Street to Waterloo Road.  

18th Street (West)  On both sides of the street from the west curb line of Main Street west to the east 
curb line of College Street.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of College Street west to the east curb line 
of Hudson Road.  

 On the north side from the west line of Hudson Road west a distance of 200 feet.  

 On the north side from a point 455 feet west of the west line of Hudson Road west a 
distance of 101 feet.  

 On the north side from a point 922 feet west of the west line of Hudson Road west a 
distance of 101 feet.  

 On the south side from the west line of Hudson Road west a distance of 1,116 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Summit Drive west a distance of 100 feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Summit Drive east a distance of 100 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Campus Street west a distance of 20 feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Campus Street east a distance of 20 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Merner Avenue west a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of College Street west a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east a distance of 40 feet.  

19th Street (West)  On the north side between College Street and Hudson Road, between 8:00 a.m. and 
3:30 p.m., Mondays through Fridays.  

84

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 4 of 16 

 On the south side from the west curb line of College Street west to the east curb line 
of Campus Street.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Campus Street west a distance of 30 feet.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east a distance of 30 feet.  

 On the north side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 30 feet.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Merner Avenue west a distance of 30 
feet.  

20th Street (West)  On the south side from the east curb line of Campus Street east to the west curb line 
of Main Street.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 45 feet.  

 On the north side from the east line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 45 feet.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Campus Street east to the west curb line 
of Merner Avenue, between the hours of 1:00 a.m. and 6:00 a.m. daily.  

21st Street (West)  On the south side from the west line of Franklin Street west to the east line of College 
Street.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of College Street west a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of College Street west a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the north side from the east curb line of College Street east a distance of 40 feet.  

22nd Street (West)  On the north side from College Street to Campus Street from 1:00 a.m. to 5:30 p.m., 
Monday through Saturday and from 1:00 a.m. to 8:00 a.m. on Sunday.  

 On the south side from College Street to Campus Street.  

 On the south side between Main Street and Tremont Street.  

 On the north side from the west curb line of Tremont Street west to the east curb line 
of College Street.  

23rd Street (West)  On the north side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the north side between Campus Street and Hudson Road.  

 On the south side from the west line of Minnesota Street, which belongs to the state, 
to the east line of Hudson Road.  

 On both sides from the east curb line of Merner Avenue west to the west curb line of 
Campus Street.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Campus Street west to the east curb line 
of Minnesota Street, one-hour parking is allowed between the hours of 7:30 a.m. and 
4:30 p.m., except on weekends and holidays.  

29th Street  On the south side from 225 feet west of the centerline of College Street to 290 feet 
west of the centerline of College Street, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., 
Monday through Friday.  

29th Street (West)  On the north side from the east curb line of College Street east to the west curb line of 
Walnut Street.  

31st Street (West)  On both sides from Hudson Road to the west end of the street.  

Adams Street  On the east side of said street from the north curb line of East 18th Street north to the 
end of the street.  

 On both sides of said street from East 18th Street south.  

Alexis Boulevard  On the south and west sides from the north line of West 12th Street northerly and 
westerly to the east edge of the cul-de-sac.  

 On the east side from the north line of West 12th Street north a distance of 120 feet.  

Algonquin Drive  On the north and east sides of the street from the east curb line of Ashworth Drive 
east and south to the north curb line of Amelia Drive, extended east; On the 

southwesterly side of the street from the west curb line of Ashworth 

85

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 5 of 16 

Drive northwest a distance of 160 feet. 

Ashworth Drive On the northwestern side of the street from the north curb line of 
Algonquin Drive northeast a distance of 100 feet; On the southeast 
side of the street from the north curb line of Algonquin Drive 
northeast to the south curb line of Loren Drive, a distance of 300 feet. 

Balboa Street  On the north side from the west line of South Main Street to a point 403 feet west of 
the west line of South Main Street.  

 On the south side from the west line of South Main Street to a point 119 feet west of 
the west line of South Main Street.  

Barkwood Drive  On the north side from the west curb line of Ironwood Drive west to the east curb line 
of Applewood Lane.  

Barnett Drive  On the west side from the south curb line of Crescent Drive south to the north curb 
line of West Twelfth Street.  

 On the east side from a point 150 feet north of the north curb line of West Fourth 
Street north to a point 50 feet north thereof.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West Twelfth Street north a distance of 60 
feet.  

Barrington Drive  On the west, south and east sides of Barrington Drive from the south line of West 
Eighth Street south, east and north to the south edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Bicentennial Drive  On both sides of said street from Cedar Heights Drive west a distance of 500 feet.  

Big Woods Road  On both sides from Independence Avenue to the north city limits.  

Birch Street  On the east side from Grand Boulevard to Rainbow Drive.  

Birdsall Drive (East)  On the north side from Birdsall Drive east to the end of the street.  

Blair Ridge Road  On the west side from Wild Horse Drive north to the end of the street.  

Bluegrass Circle  Along the outside edge from the east curb line of the north intersection with Prairie 
Parkway to the east curb line of the south intersection with Prairie Parkway.  

Bluff Street  On the east side from the south curb line of East Ninth Street south to a point 70 feet 
south of the south curb line of East 12th Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of East 13th Street to the north curb line of 
East 15th Street.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of East 15th Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On both sides from the south curb line of East 15th Street south a distance of 40 feet.  

Bonita Boulevard  On the south side from the west line of South Lawn Road west a distance of 60 feet.  

Boulder Drive  On both sides from University Avenue to Orchard Drive.  

Boxwood Drive  On the north side from the west curb line of Ironwood Drive west to the east curb line 
of Applewood Lane.  

Brookside Drive  On the north side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east to the west curb line of 
Starview Drive.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east to the southerly 
extension of the east curb line of Starview Drive.  

California Drive  On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north curb line 
of Hawthorne Drive.  

Campus Street  On the east side from the north curb line of West 18th Street north to the south curb 
line of West 16th Street.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West 18th Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south a distance of 40 

86

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 6 of 16 

feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West 20th Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north line of the parking lot situated on the west side of the 
2000 block of Campus Street, south a distance of 188 feet.  

 On both sides from the south curb line of West 22nd Street south to the north curb 
line of West 23rd Street.  

Catherine Street  On the west side from the south curb line of West First Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West First Street south to the north curb 
line of West Fourth Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street to the north curb line 
of West 12th Street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West Ninth Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West Ninth Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West Tenth Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West Tenth Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West 11th Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 11th Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West 12th Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

Cedar Heights Drive  On both sides from Rainbow Drive to University Avenue.  

Cedar Hills Road  On both sides from the east curb line of Chadwick Road east to the west curb line of 
Cedar Heights Drive.  

Cedar Street  On the south side from Center Street to Vine Street.  

Center Street  On both sides from First Street to the north city limits.  

Chadwick Road  On the west side from a point 10 feet north of the northwest edge of the cul-de-sac at 
the south end of Chadwick Road, south to the northwest edge of said cul-de-sac.  

 From the northwest edge of the cul-de-sac at the south end of Chadwick Road, south, 
east and north to the northeast edge of said cul-de-sac.  

 From the southwest edge of the cul-de-sac at the north end of Chadwick Road, north, 
east and south to the southeast edge of said cul-de-sac.  

 On the east side from the southeast edge of the cul-de-sac at the north end of 
Chadwick Road, south to the northeast edge of the cul-de-sac at the south end of 
Chadwick Road.  

Clark Drive  On the west side from the south line of West 12th Street south a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the east side from the south line of West 12th Street south a distance of 40 feet.  

Clay Street  On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of First 

87

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 7 of 16 

Street.  

 On both sides of said street from the south curb line of West Third Street north a 
distance of 245 feet to the north line of the driveway entrance to the city police 
station parking lot, extended westerly, on Saturday mornings only commencing with 
the first Saturday of May of each year and continuing through the last Saturday of 
October of each year during the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 On both sides of said street from the south curb line of West Third Street south a 
distance of 134 feet to the north line of the northerly driveway entrance to the Cedar 
Falls Women's Club parking lot, on Saturday mornings only, commencing with the first 
Saturday of May of each year and continuing through the last Saturday of October of 
each year during the hours of 6:00 a.m. to 12:00 noon.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West Third Street south a distance of 35 
feet.  

 On both sides from the south curb line of West Fourth Street south a distance of 48 
feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West Fifth Street north a distance of 32 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West Sixth Street north a distance of 41 
feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West Sixth Street north a distance of 41 
feet.  

 On the east side from 15th Street to 18th Street.  

 On the west side between 15th Street and 18th Street.  

 On both sides between 18th Street and Seerley Boulevard.  

College Street (North)  On the west side from the north curb line of Higby Drive north to the end of the street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of Higby Drive south a distance of 75 feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West First Street north a distance of 120 
feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West First Street north to the north end of 
the street.  

College Street (South)  On the east side from the south curb line of West Fifth Street south to the north curb 
line of West Sixth Street.  

 On both sides from the south curb line of West Sixth Street south a distance of 100 
feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street south to the north curb 
line of West 12th Street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 12th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 18th Street.  

 On the east side from a point 50 feet north of the north curb line of West 18th Street 
south to the north curb line of West 20th Street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south a distance of 80 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West 19th Street north a distance of 50 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south a distance of 50 
feet.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West 20th Street north a distance of 50 
feet.  

88

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 8 of 16 

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 20th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 22nd Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 21st Street south to the north curb 
line of West 22nd Street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 23rd Street south a distance of 60 
feet.  

 On the west side from a point 75 feet north of the westerly extension of the north 
curb line of West Seerley Boulevard south to a point 95 feet north of the north curb 
line of West 26th Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 23rd Street south to the north curb 
line of University Avenue.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 26th Street south to the north curb 
line of University Avenue.  

 On both sides from the south curb line of University Avenue south a distance of 65 
feet.  

Colorado Road  On the south side from the west curb line of Tucson Drive west to the west end of the 
cul-de-sac situated about 250 feet west of Dallas Drive.  

Columbia Drive  On the north and east sides of Columbia Drive from West 16th Street south and east 
to College Street.  

Cottage Lane  On the west side from the south curb line of Columbia Drive to the north curb line of 
West 18th Street.  

Cottonwood Lane  On both sides from Garden Avenue east to the end of the street.  

Covey Court  On the north side from Quail Ridge Road west to the end of the street.  

 On the north side from Quail Ridge Road east to the end of the street.  

Crescent Drive  On the south side from the east curb line of Lakeview Drive east to the west curb line 
of Brentwood Drive.  

Dallas Drive  On the west side from the north curb line of Idaho Street north to the south curb line 
of University Avenue.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of Idaho Street north a distance of 50 feet.  

 On the east side from a point 125 feet north of the north curb line of Idaho Street 
north to the south curb line of University Avenue.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of Idaho Street south a distance of 25 feet.  

Division Street  On the west side from the driveway south of Tenth Street to 11th Street.  

 On the east side of said street from the north line of West Eighth Street a distance of 
120 feet north.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West Seventh Street north a distance of 
40 feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West Seventh Street north a distance of 
40 feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West Seventh Street south a distance of 
40 feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West Seventh Street south a distance of 
40 feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West Eighth Street south a distance of 50 
feet.  

Drury Lane  On the west side from the south curb line of Columbia Drive to the north curb line of 
West 18th Street.  

Dunkerton Road  On both sides from Center Street to the east city limits.  

89

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 9 of 16 

Eagle Ridge Road  On the west and south sides of Eagle Ridge Road from the intersection of the west 
curb line of Eagle Ridge Road with the north curb line of Falcon Lane, in a northerly 
and westerly direction to the southeast edge of the cul-de-sac.  

 Around the perimeter of the curb adjacent to the center island of the cul-de-sac 
located at the west end of Eagle Ridge Road.  

East Street  On the west side of East Street from the south curb line of 19th Street a distance of 
100 feet south.  

Ellen Street  On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of First 
Street.  

 On the east side from the south line of Parkway Avenue south to the north line of First 
Street.  

Erik Road  On the north side between the east curb line of Hudson Road east to the west curb 
line of Norse Drive.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Hudson Road east a distance of 70 feet.  

 On the south side from the west curb line of Norse Drive west a distance of 25 feet.  

Feather Ridge Drive  On the north side from Quail Run Lane to Feather Run Trail.  

Floral Court  On both sides of the radius of the cul-de-sac.  

 On the north side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue to the cul-de-sac.  

 On the south side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue to the cul-de-sac, from 
1:00 a.m. to 6:00 a.m. each day.  

Forrest Road  On the west side from the north curb line of South Park Road north to River Bluff 
Drive.  

Fox View Drive  On the east side from the north curb line of Hunter Drive north to the end of the 
street.  

Francis Street  On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of First 
Street.  

Franklin Street  On both sides from First Street to Sixth Street.  

 On both sides from First Street north to the north city limits.  

 On the east side between 12th Street and Seerley Boulevard.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of 18th Street north a distance of 100 feet.  

Frontage roads along 
the south side of 
University Avenue  

On both sides of the frontage road from the east curb line of Boulder Drive east to the 
end of said frontage road near the east line of Black Hawk Village, near McClain Drive.  

 On both sides of the frontage road from the east curb line of Cedar Heights Drive east 
to the west curb line of Midway Drive.  

Frontage roads along 
the north side of 
University Avenue  

On both sides of said frontage road from the east curb line of Valley Park Drive east to 
the end of said frontage road at the entrance to the Holiday Inn Motel.  

 On both sides of said frontage road from the west curb line of Ohio Street (UNI 
Institutional Road) west to the east curb line of Hudson Road.  

 On both sides of the frontage road along the north side of University Avenue between 
Main Street and Tremont Street, from the most westerly curb cut on said frontage 
road, west to the end of said frontage road.  

Frontage road on the 
west side of Hudson 
Road  

On both sides from West 31st Street south to the end of the street.  

Galloway Avenue  On the east side from Grand Boulevard to Rainbow Drive.  

 On the west side from Grand Boulevard a distance of 50 feet south, and from Rainbow 

90

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 10 of 16 

Drive a distance of 50 feet north.  

Genevieve Street  On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of First 
Street.  

 On both sides from the north right-of-way line of First Street north a distance of 132 
feet.  

 On the northwest side from First Street north to the end of the street.  

Gibson Street  On the west side from Rainbow Drive to Grand Boulevard.  

Grand Boulevard  On the south side from the east line of East Street east to the west line of Park Drive.  

 On the north side from the west line of East Street east to the east line of Scoggin 
Street.  

 On the north side from the west line, extended, of Schreiber Street east to a point 75 
feet east of the east line, extended, of Schreiber Street.  

 On the north side from the west line, extended, of Birch Street east to a point 65 feet 
east of the east line, extended, of Birch Street.  

 On the north side from the east line of Belle Avenue east to the west line of Park Drive.  

 On the north side from the east line of Edwards Street east a distance of 170 feet.  

Green Creek Road  On the north and west sides from the east line of Rownd Street east and north to the 
south line of Greenhill Road.  

Greenhill Drive  On the south side from the east curb line of Rownd Street east to the west curb line of 
Veralta Drive.  

Grove Street  On the east side from the south curb line of East Ninth Street to the north curb line of 
East 12th Street.  

Harvest Lane  On the west, north and east sides of the street proceeding west from the eastern 
intersection of Harvest Lane with Autumn Ridge Road to the western intersection of 
Harvest Lane with Autumn Ridge Road.  

Hawthorne Drive  On the north side from the east curb line of Waterloo Road to the west curb line of 
Victory Drive.  

 On both sides of said street from the centerline of Willow Lane, west a distance of 50 
feet.  

Hedgewood Circle  On the east side from the north curb line of Boxwood Drive north to the southeast 
edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Heritage Road  On the east and north sides from Bergstrom Boulevard in a southerly and easterly 
direction to the east end of Heritage Road.  

 On the west side from the north line of West Gate Avenue north a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the west side from the south line of West Gate Avenue south a distance of 40 feet.  

Hickory Lane  On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north curb line 
of Hawthorne Drive.  

Highland Drive  On the east side from the south curb line of West First Street south a distance of 89 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West First Street south a distance of 54 
feet.  

Highview Court  On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north curb line 
of Parker Street.  

Holmes Drive  On the east side between the hours of 7:00 a.m. to 4:00 p.m., Monday through Friday, 
from Fourth Street to the south end.  

Hudson Road  On both sides between First Street and the south city limits.  

Hunter Drive  On the south side from the east line of Center Street east to the east end of the street.  

Ida Street  On both sides of the street from the east curb line of North College Street east to the 

91

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 11 of 16 

end of the street.  

Idaho Street  On the north side from Dallas Drive to Boulder Drive.  

 On the south side of Idaho Street a distance of 25 feet west from the west curb line of 
Boulder Drive.  

Independence Avenue  On both sides from Lincoln Street to Big Woods Road.  

Iowa Highway 58/U.S. 
Highway 218  

On both sides of said Highway from Greenhill Road north to the north city limits.  

Iowa Street  On both sides between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of First 
Street.  

 On the west side between West Third Street and West 11th Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West Fourth Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West Fourth Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 11th Street south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West 11th Street north a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On both sides from the south curb line of West 18th Street south a distance of 40 feet.  

Ironwood Drive  On the west side from the north end of Erik Road south and east to the northwest 
edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Irving Street  On the east side from 11th Street to 12th Street.  

Jaclyn Street  On the west side from the north curb line of Lantz Avenue north to the end of the 
street.  

Kaspend Place  On the east side from the south line of Pheasant Drive south to the north edge of the 
cul-de-sac.  

Lake Street  On both sides from Central Avenue to Leversee Road.  

Lantz (East)  On the north side from Center Street to Jackson Avenue.  

Laurie Avenue  On the east side from the south curb line of Grand Boulevard south to the north curb 
line of Rainbow Drive.  

Leversee Road  On the west side from Lincoln Street to the north city limits.  

Lilac Lane  On the north side from Boulder Drive to Carlton Drive.  

Lincoln Street  On both sides from Main Street east to the city limits.  

Lone Tree Road  On both sides from Ford Road to Big Woods Road.  

Longview (West)  On both sides from Central Avenue to Center Street.  

Madison Street  On the north side from Belle Avenue to Ashland Drive.  

 On the south side from the intersection of Belle Avenue east for a distance of 200 feet.  

Main Street  On both sides from First Street north to the north end of the river bridge.  

 On both sides between Sixth Street and the south city limits, except that parking is 
allowed from Sixth to 14th Street on Sundays between 7:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m.  

Main Street (North)  On the south side between the existing entrance of Calhoun Manufacturing Company 
and Second Avenue, between the hours of 8:00 a.m. and 5:00 p.m.  

Mandalay Drive  On the north and west sides of the street from the north curb line of Grand Boulevard 
north and east to the west curb line of Park Drive.  

Maplewood Drive  On both sides from Carlton Drive to Boulder Drive.  

McClain Drive  On the east side from the south curb line of University Avenue south a distance of 77 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of University Avenue south a distance of 647 

92

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 12 of 16 

feet.  

Meadow View Circle  On the north side from the east curb line of Meadowlark Lane east to the northwest 
edge of the cul-de-sac.  

Meadowlark Lane  On the east side from the south curb line of Erik Road south to the northeast edge of 
the cul-de-sac.  

Melrose Court  On both sides of the street for its entire length, including the entire cul-de-sac.  

Melrose Drive  On the north side from Linwood Drive west to Melrose Court.  

 On the west side from Royal Drive to Seerley Boulevard from 7:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m., 
Monday through Friday.  

Merner Avenue  On the east side from the south curb line of West 19th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 22nd Street.  

 On both sides from the south curb line of West 22nd Street south to the north curb 
line of West 23rd Street.  

 On the west side from the north end of the bridge over Dry Run Creek south to the 
south end of the bridge.  

Nordic Drive  On both sides of said street from Viking Road north to the end of said street.  

 On the east side from Viking Road south a distance of 610 feet.  

Norse Drive  On the west side from the south curb line of Erik Road south a distance of 25 feet.  

North College Street  On the west side from the south line of Higby Drive south 75 feet.  

Oak Avenue  On the north side from the north curb line of Madison Street north and west to the 
east curb line of Ashland Avenue.  

Olive Street  On the east side from the south curb line of West First Street south to the south curb 
line of West 12th Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 16th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 17th Street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to a point 75 feet 
south of the south curb line of West 18th Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 21st Street.  

Orchard Drive  On the south side from South Main Street Road to Rownd Street, between the hours 
of 7:00 a.m. and 6:00 p.m., on weekdays only, excluding the following holidays: New 
Year's Day, Memorial Day, Independence Day, Labor Day, Thanksgiving Day and 
Christmas Day, or the days on which such holidays are observed.  

 On the south side from Veralta Drive to Chapman Court.  

Panther Lane  On the east side from University Avenue to Springbrook Drive.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of University Avenue to the north curb line 
of the south leg of Starbeck Circle.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of Starview Drive south a distance of 40 
feet.  

Park Drive  On both sides from Rainbow Drive to Park Circle.  

Parker Street  On the south side from Belle Avenue to Victory Drive.  

Parrish Street  On the east side from Rainbow Drive to West Winter Ridge Road.  

Pearl Street  On the east side between First Street and Third Street.  

 On the west side between First Street and a point 35 feet south of the south line of 
First Street.  

 On the east side between the south curb line of West Eighth Street to the north curb 
line of West 11th Street.  

Pendleton Drive  On the east and north sides from Quail Hollow Lane north and west to Lexington Drive.  

93

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 13 of 16 

Pheasant Drive  For a distance of 120 feet east of the centerline of the jog in Pheasant Drive and for a 
distance of 120 feet west of the center of the jog in Pheasant Drive.  

Quail Hollow Lane  On the north side from Quail Run Lane west to the end of the street.  

Quail Ridge Road  On the west side from West 12th Street south to Quail Hollow Lane.  

Quail Run Lane  On the west side from Quail Ridge Road south to Quail Hollow Lane.  

Rainbow Drive  On both sides from Waterloo Road to the east city limits.  

Ravine Drive  On both sides from the north curb line of Forrest Road north to the south curb line of 
Willow Avenue.  

Ridgeway Lane  On the west side from the east curb line of Merner Avenue east to the west curb line 
of Columbia Drive.  

River Ridge Lane  On the north side from the west curb line of River Ridge Road north and west to the 
northeast edge of the cul-de-sac.  

River Ridge Road  On the east, north and west sides from the easterly intersection of River Ridge Road 
with Timberledge Drive, northwest, west, and south to the westerly intersection with 
Timberledge Drive.  

Rownd Street  On both sides from Rainbow Drive to Sunnyside Drive.  

 On the east side from Sunnyside Drive to Greenhill Road.  

 On both sides from Rainbow Drive to Sunnyside Drive except that parking is allowed 
from a point 60 feet south of Rainbow Drive on the west side of said street on Sundays 
between 8:00 a.m. and 1:00 p.m.  

 On the east side from Sunnyside Drive to Greenhill Road.  

 On the west side from the north line of Primrose Drive north a distance of 20 feet.  

 Anywhere within the vehicle drop off lane located on the west side of Rownd Street 
adjacent to Orchard Hill School, from a point 141 feet north of the north curb line of 
Valley High Drive north to a point 365 feet north of the north curb line of Valley High 
Drive, except that parking is permitted in the angle parking area east of the raised curb 
which separates the vehicle drop off lane from the traveled portion of Rownd Street.  

First Street (West)  On both sides between Main Street and the west city limits.  

 On the west side from the south line of Primrose Drive south a distance of 40 feet.  

Royal Drive  On both sides from Waterloo Road to Melrose Drive.  

Russell Drive  On the east side from the south curb line of Sunnyside Drive south to the north curb 
line of Hawthorne Drive.  

Sandahlwood Circle  From the intersection of the north curb line of Pheasant Drive with the west curb line 
of the east leg of Sandahlwood Circle, along such curb line of Sandahlwood Circle in a 
northerly, westerly and southerly direction to the intersection of the north curb line of 
Pheasant Drive with the east curb line of the west leg of Sandahlwood Circle.  

Scenic Drive  On both sides from Cottonwood Lane north to the end of the street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of Cadillac Drive south to the north curb line 
of Sunray Drive.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of Cadillac Drive south a distance of 250 
feet, from 10:00 p.m. to 6:00 a.m. daily.  

Schreiber Street  On the east side from the south end of the street north to the south curb line of Grand 
Boulevard.  

 On the west side from the south end of the street north a distance of 70 feet.  

Scoggin Street  On the east side from the north curb line of Newman Avenue north to the south curb 
line of Grand Boulevard.  

Seerley Boulevard  On both sides between Clay Street and Valley Park Drive.  

Shady Lane  On the east side from the north curb line of Terrace Drive north and east to the south 

94

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 14 of 16 

curb line of Loma Street.  

South Lawn Road  On the east side from the north line of Bonita Boulevard south a distance of 200 feet.  

 On the west side from the south line of Bonita Boulevard south a distance of 60 feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of Stanwood Drive south a distance of 240 
feet.  

Springbrook Drive  On the north side from Starview Drive east to Panther Lane.  

Spruce Hills Drive  On the west and south sides, from the south curb line of Westgate Avenue to the west 
curb line of Estate Drive.  

Starbeck Circle  From the intersection of the west right-of-way line, extended, of Panther Lane with 
the north leg of Starbeck Circle, along the north curb line of Starbeck Circle in a 
southwesterly, southerly, easterly and northeasterly direction to the intersection of 
the west right-of-way line, extended, of Panther Lane with the south leg of Starbeck 
Circle.  

 From the intersection of the west right-of-way line, extended, of Panther Lane with 
the north leg of Starbeck Circle, southwest along the south curb line of Starbeck Circle 
a distance of approximately 545 feet, between 8:00 a.m. to 5:00 p.m. Monday through 
Friday.  

Starview Drive  On the east side from the north curb line of Brookside Drive north to a point 240 feet 
north of the north curb line of Springbrook Drive.  

 On the north, northwesterly and west sides of the street from the west curb line of 
Panther Lane in a westerly, southwesterly and southerly direction to a point 140 feet 
north of the north curb line of Springbrook Drive.  

State Street  On the east side from the south curb line of East Seventh Street to the north curb line 
of East 18th Street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of East Fourth Street to the north curb line 
of Waterloo Road.  

Summit Drive  On both sides from the north curb line of West 18th Street north a distance of 100 
feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 19th Street.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south a distance of 50 
feet.  

 On the east side from the north curb line of West 1 th Street north a distance of 50 
feet.  

Terrace Drive  On the north side from Cedar Heights Drive to a point 400 feet west of Neola Street.  

 On the south side a distance of 165 feet west of the west line of Neola Street.  

Timber Drive  On the east and north sides from the north curb line of Grand Boulevard north and 
west to the south curb line of Greenwood Avenue.  

Timberledge Drive  On the north side from the east curb line of the westerly intersection of Timberledge 
Drive and River Ridge Road east to the west curb line of Westwood Drive.  

Timberledge Place  On the east side from the west curb line of the easterly intersection of Timberledge 
Drive westerly to the north curb line of the westerly intersection with Timberledge 
Drive.  

Tremont Street  On east side between Seventh Street and Eighth Street.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of West 12th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 18th Street.  

 On the east side of said street for a distance of 60 feet north of the curb line of 18th 
Street (West).  

95

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 15 of 16 

 On the east side from the south curb line of West 18th Street south to the north curb 
line of West 22nd Street.  

Tucson Drive  On the west side from University Avenue to Arizona Road.  

 On the east side from University Avenue to a point 40 feet south of the south right-of-
way line of Idaho Road.  

Utility Parkway  On the west and north sides from the east curb line of Waterloo Road northerly and 
easterly to the entrance to Washington Park.  

University Avenue  On both sides from the east city limits to the west city limits.  

Valley Park Drive  On the west side from the north curb line of University Avenue north a distance of 110 
feet.  

 On the east side from University Avenue north to Waterloo Road.  

Victory Drive  On the west side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south a distance of 40 
feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south a distance of 150 
feet.  

Viking Road  On both sides from the east curb line of Highway 58 east to the west curb line of Cedar 
Heights Drive.  

 On both sides from the west curb line of Highway 58 west to the east curb line of 
Hudson Road.  

 On both sides from the west curb line of Hudson Road west to the west city limits.  

Vine Street cul-de-sac  Around the entire length of the cul-de-sac a distance of 240 feet from the north line of 
the Cedar Street right-of-way.  

Virgil Street  On the east side from the south curb line of Rainbow Drive south to the north curb line 
of Hawthorne Drive.  

Walnut Street  On the west side from the north curb line of 18th Street north a distance of 80 feet.  

 On both sides from the north curb line of 13th Street north a distance of 40 feet.  

 On the west side from the south curb line of 13th Street south a distance of 60 feet.  

 On the east side from the south curb line of 13th Street south a distance of 15 feet.  

Washington Street  On the west side from the north curb line of West Sixth Street north a distance of 35 
feet.  

 On the east side from 10th Street to 18th Street.  

 On the east side from west Sixth Street to West 10th Street, except from 3:00 p.m. 
Saturday to 1:00 p.m. Sunday.  

 On the east side from the West First Street to West Sixth Street.  

 On the west side from the north curb line of West Seventh Street north a distance of 
100 feet.  

Waterloo Road  On both sides from the east curb line of Main Street east to University Avenue.  

West Gate Avenue  On the south side from South Main Street to Heritage Road.  

 On the north side from the west line of Heritage Road west a distance of 40 feet.  

Westminster Drive  On both sides of said street from Nordic Drive to the end of said street.  

Whiteway Drive  On both sides for the entire length of the street.  

Willow Avenue  On the north side from the west curb line of Ravine Drive west to the east curb line of 
Westwood Drive.  

Winters Drive  On the south side of the east-west portion of Winters Drive from the east edge of the 
enlarged semi-circular corner east to the east end of the street.  

 On the east side of the north-south portion of Winters Drive from the south line of 
Hunter Drive south to the north edge of the enlarged semi-circular corner.  

 

96

Item 9.



 

 

 
    Created: 2021-04-12 12:55:40 [EST] 

(Supp. No. 9) 

 
Page 16 of 16 

(Ord. No. 2945, § 2, 6-17-2019) 

 

97

Item 9.



 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Prepared By: Ben Claypool, City of Cedar Falls, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 
 

ORDINANCE NO. 2991 
 

AN ORDINANCE AMENDING SECTION 23-374, PARKING PROHIBITED 
ON SPECIFIC STREETS, OF DIVISION 1, GENERALLY, OF ARTICLE IV, 
STOPPING, STANDING AND PARKING, OF CHAPTER 23, TRAFFIC AND 
MOTOR VEHICLES, OF THE CODE OF ORDINANCES OF THE CITY OF 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA, (1) BY REPEALING THE SUBSECTION  
PROHIBITING PARKING ON PORTIONS OF ALGONQUIN DRIVE, AND 
ENACTING A NEW SUBSECTION PROHIBITING PARKING ON PORTIONS 
OF ALGONQUIN DRIVE IN LIEU THEREOF; AND (2) BY ADDING A NEW 
SUBSECTION PROHIBITING PARKING ON PORTIONS OF ASHWORTH 
DRIVE. 
 
BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, 
IOWA: 
 
Section 1.  The subsection prohibiting parking on portions of Algonquin Drive 

contained in Section 23-374, Parking prohibited on specific streets, of Division 1, Generally, 
of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor Vehicles, is 
hereby repealed in its entirety and a new subsection prohibiting parking on portions of 
Algonquin Drive contained in Section 23-374 is enacted in lieu thereof, as follows: 

 

      Street                                    Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Algonquin Drive.                On the north and east sides of the street from the east 
curb line of Ashworth Drive east and south to the north 
curb line of Amelia Drive, extended east;  

 
                                          On the southwesterly side of the street from the west 

curb line of Ashworth Drive northwest a distance of 160 
feet. 

 

 

Section 2. Section 23-374, Parking prohibited on specific streets, of Division 1, 
Generally, of Article IV, Stopping, Standing and Parking, of Chapter 23, Traffic and Motor 
Vehicles, is hereby amended by adding thereto a subsection prohibiting parking on portions 
of Ashworth Drive, as follows: 
 

98

Item 9.



2 

 

           Street                                  Portion Where Parking Prohibited 

Ashworth Drive.                   On the northwestern side of the street from the north 
curb line of Algonquin Drive northeast a distance of 100 
feet;  

 
                                           On the southeast side of the street from the north curb 

line of Algonquin Drive northeast to the south curb line 
of Loren Drive, a distance of 300 feet.  

 
 
 

INTRODUCED:     May 17, 2021     
 
PASSED 1st CONSIDERATION:   May 17, 2021     
 
PASSED 2nd CONSIDERATION:         
 
PASSED 3rd CONSIDERATION:         
 
ADOPTED:            

 
 
 
 
___________________________ 

                                                                           Robert M. Green, Mayor 
ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk 

99

Item 9.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Mayor’s Monthly Report for May 2021 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §2-187(c): Mayor Powers and Duties 

  (b) FY2021 Cedar Falls City Council Goals and Objectives  

 

1. Introduction. In response to the City Council’s expressed desire in references (a) and (b) for 

written reports at least monthly, I am reporting on my past and planned activities. May was a 

busy month; with COVID restrictions lifting, more meetings, events and ceremonies are being 

held in the community, and I’m glad to be able to represent Cedar Falls. 

2. Past Activities in May 

a. Public Safety Recognition Event -- May 11.   Thanks for attending this important event: 

I know that meant a lot to the department. The Public Safety Department will be holding 

this ceremony each May as a time to celebrate the accomplishments of the city’s public 

safety personnel.  

b. Peace Officers Memorial Ceremony -- May 13. I attended the county’s Peace Officer 

Memorial Ceremony, which is a moving annual tribute to soldiers who’ve lost their lives 

in the line of duty. 

c. Iowa Mayors Association Virtual Conference --  May 13. Dozens of Iowa mayors met 

via Zoom for this event, put on by the Iowa League of Cities.  We discussed the 2021 state 

legislative session, and status of particular items of interest (since by that time it had not 

ended).  The IMA is a fairly new organization, and a terrific means for problem-solving 

and sharing of best practices. 

d. Iowa Certified Site Meeting --  May 18. I joined Shane Graham, Public Works, CFU, 

and Grow Cedar Valley, to provide representatives from IEDA a presentation on the West 

Viking addition to our South Cedar Falls Industrial Park;  this was to obtain status as an 

Iowa Certified Site, which would give Cedar Falls higher visibility in the state’s economic 

development efforts.  You can see the other certified sites, and general info about the 

program, at https://www.iowaeda.com/locations/. 

100

Item 10.

https://www.iowaeda.com/locations/


e. El Dorado Block Party -- May 23.  I attended the first of several summer events being 

co-hosted by neighborhoods, the Gallagher Bluedorn Performing Arts Center and the 

Hearst Center for the Arts, in order to bring local performing arts into the community.  

More details are at https://bit.ly/2SRD9vR.  

f. African-American Heritage Trail Discussion -- May 24.  Amanda Huisman and I met 

with Charles Pearson, who’s leading the African-American Heritage Trail effort. He 

presented signage concepts and his progress so far on developing an educational trail to 

showcase Black history in Iowa. I expressed the city’s support for this work, and Mr. 

Pearson agreed to develop a listing of 10 initial sites in Cedar Falls where he would like to 

place historical markers. His plan is to obtain permission from property owners and use 

temporary coroplast yard signs as a pilot project, before committing $80 + labor costs to 

produce & hang metal signs.  I’ll continue to work with Mr. Pearson to help him bring his 

vision to life.  

g. Jorgenson Plaza Ribbon Cutting -- May 26.  At a large community gathering, Gilmore’s 

Pub, The Market, and Salon Iris had their ribbon cutting ceremonies. I attended and spoke 

on behalf of the community, as these facilities are open for public use as well. It’s great to 

see the Western Home Communities working to have their own central “third place” for 

socializing which is a nexus for the community to engage as well. 

h. Fire Training Observation -- May 27.  Several council members joined me to observe 

Police Division and Fire Division personnel as they practiced firefighting techniques in 

the State’s mobile training facility.  A few years ago, a dedicated CF fire training facility 

was listed in the CIP, but with these tractor-trailer based options, it was removed as an 

unnecessary expense.  The department will plan to bring in a different trailer this fall 

which trains firefighters on air supply management. 

i. Emergency Operations Plan Discussion -- May 27.   Mr. Gaines and I met for an hour 

and a half to discuss how we would split the assigned duties within the City Multi-Hazard 

Emergency Response Plan, in the new version being drafted this year. The existing plan 

from 2015 did not did not incorporate the Administrator role, and so we worked out what 

were “executive” things that I needed to personally do, and what were “administrative” 

functions that could be delegated to the City Administrator in the plan. There are still lots 

of things that, by law, ONLY the mayor can do (like declare a public emergency). This 

update will be helpful in getting administrative tasks off the mayor’s plate in crisis.  

3. Planned Activities for June: 

a. Committees. I will continue working with staff to develop options and 

recommendations for the initial discussion at the Committee Structures work session, 

which is tentatively scheduled for July 6th. 

b. City Multi-Hazard Emergency Operations Plan.  Staff has provided suggested 

changes to the EOP, and I have incorporated those and provided a draft to the CFU 

101

Item 10.



General Manager as well for their feedback on certain Incident Annexes.  I will be 

sending the draft plan to the County EMA coordinator in late June for feedback; we’re 

on track for plan approval by the City Council at our first September meeting. 

c. 2025 Community-Wide Strategic Plan.  I’ll be working with staff to get updates on 

the Future Forward 2025, which is tentatively scheduled as a Committee of the Whole 

presentation in August.  While it hasn’t gotten a lot of publicity, organizations have 

been hard at work to carry out the plan, and we have some significant successes to 

celebrate.  I look forward to our doing that in the months ahead. 

d. Council Orientation Handbook.  Council has expressed interest in updating the City 

Council Orientation Handbook, which was last published in 2013.  I’ve been pulling 

resources & references, and will continue preparing for that Council Work Session, 

tentatively scheduled for August 2.   Please feel free to provide me with any references 

and materials that you’ve found useful in carrying out the City Council Member role. 

4. As always, please don’t hesitate to call, visit or e-mail if you have questions about these or 

other items I’m working on. 

 

 Xc: City Clerk 

       City Administrator 

### 

102

Item 10.



   ROBERT M. GREEN 

 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
M E M O R A N D U M 

Office of the Mayor 
  

 

   

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 TO: City Council 

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: CY2021 Appointment of Standing Committees (Revised) 

 REF: (a) Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls, Iowa §2-68 

  (b) Robert’s Rules of Order, Newly Revised 

  (c) Cedar Falls Administrative Rule #07  

  (d) City Multi-Hazard Emergency Response Plan 

 

1. In accordance with reference (a), I hereby appoint the following standing committees of 

the Cedar Falls City Council for the remainder of Calendar Year 2021.  

a. Administration Committee: Kelly Dunn, Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Simon 

Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, David Sires. 

b. Community Relations and Planning Committee: Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, 

Kelly Dunn, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, David Sires. 

c. Public Works: Mark Miller, Frank Darrah, Susan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon 

Harding, Daryl Kruse, David Sires. 

2. As required by reference (a), the first person named on each committee shall be the chair 

of that committee.  

3. The only change is the chair assignment for the Administration Committee.  In reviewing 

reference (d), the mayoral line of succession is listed as mayor pro tem, then most senior 

member of council, then the chair of the Administration Committee.  For this reason, it is 

necessary to ensure that the mayor pro tem and Admin Committee chair are not the same 

person. 

4. Standing Committees shall be guided by references (a) through (c) in the proper conduct 

of committee deliberations and actions under parliamentary procedure.  

### 

 

103

Item 11.



From: Willie Barney 

Sent: Tuesday, May 25, 2021 1:02 PM 
To: Toni Babcock; Rob Green; Frank Darrah; Susan Langan; Melissa Heston; Eashaan Vajpeyi; Kelly 

Dunn; Dave Kivett; Mario Basurto; Jordyn Beranek; Spencer Luvert; Teri Jorgensen 
Subject: Thank you 

Good afternoon.  First off, I want to thank each of you for your willingness to volunteer to lead 

our community and beyond.  I have been blessed by the opportunity to serve our community and 

to serve with each of you whether it's been over many years or briefly.  With that said, I have 

recently accepted a job in another school district that will lead to my wife, our two youngest 

children, and me to relocate to another community.  With this relocation, I believe it best for me 

to step down from my official city engagements.  We are thankful for the lifetime of memories 

that we've had here and we look forward to maintaining strong bonds here as our college age 

children, in-laws, other family and friends remain in the area.    Please do not hesitate to reach 

out as you move forward through the important work ahead of the community.   

Again, thank you. 

Willie 

 

Willie Barney, Ed.D.  

Cedar Falls Human Rights Commission-Chairman 

City of Cedar Falls 

Cedar Falls, IA 50613 

 

104

Item 12.



105

Item 13.



 MAYOR ROBERT M. GREEN  
  
 CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA   
 220 CLAY STREET 
 CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 PHONE 319-273-8600 
 FAX 319-268-5126 

 www.cedarfalls.com 
 
 

 TO: City Council 

 FROM: Mayor Robert M. Green 

 DATE: June 2, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Art and Culture Board – Member Reappointment 

 REF: Code of Ordinances, City of Cedar Falls §17-133: Art and Culture Board 

 

1. In accordance with the candidacy and qualification requirements of reference (a), I hereby 

nominate the following members of the Art and Culture Board for reappointment, as their 

current terms expire on July 1st.  

 

 Ms. Lauren Finke (Reappointment) – Term ends 7/1/2025 

 Ms. Kendra Wohlert (Reappointment) – Term ends 7/1/2025 

 

2. The board service of both nominees has been reviewed by Community Development staff; 

both members have had excellent attendance and have actively been contributing to the 

work of the Board; both have agreed to serve for an additional term if approved by the City 

Council. 

 

3. Please contact me if you have any questions about the above nominations. 

 

xc:  City Administrator 

 Director of Community Development 

Visitors, Tourism and Cultural Programs Manager 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

# 

 
106

Item 13.



COMMITTEE OF THE WHOLE 
City Hall – Council Chambers  

May 17, 2021 
 

The Committee of the Whole met at City Hall at 5:20 p.m. on May 17, 2021, with the 
following Committee persons in attendance:  Mayor Robert M. Green, Frank Darrah, 
Sudan deBuhr, Kelly Dunn, Simon Harding, Daryl Kruse, Mark Miller, and Dave Sires.  
Staff members from all City Departments and members of the community attended in 
person and teleconferenced in.   

Mayor Green called the meeting to order and introduced the first item on the agenda, 
the Planning & Zoning Commission’s Recommended Draft of the Downtown Zoning 
Ordinance.  Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services Manager introduced Ms. 
Mary Madden and Mr. Geoff Ferrell from Ferrell Madden and Ms. Elizabeth Garvin with 
Community ReCode.   

Ms. Howard gave an overview of the zoning code review, adoption and public review 
process to date. 

Ms. Madden gave an overview of the basis of the recommended draft of the Downtown 
Zoning Ordinance that included the project introduction, project study area, Charrette 
week, Downtown Vision Plan adopted by City Council in 2019, Vision Plan 
recommendations, and translating the vision into development regulations. 

Mr. Ferrell gave a walk-through of the proposed code that included form-based code 
components, character district sections, definitions, regulating plans, building form 
standards, architectural standards, public realm standards, parking and loading, and 
building functions. 

Ms. Garvin gave an overview of the administrative updates, which included the site plan 
review process, proportionate compliance, minor adjustments and land use 
classification updates. 

Ms. Madden explained the amendments that the Planning and Zoning Commission 
made to the initial draft of the code. 

Ms. Howard stated the Planning and Zoning Commission’s recommended draft is 
available at ourcedarfalls.com; the public can submit questions and comments to 
planning@cedarfalls.com and a decision matrix will be drafted for any requests for 
amendments.  Ms. Howard gave an overview of the tentative timeline  for the next 
steps:  June 7-Council Work Session, June 21-Council Work Session, July 19-
Committee of the Whole, August 2-Public Hearing/First Reading, August 16-Second 
Reading, and September 7-Third Reading/Adoption. 

Mayor Green opened it for public comment.  Councilmember Harding asked if a self-
employed resident can work in their home.  Ms. Madden confirmed this would be 
permitted. There is no change to the home occupation regulations in the code.  
Councilmember Kruse expressed concerns about the allocated parking; required 
building line; and asked if the City Council would get to review building plans if the 
zoning review committee doesn’t agree with the building.  Ms. Madden verified the 
building line has room for articulation and a variance can be requested, but any request 
for a variance would be reviewed by the Board of Adjustment per Iowa law.  Mr. Ferrell 
verified the standards are flexible and only a percentage of the building from building 
wall  must be on the required building line.  Ms. Howard stated that all of the current 

107

Item 14.

mailto:planning@cedarfalls.com


zoning districts included in the downtown study area are older zones and currently don’t 
require Planning and Zoning or City Council approval, except those in the Central 
Business District Overlay.  Ms. Howard stated that the proposed code aims to 
streamline the process for the developer and adds certainty to the community of what 
the results will be.  Mayor Green asked about feedback from developers.  Ms. Howard 
stated the developers have indicated interest in the streamlined process; they just want 
to know what they can build and what the standards are, even though there are more 
regulations on the books.  Councilmember Kruse expressed concern about the appeal 
process and asked if someone can appeal to Council.  Ms. Garvin stated that under 
Iowa Law an appeal is reviewed by the Board of Adjustment.  Mayor confirmed the code 
is meant to set standards that developers can follow and someone can appeal to 
Council because they were not following the set standards that are in place.  Ms. 
Howard confirmed the goal is to be more clear and objective in our standards of our 
zoning ordinance, so there is less gray area for interpretation.  Councilmember Sires 
disagrees with removing Planning and Zoning from the process and wants to speak to 
the downtown.  Councilmember deBuhr asked if there was any feedback from 
homeowners and has concern about banning vinyl siding.  Ms. Howard indicated that 
the Commission discussed and made changes to the draft code to allow vinyl siding 
under certain circumstances and the matrix lays out the pros and cons.  Ms. Howard 
stated many calls were received from neighborhood residents regarding the new code 
and most viewed it positively, some of these residents are zoned commercial at this 
time and the new code will recognize these areas as residential.  Councilmember 
Darrah encouraged the Council to address the concerns at the Work Sessions and 
encourages developers to give input.      

Mayor Green introduced the second item on the agenda, Recreation Update by J.J. 
Lillibridge, Recreation and Community Programs Manager. 

Mr. Lillibridge gave an overview of the recreation team, background on the recreation 
center, The Falls Aquatic Center, athletics, and fitness provided by the Recreation 
Center.  Mr. Lillibridge explained the response during COVID-19 and how they have 
accommodated since re-opening in June.  Mr. Lillibridge reflected back on the 2019 
feasibility study and where are we going (current trends in Parks and Recreation, 
market study in Cedar Valley, pricing and understanding our costs, collaborative 
partnerships, and what is our role in the community).  Mr. Lillibridge stated that we are 
more than facilities (parks, trails, Hearst Center for the Arts, Falls Aquatics Center, 
Community Center, and the Recreation and Fitness Center) and they want to provide 
unique experiences and provide the best services.  Mr. Lillibridge explained you can’t do 
any of these things without the people or the participants and we want to allow the 
participants to tell their story.  Councilmember Darrah asked since the Place to Play 
Park has had such great success are there future plans for additional parks or 
implementation of that equipment in other parks.  Mr. Lillibridge stated it’s important that 
our parks and trails are inclusive and have easy accessibility; we are looking at those 
inclusive items, but want to make sure it’s not oversaturated.  Mayor Green asked about 
summer hiring challenges this year.  Mr. Lillibridge stated we are trying to be creative 
and appeal to the younger generation with hiring and will be conducting walk-in 
interviews for the front desk, councilors, youth sports and lifeguards. 

There being no further business, Mayor Green adjourned the meeting at 6:57 p.m.  

Minutes by Kim Kerr, Administrative Supervisor 

108

Item 14.



CIVIL SERVICE COMMISSION 
City of Cedar Falls 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
 
June 2, 2021 
 
 
 
Honorable Mayor Green and City Council 
City Hall, 220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613 
 
Mayor Green and City Council Members: 
 
The Civil Service Commission of the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa authorized administration of a 
testing process and instruments for the position of Public Safety Officer. Listed below are the 
names of the top ranked candidates with their combined weighted average test scores, applicable 
Veteran’s Preference scores, and total combined average scores with preference, as applicable.  
Tied percentages are presented in alphabetical order by applicant name, if applicable. 
 
 

 
 

 
Respectfully Submitted, 
        Approved by roll call vote on 6-2-21 in 
     the absence of signing at an in-person 
_______________________________________  meeting due to COVID19. 
John Clopton, Commission Chairperson    

Approved by roll call vote on 6-2-21 in 
     the absence of signing at an in-person 
_______________________________________  meeting due to COVID19. 
Paul Lee, Commissioner 
 
 
________________________________________ 
Vacant 
        
 
 
 
Orig:  Jacque Danielsen, City Clerk    
Cc:  Civil Service Records 

    Rank            Name 
 Combined  

Averaged Score 

Veteran's 
Preference 

Points 
Total Combined  
Averaged Score 

1 Joshua Mixdorf 521 36 557 

2 John-Paul Sager 497 36 533 

3 Andrew Snyder 459  459 

4 Zachary Andersen 452  452 

109

Item 15.



110

Item 16.



111

Item 16.



112

Item 16.



113

Item 16.



114

Item 16.



115

Item 16.



116

Item 16.



117

Item 16.



118

Item 16.



119

Item 16.



120

Item 16.



121

Item 16.



122

Item 16.



123

Item 16.



124

Item 16.



125

Item 16.



126

Item 16.



127

Item 16.



128

Item 16.



129

Item 16.



130

Item 16.



131

Item 16.



132

Item 16.



133

Item 16.



134

Item 16.



135

Item 16.



136

Item 16.



137

Item 16.



138

Item 16.



139

Item 16.



140

Item 16.



141

Item 16.



142

Item 16.



143

Item 16.



144

Item 17.



145

Item 17.



146

Item 17.



147

Item 17.



148

Item 17.



149

Item 17.



150

Item 17.



151

Item 17.



152

Item 17.



153

Item 17.



154

Item 17.



155

Item 17.



156

Item 17.



   DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC SAFETY SERVICES 

  POLICE OPERATIONS 
CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 

  4600 SOUTH MAIN STREET 
  CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
 

  319-273-8612 
 

MEMORANDUM 

To:  Mayor Green and City Councilmembers 

From:  Jeff Olson, Public Safety Services Director 

Craig Berte, Police Chief 

Date:  June 3, 2021 

Re:  Beer/Liquor License Applications 

Police Operations has received applications for liquor licenses and/ or wine or beer 
permits. We find no records that would prohibit these license and permits and 
recommend approval. 

Name of Applicants: 

a) Kwik Star, 2019 College Street, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal.  

b) Kwik Star, 7500 Nordic Drive, Class C beer & Class B wine - renewal. 

c) Famous Dave's, 6222 University Avenue, Class C liquor -renewal. 

d) Harry's Five and Dime, 123 Main Street, Class C liquor - renewal. 

e) Los Cabos Mexican Restaurant, 112-114 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

f) Montage, 222-224 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - renewal. 

g) Mulligan's Brick Oven Grill & Pub, 205 East 18th Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - 
renewal. 

h) Hy-Vee Food Store, 6301 University Avenue, Class E liquor - renewal. 

i) Prime Mart, 2323 Main Street, Class E liquor - renewal. 

j) Moonshine Mob Bar, 419 Main Street, Class C liquor & outdoor service - sidewalk café. 

k) Amvets, 1934 Irving Street, Class A liquor & outdoor service - temporary expansion of 
outdoor service area. (June 25-27, 2021) 

l) Sturgis Falls Celebration, Gateway Park, Special Class C liquor & outdoor service - 5-day 
permit. 

157

Item 18.



158

Item 19.



159

Item 19.



160

Item 19.



161

Item 19.



162

Item 19.



163

Item 19.



164

Item 19.



165

Item 19.



166

Item 19.



167

Item 19.



168

Item 19.



169

Item 19.



170

Item 19.



171

Item 19.



172

Item 19.



173

Item 20.



174

Item 20.



175

Item 20.



176

Item 20.



177

Item 20.



178

Item 20.



179

Item 20.



180

Item 20.



181

Item 20.



182

Item 20.



183

Item 20.



184

Item 20.



185

Item 20.



186

Item 21.



187

Item 21.



188

Item 21.



189

Item 21.



190

Item 21.



191

Item 21.



192

Item 21.



193

Item 21.



194

Item 21.



195

Item 21.



196

Item 21.



197

Item 21.



198

Item 21.



199

Item 21.



200

Item 21.



201

Item 22.



202

Item 22.



203

Item 22.



204

Item 22.



205

Item 22.



206

Item 22.



207

Item 22.



208

Item 22.



209

Item 22.



210

Item 22.



211

Item 22.



212

Item 22.



213

Item 22.



214

Item 22.



215

Item 22.



216

Item 23.



217

Item 23.



218

Item 23.



219

Item 23.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Paul Kockler, Accountant 

 DATE: 6/1/21 

 SUBJECT: COBRA Service Agreement and Business Associate Agreement 
with WEX Health, Inc. 

  

The City of Cedar Falls requested and received quotes from three vendors to provide 
COBRA Administration services for the City beginning July 1, 2021. In review of the 
three bids WEX Health, Inc. d/b/a Discovery Benefits submitted the lowest bid. 
 
 Discovery Benefits    $  1,562.00 
 Employee Benefits Corp.  $  1,667.00 
 Infinisource    $  1,693.00  
   
I would recommend approval of WEX Health, Inc. as the vendor for the City of Cedar 
Falls.  I have enclosed the proposed agreement which also includes a Business 
Associate Agreement with WEX Health, Inc. to provide COBRA Administrative services 
to the City of Cedar Falls beginning July 1, 2021.  
 
If you have questions regarding the attached, please contact me at 268-5101, Toni 
Babcock at 268-5531, or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-5108. 
 
Attachments 
 
Cc: Jennifer Rodenbeck, Director of Finance and Business Operations, Toni Babcock, 
Human Resources Manager.  

220

Item 24.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

SERVICE/PRODUCT AGREEMENTS 

 

This Agreement is by and between WEX Health, Inc. (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“City”), and is 

to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of the those services and/or products provided or supplied by 

Contractor as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 

authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 

Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 

presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 

work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 

not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 

warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 

required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 

Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 

Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 

approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 

under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 

third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 

the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 

provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 

full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 

Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 

accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 

be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 

case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum, the name and address of the Contractor, the 

invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 

221

Item 24.



2 
 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 

or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 

provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 

on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving at least seven 

(7) days written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 

faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 

services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as requested.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 

(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 

Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 

property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 

and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 

City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 

rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 

other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. See also paragraph 4.3 of Exhibit A.  

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 

of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 

and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 

providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 

information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 

years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 

Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 

inspection by the City or designee. See also paragraph 4.2 of Exhibit A.  

5.0.       Termination. See Article 5 of Exhibit A.  

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 

standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 

component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 

222

Item 24.



3 
 

meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 

the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 

days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 

satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 

Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 

as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 

acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 

remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 

availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 

Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 

any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 

entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 

City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 

privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 

Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 

dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 

all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 

payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 

continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 

incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 

mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 

mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification. 

9.1.        Subject to Section 7.1 of Exhibit A , Contractor (including, for purposes of this Section, Contractor’s agents, 

employees, subcontractors or others working on behalf of Contractor) shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the 

City and its elected and appointed officers, its employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, from any and all 

liability, loss, cost, damage and expense (including reasonable attorney fees and court costs) resulting from, arising 

out of, or related in any way to any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon or alleging personal injury, including 

bodily injury or death, and property damages, arising out of or in any way connected or associated with the 

Contractor’s performance under this Agreement; provided however, Contractor shall have no obligation to  indemnify, 

223

Item 24.



4 
 

defend and hold harmless the City and its elected and appointed officers, its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, from any and all liability, loss, cost, damage and expense (including reasonable attorney fees and 

court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or related in any way to any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon 

or alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and property damages, arising out of or in any way 

connected or associated with the City’s  performance under this Agreement. 

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 

or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

9.3.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 

member of the public, any third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to 

maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

See paragraph 7.2 of Exhibit A. 

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 

applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 

chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 

delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 

as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. See paragraph 8.7 of Exhibit A. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 

procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 

connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 

contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 

such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 

into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not in the performance of this Agreement unlawfully discriminate against any employee or 

applicant for employment because of race, sex, color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, 

disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification 

protected by federal, state, or local law.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 

the same. 

224

Item 24.



5 
 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 

Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 

participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  

Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 

Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 

additional costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums 

yet due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 

order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 

such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 

labor disputes; public health emergency; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or 

referred to in this Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of 

performance by either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any 

claim for damages, if and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 

exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 

party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 

such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 

Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor, except to its affiliated entities, without 

the prior written consent of the City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, 

or successors in interest if approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or 

successors agree in writing to be bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 

quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 

Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record.  

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 

shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 

bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 

and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

225

Item 24.



6 
 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 

agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 

information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 

submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 

designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 

to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 

endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 

asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 

the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 

employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 

disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 

occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information.  

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 

confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 

for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 

party, or as required by law, or by an order of court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 

confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 

until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement. See also paragraphs 1.30 and 4.1 of Exhibit A. 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. See paragraph 8.9 of Exhibit A.  

24.0.       Additional Terms. 

See attached Exhibit A “COBRA Administrative Services Agreement”. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

See attached Exhibit B “Fee Schedule”. 

___________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 

provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: ________________________                                           Name: ___________________________ 

Title: ___________________________                                       Title: __General Counsel______________ 

226

Item 24.



7 
 

Address: ________________________                                       Address: _82 Hopmeadow Street________ 

             _________________________                                                       __Simsbury, CT 06089_________ 

Telephone: ______________________                                       Telephone: __________________________ 

Email: __________________________                                        Email: ______________________________  

 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 

below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

WEX Health, Inc.____________________________ 

By: __________________________________________ 

Andy Doeden, SVP, National Sales____________                                Date: ___________________ 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: __________________________________ 

        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

             Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

                                 

    

227

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 1 OF 27 

 

 

 
 

WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 
Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 
©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 

ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES APPLICATION 
 

THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (“Employer”) hereby requests the administrative services indicated below from WEX 

Health, Inc. d.b.a WEX, formerly known as Discovery Benefits, LLC (“WEX”). If not signed below prior to the Effective 

Date, Employer’s consent to the terms and conditions set forth in the attached agreements will be presumed and 

deemed to have been obtained upon submission of Employer data through the DBI portal, the DBI design guide or any 

other DBI authorized format. 

 
N/A Arrears Bill 

 
X COBRA 

 
N/A Direct Bill 

 
N/A Education Assistance Program 

 
N/A Health Savings Account 

N/A Premium Conversion Plan 

N/A Reimbursement Account 

N/A Non-Discrimination Testing Subscription 
 
 
 

X HIPAA Business Associate (acknowledged by the Employer as the sponsor on behalf of and as an authorized 

representative of the group health plan or plans) 

 
SIGNATURE 

 
The services shall be subject to the corresponding terms and conditions set forth in the attached agreements, accepted 

and entered into as of 06/01/2021 (“Effective Date”). 

 
 
 

 
Employer Authorized Signature 

 
Robert M. Green 

 

Name 

228

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 2 OF 27 

 

 

 
 

Fee Schedule 
(Exhibit B) 

Effective Date 06/01/2021 or later if services start different months 
 

 
 

Fee Amount Fee Minimum  Frequency Bill To 
 

COBRA - Monthly                                                                             $0.60                       $85.00                   Monthly           Customer 
 

Fees per Covered Employee 
The 2% additional premium for administrative costs is retained by WEX 
If the 2% additional premium is not chargeable to COBRA Continuants due to state or local law, 

WEX will include the 2% additional premium on a monthly invoice to the Employer, and the 

Employer will pay such amount as part of the COBRA administrative fee. 
 

 
Fees are guaranteed until 06/01/2026 ("Rate Expiration Date"). 

Printing and postage are included for standard material and mailings. 

Additional charges/fees will apply for non-standard mailings and/or expedited requests. 

WebEx meetings are included at no additional fee. 

Enrollment meetings (optional) are $350 per day plus travel expenses. 

 
If  Employer/Customer  has  contracted  with  a  third  party  whereby  the  third  party  pays  WEX’s  fees  on  Employer’s  behalf,  WEX’s  fees 

will be invoiced to that third party and are due within thirty (30) days after the date the invoice is received.   If the third party fails to 

pay WEX, Employer remains responsible to pay WEX’s fees.   Fee rates may be based on a third-party discount.   If WEX’s fees are no 

longer to be paid by the third party on Employer’s behalf, guarantees could be voided and the fee schedule revised. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

521139934                                                                                                                                                                                               40953 

229

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 3 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
COBRA ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES AGREEMENT 

(Exhibit A) 

RECITALS 

Employer has established one or more health plans that include medical, dental, vision, employee assistance plan, 
health flexible spending arrangement, and/or health reimbursement arrangement benefits (such plans, individually and 
collectively as the context may require, are herein referred to as the “Plan") for its employees. 

 
Employer desires to retain WEX as an independent contractor to administer certain elements of its obligations under 
COBRA and WEX desires to assist Employer in the administration of such COBRA obligations. 

 
“COBRA” means the Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act of 1985, as amended, and the related regulation 
and interpretations by the Department of Labor and the Internal Revenue Service. 

 
WEX and Employer agree that WEX shall assist in the administration of Employer’s COBRA obligations based on the 
terms and conditions set forth in this COBRA Administrative Services Agreement (“this Agreement”), including, without 
limitation that: 

 
            Employer is the administrator of the Plan. 
 WEX is an independent contractor in relation to Employer and to the Plan and may act as an agent and/or 

designee on behalf of Employer. 
 Employer remains responsible for maintaining the Plan, including the establishment of eligibility and the 

payment of the benefits owed or established under the Plan to its participants. 
 WEX is to provide the agreed upon services without assuming any liability for the performance of any 

services beyond those set forth below. 

 
The above-stated recitals are accurate, true, and correct and are incorporated herein and made a part hereof by this 
reference. 

 
ARTICLE 1 WEX ADMINISTRATIVE SERVICES 

 
1.1  Except for those obligations that are Employer’s responsibility under this Agreement, WEX shall assume 

responsibility for the proper interpretation, application, and administration of COBRA rules and regulations for 
the Plan for COBRA administration under WEX’s control. 

 
1.2        WEX services under this Agreement are limited to the benefit plans selected for services by Employer via the 

WEX portal or design guide. 

 
1.3  WEX shall have no responsibility or duty with respect to any plan where complete information about that plan 

is not provided. 

 
1.4        WEX’s responsibilities and duties with respect to the Plan are limited to those expressly provided in this 

Agreement. 

 
1.5        WEX shall consult with Employer regarding the interpretation and application of regulations concerning COBRA 

administration as they apply to the Plan. 

 
1.6  Upon timely receipt of the required information from Employer and within the applicable time frame required 

by COBRA or upon the effective date of coverage, whichever is later, WEX shall send, via “Accountable Mail” 
WEX’s standard initial rights notification letter (also known as the general rights notice or the initial notice) to 
newly Covered employees and spouses informing them of their rights under COBRA. 

 
“Accountable Mail” means mail that provides documented proof that the letter or notice was mailed and the 
date of such mailing to the recipient at the recipient’s last known address and meets COBRA regulation 
requirements, but does not mean that delivery is tracked. 

230

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 4 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
“Covered” means participating in any plan offered by Employer that is subject to COBRA and selected for 
services under this Agreement. 

 
If information is not timely received from Employer, WEX shall send the notice described in this Section 1.6 
as soon as administratively practicable after receiving the information.  Consequently, however, such notice 
may not be provided within the time frame required by COBRA. If complete information is not provided, such 
notice also may be incomplete. 

 
1.7  Upon commencement of the services provided herein, if requested by Employer, WEX will mail its standard 

initial rights notification letter to all Covered employees and spouses.  In order for WEX to complete this 
mailing, Employer must provide the information requested by WEX in a timely manner. 

 
1.8  Upon timely receipt of complete information from Employer, WEX shall send via Accountable Mail within the 

applicable time frame required by COBRA, WEX’s standard qualifying event eligibility and election notice to all 
qualified beneficiaries who have a qualifying event.   If complete information is not timely received from 
Employer, WEX shall send the notice described in the preceding sentence as soon as administratively 
practicable after receiving complete information, however, such notice may not be provided within the 
applicable time frame required by COBRA. 

 
The terms “qualifying event” and “qualified beneficiary” shall have the meanings given to them under COBRA. 

 
1.9  Except to the extent prohibited by state or local law, COBRA continuation coverage premiums will include an 

additional 2% for administrative costs.  In addition to the monthly administrative fee per Covered employee 
under this Agreement, WEX will retain the 2% additional premium allowed by COBRA for administrative costs 
charged to qualified beneficiaries electing or participating in COBRA continuation coverage (“COBRA 
Continuants”). 

 
1.10  WEX shall mail WEX’s portal login notice and standard payment coupons to COBRA Continuants after COBRA 

continuation coverage is elected and the first COBRA premium payment has been received. 

 
1.11  WEX shall provide COBRA Continuants the option to make their COBRA premium payments by check or via 

automatic recurring ACH (automated clearing house electronic funds-transfer system) at no additional charge. 

 
1.12  WEX shall provide COBRA Continuants the option to make their COBRA premium payments online with a credit 

card or by a single-occurrence ACH request.  To the extent permitted by law and the applicable credit card 
operating rules and regulations, an additional online convenience processing fee charged by the online third- 
party vendor and payable by the third-party beneficiaries (or Employer, if Employer so elects) will apply to 
these payment methods. The convenience processing fee is collected by WEX and remitted to the third-party 
vendor. 

 
1.13  WEX shall deposit COBRA premium payments in a custodial account for the benefit of Employer in the manner 

described in Article 3. 

 
1.14  WEX shall collect, track, process, and remit to Employer (or remit to the third party designated by Employer 

to act in the place of Employer for the purpose of remittance) the COBRA premium payments paid by COBRA 
Continuants, Employer or a third party. 

 
1.15  A remit to carrier option (“Remit to Carrier”) is available at the option of Employer.  In order for WEX to 

implement this option, Employer must submit a completed WEX COBRA ACH direct payments form to WEX. 
In addition, each applicable carrier must submit a completed WEX COBRA carrier remittance form to WEX. 
WEX will reserve the right to discontinue Remit to Carrier if the separate billing statement that includes only 
COBRA Continuants is not received from the carrier.  Section 2.8 addresses Employer responsibilities for this 
option. 

 
1.16  WEX shall coordinate with Employer and its insurers and third party administrators (collectively “carrier” or 

“carriers”) to answer questions pertaining to COBRA continuation coverage eligibility and COBRA premium 
payment status. 

231

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 5 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
1.17  Using WEX’s standard forms and letters, WEX shall communicate with COBRA Continuants concerning change 

of address, premium rate and benefit changes, COBRA continuation coverage eligibility status, Medicare 
eligibility, advance-termination notice for the individual conversion, individual conversion and private insurance 
options, and verification of termination. 

 
1.18  WEX shall provide Employer real-time, online access to information related to the status of qualified 

beneficiaries and COBRA Continuants. 

 
1.19  WEX shall provide this information required in the event of an IRS or other third-party audit: 

 

            The written compliance procedures used by WEX in the administration of COBRA. 
            Samples of WEX forms and notices. 
 WEX records that pertain to a qualified beneficiary’s actual qualifying event or election or COBRA 

Continuant’s continuation of coverage. 
            A description of how WEX administers COBRA coverage. 

 
1.20  WEX shall provide Employer with the web portal login information so that Employer may notify WEX when an 

employee, spouse or dependent is initially added to coverage under the Plan and when an employee, spouse 
or dependent has experienced a qualifying event and is eligible for COBRA continuation coverage under the 
Plan. 

 
1.21  WEX shall provide Employer with the file format required by WEX so that Employer may upload employee 

demographic, benefit, and qualifying event information using the employer web portal. 

 
1.22  WEX shall provide a customer service line toll-free number for use during WEX normal business hours to 

answer questions and address issues concerning COBRA regulation, COBRA compliance, and COBRA premium 
payments. 

 
Monday through Friday Central Time Zone 

Employers 7:00 a.m. to 7:00 p.m. Qualified 

Beneficiaries 6:00 a.m. to 9:00 p.m. 

 
In compliance with applicable federal and state law, WEX may monitor and/or record calls that are made to 
and from the customer service line for quality assurance and training purposes and/or to ensure that WEX's 
services fully comply with the terms of this Agreement. 

 
1.23  WEX shall notify a COBRA Continuant if COBRA coverage terminates earlier than the end of the maximum 

period of coverage applicable to the qualifying event that entitled the individual to COBRA continuation 
coverage.  The notice will be provided as soon as administratively practicable after WEX determines that the 
COBRA continuation coverage will be terminated early. 

 
1.24  WEX shall extend the maximum COBRA continuation coverage period in cases of disability and second 

qualifying events as allowed under COBRA. 

 
1.25  WEX shall provide its standard system generated open enrollment/premium rate change letter during open 

enrollment.  If requested by Employer, WEX will provide qualified beneficiaries with a link to additional plan 
and benefit description materials provided by Employer through the web portal for qualified beneficiary and 
COBRA Continuant viewing and printing. 

 
1.26  Plan Records and Data 

 

(a) Written and electronic records containing personal information are securely destroyed or deleted 
consistent with business needs or legal retention requirements. 

 
(b) Per business records needs and associated retention and secure destruction periods, WEX shall retain 

a copy of all information (as information is defined in Section 2.22, excluding emails or similar 
electronic communications destroyed in the ordinary course of business pursuant to WEX policy) for 

232

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 6 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
at least five (5) years from the date the record is created at WEX, including, without limitation, a 
record of all assets and transactions involving the Custodial Account (defined in Article 3). 

 
(c) Following the termination of this Agreement, WEX shall cooperate with Employer or Employer’s 

subsequent service provider to effect an orderly transition of services provided under this Agreement 
and, within a reasonable time, will release to Employer a copy of data, records, and files in WEX’s 
standard format. 

 
(d) Upon termination of this Agreement, WEX shall be entitled to retain a copy of all information, 

including any data, records, and files released by WEX pursuant to this Section 1.26 and will be 
entitled to continue to use and disclose such information for claims, audits, and legal and contractual 
compliance purposes to the extent permitted by law and any executed or applicable business 
associate agreement between the parties. 

 
1.27  Information Security Program 

 

WEX represents and warrants that it has implemented and maintains a written and comprehensive information 
security program, and complies with all applicable domestic law and regulation, including without limitation, 
any privacy and data security law and regulatory requirements under applicable state law. 

 
1.28  Subcontracting 

 

WEX may delegate or subcontract any portion of WEX services to a third party.  For those WEX services that 
are delegated or subcontracted, WEX shall remain fully responsible to Employer for compliance with all 
applicable provisions of this Agreement or of any executed or applicable business associate agreement 
between the parties.  No portion of WEX administrative services shall be delegated or subcontracted to any 
third party located outside the United States. 

 
1.29  Audit Rights 

 
Employer may audit or inspect any transactions, procedures, records, and participant files relating to Covered 
employees or COBRA Continuants, at WEX’s offices and at a time reasonably acceptable to WEX, upon 
providing ten (10) business days’ advance written notice to WEX and at Employer’s expense. Unless otherwise 
required by legal and/or regulatory compliance, audits must be completed within six (6) months following the 
date the audit begins. 

 
1.30  Confidentiality of Plan Information 

 
WEX shall keep confidential all information that it obtains concerning the Plan. Other than in the due course 
of business, such information shall not be disclosed to a third party without prior approval of Employer or as 
otherwise provided in Article 4. 

 
Employer may request that WEX share Plan information and other data with a vendor of the Plan or Employer. 
WEX shall consider all reasonable requests, however, prior to releasing or sharing any Plan information or 
other data, Employer represents that it will enter into a business associate agreement and/or confidentiality 
and data sharing agreement with the vendor. 

 
For confidential or protected information transmitted by a vendor of the Plan to WEX, Employer must enter 
into a business associate agreement and/or confidentiality and data sharing agreement with the vendor. 

 
1.31  Benchmarks 

 
WEX may, in its discretion, prepare and deliver to Employer benchmarks or other metrics showing the 
experience of Employer and its participants with the services provided herein as compared to other employers. 
WEX will develop any such benchmarks or metrics through the use of data that has been aggregated and de- 
identified consistent with any executed or applicable business associate agreement between the parties. 

233

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 7 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
 
1.32 Disclaimer 

 
WEX does not insure or underwrite Employer’s liability to provide benefits under the Plan.  WEX shall not be 
liable or obligated to use its funds for payment of benefits under the Plan, including, without limitation, where 
such payment of benefits is sought as damages in an action against Employer, WEX or the Plan.  Employer 
shall promptly reimburse WEX for any benefit payments made using WEX funds. 

 
1.33 Non-Discrimination Testing and Additional Product and Service Solutions 

 

Employer may subscribe to WEX’s non-discrimination testing and request additional products and services 
solutions from WEX. 

 
ARTICLE 2 EMPLOYER RESPONSIBILITIES 

 
2.1  Employer shall provide accurate Covered employee counts to WEX on a monthly basis or as requested by 

WEX. Employer shall have thirty (30) days from the date of the invoice to correct a Covered employee count 
for credit or refund.  Employer represents and warrants the accuracy of any information Employer provides 
to WEX regarding Covered employee counts. 

 
2.2  Employer shall provide complete demographic and benefit information to WEX for its current COBRA 

Continuants on or by the date agreed upon during the implementation process. 

 
2.3  Employer shall enter or upload an electronic file via the employer web portal containing complete demographic 

and benefit election information within seven (7) days of employees, their spouses, and/or dependents 
obtaining coverage under the Plan. 

 
2.4  Employer shall notify WEX within seven (7) days of any initial qualifying event or the date coverage is lost due 

to the qualifying event once Employer is notified with respect to an employee, spouse or dependent. 

 
2.5  Employer shall notify WEX within seven (7) days of a second qualifying event should Employer be notified of 

a second qualifying event that occurs with respect to an employee, spouse or dependent. 

 
2.6  The  foregoing  seven  (7)  day  notice  timelines  address  all  potential  notice  requirements.    However, 

notwithstanding the foregoing, no matter when received, WEX will process the notice. 

 
2.7  Unless directed otherwise by WEX, Employer shall provide notice of a qualifying event by entering the required 

qualifying event information directly into the employer web portal or by uploading an electronic file via the 
employer web portal.  Employer is solely responsible for determining whether an employee, spouse or 
dependent has experienced an initial qualifying event under the Plan and the date of the qualifying event. 

 
2.8  For Remit to Carrier, Employer shall be solely responsible for its carrier to send a separate billing statement 

to WEX that includes only COBRA Continuants. 

 
2.9  For Remit to Carrier, Employer shall submit a completed WEX COBRA ACH Direct Payments form to WEX. 

Failure to submit a completed WEX COBRA ACH Direct Payments form will result in WEX remitting COBRA 
premium payments to Employer. Employer is at all times responsible to pay to WEX its portion of the premium, 
where applicable, prior to WEX remitting premiums to the carrier. 

 
2.10  Employer (or the third party designated by Employer to act in the place of Employer for the purpose of 

remittance) shall be responsible for reconciling carrier billings with the online reports provided by WEX through 
the employer web portal.  The parties acknowledge that carriers often restrict the ability to retroactively 
terminate COBRA coverage (even in cases of non-payment of premiums by the COBRA Continuant).  WEX 

234

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 8 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
shall not be liable for paying any loss or damage (including premiums) to Employer with respect to any 
retroactive termination of COBRA coverage, provided that WEX has performed in accordance with this 
Agreement.  WEX reserves the right to decline to implement any retroactive changes in premium rates 
requested by Employer, retroactive beyond thirty (30) days. 

 
2.11  Employer shall be responsible for selecting a determination period and establishing and advising WEX of the 

applicable premium rates to be charged for COBRA continuation coverage.  Employer must notify WEX in 
writing at least forty-five (45) days in advance of the applicable billing date of: (a) any changes in premium 
rates affecting COBRA coverage under the Plan; and (b) any changes in premium rates during an open 
enrollment period, so that WEX has time to process the changes prior to the effective date. 

 
2.12  WEX acknowledges that carriers may not always provide information about premium rate changes in a timely 

manner. If Employer is unable to notify WEX in writing at least forty-five (45) days in advance of the applicable 
billing date of any changes in premium rates, WEX will make commercially reasonable efforts to process the 
changes prior to the effective date. 

 
2.13  Employer shall be solely responsible for any differences in premium payments when notification of a premium 

rate change is not provided to WEX at least forty-five (45) days in advance, causing payments made by COBRA 
Continuants to be incorrect for the new determination period. 

 
2.14  Employer shall advise WEX of any material changes in the benefits and options provided by the Plan. 

 

2.15  Employer shall be responsible for its compliance with the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 
(“PPACA”), the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), the Internal Revenue 
Code (the “Code”), each as amended from time-to-time, and other applicable law and regulation. 

 
2.16  Employer agrees to hold WEX harmless from and against all liability, damages, costs, losses, and expenses 

(including reasonable attorney fees) and expressly releases all claims against WEX in connection with any 
claim or cause of action arising out of any activity or occurrence prior to the commencement of services under 
this Agreement that results from the failure or alleged failure of Employer, its officers and employees, and 
any other entity related to or performing services on behalf of Employer (other than WEX) to comply with the 
PPACA, COBRA, HIPAA, the Code or any other applicable law or regulation. 

 
2.17  Employer shall review and be responsible for the payment of all claims under the Plan, including, without 

limitation, claims and appeals for benefits and claims and appeals for eligibility determinations under the Plan. 
WEX is not responsible to receive or review claims for benefits under the Plan and shall not be liable for the 
payment of any claims for benefits in connection with the Plan, including, without limitation, where sought 
as damages in an action against Employer or the Plan or for any activity or occurrences prior to the 
Effective Date of this Agreement, provided that such activity or occurrence did not result from the services 
performed by WEX in accordance with this Agreement. 

 
2.18  Employer shall maintain and provide written internal compliance procedures used for notifying WEX of a newly 

covered employee, spouse or dependent, a qualifying event, a report of terminations for each tax year, or 
when there are premium rate and benefit changes in the event of an IRS or any third-party audit. 

 
2.19  Employer shall provide for the release of information necessary for COBRA compliance and administration 

under this Agreement. 

 
2.20  Employer shall provide plan and benefit descriptions (e.g., Summary of Benefits and Coverage (SBC), 

Summary Plan Description (SPD), and benefit plan booklets, etc.) to qualified beneficiaries during open 
enrollment.  WEX’s standard process is to provide a link to these additional materials through the qualified 
beneficiary web portal for viewing and printing. If requested by Employer, WEX may include these additional 
materials with its standard open enrollment/rate change letter as long as Employer provides WEX with an 
electronic PDF image of the additional open enrollment materials. A handling fee of $1.50 per page (duplex) 
will apply for these additional materials. WEX will allow up to twenty-five (25) duplexed pages, including the 
standard open enrollment/rate change letter. 

235

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 9 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
2.21  Employer acknowledges and agrees that WEX shall: 

 
(a) Have no duty with respect to the funding of premiums by Employer or qualified beneficiaries who 

elect COBRA; 

 
(b) Not be liable for paying any premiums of a qualified beneficiary to a carrier or Employer to the extent 

that WEX did not receive the corresponding payment from the qualified beneficiary, Employer or 
third party; 

(c) Not be liable for any failure of Employer to remit to a carrier any funds Employer receives from WEX; 

(d) Not be liable for any failure of Employer to reconcile its carrier billings to online reports provided by 
WEX through the employer web portal; 

 
(e) Not be liable for any retroactive premium rate changes requested by Employer; 

 
(f) Not be liable for any failure of Employer to modify its carrier billings and notify carriers of a COBRA 

Continuant’s termination from COBRA coverage when WEX remits premiums paid by COBRA 
Continuants to Employer; 

 
(g) Not be responsible for failure of delivery of any notice mailed by WEX using the qualified beneficiary 

information provided to WEX by Employer, which failure is due to the use of said information; and 

 
(h)        Not be responsible for any loss or damage suffered by any participant, COBRA Continuant, Employer 

or Plan, should WEX fail to give a required notice or a complete notice because WEX did not receive 
notice of an event for which a notice was required, WEX did not receive complete information, or 
WEX received incorrect information. 

 
2.22  Employer Information and Instructions 

 

(a) WEX shall be fully protected in relying upon representations and communications made by or on 
behalf of Employer in effecting its obligations under this Agreement. 

 
(b) WEX is entitled to rely on the most current information in its possession when providing services 

under this Agreement. 

 
(c) WEX shall provide the services in accordance with this Agreement based on information that is 

provided to WEX by Employer, Covered employee or qualified beneficiary.  For this purpose, 
“information” means all data, records and other information supplied to WEX, obtained by WEX or 
produced by WEX (based on data, records or other information supplied to, or obtained by, WEX) in 
connection with performing the services pursuant to this Agreement, regardless of the form of the 
information or the manner in which the information is provided to WEX. 

 
(d) In engaging WEX to perform the services under this Agreement, Employer has authorized and 

instructed WEX in this Agreement to implement WEX’s standard administrative forms and procedures. 

 
(e) WEX is not responsible for any acts or omissions it makes in reliance upon the direction or consent 

of Employer, Covered employee or a qualified beneficiary or inaccurate, misleading or incomplete 
information from Employer or any third party. 

 
(f) If Employer instructs WEX with a specific written request (in a format acceptable to WEX) to provide 

services in a manner other than in accordance with WEX’s standard forms and procedures, WEX may 
(but need not) comply with such an instruction.  This would include, but is not limited to, any 
Employer instruction to add a vendor link to the consumer portal. To the extent that WEX complies 
with such an instruction, Employer and not WEX shall be solely responsible for WEX’s action so taken, 
and Employer agrees to hold WEX harmless from and against all liability, damages, costs, losses and 
expenses (including reasonable attorney fees) and expressly releases all claims against WEX in 
connection with any claim or cause of action, which results from or in connection with WEX complying 

236

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 10 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
with Employer’s specific written instruction to provide services in a manner other than in accordance 
with WEX’s standard procedures. 

 
(g) Employer is responsible for the integrity of data in the files.  Therefore, complete and accurate 

information from Employer is required in order for WEX to perform the services set forth herein. 

 
(h) Employer agrees not to use the full social security number in the employee identification number 

field. 

 
2.23  Employer’s Electronic Account 

 
For access to the services provided by WEX via an online account or other electronic means (“Employer’s 
Electronic Account”), Employer is solely responsible for: 

 
(a) Designating who is authorized to have access to Employer’s Electronic Account; 

 
(b) Safeguarding all of Employer’s passwords, usernames, logins or other security features used to 

access Employer’s Electronic Account (“Electronic Account Access”); 

 
(c) Employer’s use of Employer’s Electronic Account under any usernames, logins or passwords; 

 
(d) Ensuring that use of Employer’s Electronic Account complies fully with the provisions of this 

Agreement; 

 
(e) Any unauthorized access of Employer’s Electronic Account due to Employer’s actions or inactions, 

including, without limitation, Employer’s failure to safeguard Employer’s Electronic Account or 
Electronic Account Access; and 

 
(f) The maintenance and routine review of its computing and electronic system usage records (i.e., log 

files) and the security of its own data, data storage, computing devices, other electronic systems, 
and network connectivity. 

 
2.24  Plan Tax Obligations 

 
The Plan and/or Employer on behalf of the Plan is responsible for any state or federal tax, fee, assessment, 
surcharge and/or penalty imposed, assessed or levied against or with respect to the Plan and/or WEX relating 
to the Plan or the services provided by WEX pursuant to this Agreement, including those imposed pursuant 
to PPACA.  This includes the funding, remittance, and determination of the amount due for PPACA required 
taxes and fees.  In the event that WEX is required to pay or elects to pay any such tax, fee, assessment, 
surcharge and/or penalty on behalf of Employer, WEX shall report the payment to Employer along with 
documentation of the payment and Employer shall promptly reimburse WEX for the full amount or for 
Employer’s proportionate share of such amount, as determined by WEX, except as provided in Section 7.3. 
This reimbursement would be in addition to the fees described in Section 6.1.  Employer is at all times 
responsible for the tax consequences of the establishment and operation of the Plan.  Further, the parties 
agree that WEX does not provide any legal, tax or accounting advice to the Plan and/or Employer. WEX is at 

all times responsible for all the taxes based upon its net income and its property ownership. 

 
2.25  Enumeration System Identifier 

 

If required, Employer is solely responsible to the Plan to obtain or assign the standard unique Health Plan 
Identifier (“HPID”) or Other Entity Identifier (OEID) or to update the enumeration system per 45 CFR § 
162.508. 

237

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 11 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
2.26  Acknowledgement 

 
Employer acknowledges and agrees that the services provided by WEX pursuant to this Agreement relate to 
enrollment and disenrollment in the Plan and that these services to the extent permitted under HIPAA shall 
be deemed to be performed by WEX on behalf of Employer in its capacity as the sponsor of the Plan. 

 
2.27  Carrier Notifications 

 
WEX’s standard practice is to notify the applicable carrier of a qualified beneficiary’s enrollment in, changes 
to or termination from COBRA coverage.   However, if instead, Employer instructs WEX to send all such 
notifications to Employer or to a third party other than the applicable carrier, Employer: (a) is responsible to 
ensure the carrier is updated in a timely manner; (b) is responsible to provide urgent updates to the carriers 
in a timely manner as necessary; (c) accepts all responsibility and liability for the carrier notifications; and (d) 
expressly releases all claims against WEX in connection with the carrier notifications and agrees to hold WEX 
harmless from and against all liability, damages, costs, losses and expenses (including reasonable attorney 

fees) that result from the failure or alleged failure of Employer, its officers and employees, and any other 
entity (other than WEX) in connection with such carrier notifications. 

 
2.28  Coverage Eligibility 

 
Employer shall be solely responsible for its carrier compliance with COBRA continuation coverage regulatory 
guidelines that allow for retroactive changes or terminations for qualified beneficiary or COBRA Continuant 
coverage eligibility beyond sixty (60) days. 

 
ARTICLE 3 CUSTODIAL ACCOUNT 

 
3.1  Appointment and Acceptance of Custodian 

 

By signing this Agreement, Employer appoints WEX as custodian of Employer funds for the purposes and upon 
the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement, and WEX accepts such appointment and agrees to act 

as custodian hereunder and to hold any Employer funds received hereunder in accordance with the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

 
3.2  Custodial Account 

 
WEX maintains one or more depository accounts (the “Custodial Account”) at a bank designated by WEX and 
holds in such Custodial Account all COBRA continuation premiums received from COBRA Continuants or on 
their behalf from third parties, less any portion of the premium payment that constitutes administrative fees 
payable by the COBRA Continuant.  Upon deposit, such premiums shall become Employer funds (less any 
applicable fees or other costs as set forth in this Agreement).  For administrative convenience and to reduce 
costs, WEX shall hold Employer funds together with similar funds from other employers in a single Custodial 
Account (or one or more Custodial Accounts as determined by WEX).  WEX shall maintain records as to the 
exact amount of funds allocated to each employer. Each employer has a legal right to the specific amount of 
its funds held in the Custodial Account. 

 
At all times, the assets comprising each employer’s funds in the Custodial Account shall be considered a 
separate subaccount for purposes of this Agreement. 

 
Depending upon the context, the term “Custodial Account” as used herein shall refer to either the separate 
subaccount for Employer or all of the subaccounts for all employers in the aggregate. 

 
3.3  Employer Funds 

 

Employer and WEX intend and agree that the funds transferred to the Custodial Account shall be comprised 
of and shall remain the general assets of Employer. The COBRA continuation premiums received from COBRA 
Continuants are after-tax contributions relieved from the ERISA trust requirements. Except to the extent that 
outstanding checks have been written or withdrawals made against the Custodial Account balance on behalf 
of Employer, and subject to Section 6.3, Employer funds may be withdrawn by Employer at any time (less 

238

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 12 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
any applicable fees or other costs as set forth in this Agreement) and are subject to Employer’s general 
creditors in the same manner as funds deposited in Employer’s ordinary checking accounts. 

 
3.4  Disbursements 

 
WEX shall forward the COBRA continuation premiums (less the 2% additional premium allowed by COBRA for 
administrative costs charged to COBRA Continuants) from the Custodial Account to the applicable carrier or 
to Employer or Employer’s designee as directed by Employer and in accordance with this Agreement.  WEX 
shall neither have nor shall be deemed to have any discretion, control or authority with respect to the 
disposition of Employer Funds. 

 
3.5  Interest Earned 

 
Employer acknowledges and understands that from time to time, WEX may receive earnings and interest on 
the funds held in the Custodial Account and that any such earnings or interest shall be part of WEX’s 
compensation. 

 
Employer acknowledges and understands that fees otherwise charged by WEX for services under this 
Agreement may be greater if WEX did not retain such earnings and interest on these funds. 

 
The period during which interest may be earned begins on the date Employer funds are deposited into the 
Custodial Account and continues for as long as Employer funds remain in the Custodial Account. 

Funds shall be disbursed on a first-in, first-out basis. 

WEX does not track nor can it report interest earned for a single employer. WEX absorbs other bank charges, 
such as transmission charges, within the fees. 

 
3.6  Maintenance of Records 

 

Upon Employer’s written request, WEX shall provide Employer with an accounting of all Employer assets, 
transfers, and transactions activity involving the Custodial Account, including a description of all receipts, 
disbursements, and other transactions. 

 
ARTICLE 4 CONFIDENTIAL BUSINESS INFORMATION AND INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY 

 
4.1  General Obligations 

 
For purposes of this Article 4, “confidential business information” shall mean any business information 
identified by either party as “confidential” and/or “proprietary”, or which, under the circumstances, ought to 
be treated as confidential or proprietary, including non-public information related to the disclosing party’s 
business, service methods, software, documentation, financial information, prices, and product plans. Neither 
WEX nor Employer shall disclose confidential business information of the other party.  The receiving party 
shall use reasonable care to protect the confidential business information and ensure it is maintained in 
confidence, and in no event use less than the same degree of care as it employs to safeguard its own 
confidential business information of like kind. 

 
The foregoing obligation shall not apply to any information that: (a) is at the time of disclosure, or thereafter 
becomes, part of the public domain through a source other than the receiving party; (b) is subsequently 
learned from a third party that does not impose an obligation of confidentiality on the receiving party; (c) was 
known to the receiving party at the time of disclosure; (d) was generated independently by the receiving 
party; or (e) is required to be disclosed by law, subpoena or other process. 

 
WEX may disclose Employer’s or the Plan’s confidential business information to a governmental agency or 
other third party to the extent necessary for WEX to perform its obligations under this Agreement or if 
Employer has given WEX written authorization to do so. 

239

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 13 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
Although WEX may have confidential business information processed, managed, and/or stored with 
subcontractors or third parties, it remains fully responsible to Employer for the confidentiality obligations set 
forth herein. 

 
4.2  Financial Statements and Audit Information 

 

If Employer requests access to certain financial statements and/or service organization control audit reports 
or other audit information of WEX for the purpose of reviewing the financial, operating, and business condition 
of WEX, and WEX agrees to provide such information, Employer’s acceptance of or access to such confidential 
information shall constitute its agreement with the following: 

 
 Employer shall maintain the information (whether communicated by means of oral, electronic or written 

disclosures) in confidence and shall not use the same for its own benefit, or for any purpose other than 
the furtherance of its review, or disclose the same to any third party. 

 
 Employer may disclose the information to its own officers, employees, and agents on a need-to-know 

basis for the purposes of its review. 

 
 Employer shall use reasonable care to protect the information and to ensure that it is maintained in 

confidence, and in no event use less than the same degree of care as Employer uses to safeguard its 
own confidential information. 

 
  

 
4.3  Intellectual Property 

 
All materials, including, without limitation, documents, forms (including data collection forms provided by 
WEX), brochures, and online content ("Materials") furnished by WEX to Employer are licensed, not sold. 
Employer is granted a personal, non-transferable, and nonexclusive license to use Materials solely for 
Employer’s own internal business use. Employer does not have the right to copy, distribute, reproduce, alter, 
display or use these Materials or any WEX trademarks for any other purpose other than its own internal 
business use.  Employer shall use commercially reasonable efforts to prevent and protect the content of 
Materials from unauthorized use.  Employer’s license to use Materials ends on the termination date of this 
Agreement. 

 
Upon termination, Employer agrees to destroy Materials or, if requested by WEX, to return them to WEX, 
except to the extent Employer is required by law to maintain copies of such Materials. 

 
WEX retains exclusive ownership rights to and reserves the right to independently use its experience and 
know-how, including processes, ideas, concepts, techniques, and software acquired prior to or developed in 
the course of performing services under this Agreement. 

 
4.4  Application 

 
Each party agrees that its obligations contained in this Article 4 apply also to its parent, subsidiary, and 

affiliated companies, if any, and to similarly bind all successors, employees, and representatives. 

240

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 14 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
ARTICLE 5 TERM AND TERMINATION 

 
5.1  The term of this Agreement shall commence as of the Effective Date and shall continue for a period of twelve 

(12) months (the “Initial Term”). 

 
5.2  This Agreement shall automatically renew for another twelve (12) months at the end of the Initial Term and 

every twelve (12) months thereafter unless terminated pursuant to Section 5.3 or Section 5.4 or Section 5.5. 

 
5.3  Notwithstanding the foregoing, this Agreement may be terminated at any time during the Initial Term or any 

renewal term by Employer or by WEX without cause and without liability with written notice of the intention 
to terminate to be effective as of a date certain set forth in the written notice, not fewer than sixty (60) days 
following the date of such notice. 

 
5.4  This Agreement may be terminated upon written notice: 

 
(a) If any law is enacted or interpreted to prohibit the continuance of this Agreement, upon the effective 

date of such law or interpretation; 

 
(b) If any fee (to the extent not subject to a good faith dispute) for any service provided by WEX to 

Employer remains unpaid to WEX beyond thirty (30) days past the due date, upon written notification 
by WEX to Employer that WEX intends to exercise its option to enforce this provision; or 

 
(c) Due to (i) a party’s filing for bankruptcy, (ii) a party’s making any assignment for the benefit of 

creditors, (iii) a party’s consenting to the appointment of a trustee or receiver, (iv) a party’s 
insolvency, as defined by Applicable Law, or (v) the filing of an involuntary petition against Employer 
under the Federal Bankruptcy Code or any similar state or federal law which remains un-dismissed 
for a period of forty-five (45) days. 

 
5.5  If a party is in default under any provision of this Agreement other than a payment default, the other party 

may give written notice to the defaulting party of such default.  If the defaulting party has not used good 
faith efforts to cure such breach or default within thirty (30) days after it receives such notice or if good faith 
efforts to cure have begun within thirty (30) days but such cure is not completed within sixty (60) days after 
receipt of the notice, the other party shall have the right by further written notice to terminate this Agreement 
as of any future date designated in the notice. 

 
5.6  Employer shall pay all fees not subject to a good faith dispute that have accrued up to the date of the 

termination of this Agreement within thirty (30) days after the date of the termination. 

 
5.7  Upon termination of this Agreement, any funds in the Custodial Account that have not been disbursed in 

accordance with the terms and conditions of this Agreement shall be returned to Employer less any applicable 
undisputed unpaid fees, costs or expenses as set forth in this Agreement. 

 
5.8  If this Agreement is terminated under Sections 5.3 or 5.4, WEX will cease the performance of any further 

services under this Agreement unless both parties agree in writing that certain services shall continue for an 
additional period.  Upon prepayment, if requested by WEX, of the fees for this additional period or upon 

continued monthly invoicing, WEX will continue the processing of qualifying events, initial notices, the 
collection and tracking of COBRA premium payments, forwarding premiums to Employer and processing and 
reporting of COBRA elections and terminations with respect to those qualified beneficiaries who incurred a 
qualifying event prior to the date of termination of this Agreement. 

 
5.9  Upon the completion of the later of the Agreement, or any period of further services, WEX will cease the 

performance of these COBRA administration services and Employer shall be immediately responsible for all 
aspects of COBRA administration. WEX shall return to Employer any Employer funds in the Custodial Account. 
However, the return of such funds shall remain subject to the completion of a final accounting of all account 
activities, as well as the deduction of undisputed unpaid fees and other expenses under this Agreement or 
any other agreement between the parties. As necessary, WEX shall have the immediate right to demand and 
pursue collection of any unpaid fees, reimbursements or other amounts that are due and owing to WEX as of 
the date of termination pursuant to the terms of this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties. 

241

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 15 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
ARTICLE 6 COST OF SERVICES 

 
6.1  Administrative Services Fees 

 

(a) Employer shall pay WEX a fee for its services under this Agreement.  This fee shall be payable in 
accordance with the fee schedule attached hereto.  Fees are invoiced monthly and are due within 
thirty (30) days of the invoice date.  If Employer disputes in good faith any portion of the fees 
invoiced, Employer shall provide WEX with written notice of any disputed fees together with a 
complete written explanation of the reasons for the dispute (the “Dispute Notice”) within thirty (30) 
days of the invoice date. The parties shall work together in good faith to reach a mutually agreeable 
resolution of the dispute identified in the Dispute Notice for a period of ten (10) days following the 
date of the Dispute Notice. 

 
(b) As part of the administrative fees under this Agreement, WEX shall also retain the 2% additional 

premium allowed by COBRA for administrative costs charged to COBRA Continuants. If state or local 

law prevents COBRA Continuants from being charged the additional 2% premium, then the additional 
2% premium shall become a fee paid by the Employer to WEX for its services under this Agreement. 
This fee shall be payable in accordance with the fee schedule attached hereto.  Such fee will be 
invoiced monthly and will be due within thirty (30) days of the invoice date. 

 
(c) Notwithstanding the foregoing, WEX reserves the right to: 

 
 Charge  for  the  provision  of  additional  services  that  were  neither  included  in  nor 

contemplated by this Agreement on the Effective Date; 

 
                            Charge for proprietary technology and services; and 

 
 Increase fees based on additional costs imposed on WEX, such as significant postal rate or 

bank fee increases or substantiated increased costs due to legislative or regulatory changes, 
domestic or foreign, actually incurred in performing its services. 

 
WEX shall provide Employer with reasonable prior written notice of such charges or increases. 

 
(d) On or after the rate expiration date indicated on the fee schedule, WEX reserves the right to amend 

the fee schedule with at least sixty (60) days’ advance written notice.  If Employer is unwilling to 
accept the changes to the fee schedule, Employer may terminate this Agreement by providing notice 
to WEX no later than the effective date of the fee schedule amendment. 

 
(e) Fees quoted assume that WEX’s standard software and systems will be compatible with Employer’s 

software and systems and with any prior service provider’s software and systems so that the services 
can be readily performed without any modifications or alterations of WEX’s software and systems. 
In the unusual event that costs are incurred by WEX to integrate the WEX services with Employer’s 
software and systems and/or in migrating the data from the prior service provider to WEX’s systems, 
those costs may be charged separately on a time and materials basis or as otherwise provided under 
a separate agreement between the parties. 

 
6.2  Non-Party Payment on Behalf of Employer and Compliance with Anti-Rebating Law 

 
Employer represents and warrants that if someone other than Employer is paying WEX’s fees on behalf of 
Employer, the making of such payment shall not violate any applicable anti-rebating law and agrees to hold 
WEX harmless (including reasonable attorney’s fees) from all losses that may result from Employer’s breach 
of this provision. 

 
6.3  Past Due Fees 

 

Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties to the contrary, if 
Employer fails to pay WEX any amount (except for amounts subject to a good faith dispute) that is due as a 
result of the services provided by WEX to Employer under this Agreement or any other agreement between 

242

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 16 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
the parties, WEX shall be permitted to deduct the undisputed amount from any funds held by WEX that were 
received from Employer. This right of offset shall be in addition to any other remedies that WEX may have in 
this Agreement or any other agreement between the parties with respect to such non-payment, including, 
without limitation, any right to terminate this Agreement or a right of recoupment, regardless of whether the 
past due amount is paid in full as a result of the offset or recoupment rights provided herein. 

 
ARTICLE 7 GENERAL 

 
7.1  Limitations of Liability 

 
Notwithstanding any other provision in this Agreement to the contrary, the total cumulative liability of WEX to 
Employer for all claims, actions, or suits however caused arising out of or in connection with this Agreement 
shall be limited to damages and shall not exceed the greater of: (a) the amount of fees received by WEX 
from Employer for the twenty-four (24) months prior to the occurrence of the event giving rise to any such 
claims, actions or suits; or (b) amounts payable and actually paid to Employer or WEX, as applicable, under 

the insurance policies provided for under Section 7.2 of this Agreement. 

 
No action under this Agreement may be brought by either party more than two (2) years after the cause of 
action has accrued. 

 
WEX and Employer expressly agree that the limitations of liability in this Section 7.1 represent an agreed 
allocation of the risks of this Agreement between the parties. This allocation is reflected in the pricing offered 
by WEX to Employer and is an essential element of the basis of the bargain between the parties. 

 
7.2  Insurance 

 
During the term of this Agreement, WEX shall maintain general liability insurance and professional/cyber 
liability insurance with policy limits of not less than $5,000,000 per occurrence and in the aggregate. 

 
WEX maintains commercial crime insurance, including employee dishonesty coverage with policy limits of not 
less than $5,000,000. 

 
Upon request, WEX shall provide Employer with a certificate or certificates of insurance reflecting such 
insurance coverages. 

 
ARTICLE 8 MISCELLANEOUS 

 
8.1  Number 

 

Where the context of this Agreement requires, the singular shall include the plural and vice versa. 

 
 
8.2  Waiver 

 

If either party fails to enforce any right or remedy under this Agreement, that failure is not a waiver of the 
right or remedy for any other breach or failure by the other party. 

 
8.3 Severability 

 
If any provision of this Agreement is determined to be unenforceable or invalid, such determination shall not 
affect any other provision, each of which shall be construed and enforced as if such invalid or unenforceable 
provision were not contained herein. 

 
 

243

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 17 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
8.4  Notice 

 
Any notice required or permitted to be given under this Agreement shall be deemed delivered to the address 
set forth in this Agreement or such other physical or electronic address as specified by the party: (a) when 
received if delivered by hand; (b) the next business day if placed with a reputable express carrier for delivery 
during the morning of the following business day; (c) three (3) days after deposit in the U.S. mail for delivery, 
postage prepaid; or (d) when received if delivered electronically. 

 
WEX: 4321 20th Avenue South, Fargo, ND 58103, Attention: General Counsel. 

 
8.5  Entire Agreement 

 

This Agreement constitutes the entire agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter 
hereof, and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous agreements and understandings, whether written or 
verbal. Any amendment to this Agreement must be in writing and consented to by authorized representatives 
of both parties.  The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit of the 
parties hereto and their heirs, permitted assigns, and successors in interest.  Nothing express or implied in 
this Agreement is intended to confer, and nothing herein shall confer upon any person other than the parties 
hereto, any rights, remedies, obligations or liabilities whatsoever. 

 
8.6 Survival 

 

Those provisions that by their nature are intended to survive termination or expiration of this Agreement shall 
so survive. 

 
8.7  Relationship of the Parties 

 
Employer and WEX acknowledge and agree that WEX is retained under this Agreement as an independent 
contractor of Employer to assist Employer with its obligations to comply with the continuation coverage 
provisions of COBRA, and that WEX is not a fiduciary under ERISA and lacks any discretion hereunder. 

Employer agrees that use of or offset of amounts in the Custodial Account to pay for fees or other amounts 
due to WEX under this Agreement shall constitute an Employer action that is authorized by Employer under 
this Agreement.  Employer agrees that such actions are not discretionary acts of WEX and do not create 
fiduciary status for WEX.  This Agreement is not intended to create, nor does it create and shall not be 
construed to create, a relationship of partner or joint venture or any association for profit between Employer 
and WEX. 

 
8.8  Authority 

 
Neither WEX nor Employer, when dealing with the other party in relation to the Plan, shall be obliged to 
determine the other party’s authority to act pursuant to this Agreement. 

244

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 18 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
BUSINESS ASSOCIATE AGREEMENT 

RECITALS 

WHEREAS, WEX provides certain administrative services, activities or functions in connection with the Plan (“Services”) 

pursuant to a services agreement (“Services Agreement”) between WEX and Employer (also “Sponsor”); and 

 
WHEREAS, the parties desire to enter into this Business Associate Agreement (this “Agreement”), effective upon the 

earlier of the respective Services Agreement effective date or the date of first receipt of PHI from the Plan or Sponsor 

by WEX, as set forth below for the purpose of addressing the following law, as amended and clarified by the HIPAA 

Omnibus Rule or any regulation, rule or guidance that may be issued after the effective date of this Agreement: 

 
 The Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (“HITECH Act”) enacted as part of 

the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 and the regulations promulgated thereunder relating 
to the privacy and security of protected health information; 

 
 The “Standards for Privacy of Individually Identifiable Health Information,” 45 CFR Part 160 (specifically 

recognizing here 45 CFR Part 160, Subparts C, D, and E (“Enforcement Rule”)) and Part 164, Subparts A and 
E (“Privacy Rule”); 

 
 The “Standards for Electronic Transactions,” 45 CFR Part 160, Subpart A and Part 162, Subpart A and Subparts 

I through R (“Electronic Transaction Rule”); 

 
 The “Security Standards for the Protection of Electronic Protected Health Information,” 45 CFR Part 160 and 

Part 164, Subparts A and C (“Security Rule”); and 

 
 The “Standards for Breach Notification for Unsecured Protected Health Information,” 45 CFR Part 160 and 

Part 164, Subparts A and D (“Breach Notification Rule”). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and 

sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Plan and WEX agree as follows: 

 
ARTICLE 1 DEFINITIONS 

 
1.1        “Agent” shall have the meaning given to it in Section 2.5.  As provided by the Health Insurance 

Portability and Accountability Act, as amended (“HIPAA”), an Agent and a Subcontractor are two separate types of 
arrangements. 

 
1.2  “Breach” shall have the meaning given to it by 45 CFR § 164.402. 

 

1.3  “Business Associate” shall have the meaning given to it by 45 CFR § 160.103. 
 

1.4  “Designated Record Set” shall have the meaning given to it by 45 CFR § 164.501. 
 

1.5  “Health Care Operations” shall have the same meaning given to it in 45 CFR § 164.501. 
 

1.6        “HIPAA” shall mean, collectively, the Privacy Rule, the Electronic Transaction Rule, the Security Rule, 
and/or the Breach Notification Rule, each as amended and clarified by the HIPAA Omnibus Rule. 

 
1.7        “HIPAA Omnibus Rule” shall mean the “Modifications to the HIPAA Privacy, Security, Enforcement, 

and Breach Notification Rules under the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health Act (the 
HITECH Act) and the Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA),” 78 Federal Register 5566 (January 25, 2013). 

 
1.8        “Individual” shall mean the person who is the subject of PHI and shall include a person who qualifies 

as a personal representative in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.502(g). 

245

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 19 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
1.9  “Individual Rights Requests” shall mean requests under Article 3. 

 
1.10  “Payment” shall have the same meaning given to it in 45 CFR § 164.501. 

 
1.11      “PHI” or “ protected health information”, defined at 45 CFR § 160.103, shall mean any information, 

whether oral or recorded in any form or medium, that: (i) relates to the past, present or future physical or mental 
health or condition of an Individual; the provision of health care to an Individual; or the past, present or future payment 
for the provision of health care to an Individual; and (ii) identifies the Individual or with respect to which there is a 
reasonable basis to believe the information can be used to identify the Individual 

 
1.12      “Plan” shall have the same meaning given to it as the group health plan or plans of the Sponsor as 

set forth in 45 CFR § 160.103. 

 
1.13  “Plan Administration Functions” shall have the same meaning given to it in 45 CFR § 164.504. 

 

1.14      “Plan Administrator” shall mean the entity, individual, group or committee appointed by the Sponsor, 
or its successor or successors with the authority to administer the Plan. 

 
1.15      “Privacy Official” shall mean the person designated by the Plan to serve as its privacy official within 

the meaning of 45 CFR § 164.530(a), and any person to whom the Privacy Official has delegated any of his or her 
duties or responsibilities. 

 
1.16      “Protected Information” shall mean PHI received from the Plan or created, received, maintained or 

transmitted by WEX on behalf of the Plan. 

 
1.17  “Required by Law” shall have the same meaning given to it in 45 CFR § 164.103. 

 

1.18  “Secretary” shall mean the Secretary of the United States Department of Health and Human Services. 
 

1.19  “Services” shall mean the activities, functions, and/or services that WEX from time to time renders 

to or on behalf of the Plan to the extent that those activities, functions, and/or services are covered by HIPAA. 

 
1.20  “Subcontractor” shall have the same meaning given to it in 45 CFR § 160.103. 

 

1.21      “Unsecured PHI” shall mean Protected Information that is not secured through the use of a 
technology or methodology that renders such Protected Information unusable, unreadable or indecipherable to 
unauthorized individuals as specified in 45 CFR § 164.402. 

 
ARTICLE 2 OBLIGATIONS AND ACTIVITIES OF WEX 

 
2.1        Status of WEX. WEX acknowledges and agrees that it is a Business Associate of the Plan for purposes 

of the Privacy Rule. 

 
2.2  Permitted Uses and Disclosures of Protected Information. 

 
(a)        Permitted Uses.  WEX shall not use Protected Information other than as permitted by this 

Agreement.   WEX may use Protected Information: (i) in connection with the performance, management and 
administration of the Services; (ii) for the proper business management and administration of WEX; (iii) to carry out 
WEX’s legal responsibilities; (iv) to report violations of law consistent with 45 CFR § 164.502(j); (v) to the extent and 
for any purpose authorized by an Individual under 45 CFR § 164.508; and (vi) for any purpose provided that no data 
is identifiable and data has been de-identified pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.514(b) (including the separate de-identification 
guidance issued by the Secretary on November 26, 2012). Notwithstanding the foregoing sentence, WEX shall not use 
Protected Information in any manner that violates the Privacy Rule, or that would violate the Privacy Rule if so used 
by the Plan (except for the purposes specified under 45 CFR § 164.504(e)(2)(i)(A) and (B)). 

 
(b)        Permitted Disclosures.    WEX shall not  disclose  Protected  Information other  than as 

permitted by this Agreement.   WEX may disclose Protected Information: (i) in connection with the performance, 

246

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 20 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
management and administration of the Services; (ii) to report violations of law consistent with 45 CFR § 164.502(j); 
(iii) to the extent and for any purpose authorized by an Individual under 45 CFR § 164.508; and (iv) for any purpose 
provided that no data is identifiable and data has been de-identified pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.514(b) (including the 
separate de-identification guidance issued by the Secretary on November 26, 2012). In addition, WEX may also disclose 
Protected Information to a third party for the proper business management and administration of WEX and to carry 
out WEX’s legal responsibilities, provided that the disclosure is Required by Law or WEX obtains, prior to the disclosure: 
(i) reasonable assurances from the third party that the Protected Information will be held confidentially and used or 
further disclosed only as Required by Law or for the purpose for which it was disclosed to the third party; and (ii) an 
agreement from the third party that the third party will notify WEX immediately of any instances in which it knows the 
confidentiality of the information has been breached. Further, WEX shall disclose, upon request, Protected Information 
to the Sponsor for Plan Administration Functions and to designated Sponsor employees (or designated Business 
Associates of the Plan) who are working for or on behalf of the Plan for purposes of Payment and Health Care Operations 
(including claims assistance activities) consistent with 45 CFR § 164.506(c)(1).  Notwithstanding the foregoing, WEX 
shall not disclose Protected Information in any manner that violates the Privacy Rule, or that would violate the Privacy 
Rule if so disclosed by the Plan (except for the purposes specified under 45 CFR § 164.504(e)(2)(i)(A) and (B)). 

 
(c)        Minimum Necessary.  To the extent required by the Privacy Rule, WEX shall only request, 

use, and/or disclose the minimum amount of Protected Information necessary to accomplish the purpose of the request, 
use, and/or disclosure.  For this purpose, the determination of what constitutes the minimum necessary amount of 
Protected Information shall be determined in accordance with Section 164.502(b) of the Privacy Rule. 

 
(d)        Direct Application of Privacy Rules. WEX shall not use and/or disclose Protected Information 

or provide any Services that require the use and/or disclosure of Protected Information unless such use and/or 
disclosure directly complies with this Section 2.2 and Sections 164.502(a)(3) and 164.504(e) of the Privacy Rule. 

 
(e)        GINA Provisions.  Notwithstanding subsections (a) through (c) above, WEX shall not use 

and/or disclose Protected Information that is genetic information for underwriting purposes, as set forth in 45 CFR § 
164.502(a)(5). 

 
2.3        Safeguards.  WEX shall maintain and use appropriate and commercially reasonable safeguards to 

prevent use and/or disclosure of Protected Information other than as permitted or required in this Agreement. 

 
2.4        Reports of Prohibited Disclosures. If WEX becomes aware of a disclosure of an Individual’s Protected 

Information by WEX and the disclosure violated the provisions of this Agreement, WEX must inform the Privacy Official 
regarding the prohibited disclosure of the Individual’s Protected Information. To the extent that a disclosure described 
in this Section 2.4 also constitutes a Breach of Unsecured PHI, the provisions of this Section 2.4 shall not apply, but 
rather the provisions of Section 2.8 shall apply. 

 
2.5        Agents and Subcontractors.  WEX shall require each of its authorized representatives, agents, and 

entities (collectively, “Agents”) to whom WEX provides Protected Information on behalf of the Plan to agree to observe 
the restrictions on use and disclosure of the Protected Information imposed upon WEX by this Agreement and the 
Privacy Rule.  In addition, WEX shall enter into a business associate agreement with each of its Subcontractors which 
meets the requirements of the Privacy Rule, including the requirements set forth in 45 CFR § 164.504(e). 

 
2.6        Access by Secretary. WEX shall make available to the Secretary WEX’s internal practices, books, and 

records (including its policies and procedures) relating to WEX’s use and disclosure of Protected Information for the 
purpose of enabling the Secretary to assess the Plan’s and/or WEX’s compliance with HIPAA.  WEX shall inform the 
Privacy Official of any request sent by the Secretary on behalf of the Plan that is received by WEX, unless it is prohibited 
by applicable law from doing so. 

 
2.7        Mitigation.  WEX agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is known to 

WEX of a use or disclosure of Protected Information by WEX in violation of the requirements of this Agreement and 
provide any notice and remediation that either WEX or the Plan is required to provide by any applicable law in 
connection with such actual or suspected Breach.  Where a Breach involves PHI data elements that reasonably could 
lead to identity theft, WEX shall provide credit monitoring or other commercially-reasonable identity theft mitigation 
service for the affected individuals for one year. 

247

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 21 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
2.8  Notice of Breach of Unsecured PHI. 

 
(a) WEX Requirements. Upon WEX’s discovery of a Breach of Unsecured PHI by WEX, WEX 

shall – 

 
(1)        Pursuant to the requirements set forth in subsection (c) below, provide written 

notice of the Breach to the Privacy Official, as soon as administratively practicable, but no later than ten (10) 
business days after the Breach is discovered, and 

 
(2)        Pursuant to the requirements set forth in subsection (b) below, provide written 

notice of the Breach, on behalf of the Plan, without unreasonable delay and in no case later than sixty (60) 
calendar days after discovery of a Breach as authorized under 45 CFR § 164.404 or such later date as is 
authorized under 45 CFR § 164.412 to: 

 
(i) each Individual whose Unsecured PHI has been, or is reasonably believed 

by WEX to have been, accessed, acquired, used or disclosed as a result of the Breach; 

 
(ii) the media to the extent required under 45 CFR § 164.406; and 

 
(iii) the Secretary to the extent required under 45 CFR § 164.408 (unless the 

Plan has elected to provide this notification and has informed WEX); and 

 
(3)       If the Breach involves less than 500 individuals, maintain a log or other 

documentation of the Breach which contains such information as would be required to be included if the log 
were maintained by the Plan pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.408, and provide such log to the Plan within five (5) 
business days of the Plan’s written request. 

 
(b) Notice Requirements.  This subsection (b) provides the following special rules that shall 

each be applicable to the provisions of Section 2.8(a)(2) – 

 
(1)        The date that a Breach is discovered shall be determined by WEX, in its sole 

discretion, in accordance with the Breach Notification Rule. 

 
(2)        The content, form, and delivery of each of the notices required by Section 2.8(a)(2) 

shall comply in all respects with the breach notification provisions applicable to the Plan, as set forth in the 
Breach Notification Rule. 

 
(3)        WEX shall send the notices described in Section 2.8(a)(2)(i) to each Individual 

using the address on file with WEX (or as may be otherwise provided by the Plan).  If the notice to any 
Individual is returned as undeliverable, WEX shall make one additional attempt to deliver the notice to the 
Individual using such information as is reasonably available to it, or shall take other action required by the 
Breach Notification Rule. 

 
(4)        With respect to notices required under Section 2.8(a)(2)(i) and (ii), WEX and the 

Privacy Official shall cooperate in all respects regarding the drafting and the content of the notices.  To that 
end, before sending any notice to any Individual or the media under Section 2.8(a)(2)(i) or (ii), WEX shall 
first provide a draft of the notice to the Privacy Official. The Privacy Official shall have ten (10) business days 
(plus any reasonable extensions) to either approve WEX’s draft of the notice or revise the language of the 
notice. Alternatively, the Privacy Official may elect to draft the notice for review by WEX. Once WEX and the 
Privacy Official agree on the final content of the notice, WEX shall send the notice to the Individuals and/or 
the media based on the requirements of the Breach Notification Rule. 

 
(c) Privacy Official Notice. The notice to the Privacy Official pursuant to Section 2.8(a)(1) shall 

include any information available to WEX that is required to be included in a notification to an Individual under 45 CFR 
§ 164.404(c).  To the extent that WEX does not have the information to be provided in the prior sentence when it is 
required to notify the Privacy Official, WEX shall provide such information as soon as administratively practicable after 
such information becomes available.  Upon the Plan’s written request, WEX shall provide such additional information 
regarding the Breach as may be reasonably requested from time-to-time by the Plan. 

248

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 22 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
(d)        Notice Fees. WEX reserves the right to charge reasonable, cost based fees for sending the 

notices required by this Section 2.8 should a Breach be due to actions on the part of the Sponsor, the Plan or any other 
entity (other than WEX, its Agents or Subcontractors). 

 
(e)        Remuneration.  WEX shall not directly or indirectly receive any remuneration in exchange 

for PHI or Use or Disclose PHI for marketing or fundraising purposes. 

 
ARTICLE 3 INDIVIDUAL RIGHTS REQUIREMENTS 

 
3.1  Designated Record Sets. 

 
(a)        General.  WEX agrees to maintain a Designated Record Set for the Plan in a manner and 

form that will allow the Plan to provide access and amendment rights to an Individual with respect to the Individual's 
Protected Information in conformance with 45 CFR §§ 164.524 and 164.526. 

 
(b)        Access to Protected Information.   Upon request from the Plan, WEX shall process and 

respond to a request by an Individual for access to an Individual’s Protected Information that is maintained by WEX in 
a Designated Record Set pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.524 (an “Access Request”).  WEX shall respond to such Access 
Request by furnishing such Protected Information to the Plan within a timeframe that reasonably allows the Plan to 
satisfy the timeframes required by 45 CFR § 164.524.  If the Protected Information that is requested is maintained 
electronically and the Individual requests an electronic copy of such information, WEX will provide access to the 
information in an electronic format that complies with 45 CFR § 164.524(c)(2)(ii).  Thereafter, the Plan will be 
responsible for sending such information to the Individual. 

 
(c)        Amendment to Protected Information.  Upon request from the Plan, WEX shall process a 

request by an Individual for amendment to an Individual’s Protected Information that is maintained by WEX in a 
Designated Record Set pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.526 (an “Amendment Request”). WEX shall process such Amendment 
Request within a timeframe that reasonably allows the Plan to satisfy the timeframes required by 45 CFR § 164.526. 

 
(d)        Coordination with Privacy Official.  WEX shall coordinate and cooperate with the Privacy 

Official (or any other person designated by the Plan Administrator for this purpose) regarding all processing, 
recordkeeping, and documentation issues relating to Access Requests and Amendment Requests. Notwithstanding the 
foregoing, WEX shall not be obligated to coordinate with the Privacy Official if an Individual files an Access Request or 
an Amendment Request with WEX and such request is directed solely to WEX. 

 
3.2  Accounting of Disclosures of Protected Information. 

 
(a)        Documentation of Disclosures. WEX agrees to document and maintain a log of any and all 

disclosures from and after the date or dates required by 45 CFR § 164.528 made by WEX of Protected Information in 
a manner and form that will allow the Plan to provide to an Individual an accounting of disclosures or other applicable 
report of the Individual's Protected Information in compliance with and based on the requirements of 45 CFR § 164.528. 

 
(b)        Accounting Requests.  Upon request from the Plan, WEX shall process and respond to a 

request by an Individual for an accounting of disclosures or other applicable report of an Individual’s Protected 
Information pursuant to the requirements of 45 CFR § 164.528 (an “Accounting Request”).  WEX shall furnish such 

accounting relating to the Accounting Request to the Plan within a timeframe that reasonably allows the Plan to satisfy 
the timeframes required by 45 CFR § 164.528.  Thereafter, the Plan will be responsible for sending such information 
to the Individual. 

 
(c)        Coordination with Privacy Official.  WEX shall coordinate and cooperate with the Privacy 

Official (or any other person designated by the Plan Administrator for this purpose) regarding all processing, 
recordkeeping, and documentation issues relating to Accounting Requests. Notwithstanding the foregoing, WEX shall 
not be obligated to coordinate with the Privacy Official if an Individual files an Accounting Request with WEX and such 
request is directed solely to WEX. 

249

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 23 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
3.3  Privacy Protection Requests. 

 
(a)        Restriction Requests on Uses and Disclosures.  The Plan and WEX on behalf of the Plan 

shall not agree to a restriction on the use or disclosure of Protected Information pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.522(a) 
without first consulting with the other party.  WEX is not obligated to implement any restriction, if such restriction 
would hinder Health Care Operations or the Services WEX provides to the Plan, unless such restriction would otherwise 
be required by 45 CFR § 164.522(a). 

 
(b)        Confidential Communication Requests.  WEX shall implement any reasonable requests by 

Individuals relating to a request to receive communications of Protected Information by alternative means or at 
alternative locations to the extent required by 45 CFR § 164.522(b). 

 
(c)        Coordination with Privacy Official.  WEX shall coordinate and cooperate with the Privacy 

Official (or any other person designated by the Plan Administrator for this purpose) regarding all processing, 
recordkeeping, and documentation issues relating to requests under this Section 3.3. 

 
ARTICLE 4 ELECTRONIC TRANSACTION RULE 

 
4.1        Business Associate Requirements. WEX acknowledges that it is a Business Associate of the Plan for 

purposes of the Electronic Transaction Rule.  WEX agrees that it shall comply with all Electronic Transaction Rule 
requirements that may be applicable to WEX with respect to the Services it provides to and on behalf of the Plan. WEX 
shall also require each of its Agents and Subcontractors to whom WEX provides Protected Information that is received 
from, or created or received by WEX on behalf of the Plan, to provide assurances, in writing, that they will comply with 
the applicable requirements of the Electronic Transaction Rule. 

 
4.2        Sponsor  Transmissions.    The  Sponsor  hereby  represents  and  warrants  that  all  electronic 

transmissions with respect to the Plan between the Sponsor (either directly or through its designated agent) and WEX 
relating to enrollment and disenrollment information and premium payment information as each are covered by the 
Electronic Transaction Rule are sent or received by the Sponsor (either directly or through its designated agent) in the 
Sponsor’s capacity as an employer and are not sent or received by the Plan or are not subject to HIPAA for other 
reasons, such as that the information is an employment record and not PHI. 

 
ARTICLE 5 OBLIGATIONS OF PLAN 

 
5.1        Privacy Notice. Upon request, the Plan will provide WEX with a copy of its notice of privacy practices 

pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.520. 

 
5.2        Authorizations. The Plan will notify WEX of any changes in or revocations of Individual authorizations 

for use or disclosure of Protected Information to the extent that such changes or revocations may affect WEX’s use or 
disclosure of Protected Information. 

 
5.3       Officials.  The Plan will notify WEX of the current name and contact information of the Plan 

Administrator, the Privacy Official, and any other person that has the authority to act on behalf of the Plan with respect 
to the provisions contained in this Agreement. 

 
5.4        Plan.  Sponsor represents that its Plan documents include specific provisions to restrict the use or 

disclosure of PHI and to ensure adequate procedural safeguards and accounting mechanisms for such uses or 
disclosures, in accordance with the Privacy Rule. 

 
5.5        Standard Requirements for Group Health Plans. The Plan represents and warrants that: (a) its plan 

documents, in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.504(f), allow the Plan to receive Protected Information; (b) it has received 
a certification from the Sponsor in accordance with 45 CFR § 164.504(f)(2)(ii) and will provide a copy of such 
certification to WEX upon request; (c) the plan document amendments permit the Plan to receive Protected Information 
(including detailed invoices, reports, and statements from WEX); and (d) the Plan has determined, through its own 
policies and procedures and in compliance with 45 CFR § 164.502(b), that the Protected Information that it receives 
from WEX (including the detailed invoices, reports, and statements) contains the minimum information necessary for 
the Plan to carry out its Payment and Health Care Operations activities. 

250

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 24 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
5.6        Sponsor agrees and understands that the Plan is independently responsible for the security of all PHI 

in its possession (electronic or otherwise), including all PHI that it receives from outside sources including the Business 
Associate. 

 
ARTICLE 6 AMENDMENT AND TERMINATION 

 
6.1        Amendment. No change, modification or attempted waiver of any of the provisions of this Agreement 

shall be binding upon any party hereto unless reduced to writing and signed by both parties. WEX agrees to take such 
action as is necessary to amend this Agreement from time to time as the Plan reasonably determines necessary to 
comply with HIPAA, or any other applicable law, rule or regulation. 

 
6.2        Term. The Term of this Agreement shall be effective on the Effective Date (unless otherwise noted 

herein) and shall terminate when all of the Protected Information received from the Plan, or created or received by 
WEX on behalf of the Plan, is destroyed in accordance with the Plan’s authorization or is returned to the Plan (or its 
designated agents) pursuant to Section 6.4. 

 
6.3        Termination.  If one party to this Agreement (“Non-Breaching Party”) has knowledge of a material 

violation of this Agreement by the other party to this Agreement (“Breaching Party”), as determined in good faith by 
the Non-Breaching Party, the Non-Breaching Party must promptly: 

 
(a)        Provide an opportunity for the Breaching Party to end and to cure the material violation 

within a reasonable time specified by the Non-Breaching Party, and if the Breaching Party does not end and cure the 
material violation within such time (including reasonable extensions that the Non-Breaching Party determines are 
necessary) to the satisfaction of the Non-Breaching Party, the Non-Breaching Party shall immediately terminate the 
Services rendered by WEX and any agreement or contract related thereto; or 

 
(b)        If a cure is not possible as determined by the Non-Breaching Party in its sole discretion, the 

Non-Breaching Party shall immediately terminate the Services rendered by WEX and any agreement or contract related 
thereto. 

 
6.4        Effect of Termination. Upon termination pursuant to Section 6.3, the Plan within a reasonable time 

thereafter must inform WEX to either destroy or return to the Plan (or any agents designated by the Plan) the Protected 
Information that WEX and its Agents and Subcontractors maintain in any form, and WEX and its Agents and 
Subcontractors shall retain no copies of the Protected Information. 

 
However, in many situations WEX maintains one or more backup copies of Protected Information for auditing, data 

management, and other related purposes and WEX has determined that destruction of all copies of Protected 

Information that it maintains is infeasible. 
 

Therefore, after termination of the Services and pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.504(e)(2)(ii)(J), this Agreement shall remain 

in effect, and WEX shall continue to observe and shall ensure that its Agents and Subcontractors continue to observe 

its obligations under this Agreement to the extent copies of the Protected Information are retained by WEX and shall 

limit further uses and disclosures of Protected Information to the purposes that make its return or destruction infeasible 

and that are consistent with the Privacy Rule. 

 
ARTICLE 7 ELECTRONIC SECURITY STANDARDS 

 
 
follows: 

7.1  Definitions.  When used in this Article, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth as 

 
(a) “Electronic Media” shall have the meaning given to it in 45 CFR § 160.103. 

 
(b)        “Electronic Protected Information” shall mean Protected Information received from the Plan 

or created, received, maintained or transmitted by WEX on behalf of the Plan that is transmitted by Electronic Media 
or maintained in Electronic Media. 

 
(c) “Security Incident” shall have the meaning given to it in 45 CFR § 164.304. 

251

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 25 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
7.2  Requirements. Pursuant to 45 CFR § 164.314(a)(2)(i), WEX shall: 

 
(a)        Comply with the applicable requirements of the Security Rule, including the requirement 

that WEX implement, maintain and document administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and 
appropriately protect the confidentiality, integrity, and availability of Electronic Protected Information to the extent 
required by the Security Rule; 

 
(b)        Report (pursuant to the terms and conditions of Section 7.3) to the Privacy Official (or such 

other person designated for this purpose) any Security Incident of which WEX becomes aware and which occurred 
during the applicable reporting period; 

 
(c)        Require each of its Agents to whom WEX provides Electronic Protected Information to agree 

to implement administrative, physical, and technical safeguards that reasonably and appropriately protect the 
confidentiality, integrity, and availability of the Electronic Protected Information that is provided to the Agent to the 
extent required by the Security Rule; and 

 
(d)        Enter into a contract or other arrangement with each of its Subcontractors that create, 

receive, maintain or transmit Electronic Protected Information on behalf of WEX pursuant to which the Subcontractor 
agrees to comply with the applicable requirements of the Security Rule. 

 
7.3        Reporting Protocols.  All reports required by Section 7.2(b) shall be provided pursuant to the terms 

and conditions specified in this section. 

 
(a)        Attempted Security Incidents. Reporting for any Security Incident involving the attempted 

unauthorized access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction of Electronic Protected Information (collectively, an 
“Attempted Security Incident”) shall be provided pursuant to the standard reporting protocols of WEX (as determined 
by WEX). 

 
(b)        Successful Security Incident.  Reporting for any Security Incident involving the successful 

unauthorized access, use, disclosure, modification or destruction of Electronic Protected Information (collectively, a 

“Successful Security Incident”) shall be provided to the Plan pursuant to the standard reporting protocols of WEX (as 
determined by WEX), provided that: (i) the reports shall at a minimum include the date of the incident, the parties 
involved (if known, including the names of Individuals affected), a description of the Successful Security Incident, a 
description of the Electronic Protected Information involved in the incident, and any action taken to mitigate the impact 
of the Successful Security Incident and/or prevent its future recurrence; and (ii) the reports shall satisfy the minimum 
requirements for Security Incident reporting that may be required from time to time by the Secretary.  In addition, 
Successful Security Incidents shall be reported to the Plan as soon as administratively practicable after the occurrence 
of the incident taking into account the severity and nature of the incident.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Plan 
may request details about one or more Successful Security Incidents, and WEX shall have thirty (30) days thereafter 
to furnish the requested information. 

 
(c) Breach of Unsecured PHI.  To the extent that a Security Incident described in this Section 

7.3 also constitutes a Breach of Unsecured PHI, the provisions of this Section 7.3 shall not apply, but rather the 
provisions of Section 2.8 shall apply. 

 
7.4        Mitigation.  WEX agrees to mitigate, to the extent practicable, any harmful effect that is known to 

WEX relating to any Successful Security Incident and provide any notice and remediation that either WEX or the Plan 
is required to provide by any applicable law in connection with such Security Incident.  Where the Security Incident 
involves data elements that reasonably could lead to identity theft, WEX shall provide credit monitoring or other 
commercially-reasonable identity theft mitigation service for the affected individuals for one year. 

 
7.5        Access by Secretary. WEX shall make available to the Secretary WEX’s internal practices, books and 

records (including its policies and procedures) relating to the safeguards established by WEX with respect to Electronic 
Protected Information for the purpose of enabling the Secretary to assess WEX and/or the Plan’s compliance with the 
Security Rule.  WEX shall inform the Privacy Official of any request sent by the Secretary on behalf of the Plan that is 
received by WEX, unless WEX is prevented by applicable law from doing so. 

252

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 26 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
ARTICLE 8 GENERAL 

 
8.1        Other Agreements.  The Plan and WEX acknowledge and affirm that this Agreement is in no way 

intended to address or cover all aspects of the relationship of the Plan and WEX and of the Services that are rendered 
by WEX to and on behalf of the Plan.  Rather, this Agreement deals only with those matters that are specifically 
addressed herein.  Further, this Agreement supersedes any prior business associate agreements entered into by WEX 
and the Plan (or any predecessor to the Plan), and shall apply to all Protected Information existing as of the effective 
date of this Agreement or created or received thereafter while this Agreement is in effect. 

 
8.2        Indemnification. Any indemnification relating to violations of this Agreement by WEX or the Plan (or 

the Sponsor on behalf of the Plan) shall be addressed to the extent applicable by the respective Services Agreement. 

 
8.3        Severability.    The  provisions  of  this  Agreement  shall  be  severable,  and  the  invalidity  or 

unenforceability of any provision (or part thereof) of this Agreement shall in no way affect the validity or enforceability 
of any other provisions (or remaining part thereof).  If any part of any provision contained in this Agreement is 
determined by a court of competent jurisdiction, or by any administrative tribunal, to be invalid, illegal or incapable of 
being enforced, then the court or tribunal shall interpret such provisions in a manner so as to enforce them to the 
fullest extent of the law. 

 
8.4        Interpretation. The provisions of this Agreement shall be interpreted in a manner intended to achieve 

compliance with HIPAA.  Whenever the Agreement uses the term “including” followed by a specific item or items, or 
there is a passage having a similar effect, such passages of the Agreement shall be construed as if the phrase “without 
limitation” followed such term (or otherwise applied to such passage in a manner that avoids limitations on its breadth 
of application). Where the term “and/or” is used in this Agreement, the provision that includes the term shall have the 
meaning the provision would have if “and” replaced “and/or,” but it shall also have the meaning the provision would 
have if “or” replaced “and/or.”  Any reference to a section or provision of HIPAA shall include any amendment or 
clarification of such section or provision contained in the HIPAA Omnibus Rule and any regulation, rule or guidance 
issued by the Secretary following the effective date of this Agreement. 

 
8.5        Binding Effect. The provisions of this Agreement shall be binding upon and shall inure to the benefit 

of the parties hereto and their heirs, assigns and successors in interest.  The Plan shall have the right to assign this 

Agreement to any successor or surviving health plan, and all covenants and agreements hereunder shall inure to the 
benefit of and be enforceable by any such assignee. 

 
8.6        No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  Nothing express or implied in this Agreement is intended to confer, 

and nothing herein shall confer, upon any person other than the parties hereto any rights, remedies, obligations or 
liabilities whatsoever. 

 
8.7        Applicable Law and Disputes. The provisions of this Agreement shall be construed and administered 

to, and its validity and enforceability determined under HIPAA. In the event that HIPAA does not preempt state law in 
a particular circumstance, the laws of the State of Iowa shall govern.  In the event of any conflict of state laws, the 
laws of the State of Iowa shall prevail. The parties agree that any claim or action arising from this Agreement can only 
be brought in the United States District Court for the District of Iowa, and both parties consent to such jurisdiction and 
venue. Any disputes between the parties arising under this Agreement shall be resolved in accordance with the 
dispute resolution procedures, if any, set forth in the respective Services Agreement. 

 
8.8  State Privacy and Security Laws. 

 
(a)        General.  Pursuant to 45 CFR § 160.203, WEX and the Plan acknowledge that HIPAA only 

preempts state laws which are contrary to a HIPAA standard, requirement or implementation specification, provided 
that state laws which relate to the privacy of Protected Information and are more stringent than the Privacy Rule are 
not preempted.  Accordingly, the parties acknowledge that certain State Privacy Laws affecting the privacy and/or 
security of personally identifiable information (e.g., name, address, age, and social security number) relating to a Plan 
participant or beneficiary (“Privacy Restricted Data”) may apply to the Services provided by WEX to the extent such 
State Privacy Laws are not preempted by HIPAA.  For purposes of this Section 8.8, “State Privacy Laws” shall mean 

253

Item 24.



THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS (40953) 

PAGE 27 OF 27 

 

 

 
WEX Health, Inc. Services Agreement 

Updated: March 2021 
Proprietary & Confidential 

©2021 • All Rights Reserved WEX Health, Inc. 

 
any  applicable state  and  local  privacy  laws  governing the  creation,  collection, storage,  maintenance, access, 
modification, transmission, use or disclosure of Privacy Restricted Data. 

 
(b)        State Privacy Laws.  All Privacy Restricted Data created, collected, received or obtained by 

or on behalf of WEX in the course of performing its Services shall be created, collected, received, obtained, stored, 
maintained, accessed, modified, transmitted, used, and disclosed in accordance with any and all applicable State Privacy 
Laws.  WEX shall at all times perform the Services in accordance with the State Privacy Laws and as not to cause the 
Sponsor or the Plan to be in violation of the State Privacy Laws.  WEX shall be fully responsible for any creation, 
collection, receipt, access, storage, maintenance, modification, transmission, use, and disclosure of Privacy Restricted 
Data performed by or on behalf of WEX that is in violation of any State Privacy Laws. WEX shall remedy and mitigate 
the damages of any breach of privacy, security, integrity or confidentiality with respect to the unauthorized creation, 
collection, receipt, storage, maintenance, access, modification, transmission, use or disclosure (a “State Breach”) of 
Privacy Restricted Data that is or may be in violation of any State Privacy Laws. 

 
(c)        Notification.   WEX shall notify the Privacy Official (using the procedures that apply to 

Breaches of Unsecured PHI under Section 2.8(c)) of any State Breaches by or on behalf of WEX of Privacy Restricted 
Data that is or may be in violation of any State Privacy Laws.  In addition, WEX shall also notify the affected Plan 
participants and beneficiaries (using the procedures that apply to Breaches of Unsecured PHI under Section 2.8(b)) of 
any State Breaches by or on behalf of WEX of Privacy Restricted Data that is in violation of any State Privacy Laws and 
any state or local governmental agencies, authorities or other entities, but only to the extent required by such State 
Privacy Laws. 

 
(d)        HIPAA Coordination.  The parties acknowledge that in certain situations the provisions of 

both Section 2.8 and this Section 8.8 shall apply.  If both Sections 2.8 and 8.8 apply in a given situation, WEX shall 
comply with both Sections 2.8 and 8.8 to the extent applicable. 

 
8.9        Obligation of Plan and WEX.  To the extent that WEX carries out the HIPAA obligations of the Plan 

(including the obligations set forth in Section 2.8 and Article 3), WEX shall comply with the applicable requirements of 
HIPAA as they apply to the Plan in the performance of such obligations on behalf of the Plan. 

254

Item 24.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
220 CLAY STREET 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 
319-273-8600 
FAX 319-268-5126 

     M E M O R A N D U M 
 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council Members 

 FROM: Paul Kockler 

 DATE: June 2, 2021 

 SUBJECT: FY22-24 Group Long-Term Disability Insurance Renewal 
  
 
Attached is the City’s FY22-24 group Long-Term Disability (LTD) renewal letter from 
National Insurance Services, the coordinating carrier for this employee benefit that is 
administered by Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. There are no changes 
to the coverage under the group LTD coverage or the City’s LTD rate from the current 
agreement. The LTD rate will remain $.315 per $100 of covered payroll and will be 
effective through June 30, 2024. Refer to the attached LTD renewal letter dated March 
2021 for details.  
 
If you have questions regarding the attached, please contact me at 268-5101, Toni 
Babcock at 268-5531, or Jennifer Rodenbeck at 268-5108. 
 
Attachment 

255

Item 25.



 

 

Corporate Headquarters 
250 South Executive Drive 

Suite 300 
Brookfield, WI 53005 

Indiana Office 
9100 Meridian Square 

50 East 91st Street 
Suite 315 

Indianapolis, IN 46240 

Michigan Offices 
310 East Michigan Avenue 

Suite 503 
Kalamazoo, MI 49007 

43120 Utica Road 
Suite 400 

Sterling Heights, MI 48314 

120 East Liberty 
Suite 220 

Ann Arbor, MI 48104 

Minnesota Office 
14852 Scenic Heights Road 

Suite 210 
Eden Prairie, MN 55344 

Nebraska Office 
9202 West Dodge Road 

Suite 302 
Omaha, NE 68114 

Pennsylvania Office 
375 Southpointe Blvd 

Suite 220 
Canonsburg, PA 15317 

 
 
March 25, 2021 
 
Brenda Balvanz 
Personnel Specialist 
City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, IA 50613-2783 
 
RE: Long Term Disability Insurance Renewal 
 
Dear Ms. Balvanz: 
 
The City of Cedar Falls’ Long-Term Disability Insurance renews on July 1, 2021. I am pleased to inform 
you that Madison National Life Insurance Company, Inc. has determined that a rate adjustment is not 
needed. Your current rate will remain the same and is guaranteed for 3 years until July 1, 2024. 
 

Current Rate Per $100 of Covered Payroll Renewal Rate Per $100 of Covered Payroll 
$0.315 $0.315 

 
Please sign the bottom of this letter as your acceptance of the renewal. Thank you for your continued 
business. Please do not hesitate to call me if you have any questions. 

Sincerely, 
 

Megan Ware 
Account Manager 
 
cc: Brent Macke, Holmes Murphy 
 
_________________________________________________________________________ 
The July 1, 2021 renewal of Group Long-Term Disability Insurance as outlined above is accepted. 
 
 
 
_________________________________ ____________ 
Signature & Title                                        Date 
 
Renewal eForm # 9031 
 

256

Item 25.



   DEPARTMENT OF FINANCE & BUSINESS OPERATIONS 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

220 CLAY STREET 

CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

319-273-8600 

FAX 319-268-5126 
     I N T E R O F F I C E   M E M O R A N D U M 

                                                                                                         ADMINISTRATION DIVISION 

 
 TO: Mayor Green   and City Council Members 

 FROM: Toni Babcock, Human Resources Manager 

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Racial Equity Task Force Facilitator Proposal 

 
During the initial meetings of the Racial Equity Task Force (RETF) it was made evident 
that engaging a facilitator would assist the RETF in meeting its goals and charge as 
outlined in the Mayor’s memo on February 23, 2021.  The RETF reached out to Iowa 
State University Extension, whose specialists have facilitated previous City Council goal 
setting sessions.  Aimee Viniard-Weideman (a previous facilitator) and Omar Padilla, 
Leadership and Community Development Specialists with Iowa State University 
Extension, held several meetings with RETF members, city staff and elected officials to 
best understand the needs, vision and goal of the task force and to determine if they 
were a good fit.  The Task Force Executive Committee determined that in order to 
make meaningful recommendations to the Mayor and City Council in the pre-
determined timeline, it was in their best interest to move forward with these facilitators.   
 
Attached is a proposal for services from Iowa State University Extension.  As part of this 
proposal, they have outlined their approach and facilitation services.  You will also note 
the fee is based on a per session schedule, plus an initial survey and final report, which 
are not to exceed a total of $15,000. 
 
After your review and approval of the proposal, the Task Force Executive Committee 
will engage in a formal contract with Iowa State University Extension, with the intent that 
their work will begin with them at the next Racial Equity Task Force meeting on 
Wednesday, June 9, 2021.   If you have any questions regarding the contract, please 
feel free to contact me, Jennifer Rodenbeck, or Ron Gaines.   
 
 

257

Item 26.



City of Cedar Falls  
Racial Equity Task Force 
Proposal for Facilitation Services 
June 3, 2021 
 
 

Submitted by  

Aimee Viniard-Weideman and Omar Padilla 
Leadership and Community Development Specialists 
Iowa State University Extension 
 
 

Background  

 
In February 2021, Mayor Green issued a memorandum to create a Task Force to provide 
guidance and recommendations to the City of Cedar Falls to address long-term challenges of 
racial equity in the city.  
 
The following was outlined in a February 23, 2021 memo from the Mayor to the City 
Administrator and in the materials shared with Task Force members: 

 
Task Force Charge 

 The Task Force will use the 24/7 Wall Street report and similar resources as a 
foundation to build a common understanding of the challenges of diversity and 
racial equity in Cedar Falls. 

 The Task Force shall identify problems, concerns, and reasons the community 
currently ranks as one of the worst places for Black Americans to live, in order to 
provide remedial guidance and change recommendations for laws and policies 
under the City’s jurisdiction.  

 

Task Force Deliverables  
The Task Force shall provide, no later than October 1, 2021, a final report to the Mayor 
and City Council that identifies specific problems and shortfalls.  
 
In this report, the Task Force shall also make formal recommendations for follow-on 
action, including policy and procedure change recommendations, and identification of 
ongoing efforts and resourcing needed to promote an inclusive and diverse community 
and to eliminate both real and perceived racial inequity in Cedar Falls. 
 
Schedule 
Starting on April 28, 2021 the CFRETF plans to meet on the 2nd and 4th Wed of each 
month from 4 PM – 5:30 PM. These meetings are currently scheduled virtually via Zoom. 

 

258

Item 26.



Summary of Opportunity 
 

After the Cedar Falls Racial Equity Task Force held its initial meetings, members of the Task 
Force contacted Iowa State University Extension to discuss how facilitation could support the 
Task Force in achieving its goals.  
 
Aimee Viniard-Weideman and Omar Padilla, Leadership and Community Development 
Specialists with Iowa State University Extension, met with the Task Force Executive Committee, 
the Mayor and city staff to review the Task Force charge and initial Task Force discussions, 
including:  
 

 potential areas of focus identified by the Task Force Executive Committee: healthcare, 
public safety, transportation, business/employment, housing and education 

 the need to review existing data, policies and practices in order to make informed 
recommendations 

 the need to actively engage community members in on-going discussions about equity 
and inclusion in Cedar Falls 

 the complexity of the topic and the need to make informed and actionable 
recommendations  

 the desire for the work of this Task Force to provide a foundation for ongoing 
sustainable change that will include future initiatives, committees or other Task Forces  

 
Following these discussions, the Task Force Executive Committee identified that it would be 
beneficial to seek outside facilitators to assist the Task Force in focusing the scope of their work  
in order to make meaningful recommendations to the Mayor and City Council by October 1, 
2021.  
 
About Facilitation Services from Iowa State University Extension 
 

Our facilitation team designs and facilitates planning and public engagement processes for local 
governments, nonprofits, businesses and community members to work together to innovate, 
collaborate and create positive community change.  
 
We primarily employ the Technology of Participation (ToP) group facilitation methods 
developed by the Institute of Cultural Affairs and used worldwide for over 50 years in 
communities, organizations and businesses. 
 
These highly participatory, inclusive and engaging methods are designed to maximize the 
collective capacity of groups by building shared focus and understanding, establishing 
consensus, and developing creative, thoughtful solutions with a strong commitment to follow-
through.  
 
We work with national, state and local groups using both virtual and in-person methods that 
support safe distancing guidelines while keeping participants actively engaged in the process.   

259

Item 26.



Proposal for Facilitation Services 
 
Given the complexity of the Task Force charge and the timeline for the report, we recommend 
that the initial work of the Task Force is to further refine the scope and focus of the charge.   
 
GOAL 
 
Design and facilitate a process for the Task Force members to come to consensus on the: 

 focus and scope of their planning  
 questions to be collectively explored by the Task Force  
 process for decision-making 
 shared vision for the final product  
 determine process for completing planning, including facilitation services 

 
PROCESS 
 
Survey: Gather Individual Input from Task Force Members prior to the work sessions 

1. Send survey to all Task Force Members asking for individual ideas 
2. Summarize responses for review by the Task Force 
  

Facilitate: Task Force Work Sessions 
For the Task Force members to come to consensus on what is in-scope and out-of-scope for this 
Task Force to accomplish during the given timeframe. The Task Force will address the following 
questions: 

What is the subject or topic to be explored during the planning? 
What final product is needed?  
What decisions must be made during the planning? 
What is the context for the recommendations? (budget timelines, meeting schedules, 
City decision-making processes, etc.)  
Who are the stakeholders who will be impacted by the recommendations?  
What is the Focus Question for the Task Force planning? 

 The focus question concentrates the attention of a group on a critical issue (s) 
while allowing creative responses.  

 There needs to be general agreement about the focus question before beginning 
the actual planning process. 

What is the preferred process for accomplishing this goal by October 2021? Including 
facilitation needs? 

 
Submit: Final Report  
The final report will clearly outline the final decisions on the focus question, the criteria for the 
final product, the process for decisions-making within the Task Force, and next steps for the 
Task Force.  
 
 

260

Item 26.



Scope of Work 

 
 ISU Responsibilities Client 

Responsibilities 
Deliverables 

Planning and 
Design 

 Complete initial 
assessment 

 Confirm facilitation 
goals and focus 
questions 

 Identify 
appropriate 
processes for 
facilitated events 

 Draft agenda for 
client review 

 Confirm logistics: 
virtual or in-person 
platforms, set-up, 
meeting 
communication 
etc.  

 Provide relevant 
background 
information and 
documents 

 Gather desired and 
appropriate 
planning team and 
coordinate 
planning logistics 

 Coordinate event 
scheduling 

 Event process plans 
and technical 
requirements 

Workspace 
Setup 
 
Virtual  
and/or  
In-Person 

 

 Create any 
customized 
materials, visuals, 
documents needed 
to facilitate the 
event 

 Layout and set-up 
virtual and/or 
physical meeting 
workspace 

 Communicate with 
technical support 
personnel as 
needed 

 Ensure participants 
have access to 
appropriate virtual 
communication 
and collaboration 
tools and/or 
physical workspace 
access 

 Meeting visuals  
 Virtual and/or in-

person workspace  

Meeting 
Facilitation 

 Deliver facilitated 
process 

 Arrange for 
documentation of 
participants 
insights and 
decisions 

 Day-of 
responsibilities as 
determined in 
planning 

 Facilitated event(s) 
 Draft 

documentation for 
each event 

Documentation 
and Follow-up 

 Post-event debrief 
with client 

 Post-event debrief 
meeting 

 Finalized 
documentation 

261

Item 26.



 Create and submit 
final written report 

 Follow-up via 
phone or email as 
needed to confirm 
closure and/or 
review steps 

 Complete post-
event survey online 
if requested 

 
 

Pricing 
 

Task Force Survey and Summary  $750 

90 minute work sessions; including process design, materials, 
facilitation, documentation and travel expenses 

$1,000/per session 

Final Report $500 

 
Any additional work performed by the Facilitation Services team will be negotiated and billed at 
a rate to be mutually agreed upon in advance.  
 

Not to exceed $15,000 
 

262

Item 26.



263

Item 27.



264

Item 27.



265

Item 27.



266

Item 27.



267

Item 27.



268

Item 28.



269

Item 28.



270

Item 28.



271

Item 28.



272

Item 29.



273

Item 29.



274

Item 29.



275

Item 29.



276

Item 30.



277

Item 30.



278

Item 30.



279

Item 30.



280

Item 31.



281

Item 31.



282

Item 31.



283

Item 31.



284

Item 32.



285

Item 32.



286

Item 32.



287

Item 32.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-268-5126 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 

Administration Division 

  

  

 

 
 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 TO: Mayor Green and City Council 

 FROM: Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of Community Development 

  J.J. Lillibridge, Recreation & Community Programs Manager  

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Contract with ePRepSolutions for a Comprehensive Financial Analysis of 
Recreation & Community Programs 

 

Recreation & Community Programs Division sought proposals and quotes on consultant 
services for an analytical evaluation that would lead to the identification of the true cost 
of doing business and all costs (direct and indirect) associated to each individual 
membership, facility, and service.  A Request for Proposals was posted on the City 
website on April 22, 2021 with proposals and quotes due by May 15th.  The RFP was 
also sent directly to 3 consultants.   
 
One response was received.  The proposer is qualified and has experience completing 
this work with communities such as Carbon Valley Park District-CO, Boulder-CO, 
Lawrence-KS, Kent-WA.  The proposed fee for this scope of work is $3,350. 
The City would be providing ePRepSolutions with data on programs and memberships, 
including financial data.  The contractor will evaluate the information and provide 
detailed breakdowns by service area. 
 
Staff recommends approving the contract with ePrep Solutions, noting the Risk 
Management Committee approved waiving the $3M Umbrella requirement, to allow a 
$1M Umbrella, due to the nature of the work.  All other required insurance 
endorsements will be provided.  The contractor is working with their insurance company 
to obtain them.  Staff is seeking approval of the contract in order to proceed with 
services as soon as all insurance requirements are provided.  The cost for this service 
will be covered within Recreation & Community Programs FY21 budget for Professional 
Services. 
 
 

288

Item 33.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

SERVICE/PRODUCT AGREEMENTS 

 

This Agreement is by and between ePRep Solutions (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (“City”), and is to 

be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of the those services and/or products provided or supplied by 

Contractor as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 

authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 

Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 

presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 

work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 

not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 

warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 

required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 

Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 

Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 

approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 

under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 

third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 

the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 

provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 

full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 

Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 

accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 

be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 

case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include, at a minimum, the name and address of the Contractor, the 

invoice number, the date services were performed or goods were shipped, a general description of the services or 

289

Item 33.



2 
 

goods, total amount to be paid, any discounts or credits, and the net amount to be paid.  The invoice shall be mailed 

or emailed to the authorized representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 

provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 

on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving at least seven 

(7) days written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 

faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 

services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as requested.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 

(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 

Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 

property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 

and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 

City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 

rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 

other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 

of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 

and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 

providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 

information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 

years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 

Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 

inspection by the City or designee.  

5.0.       Termination. 

5.1.       The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 

Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 

before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 

prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 

is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 

290

Item 33.



3 
 

approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 

from the Contractor. 

5.2.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 

other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 

initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 

standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 

component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 

meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 

the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 

days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 

satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 

Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 

as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 

acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 

remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 

availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 

Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 

any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 

entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 

City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 

privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 

Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 

dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 

all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 

payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 

continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 

incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

291

Item 33.



4 
 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 

mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 

mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification. 

9.1.       Contractor (including, for purposes of this Section, Contractor’s agents, employees, subcontractors or others 

working on behalf of Contractor) shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its elected and appointed 

officers, its employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, from any and all liability, loss, cost, damage and 

expense (including reasonable attorney fees and court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or related in any way to 

any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon or alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and 

property damages, arising out of or in any way connected or associated with the Contractor’s performance under this 

Agreement. 

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 

or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

9.3.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 

member of the public, any third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to 

maintain a suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “C” 

unless this insurance requirement is waived by the City in this Section. 

Insurance requirement waived:  _Umbrella reduced to $1 million__Stephanie Houk Sheetz, Director of 

Community Development _(Signature and title of authorized City employee or officer)   

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 

applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 

chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 

delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 

as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 

employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 

deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 

procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 

connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

292

Item 33.



5 
 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 

contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 

such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 

into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not in the performance of this Agreement unlawfully discriminate against any employee or 

applicant for employment because of race, sex, color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, 

disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification 

protected by federal, state, or local law.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 

the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 

Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 

participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  

Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 

Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 

additional costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums 

yet due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 

order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 

such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 

labor disputes; public health emergency; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or 

referred to in this Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of 

performance by either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any 

claim for damages, if and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 

exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 

party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 

such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 

Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 

City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 

approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 

bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

  

293

Item 33.



6 
 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 

quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 

Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 

shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 

bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 

and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 

agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 

information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 

submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 

designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 

to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 

endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 

asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 

the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 

employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 

disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 

occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0        Confidentiality of Shared Information. 

No information shared between Contractor and the City in the performance of this Agreement shall be deemed 

confidential unless clearly designated as such in writing by the party seeking confidentiality at the time of sharing.  If 

designated as confidential the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of such information except as necessary 

for performance under this Agreement, unless or until written authorization for disclosure is given by the designating 

party, or as required by law, or by an order of court or administrative agency.  In the event of a dispute over the 

confidentiality of shared information, the parties agree to maintain the confidentiality of the designated information 

until the issue of confidentiality is resolved.  The duty to maintain the confidentiality of such information shall survive 

the termination of this Agreement. 

294

Item 33.



7 
 

23.0.       Entire Agreement. 

23.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 

entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 

representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 

be of any force or effect. 

23.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 

and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

24.0.       Additional Terms. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

25.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 

provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: __JJ Lillibridge_____________                                           Name: _Matthew J Hickey_____________ 

Title: _Recreation & Community Programs Manager                     Title: _Founder & Managing Partner______ 

Address: _110 E. 13th St.____________                                       Address: _ PO Box 1032 ______________ 

               _Cedar Falls, IA 50613_______                                                       _Boulder, Colorado  80306____ 

Telephone: _(319) 273-8636 __________                                    Telephone: _(720) 635-2571___________ 

Email: _James.Lillbridge@cedarfalls.com__                                  Email: _matt.hickey@eprepsolutions.net_  

 

  

295

Item 33.



8 
 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 

below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

ePRep Solutions_______________________________ 

By: __ Matthew J Hickey________________ 

Its: ___ Founder & Managing Partner________________                    Date: _6/3/2021_______________ 

 

 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

By: __________________________________ 

        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

             Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

                                 

    

296

Item 33.



 

 

 

  
ePRepSolutions, LLC. 

PO BOX 1032 Boulder, CO 80306  
720-635-2571 

matt.hickey@eprepsolutions.net 

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa  
Recreation Division  

“Comprehensive Financial Analysis” 
Proposal 

297

Item 33.



 

2 | P a g e  

 

May 3rd, 2021 

JJ Lillibridge 
Recreation & Community Programs Manager 
City of Cedar Falls Department of Community Development 
110 E 13th Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
319-268-5528 

 
Dear JJ, 
 
ePRepSolutions, LLC is pleased to submit a proposal for consultation in Pricing and Subsidy Strategy 
(PASS™) services to the City of Cedar Falls Recreation & Community Programs Department. You will find 
the proposed process in response to the memorandum dated April 22nd, 2021 and titled 
“Comprehensive Financial Analysis”. 
 
ePRepSolutions, LLC has developed the first fiscal management process specific to the parks and 
recreation industry and the City of Cedar Falls will be the beneficiary of this invaluable financial analysis 
process. Critical to the logical development of a Cost Recovery Model, Master Plan and/or Service 
Sustainability is the implementation of PASS™, an analytical process which leads to the identification of 
the true cost of doing business and all costs (direct and indirect) associated with the provision of each 
individual program, event, facility, park, etc., to the community. This comprehensive financial analysis 
results in relevant reports the agency can use to articulate and illustrate the costs associated with 
providing each recreation and park service to the community, as well as total subsidy allocation by 
individual service. This can be incredibly useful when communicating real financial position of services to 
city leadership including boards, councils, and commissions.  
 
ePRepSolutions, LLC staff consists of experienced parks and recreation professionals with over 30 plus 
years in the industry. Specific to your project, the ePRepSolutions staff has a deep background and 
understanding of finding the true cost of doing business. The City of Cedar Falls Team will consist of 
Matthew Hickey, M.S.M. as Project Manager.  
 
Again, we are pleased to propose this process to the City of Cedar Falls. We expect this collaboration to 
be innovative, exciting, and boundless!  
 
In the event you have any questions as you assess the quality and relevance of the submitted proposal, 
please email matt.hickey@eprepsolutions.net or call 720.635.2571. We look forward to the potential 
opportunity to work with the City of Cedar Falls.  
 
Respectfully,  
 
 
Matthew Hickey, M.S.M.  
Founder and Managing Member 

298

Item 33.



 

3 | P a g e  

 

Table of Contents  
 

I. SCOPE OF SERVICE – Consultation Services .......................................................................................... 4 

Phase I - Organizational Data and Information Collection ....................................................................... 4 

Phase II – PASS™ Tool Build ...................................................................................................................... 5 

II. PASS™ Process Tool – Pricing and Subsidy Strategy ................................................................................. 6 

III. Deliverables .............................................................................................................................................. 7 

IV. Fees .......................................................................................................................................................... 7 

V. Proposed Timeline (Proposal 1 only) ........................................................................................................ 8 

VI. Firm Overview .......................................................................................................................................... 8 

VII. Qualifications: ......................................................................................................................................... 9 

VIII. Key Personnel ...................................................................................................................................... 10 

Appendix A – ............................................................................................................................................... 11 

PASS™ Data Collection Process ............................................................................................................... 12 

Data and Information Request List ......................................................................................................... 13 

Expense Module – Expense Data Import ................................................................................................ 14 

Facility Module - Facility Data Import ..................................................................................................... 15 

THIS SECTION NOT APPLICABLE FOR THIS PROPOSAL ............................................................................ 18 

Course Module - Course Data Import ..................................................................................................... 18 

Membership Module - Membership Data Import .................................................................................. 20 

 

 

 

 

299

Item 33.



 

4 | P a g e  

 

I. SCOPE OF SERVICE – Consultation Services 

Phase I - Organizational Data and Information Collection 

Phase 1 will consist of one (1) or multiple years of historical data and information collection. Below is a 
breakdown of the data collection process (See Appendix A for further information):  
 
• Facility and Membership Data:  

• City of Cedar Falls staff (w/ ePRepSolutions staff assistance) responsible for gathering and 
compiling all Facility and Membership data using the client’s recreation software.  

• Service areas staff (Facility Managers and Supervisors) responsible for approving this data.  

• Projected six (6) weeks with availability and access to staff.  
 
• Expense Data:  

• Finance staff responsible for gathering latest financial data as related to the services that are to 
be analyzed.  

• ePRepSolutions staff will then work with the Finance staff to ensure data “matches” the Facility 
and Membership data.  

• Simultaneously – Projected three (3) weeks) with availability and access to Finance staff.  
 
• Appendix A: 

• Attached is a comprehensive and detailed Data and Information Request List to help guide 
collection and submittal. See Appendix A for list of information needed. The data will be 
compiled using formatted Microsoft Excel® spreadsheets provided by ePRepSolutions that will 
be imported into PASS™.  

 
Phase 1 Requirements:  

• Active participation from service areas and Finance staff  

• City of Cedar Falls Finance staff gathers initial financial data  

• City of Cedar Falls staff gathers (w/ePRepSolutions staff assistance) facility, course and 
memberships data and approves final data set  
 

Scheduling considerations:  

• Approximately six weeks for completion 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

300

Item 33.



 

5 | P a g e  

 

Phase II – PASS™ Tool Build 

After all required data and information has been approved by the organization and submitted to 
ePRepSolutions staff, the process of building PASS™ can begin. While building PASS™ based upon the 
Department’s information and data, ePRepSolutions staff will remain in regular contact with the 
Department’s Project Lead to share development updates, to gain clarification as necessary, and to 
gather further relevant information. These interactions will be conducted via email and/or phone, and 
phone conferencing can be scheduled when deemed appropriate. No On-site meetings are needed 
during Phase 2.  
 
Phase 2 Requirements:  

• City of Cedar Falls staff links their current Service Categories to all services in the Excel Import  

• Intermittent availability of service areas and Finance staff  
 

Scheduling considerations:  

• Starting from submittal of all required data and information; approximately two weeks for 
completion 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

301

Item 33.



 

6 | P a g e  

 

II. PASS™ Process Tool – Pricing and Subsidy Strategy 

 

The PASS™ planning and fiscal management process uses the community’s service objectives and 

organization’s operational budgets along with preferred cost recovery and subsidy levels to determine 

the required fees for rentals, courses, and memberships.  Within the PASS™ process tool, there are 

philosophical decisions to be made inside each module. These management level decisions reflect the 

organization’s preferred pricing, cost recovery and subsidy strategies.   

Pricing and Subsidy Strategy (PASS™) Process Overview 

The PASS™ fiscal planning and management process considers the following when calculating data: 

 

 

(This illustration represents the systematic approach PASS™ follows in aiding organizations in pursuit of a financially sustainable future.) 

302

Item 33.



 

7 | P a g e  

 

III. Deliverables 

During the process, ePRepSolutions, LLC will follow the Scope of Work as presented in this 
proposal. The Scope of Work will result in the following services and deliverables provided to 
the City of Cedar Falls. 

 
• Identification and setup (Excel® spreadsheets) of 2018 & 2019 Facility and Membership parks &  

recreation services for this analysis with supporting data (expenses, breakdown of facilities, breakdown of  
memberships). Including but not limited to: 

• Analysis of Fiscal Year 2018 & 2019 financial, facility and membership data.  
• Suggested Service category organization.  
• Calculating indirect costs.  
• Reallocating indirect costs back into: facilities, programs, and memberships.  
• Detailed breakdown of costs including direct and indirect per service area.  
• Snapshot of current cost recovery/subsidy per service area 

• Complete setup of data within the PASS™ Tool.  

• Comprehensive analysis of all memberships and facilities actual cost of operation w/ direct and indirect  
breakdown. 

• Over 30 reports detailing the cost, the fee at cost recovery, and subsidy of all services analyzed in Excel  
format 

• If desired, ePRepSolutions staff will attend Board, Council, or public meetings to further explain the PASS™  
process via Zoom or web conferencing. * A minimum of two-week notice is needed.  

 

 

IV. Fees 

 
Proposal 1 - Scope Work & Deliverable Reports for Facility & Membership Analysis ……………….… $3,350.00  
Proposal 2 - Scope Work & Deliverable Reports for Facility, Programs & Membership Analysis ……$8,500.00 
 

Note1: The Proposal 1 pricing of this proposal includes all ePRepSolutions staff time needed to complete the scope of this project for 
importing and assisting staff.  
 
Note2: All prices are based on a firm-fixed fee rate. In the event additional services outside of the proposed Scope of Work are 
requested, these services will be billed at $100 per hour.  
 
Note3: Pricing is for consulting services and emailed reports. There is no purchase of software. The reports will be in both PDF and 

XML format. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

303

Item 33.



 

8 | P a g e  

 

V. Proposed Timeline (Proposal 1 only) 

 

Proposed Timeline 2021 May July September November 

Phase I - Organizational Data and 
Information Collection – Six (6) weeks 

Phase I    

Phase II – PASS™ Analytical Tool Build – 
Two (2) weeks 

 Phase II 
  

Deliverables  Sent   

     

 

VI. Firm Overview 
 
ePRepSolutions, LLC is an innovative company whose express purpose is to develop and implement 
integrative systems designed to advance governmental and non-profit fiscal management capacity and 
accountability. ePRepSolutions, LLC is a Coppell, Colorado-based company founded in 2009 by experts in 
the parks and recreation field who identified the need for a more disciplined approach to cost recovery.  
 

ePRepSolutions, LLC - Values 

• Professional Integrity - Relationships based upon trust and candor 

• Exceeding Expectations - Setting a new customer service standard 

• Innovation - Staying ahead of the curve 

• Relevance - Valid to today’s conditions 

 

ePRepSolutions, LLC - Vision  

Leading the way towards financial accountability….INFUSE PHILOSOPHY ABOUT CHANGING THE 
INDUSTRY 

 

ePRepSolutions, LLC - Mission  

ePRepSolutions, LLC, will provide public and non-profit agencies with innovative and relevant fiscal 

management tools and support services, developed based upon contemporary qualitative and 

quantitative indicators, with the intention of grounding organizations in sound fiscal accountability and 

responsibility.   

304

Item 33.



 

9 | P a g e  

 

VII. Qualifications: 

ePRepSolutions, LLC identified the urgent need to help municipal parks and recreation entities across 
the country make logical and defensible management decisions. Given economic and social realities, 
cities across the country are grappling with budget problems brought on by a nationwide financial crisis 
and recession, and ever-changing social circumstances that led many to believe that the systems of 
yesterday are antiquated and ill-equipped to adapt to the community needs of today. As a result, many 
municipal parks and recreation agencies are experiencing unprecedented budget reductions in the midst 
of heightened community expectations.  Regardless of governments’ financial challenges, citizen 
interest has not diminished relative to quality of life services. The belief is that municipal parks and 
recreation, libraries and others that contribute to or enhance the human condition should be sustained 
or expanded to meet the needs and desires of increasingly diverse populations.  Regardless, many 
organizations have had to make difficult decisions due to budget reductions including eliminating 
recreation programs, “mothballing” parks, or permanently divesting of long-held assets.        
It is incumbent upon these entities to develop and adopt cost recovery and subsidy allocation 
philosophies that align with the values of the communities they serve. This should be done while 
adhering to staunch fiscal management guidelines that lead to enhanced financial accountability and a 
greater sense of responsibility to resident taxpayers. 
  
ePRepSolutions’ first product, the Pricing and Subsidy Strategy process (PASS™), was developed in 
response to significant budget reductions, the all-too-common practice of arbitrary pricing, and an 
interest in determining the “true costs of doing business”.  Commonly, many municipal organizations 
consider only direct costs as part of their pricing or fee development equations and have little idea what 
the indirect costs are of each service.  Additionally, many do not know how to incorporate these costs 
into their service pricing or fee development. This is contrary to the private sector’s philosophy of 
determining and accounting for all costs as part of product development and pricing formulas. 
 
PASS™ is, in essence, technical tool designed to account for all costs for each individual service provided 
by an agency.  Its outputs result in accurate pricing (fees) based upon real costs and a pre-determined 
cost recovery or subsidy allocation goal. It integrates all direct and indirect costs from existing fiscal 
management programs.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

305

Item 33.



 

10 | P a g e  

 

VIII. Key Personnel 

Matthew J. Hickey, M.S.M., - Project Manager 

Founder and Managing Member 

Matthew has more than 30 years of functional and operational 
experience in the parks and recreation industry.  In addition to 
his role as Managing Member for ePRepSolutions, LLC, Matthew 
has been the Recreation Computer Systems Manager for the City 
of Boulder Parks and Recreation Department in Boulder, 
Colorado for the past eight years. This position included the 
operational management and overall co-management of CLASS®, 
a proprietary recreation software system (membership, facility 
booking, registration, etc…). Matthew’s duties include 
maintenance of the overall operational structure of the system, 
analysis of data and reporting, administrator of system related 
projects, cross-coordination of the system within the 
Department as well as city-wide, and researching future 
operational improvement methods and management options. It was in the role of Recreation Computer 
Systems Manager that Matthew gained the experience and knowledge to create the Pricing and Subsidy 
Strategy (PASS™) process tool.   
 
Prior to this role, Matthew was a facility manager of the newest and largest recreation facility in the City 
of Boulder Parks and Recreation system, the North Boulder Recreation Center, and spent four years in 
this position.  He has worked in other notable positions such as Operations Director for the Colorado 
Athletics Clubs, a for-profit fitness facility; the Recreation Coordinator and Front Desk Manager for the 
Town of Avon Parks and Recreation Department in Avon, Colorado; and as Front Desk Manager and 
Intern for the City of Boulder Parks and Recreation Department. While working full-time at the Colorado 
Athletic Club, Matthew obtained a Masters in Sports Management from the University of Denver in 
Denver, Colorado.  During Matthew’s second year in the program he was asked to be a guest lecturer for 
first year graduate students in the Sports Management emphasis covering the topic of recreation facility 
design and completion.  
 
Matthew’s expertise is in analysis of financial, facility and program management data and 
interpretation.  Other areas that Matthew has excelled in are municipal and private facility management 
and municipal program coordination; understanding and experience in the design and function of parks 
and recreational facilities and programs; extensive knowledge and application of computer-based 
recreation registration and Point-of-Sale software, and advanced computer office software systems and 
applications.  
 

306

Item 33.



 

11 | P a g e  

 

Appendix A – 
 

Important Terms: 

The effectiveness of the PASS™ software stems from the user’s ability to influence, with careful thought, the range of outputs (fees, 
projected revenues, subsidies, reports) originating from the software.  This is accomplished through the following five areas; 1) 
Service Areas, 2) Service Categories, 3) Management Decisions, 4) Scenarios and 5) Cost vs. Fee.  Each is defined below: 
 

• Service Area:  defined as “a facility (e.g. recreation center), a course or activity area (e.g. Aquatics or Sports), a membership group (e.g. 
outdoor pool or recreation center passes), and/or POS items (e.g. Golf Pro Shop items) provided by the organization”.  There are 1) 
Expense Service Areas (these match to the following), 2) Facility Service Areas, 3) Brochure Service Areas, 4) Pass Service Areas (does not 
need to have a match, optional), and 5) POS Service Areas (Point of Sale, optional). 

 

• Service Categories:  defined as “a predetermined grouping of services with a revenue/subsidy level identified for each Service Area 
offered by the organization”. For example, Skill-based Beginner, Intermediate or Advance for a grouping of courses. 

 

• Management Decisions:  defined as “a data point allowing the organization to predetermine an adjustable variable that affects the fee 
of Service Areas.”  For example, the Service Category of Skill-based Beginner is given a cost recovery level of 65%. 

 

• Scenarios:  defined as “a collection of Management Decisions set in time with the given purpose of allowing for specific reporting to 
Service Area cost analysis”. 

 

• Expense or Cost vs. Fee: Expense or Cost is defined as the “expense to offer the service” whereas the Fee is defined as the “price 
advertised to the public” for the service.  Similarly, Expenses or Costs are the incurred expenses by your department and Fees are what 
you charge the user. 

 

• Direct Expense: Examples - Program/league/ instructors, referees/umpires, lifeguards, materials and supplies, facility use; Facility 
seasonal staffing, utilities, custodial, maintenance.  

 

• Indirect Expense: Examples – Standard Program/Facility staffing, marketing and promotion, HR, IT, Finance, Superintendent, Director. 
 

307

Item 33.



 

12 | P a g e  

 

PASS™ Data Collection Process 

Overview: 

The PASS™ software analyzes historical operational data compiled from a variety of sources. These include but are not limited to: 
financial and/or budgetary software, recreation software and spreadsheets. The historical data that your organization compiles for 
the analysis will be imported into PASS™ via Microsoft Excel® formatted spreadsheets.  
 

1. Expense Module - General Ledger Data Import      

The Expense Module data import information consists of all General Ledger Account1 information for a specific budget year. 
The import is designed to show Service Area direct and indirect expenses. 
 

2. Facility Module - Facility Data Import   

The Facility Module data import necessitates that all facilities that are used for bookings, whether by internal or external 
users, and are a part of the overall budgeting of the organization, are incorporated into the import.  
 

3. Course Module - Course Data Import   

The Course Module data import should contain all previous year Brochure Service Area2  activity and course data, including 
current fees.  In addition, ePRepSolutions’ staff will work with the client to identify Service Category3 classification of each 
Brochure Service Area and if necessary, sub-Program Areas. 
 

4. Membership Module - Membership Data Import  

The Membership Module data import should contain all previous year membership pass and daily drop-in data, including 
fees.    
 

5. POS Module – POS Data Import (Optional – not included in this Scope of Work) 

The POS Module data import should contain all previous year POS item data, including fees. 

 
1 Defines the type of expense category, of a posted amount of budget. Each G/L account represents one item in the entire Chart of Accounts. 
2 Defined as a grouping of specific activities, courses and events.   
3 Predetermined revenue/subsidy level for each Service offered by the client.   

308

Item 33.



 

13 | P a g e  

 

 

Data and Information Request List 

PASS™ is designed to accept Microsoft® Excel data.  You will be asked to submit data to ePRepSolutions in a Microsoft Excel® format 
with the “Column Headings” as shown below (example). This data is imported directly into PASS™.  ePRepSolutions staff will work 
with the client to ensure that the data is complete and accurate.   
 
All data requested by ePRepSolutions that will be imported into the PASS™ software should be formatted to have the column 
headings go from left to right with all data populating the rows.  See example below: 
 

Microsoft® Excel Spreadsheet 

   A B C D E 

Column 
Heading 1 Fiscal Year Expense Category Expense Service Group Expense Service Area Amount 

Data 2 2015 Recreation Recreation Program Aquatics $456,111,.25 

Data 3 2015 Parks Park Facility Community Park $1,546,238.12 

Data 4 2015 Administration Administration General $877,562.25 

 

Data Import Requirements:  

 

• Expense Module – See Page 14 

• Facility (Rental) Module – See Page 15 

• Course Module – See Page 18 (Not applicable for this proposal) 

• Membership Module – See Page 20 

309

Item 33.



 

14 | P a g e  

 

Expense Module – Expense Data Import 

The Expense Module allows for accurate accountability of all organizational costs. This Module allocates the organizations’ overall 
budget to cost centers4 such as administration, facility, service areas, or other determined cost centers. All costs are categorized as 
direct or indirect. Once the Expense Module is completed, all established costs are then automatically applied to subsequent 
software modules.  NOTE – it is critical that any and all “(Expense) Service Areas” have a correlating Facility, Brochure, and POS 
Service Area that matches exactly. For example, if there is an (Expense) Service Area called “Aquatics”, then there must be a 
Brochure Service Area called “Aquatics”. The Pass Service Areas will be imported with all other Service Areas but have an amount of 
$0.00. Additionally, all “Administration” areas will be imported at an amount of $0.00 even if there is not a specific Service Area 
attached to it.  ePRepSolutions staff will compile approximately 80% of the expense data with the remaining compilation work done 
in junction with client staff.  ePRepSolutions will work closely with you to ensure the setup is complete. 
 

The data columns for the Expense Module are as follows: 

Who Column Example Format 

Organization Staff Client City of XXXXX Text 

Organization Staff Fiscal Year 2015 Number 

Organization Staff Expense Service Area Group Recreation Facilities, Park Programs, Recreation Facilities Text 

Organization Staff Service Type (= Module) Facility, Course, Membership, POS Text 

Organization Staff Service Area Aquatics, Dance, Rec Center Text 

Organization Staff Expense Type Direct, Indirect Text 

Organization Staff Amount $126,681.21 Currency 

 

• Expense Service Area Group(s) will be one or any of the following: Admin Park Facility, Admin Park POS Facility, Admin Park POS 
Program, Admin Park Program, Admin Parks, Admin Parks & Rec, Admin Rec, Admin Rec Facility, Admin Rec POS Facility, Admin Rec POS 
Program, Admin Rec Program, Parks Facilities, Recreation Facilities, Recreation Memberships, Recreation Programs, Park POS, 
Recreation POS. 

 
4 A defined area or person to whom direct and indirect expenses are allocated. 

310

Item 33.

http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/person.html
http://www.businessdictionary.com/definition/indirect-cost.html


 

15 | P a g e  

 

 

Facility Module - Facility Data Import 

The Facility Module analyzes previous year facility and expense numbers (data import information), allows for multiple Management Decisions, 
and based on these decisions, determines per hour per unit expense and then fees.   
 

Outputs include the expenses/fees for internal (e.g., organization directed classes, events, etc.) and external facility use (e.g., rentals). The 
Facility Module is developed beginning with the identification of all organization properties which are affected by scheduled use. Properties are 
defined by categories (e.g., aquatics facilities, sports complexes) and by unit(s) (e.g., pool lane line, softball field) allowing for categorical 
financial accounting detail. Facility operating costs are based upon established costs as determined in the Expense Module, and projected fees 
are established based upon sequential Management Decisions5. These projected costs are then automatically applied to the Course Module. 
 

The data columns for the Facility Module are as follows: 

Who Column Example Format 
Organizational staff Client City of XXXX Text 
Organizational staff Fiscal Year 2014 Number 
Organizational staff Service Category Rentals Text 
Organizational staff Facility Category Recreation Centers Text 
Organizational staff Facility Service Area East Community Center Text 
Organizational staff Facility Type Pool Text 
Organizational staff Facility Activity Area Lap Text 
Organizational staff Facility Unit Lane 25 Yards Text 
Organizational staff Facility Unit Count 8 Number 
Organizational staff Facility Unit Service Capacity 4 Number 
Organizational staff Facility Unit Days Open per Year (can average) 360 Number 
Organizational staff Facility Unit Hours Open per Day (can average) 12 Number 
Organizational staff Facility Unit Current Fee $35.00 Currency 
Organizational staff Facility Unit Actual Revenue $2,500.00  Currency 

 
 
 
 
 

 
5 A data point allowing the client to predetermine an adjustable variable that affects the cost of a Service Area. 

311

Item 33.



 

16 | P a g e  

 

Revenues are calculated based upon projected facility rentals and established rental fees. This Module allows the organization to 
input Facility unit Service Capacity numbers and preferred cost recovery or subsidy allocation levels for each facility unit.  As a result, 
projected revenues are established and the remaining facility costs flow into the Courses and Membership Modules.   
The Facility Module is setup to allow you to represent your organizations facilities in a hierarchical format.  Generally, most 
organizations do not represent their organization facilities in this format or to this level of detail.  However, as a part of this process, 
creating this type of format will allow for the most accurate allocation of facility expenses or costs and for reporting.  The table 
below gives examples of this format. 
 

Hierarchical Representation for Cost Allocation & Reporting 

Facility Category = Recreation Centers, Outdoor Pools, Sport Complexes Highest Level 

Facility Service Area = North Recreation Center, South Recreation Center, North Pool, South Pool, North Soccer Field, South Soccer Field   

Facility Type = Multi-purpose Room, Pool, Specialized Room, Sports Fields   

Facility Activity Area = Gym, Lap, Climbing Wall, Soccer Field   

Facility Unit = 1/2 Gym, Lane, Wall, Field   

Facility Unit Count = number of Units Lowest level 

 

Critical Factors for the Facility Module: 

Facility Unit Service Capacity: the number of people the Facility Unit can hold at either the activity size (Facility Unit is a soccer field = 22 for 
11 people per team) or instruction capacity (Learn to Swim course in a Facility Unit of a leisure pool pod = 4 people due to instruction 
level).  This is not fire code capacity but “who you charge” to use the facility. 

 

 

 

 

 

312

Item 33.



 

17 | P a g e  

 

Sample Facility Table:  Sample breakdown of a facility for the Facility Module 

Facility Category Title Facility Service Area Facility Type Facility Activity Area Facility Unit Facility Unit Count Facility Unit Service Capacity 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Multipurpose Child Care Room Room 1 25 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Multipurpose Fitness Room 5 40 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Specialized Facility Gymnastics Room Pod Gymnastics 9 10 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Specialized Facility Weight Room Pod Wt Rm 1 10 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Sports Complex Gymnasium Half Gym 2 30 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Sports Complex Racquetball Court 1 2 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Swimming Pool Lap Lane 8 4 
Recreation Centers North Recreation Center Swimming Pool Leisure Pod Leisure 5 10 

Sample Facility Diagram: 

 

313

Item 33.



 

18 | P a g e  

 

THIS SECTION NOT APPLICABLE FOR THIS PROPOSAL 

Course Module - Course Data Import  
 

The Course Module accounts for the direct and indirect costs of managing your organization’s park and recreation programs then 
attaches (if determined) facility use costs (additional direct costs) to each course.  Proposed fees for each course, class, activity or 
event are determined based upon Service Categories6  and the organization’s preferred cost recovery or subsidy allocation level.  
The other critical factors that go into the “per person per course” costs are 1) the minimum number of participants per course, 2) 
the number of total hours the course is offered and 3) where the course is held (what facility).  These three critical decisions, among 
others, are made prior to importing the data into PASS™ and thus are mentioned to alert you to this issue. 
 
Critical Factors for the Course Module: 

• The Minimum # of Participants should be based on things like facility unit capacity, instruction level, ability level and/or pieces of 
equipment used.  The course costs, thus fee, will be based off the minimum # of participants.  This assumption is used to forecast the 
projected revenue for the course.   

• The Current Resident Fee should be the lowest non-discounted fee charged for the course.  Generally, this is the resident fee. 

• Offsite Courses: For courses, activities or events that are not held at your facilities, the software accepts the terminology “Offsite”.  For 
example, there is an activity called “Senior Trips” where participants take a bus to a museum.  For any course, activity or event where 
this is the case, you will insert the term Offsite in each of the Facility Areas in the Course Module.  If there is an expense to use an Offsite 
facility, it should be accounted for in the Expense Module as a part of the larger Service Area. 

• Organizational Use of Facilities: The facilities that you list in the Course Module must match exactly to the Facility Module across all 
facility categories (Facility Category, Facility Service Area, Facility Type, Facility Activity Area and Facility Unit).  There can be more 
facilities in the Facility Module then in the Course Module but there cannot be a facility in the Course Module that is not in the Facility 
Module (use the term “Offsite” for any facility that is not a part of your organization).  At this time, the PASS™ software does not handle 
a course using multiple facilities.  Please use the facility where “most” of the hours are used and/or the facility that has the highest 
costs. 

 

 
6 A predetermined revenue/subsidy level for each Service offered by the client.   

314

Item 33.



 

19 | P a g e  

 

 

 

The data columns for the Course Module are as follows: 

Who Column  Example Format 
Organizational staff Client City of XXXX Text 
Organizational staff Fiscal Year 2014 Number 
Organizational staff Service Category Skill-based Text 
Organizational staff Session Spring Text 
Organizational staff Brochure Service Area Aquatics Text 
Organizational staff Brochure Service Sub-Area Swim Lessons Text 
Organizational staff Barcode  107949 Number 
Organizational staff Activity Title Swim: Swim Lessons 16+  Text 
Organizational staff Course Title  Adult Group Lesson Text 
Organizational staff Days  Tue, Thurs Text 
Organizational staff Start Time  5:00 PM Time 
Organizational staff End Time  6:00 PM Time 
Organizational staff Class Count (times met) 5 Number 
Organizational staff Minimum Participants 5 Number 
Organizational staff Maximum Participants 10 Number 
Organizational staff Waitlist Participants 1 Number 
Organizational staff Registered Participants 6 Number 
Organizational staff Resident Current Fee $25.00 Currency 
Organizational staff Course Actual Revenue $150.00 Currency 
Organizational staff Facility Category Recreation Centers Text 
Organizational staff Facility Service Area East Community Center Text 
Organizational staff Facility Type  Pool Text 
Organizational staff Facility Activity Area  Lap Text 
Organizational staff Facility Unit  Lane 25-yards Text 
Organizational staff Number of Units Used 2 Number 

 

 

 

315

Item 33.



 

20 | P a g e  

 

Membership Module - Membership Data Import  

 

The Membership Module receives the remaining costs (Expenses Yet To Be Recovered or EYTBR) from the Facility and Course 
Modules (these expenses are predetermined by Management Decisions). Your organization can choose to recover these remaining 
costs entirely through memberships and drop-in use (therefore, 100% cost recovery), or recover a percentage with remaining costs 
subsidized. Membership/drop-in fees are calculated based upon multiple sequential Management Decisions including preferred cost 
recovery and subsidy allocation. 
 
Critical Factors for the Membership Module: 

• The Facility Category should match a Facility Category that you have in the Facility Module.   

• Pass Service Area Exception: In all other modules, the Expense Service Area from the Expense Module needs to have a corresponding 
Facility, Brochure or POS Service Area to match it.  The exception to this rule is in the Membership Module.  The Pass Service Area 
receives its expense allocation from the subsidies of the Facility and Course Modules.  This is a Management Decision.  See below: 

 

Facility/Course Allocation Management Decision Example  

  

Management Decision - Percent to Allocate 
to Pass Service Areas Pass Service Area Expenses 

Facility Service Areas EYTBR (Remaining Subsidies) Recreation Passes Pool Passes Recreation Passes Pool Passes 

North Recreation Center $1,000,000 100% 0% $1,000,000 $0 

North Outdoor Pool $500,000 0% 100% $0 $500,000 

South Sport Complex $200,000 50% 0% $100,000 $0 

South Park $1,500,000 10% 0% $150,000 $0 

Brochure Service Areas EYTBR (Remaining Subsidies) Recreation Passes Pool Passes Recreation Passes Pool Passes 

Aquatics $250,000 25% 25% $62,500 $62,500 

Fitness $50,000 25% 0% $12,500 $0 

Sports $150,000 25% 0% $37,500 $0 

Yoga $25,000 25% 0% $6,250 $0 

Totals $7,300,000     $2,487,500 $1,012,500 

316

Item 33.



 

21 | P a g e  

 

 

The data columns for the Membership Module are as follows: 

Who Column Example Format 

Organizational staff Client City of XXXX Text 
Organizational staff Fiscal Year 2014 Number 
Organizational staff Service Category Monitored Access Text 
Organizational staff Facility Category  Recreation Centers Text 
Organizational staff Pass Service Area General Text 
Organizational staff Pass Plan  Daily Visit Text 
Organizational staff Pass Type  Adult, Youth, Swim Text 
Organizational staff Pass Type Capacity 1,2,3,4 Number 
Organizational staff Pass Term  Daily, Annual, Monthly Text 
Organizational staff Pass Term Length7 1, 105, 8 Number 
Organizational staff Visits/Sales Previous Year 51776 Number 
Organizational staff Pass Current Fee $10.00 Currency 
Organizational staff Pass Actual Revenue $25,365.25 Currency 

 
7 Pass Term Length  - the Pass Term Length is generally based on “two visits per week”, thus 105 visits is used for an annual pass, 8 visits for a monthly pass, 
etc…. 

317

Item 33.



 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

This page left intentionally blank. 

318

Item 33.



ADMINISTRATION 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
 

  

   

 

 

 
 

  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Shane Graham, Economic Development Coordinator 

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Contract for Cultural Resources Identification Survey (CRIS) 
 
 
One of the growing trends in the industrial site location business is the demand for 
project-ready sites. Companies that are looking to build new facilities want sites that are 
ready to go and that come with little risk. Based on this trend, the Iowa Economic 
Development Authority (IEDA) began offering a Certified Site Program, with the 
assistance of a national site selection consulting firm. This program is designed with 
questionnaires and required support documentation, much like what would be required 
for an actual site selection project. By having a certified industrial park through this 
program, it will show businesses and site consultants that the due diligence has been 
completed and that the park is ready for development.  
 
The City began going through the Certified Site Program with IEDA several months ago. 
The program consists of three phases: initial qualification, site evaluation, and site 
certification. The city has completed the first two phases, and has moved onto the third 
and final phase of the program. The third phase is the most intensive phase, requiring 
documentation such as an environmental assessment, wetlands delineation, 
geotechnical report, threatened and endangered species report, and cultural resources 
identification survey. The city has all of these documents and reports for this phase, 
except for the cultural resources identification survey. Therefore, the city will need to 
hire a consultant to complete this survey as part of the requirements of phase three. 
 
Staff contacted a number of companies for quotes to prepare the cultural resources 
identification survey for the Certified Site Program, and three quotes were obtained: 
 

Bear Creek Archeology, Inc. $8,150.00 

Impact 7G $11,225.00 

Wapsi Valley Archeology, Inc. $23,861.15 

 
Attached for your approval is the Form of Contract from Bear Creek Archeology, Inc. 
 
Staff recommends approving and executing the contract with Bear Creek Archeology, 
Inc. for the cultural resources identification survey. It is anticipated that the survey will 
begin within 10 days of a notice to proceed by the City, and will be completed within 

319

Item 34.



several weeks. Once the report is received, it will be submitted to IEDA as part of phase 
three of the Certified Site Program, and will also be sent to the State Historical 
Preservation Office (SHPO) for their review and concurrence. 
 
If you have any questions regarding this project, please feel free to let me know. 
 
xc: Ron Gaines, P.E., City Administrator 
 

320

Item 34.



1 
 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

GENERAL TERMS AND CONDITIONS 

SERVICE/PRODUCT AGREEMENTS 

 

This Agreement is by and between _Bear Creek Archeology, Inc.____ (“Contractor”) and the City of Cedar Falls, 

Iowa (“City”), and is to be effective on the date last signed by the Contractor or the City below. 

1.0.       Contractor’s Services 

1.1.       Contractor’s services shall consist only of the those services and/or products provided or supplied by 

Contractor as defined in this Agreement and as listed on Exhibit “A” attached.  (“Services” or “Scope of Services”) 

1.2.       Contractor shall not commence or perform any work outside the Scope of Services unless and until 

authorized in writing by the City.  No changes to the Scope of Services shall be valid unless agreed to by both the 

Contractor and the City in writing.  Any work performed or expenses incurred by the Contractor shall be conclusively 

presumed to be part of the Scope of Services unless a written change order covering such work, and the cost of such 

work, has been agreed to in advance.  If Exhibit “A” includes provisions for contingent services, such services shall 

not be performed until written authorization is given by the City.  

1.3.       Contractor shall assign qualified and experienced personnel to perform the Services, and Contractor hereby 

warrants to the City that Contractor has sufficient experience and financial resources to complete the Services 

required by this Agreement.  Where the Scope of Services identifies particular personnel who shall perform the 

Services, such personnel shall remain assigned to provide the Services throughout the term of this Agreement, 

unless otherwise approved in writing by the City.  In the event that such particular personnel must be replaced, 

Contractor agrees to replace such particular personnel with persons of equivalent or better qualifications, as 

approved by the City. 

1.4.       Contractor shall perform the Services in a timely manner and in accordance with any schedule set forth in 

Exhibit “A”.  The Contractor and the City agree that time is of the essence with respect to Contractor’s performance 

under this Agreement.         

1.5.       Contractor warrants that its fulfillment of this Agreement will not infringe on or misappropriate the rights of any 

third party, and that the Contractor has the complete right and full authority to convey ownership of the Services to 

the City.  Contractor shall obtain all required governmental and third-party licenses, approvals and permits for the 

provision of Services, at Contractor’s cost. 

1.6.       The person signing this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor represents and warrants that the person has 

full and sufficient authority to execute this Agreement on behalf of the Contractor. 

2.0.       Compensation 

2.1.       All bids and prices shall be shown in U.S. Dollars.  All prices must remain firm for the duration of this 

Agreement. 

2.2.       After inspection (if applicable) and acceptance by the City of Services, City shall pay Contractor in 

accordance with the payment terms set forth in Exhibit “B”.  The maximum amount of all payments for Services shall 

be the amount set forth in Exhibit “B”, unless additional Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, in which 

case the maximum amount of all payments shall be adjusted accordingly.   

2.3.       Following acceptance of Services by the City, payment shall be made to the Contractor within thirty (30) days 

of receipt of a proper invoice.  The invoice shall include vendor name, vendor number, invoice number, invoice date, 

321

Item 34.



2 
 

total amount to be paid, account number, and project number, and shall be mailed or emailed to the authorized 

representative of the City listed below, at the address listed below. 

2.4.       Expenses shall not be reimbursed to the Contractor unless specifically described in Exhibit “B”. 

2.5.       If services in addition to the Scope of Services are agreed upon as set forth in Section 1.2, Contractor must 

provide a separate invoice for such additional services before payment will be made. 

2.6.       If the City fails to make any payment when due to the Contractor, the Contractor may charge the City interest 

on the unpaid balance at the rate of 5% per annum until paid.  In addition, Contractor may, after giving seven (7) days 

written notice to the City, suspend services under this Agreement until such unpaid balance is paid in full. 

2.7.       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement, the City may withhold payment to Contractor for 

faulty Services, or if the City is advised of liens or other claims against any Services, including products. 

3.0.       Taxes. 

3.1.       The City is exempt from all federal, State of Iowa, and other states’ taxes on the purchase of products and 

services used by the City within the State of Iowa.  The City shall provide tax exemption certification as required.   

3.2.       Any charges for taxes from which the City is exempt will be deducted from invoices before payment is made.  

4.0.       Ownership and Use of Documents 

4.1.       All Services to be provided under this Agreement, and any invention, improvement, discovery, or innovation 

(whether or not patentable) made, conceived or actually reduced to practice by Contractor in the performance of the 

Scope of Services in this Agreement will be owned exclusively by the City, including all proprietary and intellectual 

property rights.  To the extent not automatically vested in the City, Contractor hereby assigns to the City all right, title 

and interest in and to the Services, including, without limitation, copyright, patent and trade secret rights.  Upon the 

City’s request, Contractor shall execute any additional documents necessary for the City to perfect such ownership 

rights.   

4.2.       Notwithstanding Section 4.1, Contractor retains ownership of its pre-existing and proprietary materials and 

other intellectual property that may be incorporated into the Services. 

4.3.       Copies of City furnished data that may be relied upon by Contractor are limited to the printed copies (also 

known as hard copies) that are delivered to the Contractor.  Files in electronic media format of text, data, graphics, or 

of other formats that are furnished by the City to the Contractor are only for the convenience of the Contractor.  Any 

conclusion or information obtained or derived from such electronic files will be at the Contractor’s sole risk. 

4.4.       During the term of this Agreement and following completion or termination of the Agreement, the Contractor 

and any authorized Subcontractors shall maintain all accounting records and other documentation generated in 

providing Services under this Agreement.  The City or its designee shall be allowed to have access to such 

information for the purpose of inspection, audit and copying during normal business hours for a period of five (5) 

years after the final payment by the City, termination of this Agreement, or resolution of all matters under this 

Agreement, whichever date is latest.  No additional compensation shall be paid to Contractor for such retention or 

inspection by the City or designee.  

5.0.       Termination. 

5.1.       The City may terminate this Agreement at any time for its convenience by giving written notice to the 

Contractor of such termination and specifying the effective date of the termination, at least thirty (30) calendar days 

before the effective date of termination.  In that event, all finished or unfinished Services, reports and materials 

prepared or furnished by the Contractor shall, at the option of the City, become the City’s property.  If the Agreement 

is terminated by the City as provided herein, the Contractor shall be paid for all Services which have been authorized, 

322

Item 34.



3 
 

approved and provided up to the effective date of termination.  The City will not be subject to any termination fees 

from the Contractor. 

5.2.       Either party may terminate this Agreement upon seven (7) calendar days written notice in the event that the 

other party fails to substantially perform in accordance with the terms of this Agreement through no fault of the party 

initiating the termination. 

6.0.       Warranties. 

6.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that Services shall be performed in a manner consistent with the 

standard of care of other professional service providers in a similar industry and application.   

6.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that products delivered as part of the Scope of Services, including each 

component, shall be free of defects and shall conform to the quality standards of the applicable industry and shall 

meet in all respects the requirements of the Scope of Services.  If any defect or sign of deterioration is identified by 

the City within one year after delivery which is not due to the acts or omissions of the City, Contractor shall, within 15 

days after notification by the City, at Contractor’s expense, repair, adjust or replace such items to the complete 

satisfaction of the City.  

6.3.       Contractor shall be responsible for the quality, technical accuracy, completeness and coordination of all 

Services under this Agreement.  Contractor shall promptly and without charge, provide all corrective work necessary 

as a result of Contractor’s acts, errors or omissions with respect to the quality and accuracy of Contractor’s Services. 

6.4.       Contractor shall be responsible for any and all damages to property or persons as a result of Contractor’s 

acts, errors or omissions in performing the Services under this Agreement, and for any losses or costs to repair or 

remedy any Services undertaken by the City as a result of any such acts, errors or omissions. 

6.5.       Contractor’s obligations shall exist without regard to, and shall not be construed to be waived by, the 

availability or unavailability of any insurance, either by the City or by the Contractor.  None of the provisions of this 

Agreement shall be construed as a limitation on the City’s right to seek recovery of damages it suffers as a result of 

Contractor’s fault or breach. 

7.0.       Warranties – Intellectual Property.   

7.1.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services produced or provided to the City do not infringe upon 

any copyright, trademark, trade name, trade dress patent, statutory, common law or any other right of any person or 

entity. 

7.2.       Contractor represents and warrants that the Services, and the City’s use of the same, and the exercise by the 

City of the rights granted by this Agreement, shall not infringe upon any other work or violate the rights of publicity or 

privacy of, or constitute a libel or slander against, any person or entity. 

7.3.       Contractor represents and warrants that it is the owner of or otherwise has the right to use and distribute the 

Services contemplated by this Agreement. 

8.0.       Disputes. 

8.1.       Should any dispute arise with respect to this Agreement, the parties agree to act immediately to resolve such 

dispute.  Time is of the essence in the resolution of disputes. 

8.2.       Contractor agrees that, the existence of a dispute notwithstanding, it will continue without delay to carry out 

all of its responsibilities under this Agreement that are not affected by the dispute and the City shall continue to make 

payment for all Services that are performed in conformance with this Agreement.  Should the Contractor fail to 

continue to perform its responsibilities regarding all non-disputed Services, without delay, any additional costs 

incurred by the City or the Contractor as a result of such failure to proceed shall be borne by the Contractor. 

323

Item 34.



4 
 

8.3.       Should any dispute between the parties remain unresolved, the parties mutually agree to engage in 

mediation prior to the filing of suit by either party.  The cost of mediation shall be divided equally between the parties 

except that each party shall be responsible for that party’s own expenses and attorney fees associated with 

mediation.  The City shall not engage in arbitration of any dispute. 

9.0.       Indemnification. 

9.1.       Contractor (including, for purposes of this Section, Contractor’s agents, employees, subcontractors or others 

working on behalf of Contractor) shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City and its elected and appointed 

officers, its employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, from any and all liability, loss, cost, damage and 

expense (including reasonable attorney fees and court costs) resulting from, arising out of, or related in any way to 

any claims, demands, actions or suits based upon or alleging personal injury, including bodily injury or death, and 

property damages, arising out of or in any way connected or associated with the Contractor’s performance under this 

Agreement. 

9.2.       Contractor’s duty of indemnification and to hold harmless includes, but is not limited to, Contractor’s breach 

or alleged breach of the warranties found in Sections 6.0 and 7.0 above, and shall survive the termination of this 

Agreement. 

9.3.       It is specifically agreed between the parties that this Agreement is not intended to create in the public or any 

member of the public third party beneficiary status or to authorize anyone not a party to this Agreement to maintain a 

suit for personal injuries or property damage.        

10.0.       Insurance. 

Contractor shall at all times during the performance of this Agreement maintain insurance as set forth in Exhibit “C”.  

The City may at any time during the term of this Agreement require proof of such insurance. 

11.0.       Compliance with Laws and Regulations. 

11.1.       Contractor certifies that in performing this Agreement it will comply with all applicable provisions of federal, 

state and local laws, ordinances, rules, licenses and regulations. 

11.2.       Contractor is responsible for determining which products are considered to be hazardous chemicals under 

applicable standards and to provide the most current Safety Data Sheet (“SDS”) with the initial shipment of such 

chemicals.  Failure by Contractor to do so may be considered by the City to be delivery of a defective product and its 

delivery may be refused.  It is also the Contractor’s responsibility to provide to the City any updated or revised SDS 

as it becomes available for any such hazardous chemicals sold and delivered to the City. 

12.0.       Independent Contractor. 

Both parties shall act in their individual capacities in the performance of this Agreement and not as agents, 

employees, partners, joint ventures or associates of one another.  The employees or agents of one party shall not be 

deemed or construed to be the employees or agents of the other for any purpose whatsoever. 

13.0.       Non-Collusion. 

13.1.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has employed any person to solicit or 

procure this Agreement, nor will the Contractor make any payment or agreement for payment of any compensation in 

connection with the solicitation or procurement of this Agreement. 

13.2.       Contractor agrees that there is no agreement, arrangement or understanding expressed or implied, 

contemplating any division of compensation for Services provided under this Agreement, or in the participation in 

such Services, directly or indirectly, by any person or entity, except as provided in this Agreement.  

324

Item 34.



5 
 

13.3.       Neither the Contractor, nor anyone acting on behalf of Contractor, has either directly or indirectly entered 

into any agreement, arrangement or understanding to collude or otherwise take any action in restraint of free 

competitive procurement in connection with this Agreement. 

14.0.       Nondiscrimination and Equal Opportunity. 

14.1.       Contractor will not discriminate against any employee or applicant for employment because of race, sex, 

color, creed, national origin, marital or familial status, religion, age, disability, sexual orientation, gender identity, 

genetic information or veteran status, or any other classification protected by federal, state, or local law, except where 

age or sex is an essential bona fide occupational requirement, or where disability is a bona fide occupational 

disqualification.   

14.2.       Contractor shall inform all subcontractors and agents performing under this Agreement of this 

nondiscrimination and equal opportunity requirement and shall take reasonable steps to ensure their compliance with 

the same. 

15.0.       No Conflict of Interest, 

Contractor represents, warrants and covenants that no relationship exists or will exist during the term of this 

Agreement that is a conflict of interest under Iowa law.  No employee, officer or agent of the Contractor shall 

participate in the procurement or performance of this Agreement if a conflict of interest exists as to such person.  

Should a conflict of interest arise during the term of this Agreement for Contractor or any employee, officer or agent of 

Contractor, Contractor shall immediately notify the City, in which case this Agreement may be terminated and any 

excess costs incurred by the City due to such termination shall be paid by Contractor or deducted from any sums yet 

due to Contractor. 

16.0.       Force Majeure. 

16.1.       Force majeure shall be any of the following events:  acts of God or the public enemy; compliance with any 

order, rule, regulation, decree, or request of any governmental authority or agency or person purporting to act as 

such; acts of war, public disorder, rebellion, terrorism, or sabotage; floods, hurricanes, or other storms; strikes or 

labor disputes; or any other cause, whether or not of the class or kind specifically named or referred to in this 

Agreement which is not within the reasonable control of the party affected.  A delay in or failure of performance by 

either party shall not constitute a default in performance nor be the basis for, or give rise to, any claim for damages, if 

and to the extent such delay or failure is caused by force majeure. 

16.2.       The party who is prevented from performing by force majeure shall be obligated, within a period not to 

exceed fourteen (14) calendar days after the occurrence or detection of any such event, to provide notice to the other 

party setting forth in reasonable detail the nature thereof and the anticipated extent of the delay, and shall remedy 

such cause as soon as reasonably possible, as mutually agreed between the parties. 

16.3.       If a remedy to an event of force majeure cannot be agreed upon within a reasonable amount of time, this 

Agreement may be terminated by either party. 

17.0.       Assignment. 

No rights under this Agreement may be assigned or transferred by Contractor without the prior written consent of the 

City.  The benefits of this Agreement may inure to Contractor’s assigns, transferees, or successors in interest if 

approved by the City in writing in advance, and if such assignee, transferees or successors agree in writing to be 

bound by the terms of this Agreement. 

18.0.       Governing Law.   

18.1.       This Agreement shall be governed, interpreted and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of 

Iowa, regardless of choice of law principles. 

325

Item 34.



6 
 

18.2.       Venue for any dispute under this Agreement shall be the District Court in and for Black Hawk County, Iowa.        

 

19.0.       Discrepancy.   

In the event that there are any discrepancies or differences between any terms or conditions of the Contractor’s bid or 

quote and this Agreement, this Agreement shall prevail, even if the Contractor’s bid or quote is incorporated into this 

Agreement. 

20.0       Public Record. 

20.1.      This Agreement as well as Contractor’s bid or quote and all documents submitted with any such bid or quote 

shall become public documents subject to Iowa Code Chapter 22, the Iowa Open Records Law.  By submitting the 

bid or quote or any document to the City in connection with such bid or quote, the submitting party recognizes this 

and waives any claim against the City, its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and agents working on 

behalf of the City, relating to the release of any bid or document submitted. 

20.2.       Each submitting party shall hold the City and its elected and appointed officers, and its employees, and 

agents working on behalf of the City, harmless from any claims arising from the release of any document or 

information made available to the City related to or arising from the bidding or quoting process. 

20.3.       Notwithstanding Sections 20.1 and 20.2, protection from disclosure may apply to those elements of any 

submittal that may be a trade secret, or confidential or proprietary information.  Should the submitting party wish to 

designate submittals as such, they must be clearly and prominently marked.  The City shall make no determination as 

to whether or not such documents are protected from disclosure under Iowa Code Chapter 22.  Rather, the City shall 

endeavor to notify the submitter of any request for such information and the submitter shall be solely responsible for 

asserting exemption from disclosure by obtaining a court order.  As long as the City makes a good faith effort to notify 

the submitter of a request for such information, the City and the City’s elected and appointed officers, the City’s 

employees, and agents working on behalf of the City, shall not be liable for any damages resulting from such 

disclosure, whether such disclosure is deemed required by law, by an order of court or administrative agency, or 

occurs through inadvertence, mistake, or negligence.  

21.0.       Debarment. 

21.1.       Contractor hereby certifies, pursuant to 48 CFR Part 9, that neither it nor its principals are presently 

debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in this 

Agreement by any federal agency. 

21.2.       Contractor further certifies that it is not presently debarred, suspended, proposed for debarment, declared 

ineligible, or voluntarily excluded from participation in any contracts with the City or with the State of Iowa. 

22.0.       Entire Agreement. 

22.1.       This Agreement, and Exhibits, which are incorporated into this Agreement by this reference, contains the 

entire agreement and understanding by and between the parties with respect to the subject matter, and no 

representations, promises, agreements, or understandings, written or verbal, not contained in this Agreement, shall 

be of any force or effect. 

22.2.       No change, modification or waiver of this Agreement shall be valid or binding unless the same is in writing 

and signed by the party against whom such change, modification or waiver is sought to be enforced. 

23.0.       Additional Terms. 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

326

Item 34.



7 
 

____________________________________________________________________________________________ 

 

24.0.       Notices. 

Any notice required to be given under this Agreement and any authorization required to be provided shall be given or 

provided to: 

City:                                                                                               Contractor: 

Name: _Shane Graham__________                                           Name: Derek V. Lee______________________ 

Title: _Economic Development Coordinator                                 Title: _President_________________________ 

Address: _220 Clay Street__________                                       Address: _PO Box 347____________________ 

             _Cedar Falls, IA 50613______                                                       _Cresco, IA  52136_______________ 

Telephone: _319-268-5160__________                                       Telephone: 563-547-4545_________________ 

Email: _shane.graham@cedarfalls.com                                        Email: derek@bearcreekarcheology.com ____  

 

In Witness Whereof, the City and the Contractor have caused this Agreement to be executed as of the last date listed 

below. 

 

CONTRACTOR 

Bear Creek Archeology, Inc. ______________________ 

By: __________________________________________ 

Its: _President___________________________________                    Date: June 2, 2021____________ 

 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 

 

By: __________________________________ 

        Robert M. Green, Mayor 

 

Attest: ________________________________                                      Date: _____________________ 

             Jacqueline Danielsen, MMC, City Clerk  

                                 

    

327

Item 34.



EXHIBIT A – SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 

Whenever used in this Contract the following terms shall have the meaning given as follows:  

City shall mean the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. Consultant shall mean Bear Creek Archeology, 

Inc. Project Manager shall mean Shane Graham, who is the designated coordinator and 

administrator for the Services under this project. 
 

The Consultant shall, at its sole cost and expense, provide, perform and complete in the  

manner described and specified in this Contract all necessary services, transportation, 

equipment, materials, apparatus, information, data and other items necessary to accomplish 

the Project as defined  below, in accordance with the Scope of Services (hereinafter 

"Services"). The Services will also include procuring and furnishing all approvals and 

authorizations, permits, and certificates and policies of insurance as specified herein 

necessary to complete the Project. 
 

1.0 Scope of Services 
 

1.1 Phase I Cultural Resources Identification Survey 
 

a) The Phase I survey shall include the fieldwork, data review, analyses, report 
preparation, and all other tasks to complete the Phase I survey. 

 

1.2 Architectural History Survey (Intensive and Reconnaissance) 
 

a) An intensive historic architectural survey shall be completed on the one 
property abutting the certification site. 

b) A reconnaissance level architectural review shall be completed for all 
properties within ¼ mile of the certification site. 

 

2.0 Compensation 
 

Consultant shall be compensated according to the following terms, established 
according to pricing shown below: 

 

Description Firm Fixed Price 

Upon Completion $8,150.00 
 

** Pricing is fixed, as long as the scope of work is not changed. 
 

3.0 Schedule/Timeline 
 

3.1 Fieldwork shall begin within 10 days of a notice to proceed issued by City. 
3.2 Report preparation shall begin once fieldwork is completed. Report shall be sent to 

City within 30 days. 
 

328

Item 34.



08-24-2020 

 
INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS FOR 

CONTRACTORS FOR THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS 
 

 
*** This document outlines the insurance requirements for all Contractors who 
perform work for the City of Cedar Falls. The term “contractor” as used in this 
document shall be defined as any person or entity that will be performing work for 
the City of Cedar Falls under contract. 
 
 
1.  All policies of insurance required hereunder shall be with an insurer 
authorized by law to do business in Iowa.  All insurance policies shall be with 
companies satisfactory to the City and have a rating of A-, VII or better in the 
current A.M. Best Rating Guide.   
 
2. All Certificates of Insurance required hereunder shall include the 
Cancellation & Material Change Endorsement.  A copy of this endorsement is 
attached in Attachment 1. 
 
3.  Contractor shall furnish a signed Certificate of Insurance to the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa for the coverage required in Attachment 1.  Such Certificate 
shall include copies of the following endorsements: 
 

a) Commercial General Liability policy is primary and non-contributing 
b) Commercial General Liability additional insured endorsement – See 

Attachment 1 
c) Governmental Immunities Endorsement – See Attachment 1 

 
Copies of additional insured endorsements, executed by an authorized 
representative from an Insurer duly authorized to transact business at the 
location of the jobsite, must be provided prior to the first payment under this 
contract.    
 
Contractor shall, upon request by the City, provide Certificates of Insurance for 
all subcontractors and sub-sub contractors who perform work or services 
pursuant to the provisions of this contract. 
 
4. Each certificate shall be submitted to the City of Cedar Falls. 
 
5. Failure to provide minimum coverage shall not be deemed a waiver of 
these requirements by the City of Cedar Falls. Failure to obtain or maintain the 
required insurance shall be considered a material breach of this contract.   
 
6. Failure of the Contractor to maintain the required insurance shall 
constitute a default under this contract, and at City’s option, shall allow City to 

329

Item 34.

GrahamS
Typewritten text
Exhibit B



 

terminate this contract for cause and/or purchase said insurance at contractor’s 
expense. 
 
7. Contractor shall be required to carry the following minimum 
coverage/limits, or greater if required by law or other legal agreement; as per 
Attachment 1: 
 

 This coverage shall be written on an occurrence, not claims made form, 
except for errors and omissions coverage, if required, which shall be 
written on a claims made form. All deviations or exclusions from the 
standard ISO commercial general liability form CG 001 shall be clearly 
identified and shall be subject to review and approval of the City.  

 
 Contractor shall maintain ongoing CGL coverage for at least 2 years 

following substantial completion of the services called for in this contract to 
cover liability arising from the products-completed operations hazard and 
liability assumed under an insured contract.    

 
 Governmental Immunity endorsement identical or equivalent to the form  

in Attachment 1. 
 

 Additional Insured Requirement – See Attachment 1. 
The City of Cedar Falls, and its elected and appointed officials, all its 
employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities 
and their board members, employees and volunteers shall be named as 
an additional insured on General Liability Policies for all classes of 
contractors. 
 
Contractors shall include coverage for the City of Cedar Falls as an 
additional insured including ongoing and completed operations coverage 
equivalent to: ISO CG 20 10 07 04* and ISO CG 20 37 07 04** 
 

*  ISO CG 20 10 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 
Contractors – Scheduled Person or Organization” 

  
 ** ISO CG 20 37 07 04 “Additional Insured – Owners, Lessees or 

Contractors – Completed Operations” 
 
9.        Errors and Omissions:  If the Contractor’s scope of services includes 
design work or other professional services, then Contractor shall maintain 
insurance coverage for errors, omissions and other negligent acts or omissions 
(except for intentional acts or omissions), arising out of the professional services 
performed by Contractor.  Contractor shall maintain continuous errors and 
omissions coverage for a period commencing no later than the date of this 
contract, and continuing for a period of no less than two (2) years from the date 
of completion of all work completed or services performed under this contract, 

330

Item 34.



 

and acceptance of same by the City.  The limit of liability under such coverage 
shall not be less than $1,000,000 per claim and in the aggregate.    
 
10. Separation of Insured’s Provision: If Contractor’s liability policies do not 
contain the standard ISO separation of insured’s provision, or a substantially 
similar clause, they shall be endorsed to provide cross-liability coverage. 
 
11. Limits: By requiring the insurance as set forth in this contract, City does 
not represent that coverage and limits will necessarily be adequate to protect 
Contractor and such coverage and limits shall not be deemed as a limitation on 
Contractor’s liability under this contract.  The City retains the right at any time to 
require liability insurance greater or lesser than that otherwise specified in this 
Exhibit and Attachment 1.   If greater or lesser liability insurance limits are 
required, the same shall be stated on the attached General Terms and 
Conditions document.  
 
12. Performance and Payment Bonds: The City shall have the right to require 
the Contractor to furnish performance and payment bonds for the full amount of 
the Contract price.  The Contractor shall furnish, by a surety and in a form 
satisfactory to the City, such bonds to the City, prior to the start of Contractor’s 
work, covering the performance of the Contractor and the payment of all 
obligations arising hereunder.  The nature and extent of any such required 
bond(s) shall be included in the request for bids or proposals.  The Contractor, 
upon receipt of the bonds and invoice from the surety, shall pay for the cost of 
said bonds. Additional bond premium costs due to modifications to this contract, 
shall be included in the modification amount submitted by Contractor, and paid 
by Contractor.  
 
13. Waiver of Subrogation: To the extent permitted by law, Contractor hereby 
releases the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, its elected and appointed officials, its 
directors, employees, agents and volunteers working on behalf of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa, from and against any and all liability or responsibility to the 
Contractor or anyone claiming through or under the Contractor by way of 
subrogation or otherwise, for any loss or damage to property caused by fire or 
any other casualty and for any loss due to bodily injury to Contractor’s 
employees. This provision shall be applicable and in full force and effect only with 
respect to loss or damage occurring during the time of this contract or arising out 
of the work performed under this contract. The Contractor’s policies of insurance 
shall contain a clause or endorsement to the effect that such release shall not 
adversely affect or impair such policies or prejudice the right of the Contractor to 
recover thereunder. 
 
 
 
 

331

Item 34.



 

Completion Checklist 
 

 Certificate of Liability Insurance (2 pages) 
 Designated Construction Project(s) General Aggregate Limit CG 25 03 03 97 

(2 pages) 
 Additional Insured CG 20 10 07 04 
 Additional Insured CG 20 37 07 04 
 Governmental Immunities Endorsement 

332

Item 34.



 

ATTACHMENT 1 – INSURANCE SCHEDULE 
 
 
General Liability (Occurrence Form Only): 
Commercial General Liability 
  General Aggregate  $2,000,000 
  Products-Completed Operations Aggregate Limit $2,000,000 
  Personal and Advertising Injury Limit $1,000,000 
  Each Occurrence Limit  $1,000,000 
  Fire Damage Limit (any one occurrence) $     50,000 
  Medical Payments  $       5,000 
  

 

Automobile: (Combined Single Limit)     $1,000,000                            
If the Contractor does not own any vehicles, coverage is required on non-owned 
and hired vehicles. 
 
 
Standard Workers Compensation  
 Statutory for Coverage A 
 Employers Liability:  
 Each Accident $  500,000 
 Each Employee – Disease $  500,000 
 Policy Limit – Disease $  500,000 
 
 
Umbrella:  $3,000,000 
The Umbrella/Excess Insurance shall be written on a per occurrence basis and if 
the Umbrella/Excess is not written on a follow form basis it shall have the same 
endorsements as required of the primary policy(ies). 
 
 
Errors & Omissions: $1,000,000 
 
 

 
   

333

Item 34.



 

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 
ADDITIONAL INSURED ENDORSEMENT 

 

The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa, including all its elected and appointed officials, all 
its employees and volunteers, all its boards, commissions and/or authorities and 
their board members, employees, and volunteers, are included as Additional 
Insureds, including ongoing operations CG 2010 07 04 or equivalent, and 
completed operations CG 2037 07 04 or equivalent. See Specimens. 
 

This coverage shall be primary to the Additional Insureds, and not contributing 
with any other insurance or similar protection available to the Additional Insureds, 
whether other available coverage be primary, contributing or excess. 

 
 
 

GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITIES ENDORSEMENT 
(For use when including the City as an Additional Insured) 

 

1. Nonwaiver of Government Immunity. The insurance carrier expressly 
agrees and states that the purchase of this policy and the including of the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa as an Additional Insured does not waive any of the defenses of 
governmental immunity available to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under Code of 
Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
2. Claims Coverage. The insurance carrier further agrees that this policy of 
insurance shall cover only those claims not subject to the defense of 
governmental immunity under the Code of Iowa Section 670.4 as it now exists 
and as it may be amended from time to time. 
 
3. Assertion of Government Immunity. The City of Cedar Falls, Iowa shall be 
responsible for asserting any defense of governmental immunity, and may do so 
at any time and shall do so upon the timely written request of the insurance 
carrier. Nothing contained in this endorsement shall prevent the carrier from 
asserting the defense of governmental immunity on behalf of the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa. 
 
4. Non-Denial of Coverage. The insurance carrier shall not deny coverage 
under this policy and the insurance carrier shall not deny any of the rights and 
benefits accruing to the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa under this policy for reasons of 
governmental immunity unless and until a court of competent jurisdiction has 
ruled in favor of the defense(s) of governmental immunity asserted by the City of 
Cedar Falls, Iowa. 
 
5. No Other Change in Policy. The insurance carrier and the City of Cedar 
Falls, Iowa agree that the above preservation of governmental immunities shall 
not otherwise change or alter the coverage available under the policy. 

334

Item 34.



 

CANCELLATION AND MATERIAL CHANGES ENDORSEMENT 
 
Thirty (30) days Advance Written Notice of Cancellation, Non-Renewal, 
Reduction in coverage and/or limits and ten (10) days written notice of non-
payment of premium shall be sent to: Risk Management Office, City of Cedar 
Falls, City Hall, 220 Clay Street, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613. This endorsement 
supersedes the standard cancellation statement on the Certificate of Insurance to 
which this endorsement is attached.  Contractor agrees to furnish the City with 30 
days advance written notice of cancellation, non-renewal, reduction in coverage 
and/or limits, and 10 days advance written notice of non-payment of premium. 
 
 
 
 

335

Item 34.



 

 

336

Item 34.



 

 

337

Item 34.



 

338

Item 34.



 

 

339

Item 34.



 

 

340

Item 34.



 

 

341

Item 34.



342

Item 34.

GrahamS
Typewritten text
Exhibit C



343

Item 34.



W Viking Rd

Technology Pkwy

Capital Way

Venture Way

De
vel

op
me

nt 
Dr

S U
nio

n R
d

City of Cedar Falls, Iowa

© City of Cedar Falls, Iowa. The City of Cedar Falls does not guarantee the accuracy of the information contained on maps accessible on this site.  This information is provided for demonstration purposes only.  All warranties, express and implied, are hereby disclaimed. 2/15/2021

Site Location

I

0 650 1,300325 Feet

Site Certification Area

344

Item 34.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

 DATE: June 2, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Sign review of property in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay (DR21-006) 
 

 
REQUEST: 

 
New projecting signage on storefront 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

G’s Tobacco, Liquor & Beer, Zheng Development; Contractor: Signs & 
Designs  

LOCATION: 
 

2125 College Street, Suite E 

 
PROPOSAL  
The applicant is requesting a façade review for a new projecting sign and update awning sign at 
2125 College Street for Suite E to advertise the building’s new tenant, G’s Tobacco, Liquor & 
Beer. 2125 College Street is located in the College Hill Neighborhood Overlay.  
 
BACKGROUND 
The College Hill Neighborhood Overlay district requires a site plan review (i.e. design review) by 
the Planning & Zoning Commission and the City Council for any substantial improvement to an 
exterior façade. A substantial improvement to properties in the College Hill Neighborhood is 
defined in Section 26-181 (6) and includes: “any new, modified or replacement awnings, signs 
or similar projections over public sidewalk areas.” Typically signage is not part of the review 
process unless the review is mandated by Ordinance Section 26-181(6). In this case, when a 
new projecting sign is installed that overhangs the public right-of-way and awning sign update 
which is also over the public right-of-way the Planning & Zoning Commission and City Council 
must review and approve the request (26-181(6)(e)).   

 

345

Item 35.



ANALYSIS 
The proposed signage will be placed on the south elevation of the building above the store’s 
entrance along W 22nd Street. The proposed projecting sign is a deep cabinet comprised of LED 
lighting with acrylic faces on two sides and is approximately 30 square feet in size. The 
proposed projecting sign is lighted and projects about 4 feet from the wall over public right-of-
way and have a minimum 10 feet clearance above the public right-of-way. City code Section 3-
58 requires projecting signs over the right-of-way to have a minimum clearance of 10 feet. Also, 
the projecting sign will not be projecting above the lintel band/architectural feature of the 
building, which is a best practice to enhance the architectural features of the building. 
 
And the proposed awning sign will be a replacement of the existing awning with new Sunbrella 
fabric and approximately 4 square feet signage on the face of the awning. The projected awning 
will have a minimum 9 feet clearance above the public right-of-way. As, best practices, the 
projected awning over public right-of-way should have a minimum 8 feet clearance.  The sizes 
and placement of the proposed signs meet city code size requirements and height clearances. 
 
If approved by the Planning and Zoning Commission, this item will be placed on the next 
regularly scheduled City Council meeting. If the City Council approves this request, a sign 
permit will be issued for the new projecting sign and updating awning sign.  
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
No comments. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted design review 
application at their regular meeting on 26th May 2021 with a vote of 8 ayes and 0 nays. The 
Community Development Department also recommends approval of Case #DR21-006, a design 
review application for updating the awning sign and adding a new projecting sign for Suite E at 
2125 College Street. 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion/Vote 
5/26/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Ms. Howard provided background  
information. She explained that a 30 square foot projecting sign is proposed  
that will project about 4 feet over the public right-of-way. She noted that there  
is 10 feet of clearance above the public right-of-way and that existing awning  
fabric will be replaced with new fabric that includes a sign. Both signs meet  
city code requirements and staff recommends approval of the submitted  
design review application.  
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Sears seconded the  
motion. The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Larson,  
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul, Schrad and Sears), and 0 nays. 
 

  
Attachments:    

Details of proposed signage 
Letter of Intent 

346

Item 35.



Dry

Run
Creek (Univ)

University of
Northern Iowa â

â

W 22nd St

W 21st St

W Seerley Blvd

Me
rne

r A
ve

Wa
lnu

t S
t

Oli
ve 

St

W 20th St

W 23rd St

Co
lleg

e S
t

R-3

C-3

R-4

R-4R-2
R-2

P

R-3

Cedar Falls Planning & Zoning Commission
May 26, 2021

Design Review for new signage
for Suite E, 2125 College Street

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

347

Item 35.



348

Item 35.



349

Item 35.



       

5600 NORDIC DRIVE 
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613 

PHONE: 319-277-8829      FAX: 319-268-2298  

4/20/2021 
2125 College Street Suite E 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
P&Z Letter of intent: 
 
Location: Address of the Property 
2125 College St. Suite E. Cedar Falls, Iowa 
 
Overview of additional signs for G’s Tobacco, Liquor & Beer: 
 
    Purpose of this sign is to identify and advertise G’s entrance location and products on the 
new storefront entrance up and down 22nd street. Installing a 48” x 90” projecting sign on 
the South side of the 2125 College Street building.  The sign is 10’ to the bottom from the 
sidewalk. The top of the sign is even with the bottom of the lintel.  The sign projects 49.25” 
from the wall.  
    The existing canopy will be recovered and moved to the West edge of the suites façade 
and raised so that the bottom of the canopy is 9’ above the sidewalk.  
    The lighted sign is made with an extruded aluminum cabinet, acrylic faces and Led 
internal lighting.  It is held by a steel frame that is bolted to the building. See attached 
drawings. 
 
 
 
owner Contact:  Zheng Development: Ming 319-610-7975 
store contact: Yasemine at Ray’s Super Market/   Ph. 319-229-3586 
 
Contractor: Signs & Designs , David Schachterle,  5600 Nordic Drive, Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613   T: 319-277-
8829 

 
 
David Schachterle 
Signs & Designs, Inc, 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

350

Item 35.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8606 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

  

   

 

 

 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Ingress/Egress Easement Agreement for owner “River Place Properties II, LC.” 
  (302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd Street properties) 
 
 

PROPOSAL 
This request includes approval of Ingress and Egress Easement Agreement for site 302 Main 
Street and 123 E 3rd Street in downtown Cedar Falls so that the owner “River Place Properties 
II, LC.” can get the final occupancy permit for 302 Main Street building as per development 
agreement drafted for approval of site plan for 302 Main Street building. 
 
BACKGROUND 
In 2019, City Council approved the site plan for the new building at 302 Main Street and 123 E 
3rd Street site. As part of the document approved by council included approving the final 
occupancy for 302 Main Street building be done after completing all the required steps listed in 
development agreement.  
 
The owner “River Place Properties II, LC” has been actively working towards getting the final 
occupancy permit for the building at 302 Main Street site and has almost finished all the 
required work as per the previously approved development agreement for the building at 302 
Main Street. The last remaining piece for getting the final occupancy permit is to obtain the 
approval for the Ingress and Egress easement agreement for the same, which is attached with 
the packet. 
 
The agreement talks about granting the west 4 feet of 123 E 3rd Street for public access and 
establishes a no-build easement for the western 4 feet of the 123 E 3rd Street site to allow the 
functioning of the drive-through at 302 Main Street building and to avoid any construction activity 
in the area to be compliant by zoning regulations. Please refer to the attached agreement and 
exhibit for more details. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
The Ingress and Egress easement agreement was drafted by the owner and was reviewed by 
City staff and City Attorney. Staff recommends approval of the attached Ingress and Egress 
Agreement between the City of Cedar Falls and the owner, River Place Properties II, LC. 
 
Xc:  Stephanie Sheetz, Director of Community Development 
       Karen Howard, Planning and Community Services Manager 

 

351

Item 36.



352

Item 36.



353

Item 36.



354

Item 36.



355

Item 36.



356

Item 36.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Planning & Community Services Division 

 

   

 

 

 

 

 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

  Ben Claypool, PhD, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

SUBJECT:      Blain’s Corner 2nd Addition Minor Plat 
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Request to approve the Blain’s Corner 2nd Addition Minor Plat  
(Case # MP21-001) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Davenport Farm and Fleet INC, Owner; Andrea Rand (ISG), Engineer 

LOCATION:   
 

219 Brandilynn Blvd 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The current property owner of the lot addressed as 219 Brandilynn Blvd. proposes to divide the 
property into two commercial lots, which will convert the existing lot into two commercial 
developable lots. The application intends is to subdivide the existing parcel in Blain’s 
Subdivision into two lots and develop the newly created lot by proposing a new Aldi grocery 
store. A minor plat is required to split the original single lot into two lots. The subject parcel is 
within the HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning District.  
     
BACKGROUND 
The parcel was created by Blain’s Corner Addition to Cedar Falls, Iowa in 1998.  As shown 
below, the subject parcel to be divided is the Blain’s Farm and Fleet store which sits on Lot 2 of 
Blain’s Addition, which is now the only parcel in the subdivision. Over time there have been a lot 
of reconfigurations of lots in this subdivision. Lot 1 of original Blain’s addition is now called as T 
& L Plaza addition and has been further divided into 4 lots. And Tract B of the original Blain’s 
addition is now owned by the City of Cedar Falls and is being operated as a public street.  
 

357

Item 37.



 
Applicant requests dividing the only remaining lot in the Blain’s Corner Addition into two parcels 
which will allow Blain’s Farm and Fleet store to continue operating on one lot and proposes to 
develop the other lot by adding a new Aldi’s grocery store.  
 
ANALYSIS 
219 Brandilynn Blvd property is located in the HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning District. 
Currently the lot measures approx. 21.21 acre which houses Blain’s Farm and Fleet. With the 
proposal of a minor plat, this lot will be divided into Parcel V (16.46 acres approx.) and Parcel W 
(4.41 acres approx.) Parcel V will continue the use of the site with Blain’s Farm and Fleet and 
the applicant proposes to put a New Aldi’s store in the newly created Parcel W. Currently, 
Blain’s site is accessed by three access points through Brandilynn Blvd. and to provide access 
to the newly created Parcel W (or New Aldi’s building), there will be a shared access agreement 
over the eastern entrance to the lot. There will be a shared access easement to allow 
ingress/egress to the newly created parcels.  
 
 

358

Item 37.



The drawing below graphically depicts the lot split and building locations. The building setbacks 
in the HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning District require a 20-foot setback consisting of 
landscape material that shall be established around the perimeter of the district. No interior side 
setback is enforced when two buildings are side by side. The setback in the proposed plat does 
meet the City’s Zoning Code requirement. However, the applicant also proposes 10 feet setback 
from the shared side lot line, placing the new proposed building at 20 feet from the existing 
Blain’s Farm and Fleet building. The proposed minor plat includes a private access easement 
that would allow access to the newly created Parcel W. Proposed minor plat also corresponds to 
10 feet utility easement along the south, east and north property line as per the original Blain’s 
addition. Besides, the proposed plat includes a public sidewalk easement along the north 
property line that would allow the addition of 5 feet wide public sidewalk extending eastward to 
the eastern lot line of the plat from the existing Cedar Prairie Trail.  

 
New proposed Aldi’s building and lot size will be a lot smaller in the area as compared to the 
Blain’s building and site area. And the two newly created parcels V and W both meet all the 
zoning ordinance requirements. 
 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the Minor Plat Hwy 1 Site Plan for the proposed Aldi’s. 

359

Item 37.



Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in accordance with the 
service policies of CFU. Water is available from a privately owned 12” water main in front of the 
proposed Aldi’s that serves two fire hydrants, one on the east side and one on the south side of 
Blain’s. The plat shows 10 feet wide utility easement along the south and east property line, 
shows 5 feet wide Public Sidewalk easement along the south property line, and a private access 
easement along the south-east corner of the plat to provide access to Aldi’s site (Parcel W) from 
Blain’s lot (Parcel V) through Brandilynn Blvd.  
 
The property is located outside the floodplain overlay district.  
 
A courtesy mailing was sent to the neighboring property owners on April 6, 2021 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted minor plat for Blain’s 
Corner 2nd addition at their regular meeting on 28th April 2021 with a vote of 8 ayes and 0 nays. 
The Community Development Department also recommends approval of requested Minor Plat 
case #MP21-001, with the following stipulations:  
  

1. Any comments or direction specified by the Planning and Zoning Commission. 
2. Conformance with all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
4/14/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that property is located at 219 Brandilynn Boulevard 
and that it is proposed to divide the parcel and build an Aldi store. The 
introduction of this minor plat is for discussion and public comment purposes 
only at this time. Staff recommends approval with the stipulations that any 
comments or direction by the Commission are followed and that there is 
conformance with all city staff recommendations and technical requirements. 

Ryan Anderson, Civil Engineer with ISG and project manager, stated that Aldi 
has been looking for another site in the area for a while and feels that it will be a 
nice partnership with Blain’s. He made himself available for any questions. 

As staff still has a few technical changes to work out with the applicant, the item 
was continued to the next meeting. 

 
Discussion 
& Vote 
4/28/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that this is the second time the item has been brought 
before the Commission and briefly re-capped the information previously 
discussed. Staff recommends approval of the item. 

Mr. Holst made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Lynch seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 

360

Item 37.



Industrial
Park

Viking Rd Trail

Ma
in S

t T
rai

l Western Home Trail

Cedar Prairie Trail

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

Sa
int

s D
r

Wa
lm

art
 Dr

An
dre

a D
r

Viking Plaza Dr

Nordic Dr

S Ma
in

St

Brandilynn Blvd

Hyacinth Dr

E Viking RdW Viking Rd

®¬27

®¬58

µ181.5
M-1

R-3
A-1

A-1

HWY-1

MU

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
April 28, 2021

Blain's Corner 2nd Addition Minor Plat
219 Brandilynn Blvd.

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

361

Item 37.



L6

L9

L5

L4

C
5

L16 L15 C4

C2
C3

L14

L13
L12

C
1

L1
0

L11

L1

L8

L7

S00°12'29"E
59.50

N89°47'31"E   343.82
L3 L2

N00°12'29"W
3.00

Parcel  V
Parcel  W

221.36845.14

L=147.69 (R)
C.125.24 (R)

C. Brg=N78°39'36"E (R)

L=30.10 (R)
C.29.32 (R)
C. Brg=S67°59'41"E (R)

C.450.66 (R)  C. Brg=S18°48'55"E (R)

50

50

50

10

10

10

1010
Utility Easement
per Blain's Corner

Ut
ilit

y 
Ea

se
m

en
t

pe
r B

la
in

's 
Co

rn
er

Ut
ilit

y 
Ea

se
m

en
t

pe
r B

la
in

's 
Co

rn
er

Utility Easement
per Blain's Corner

NE Corner
Lot 2

Blain's Corner
Point of Beginning

N. Line - Lot 2

SE Corner
Lot 2

E.
 L

in
e 

- L
ot

 2

S. Line
Lot 2

5/8" Iron
RLS 12088

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505 Cut X

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron (2)
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron5/8" Iron
RLS 12088

5/8" Iron
RLS 12088

L=44.20 (R)
C.41.78 (R)

C. Brg=N55°56'43"E (R)

IDOT Acquisition Plat
Doc. No. 2018-12387

IDOT Acquisition
Plat Doc.

No. 2018-12388

{Windhaven Assisted Living Center} {Western Home Independent Living Services, Inc.}

{Wal Mart Stores, Inc.}

{Dupaco Community
Credit Union}

20

20

20

Bu
ild

in
g 

Se
tb

ac
k

Building Setback

Zoned: HWY-1
(Highway Commercial)

Zoned: MU (Mixed Use Residential)

Public Access &
Utility Easement

Private
Access
EasementUtility Easement

per Blain's Corner

10.00

87.18

L=83.19 (R)
C. Brg=S08°18'01"E (R)

CURVE TABLE
CURVE #

C1

C2

C3

C4

C5

LENGTH

83.14'

147.55'

30.02'

44.24'

452.07'

RADIUS

1633.00'

75.50'

38.00'

38.00'

1626.69'

DELTA

2°55'01"

111°58'13"

45°15'55"

66°42'18"

15°55'23"

CHORD BEARING

N7°48'48"W

S79°04'19"W

S67°34'32"E

N56°26'22"E

N18°19'39"W

CHORD LENGTH

83.13'

125.16'

29.25'

41.78'

450.62'

Parcel Line Table

Line #

L1

L2

L3

L4

L5

L6

L7

L8

L9

L10

L11

L12

L13

L14

L15

L16

Length

59.50

61.00

282.82

67.60

341.82

1066.50

525.38

4.56

904.96

320.16

164.92

343.82

7.00

253.96

96.80

24.12

Bearing

N0°12'29"W

S89°47'31"W

S89°47'31"W

N16°53'12"W

N0°02'09"E

N89°48'51"E

N0°12'29"W

N89°47'31"E

S0°12'29"E

N0°12'29"W

S89°47'31"W

S89°47'31"W

N0°12'29"W

S89°47'31"W

S89°47'31"W

N48°15'47"W

Record Length Record Bearing

C
AD

 F
IL

E 
N

AM
E

D
R

AW
N

 B
Y

PL
O

T 
D

AT
E

5/1
2/2

1
19

99
7 P

LA
T

KH

0

SCALE IN FEET

60 120

S00°41'17"E

253.90 N89°18'43"E

N89°16'09"E

S48°47'09"E24.06

Part of Lot 2, Blain's Corner
Cedar Falls, Iowa

Black Hawk County, Iowa

PLAT OF SURVEY
BLAIN'S CORNER 2ND ADDITION MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT

INDEX LEGEND
PLAT OF SURVEY

GENERAL DESCRIPTION: Part of Lot 2, Blain's Corner, Cedar Falls
PROPRIETOR:  Davenport Farm and Fleet, Inc.
PLAT PREPARED FOR:  Aldi, Inc.
PLAT PREPARED BY: Daniel L. Stueber
COMPANY NAME: ISG
OFFICE ADDRESS: 115 E. Hickory St. Suite 300 Mankato, MN 56001
PHONE: 507-387-6651

LEGAL DESCRIPTION PARCEL V:

Lot 2, Blain's Corner to Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, except that part conveyed
to the State of Iowa in Doc. #2018-12387 and except that part conveyed to City of Cedar
Falls in Doc. #2018-12388

ALSO EXCEPT

That part of Lot 2, Blain's Corner to Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, described as
follows:

Beginning at the northeast corner of said Lot 2; thence South 00 degrees 12 minutes 29
seconds East (assumed bearing) on the east line of said Lot 2, a distance of 904.96 feet to
the southeast corner of said Lot 2; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 31 seconds West
on the south line of said Lot 2, a distance of 61.00 feet; thence North 00 degrees 12
minutes 29 seconds West, 59.50 feet; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 31 seconds
West, 164.92 feet; thence North 00 degrees 12 minutes 29 seconds West, 320.16 feet;
thence North 89 degrees 47 minutes 31 seconds East, 4.56 feet; thence North 00 degrees
12 minutes 29 seconds West, 525.38 feet to a point on the north line of said Lot 2; thence
North 89 degrees 48 minutes 51 seconds East on said north line, 221.36 feet to the point of
beginning.

LEGAL DESCRIPTION PARCEL W:
That part of Lot 2, Blain's Corner to Cedar Falls, Black Hawk County, Iowa, described as
follows:

Beginning at the northeast corner of said Lot 2; thence South 00 degrees 12 minutes 29
seconds East (assumed bearing) on the east line of said Lot 2, a distance of 904.96 feet to
the southeast corner of said Lot 2; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 31 seconds West
on the south line of said Lot 2, a distance of 61.00 feet; thence North 00 degrees 12
minutes 29 seconds West, 59.50 feet; thence South 89 degrees 47 minutes 31 seconds
West, 164.92 feet; thence North 00 degrees 12 minutes 29 seconds West, 320.16 feet;
thence North 89 degrees 47 minutes 31 seconds East, 4.56 feet; thence North 00 degrees
12 minutes 29 seconds West, 525.38 feet to a point on the north line of said Lot 2; thence
North 89 degrees 48 minutes 51 seconds East on said north line, 221.36 feet to the point of
beginning.

NOTES:

1. The basis of bearing for this Plat of Survey is the east line of Lot 2, Blain's
Corner, said line bears South 00 degrees 12 minutes 29 seconds East.

2. Owner/Subdivider:
Davenport Farm and Fleet, Inc.
PO Box 5391
Janesville, WI 53547

3. Zoning: HWY-1 (Highway Commercial District)
Setbacks
Building
Front - 20 feet
Side - 20 feet (City staff indicated no interior side setbacks enforced)
Rear - 20 feet

4. The error of closure is better than 1:10,000

5. Address of Parcel V - 219 Brandilynn Blvd.

AREA TABLE

Parcel V: 716,932 sq. ft. - 16.46 acres
Parcel W: 192,247 sq. ft. - 4.41 acres

This plat or Subdivision has been reviewed by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa.

__________________________________            ____________________
Signature of City of Cedar Falls                              Date
Zoning Ordinance Administrator

PN: 16-19997
Sheet 1 OF 2
Surveyed by: DLS
Survey Date: 2/18/21
Rev. Date: 5/12/21

Date:
License Number 
My License renewal date is 
Pages covered by this seal 

I hereby certify that this land surveying document was prepared by me
and the related survey work was performed by me or under my direct
personal supervision and that I am a duly licensed Land Surveyor
under the laws of the State of Iowa.

WIO A

LIC
EN

SE
D  

PR
OFESS I ONA L  LAND  SURVEYOR

DANIEL L.
STUEBER

19880

DANIEL L. STUEBER 5/12/21
19880

12/31/21
2

362

Item 37.



L6

L9

L5

L4

C
5

L16 L15 C4

C2
C3

L14

L13
L12

C
1

L1
0

L11

L1

L8

L7

L3 L2

G
G

G
G

G

UT

U
T

U
T

U
T

U
T

U
T

U
T

UE

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE

>>
>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

>>

>
>

>
>

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

>>

>>

>>

I
I

>>

>>

>>

>>

FO
OHL OHL OHL OHL OHL OHL OHL OHL OHL OHL

X X X X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

XX

FBO FBO FBO FBO

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

U
TL

G G G G

>>>>>>>>

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

>>

>>>>>>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>
>

>
>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

>

Parcel  V
Parcel  W

221.36845.14

L=147.69 (R)
C.125.24 (R)

C. Brg=N78°39'36"E (R)

L=30.10 (R)
C.29.32 (R)
C. Brg=S67°59'41"E (R)

C.450.66 (R)  C. Brg=S18°48'55"E (R)

50

50

50

10

10
10

1010

Utility Easement
per Blain's Corner

Ut
ilit

y 
Ea

se
m

en
t

pe
r B

la
in

's 
Co

rn
er

Ut
ilit

y 
Ea

se
m

en
t

pe
r B

la
in

's 
Co

rn
er

Utility Easement
per Blain's Corner

NE Corner
Lot 2

Blain's Corner
Point of Beginning

N. Line - Lot 2

SE Corner
Lot 2

E.
 L

in
e 

- L
ot

 2

S. Line
Lot 2

5/8" Iron
RLS 12088

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505 Cut X

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron (2)
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron
RLS 8505

1/2" Iron5/8" Iron
RLS 12088

5/8" Iron
RLS 12088

L=44.20 (R)
C.41.78 (R)

C. Brg=N55°56'43"E (R)

IDOT Acquisition Plat
Doc. No. 2018-12387

IDOT Acquisition
Plat Doc.

No. 2018-12388

{Windhaven Assisted Living Center} {Western Home Independent Living Services, Inc.}

{Wal Mart Stores, Inc.}

{Dupaco Community
Credit Union}

20

20

20

Bu
ild

in
g 

Se
tb

ac
k

Building Setback

Zoned: HWY-1
(Highway Commercial)

Zoned: MU (Mixed Use Residential)

UE UE UE UE

I I I I I I I I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE

Public Access &
Utility Easement

I
I

960

961

959

961

961960

960

960

959

95
9

96
2

95
8

958

957

95
6

955

960

961

959

95
9

96
0

96
1

96
1

L=83.19 (R)
C. Brg=S08°18'01"E (R)

Existing Building

Sanitary Sewer Line

Storm Sewer Line

Water Line

Underground Gas Line

Underground Electric Line

Underground Utility Line

Underground Fiber Optic Line

Overhead Utility Line

Fence

LEGEND

>

>>

G

UE

UTL

OHL

FBO

X

I

Proposed site improvements are shown as shaded on this sheet.

Part of Lot 2, Blain's Corner
Cedar Falls, Iowa

Black Hawk County, Iowa

PLAT OF SURVEY
BLAIN'S CORNER 2ND ADDITION MINOR SUBDIVISION PLAT

PN: 16-19997
Sheet 2 OF 2
Surveyed by: DLS
Survey Date: 2/18/21
Rev. Date: 5/12/21

100.00
100.00 (R)

CORNER FOUND (monuments as described)
CORNER SET (1/2" iron  w/gpc no. 19880)
CORNER SET (magnetic nail)
SECTION CORNER FOUND (monuments as described)
MEASURED
RECORD
GREEN PLASTIC CAP

LEGEND OF SYMBOLS/ABBREVIATIONS

gpc

0

SCALE IN FEET

60 120

363

Item 37.



364

Item 37.



365

Item 37.



366

Item 37.



367

Item 37.



368

Item 37.



369

Item 37.



DEPARTMENT OF COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-273-8600 
Fax: 319-273-8610 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 

MEMORANDUM 
Planning & Community Services Division 

   

   

 

 

 
 
 
 
 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 

 FROM: Jaydevsinh Atodaria (JD), City Planner I 

  Ben Claypool, PhD, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: June 3, 2021 

 SUBJECT: Aldi’s Grocery Store Site Plan  
 

 
REQUEST: 
 

Site plan approval for construction of a new Aldi’s.(Case # SP21-005) 
 

PETITIONER: 
 

Davenport Farm and Fleet INC, Owner ; Andrea Rand (ISG), Engineer  

LOCATION: 
 

315 Brandilynn Boulevard 

 

 
PROPOSAL 
The applicant proposes to 
construct up to two-story, 
20,288 square foot grocery 
store, a locally recognized 
Aldi’s store, on 315 
Brandilynn Boulevard. The 
proposal is following the 
approval of the proposed 
Blain’s Corner 2nd addition 
Minor plat. The proposal 
includes some site 
improvements, new 
signage, landscaping 
improvements, parking lot 
alterations, and a new 
building accommodating 
Aldi’s Grocery store.  The 
proposed layout of the 
building sits on about 4.41 Location Map 

370

Item 38.



acres of land located on Brandilynn Blvd. and will be placed just east of the existing 
Blain’s Farm and Fleet store. This project will include the removal of the excess storage 
area to the east of the existing Blain’s building, where the proposed Aldi’s store would 
sit.   
 
BACKGROUND 
The parcel was created by Blain’s Corner Addition to Cedar Falls, Iowa in 1998. The 
property is in the HWY-1, Highway Commercial Zoning District.  
 
This proposal is to develop Aldi’s grocery store on parcel ”W” which will be created after 
the approval of the proposed Blain’s Corner 2nd addition Minor plat which aims to 
convert the existing Blain’s lot into two commercial developable lots. The two 
commercial developable lots will then include a chunk of 16.47 acres utilized by the 
existing Blain’s Farm and Fleet store and the rest 4.41 acres utilized by the proposed 
Aldi’s grocery store. 
 
ANALYSIS 
The proposed site plan development is in the HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning 
District. The HWY-1 District is intended to promote and facilitate comprehensively 
planned commercial developments located adjacent to major transportation corridors 
and interchanges. The purpose of these regulations is to encourage high standards of 
building architecture, and site planning which will foster commercial development that 
maximizes pedestrian convenience, comfort and pleasure. The ordinance requires a 
detailed site plan review before approval to ensure that the development site satisfies 
several basic aesthetic standards. Attention to details such as parking, open green 
space, landscaping, signage, building design, and other similar factors help to ensure 
orderly development in the entire area.  
 
Following is a review of the zoning ordinance requirements for the proposed 
development: 
 

1) Use: A grocery store serving traveling public or a regional customer base is a 
permitted use in the HWY-1 District. Use is allowed. 
 

2) Building Location: The proposed new Aldi grocery store will be located on “Parcel 
W”, after the approval of submitted Blain’s Corner 2nd Addition Minor Plat. The 
proposed new building will be placed in line with the existing Blain’s Farm and 
Fleet store to the west. As per code, a 20-foot setback consisting of landscape 
material shall be established around the perimeter of the district. This 20-foot 
setback should be free of any structure or parking areas. The proposed site plan 
follows the required 20 feet setback along the south, east, and north property line 
by the provision of required landscaping. In addition, a 10-feet building setback is 
proposed along the west property line to break the visual barrier between Blain’s 
and Aldi’s building. The proposed building footprint is approximately 20,300 
square feet, which is significantly less compared to the adjacent buildings to east 

371

Item 38.



and west. The site plan shows that the building might be expanded northward in 
the future by extending the north wall.  
 

The building will have two main public ingress/egress areas along the south wall 
of the building and will have a door each on the west, east, and north façade to 
access site areas for staff. 
 

The site plan shows one access point to the proposed building and parking lot 
which will be part of the shared access easement from Blain’s site. The access 
point will be from Brandilynn Boulevard. Building setbacks are satisfied. 
 

3) Parking: The parking requirement for the new building is 92 parking stalls (4.5 
stalls per 1000 square feet of gross floor area). The provided site plan shows 172 
parking stalls, which includes 6 ADA stalls. Parking is provided in the south and 
east areas of the lot. The site plan shows minor adjustments to accommodate 
additional green space, landscaped islands, and other landscaped buffer areas. 
The parking meets the zoning standards with 9’ x 19’ stalls and 22’ wide aisles. 
The amount and dimension of the parking stalls and drives are met. 

 

4) Open Space Requirements: This property is located within the HWY-1 Highway 
Commercial Zoning District. This zoning district requires that open 
space/landscaping requirements be provided at the rate of 10% of the total 
development site area excluding the perimeter setback area. Following is a 
summary of the landscape plan that details how this provision is met.   
 
 
 

New Development Site 192,252 SF  

Required Open/Green Space 19,225 SF 10% 
Provided Open/Green Space 64,144 SF 34% 

 
Landscaping is shown throughout the site, both around the building as well as 
within the parking lot, and along the streets within required setbacks. 
 
The open green space exceeds the minimum requirement and is well 
distributed. 

 
5) Landscaping: The HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning District requires minimum 

landscaping at the rate of 0.02 points per sq. ft. of total development site area as 
far as zoning district requirement is concerned. This can be achieved with the 
planting a combination of trees and shrubbery. A minimum of 0.75 points per 
linear foot of street frontage shall be planted with Street tree plantings. Besides, 
tree plantings and other landscape treatments shall be required within designated 
parking areas to provide shade and visual relief in large parking areas.  
 
Parking Lot Improvisation Requirement: Peripheral landscaping and internal 
landscaping are also required if existing off-street parking lots are altered or 
enlarged, in whole or in part. Peripheral landscaping requirements include 

372

Item 38.



placement of continuous landscaped strip not less than 5 feet in width and at least 
three feet in height, and one tree for every 50 lineal feet of landscaping barrier to 
screen the parking areas from the public streets and abutting lots. And Internal 
landscaping requirement includes placement of one overstory tree for every 21 
parking stalls to shade the internal parking areas.  

 
Overall, the total required landscaping points is 3,940 points which include 3,775 
Site area points and 165 street frontage points. In response, the applicant 
proposes landscaping points summing to 4,020 Points (3,780 site points & 240 
street frontage points). Planting point details can be seen in the attached 
landscaping plan for review. 
 
Also, about 12 parking lot trees are required as per calculation, in response 
applicant proposes 12 parking lot trees including 2 existing site trees.  
 
Overall, landscaping on the site is well distributed on all three sides of the building 
including parking lot screening with shrubs and trees along the east lot line, 
landscaping islands with trees and ground cover. Landscaping requirements 
are met.  
 

 

6) Design Review: As per HWY-1 Highway Commercial Zoning district, all structures 
established within the district shall be reviewed for architectural compatibility with 
surrounding structures. The review must also focus on building materials, exterior 
materials on all sides, coloration, roof-line, size, and location of windows and doors, 
facades, and signage. The elements in the code are noted below with a review of 
how each is addressed. Overall, staff finds that the proposed building design 
meets the zoning standards based on the following analysis.  

 

Proportion: The relationship between the width and height of the front elevations of 

adjacent buildings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building; the 
relationship of width to height of windows and doors of adjacent buildings shall be 
considered in the construction or alteration of a building.  

 

Landscaping Plan 

373

Item 38.



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
The scale and proportion of the new building will be slightly smaller than the 
adjacent building to the west and east, which includes Wal-Mart and Blain’s Farm 
and Fleet Store. And the proposal will be slightly bigger than the commercial 
building to the south, which houses a couple of retail stores. Both the buildings to 
the west and east are about two stories in height, the proposed building will also 
look somewhat similar with only the south façade extending at an angle to 
emphasize the look of the building. The maximum height of the proposed building 
is about 29 feet, which just extends on the southwest section of the building. Rest 

Existing Commercial 

building to the south 

Existing Blain’s Store 

to west 

Existing Wal-Mart 

Store to east 

Proposed Aldi’s Store 

374

Item 38.



all the building facades are no taller than 19 feet in height. The width of the face is 
comparatively smaller to the Wal-Mart store to the east and Blain’s store to the 
west, as the building area is a lot smaller than the big box stores in the 
surrounding. Staff finds that the proposal is consistent with neighboring 
buildings and with the height allowances in the zoning district.  
 
Roof shape, pitch, and direction: The similarity or compatibility of the shape, pitch, and 

direction of roofs in the immediate area shall be considered in the construction or 
alteration of a building. 

 
The adjacent buildings utilize flat roofs with a parapet around the edge and 
enhanced entrance features like adding more massing and heights than the entire 
building. The new building will likewise utilize a flat roof with metal coping around 
the edge and will highlight the entrance area of the building by extending the 
south face of the building from 19 feet to 29 feet that will span the one-way 
inclined roof over the entrance. The roofing style of the proposed building 
matches the existing roofing styles of the neighboring building. An enhanced 
entrance area with the inclined roof will be enhancing the store façade.  
 
Pattern: Alternating solids and openings (wall to windows and doors) in the front facade 

and sides and rear of a building create a rhythm observable to viewers. This pattern of 
solids and openings shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building.  

 
The new building will feature an aluminum curtain wall system and glass on the 
south façade of the building as few openings. The rest of the facades will be 
mostly blank with few door openings to access outdoor site areas. Because of the 
nature of the use of the store, most of the facades are blank except for the south 
façade, which is the entrance to the building. Overall, the building materials and 
patterns meet the city’s standards. 
 
Materials and texture: Materials and texture. The similarity or compatibility of 
existing materials and textures on the exterior walls and roofs of buildings in the 
immediate area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. 
A building or alteration shall be considered compatible if the materials and texture 
used are appropriate in the context of other buildings in the immediate area. 
 
Glass, Curtain Wall, Glass, brick masonry, aluminum composite panels, and fiber 
cement exterior cladding are the exterior materials proposed for the new building. 
Most of the materials will provide a slightly rough texture as the majority of the 
building facades are finished with brick masonry. Several smooth finishes will be 
observed along the south building façade as there are different materials and 
textures used to enhance the entrance of the building. In total, approximately 70% 
of the building will be made up of brick masonry, 15% mixture of aluminum 
composite panels and fiber cement cladding, and 15% glass. 
 

375

Item 38.



The adjacent buildings are constructed almost entirely of concrete masonry or 
fiber cement sidings. Staff finds the proposed building materials will enhance the 
building and will create a distinctive look. 
 
Color: The similarity or compatibility of existing colors of exterior walls and roofs of 
buildings in the area shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a 
building. 
 
The new building will primarily include dark chocolate/grey tone as part of brick 
masonry while the contrasting tones of silver colors will be seen along the south 
façade of the building. To enhance the entrance a wooden color fiber cement 
cladding will be seen along the entrance area. 
 
Architectural features: Architectural features, including but not limited to, cornices, 
entablatures, doors, windows, shutters, and fanlights, prevailing in the immediate 
area, shall be considered in the construction or alteration of a building. It is not 
intended that the details of existing buildings be duplicated precisely, but those 
features should be regarded as suggestive of the extent, nature, and scale of 
details that would be appropriate on new buildings or alterations. 
 
The architectural style is similar to traditional big-box store design in nature. 
Architectural features of the new building include an inclined roof over the 
heightened entrance area of the building located along the south wall. The 
building will mostly utilize a flat roof except for the entrance area. Rooflines are 
similar to the surrounding building except for the increased heightened area on 
the south-west corner of the building, which provides a unique identity to the 
building. The color choice also stands out while the materials are generally 
consistent with the neighbors.  
 

7) Trash Dumpster Site: The dumpster enclosure is located behind the building, 
along the North wall of Aldi’s building. Trash dumpster is about 6.5 feet in height 
(as shown to the right) and will be placed in loading dock area, with the lower half 
completely covered 
and upper half will 
be covered partially 
with 3.5 feet high 
galvanized steel 
guard rail details 
have not been 
provided yet 
including the size 
and enclosure 
details. Staff finds 
no major concern 
with the placement 
of the dumpster.  

376

Item 38.



8) Lighting: The HWY-1 District regulations do not have specific lighting design 
guidelines. The applicant has proposed both wall mount lights to highlight the 
building on all three sides and pole lights with a single head, triple head, and quad 
head that highlight the parking lot on the site. All the lights are downcast and their 
illumination will not be bothering neighboring properties. A detailed site lighting plan 
and light fixture schedule have been attached to the packet for review. Lighting is 
acceptable.  

 
9) Signage: For the proposed new building, two wall signs are illustrated on the 

building; one facing south and another facing east. As per code, wall sign areas 
cannot exceed 20 percent of the surface area of the single wall to which it is affixed. 
No more than two wall surfaces of any single structure may be utilized for sign 
displays. Both wall sign areas meet the code requirement.  

 
Besides, the applicant is proposing a free-standing sign to highlight the new Aldi’s 
grocery store in the south-eastern part of the lot. As per code, it is recommended 
that signs located in the yard area nearest to adjacent major roadway be limited to a 
maximum height of 25 feet above the surface of the roadway or 40 feet, whichever is 
less. The commission and council may deviate from this recommended standard in 
consideration of the following circumstances: unusually large site; ten acres or more; 
unusual topographic circumstances that limit visibility of signage. The proposed 
freestanding sign is 40 feet in height and 120 square feet in area, and therefore is 
not compliant with the height regulations. Staff recommends changing the height of 
proposed free standing sign from 40 feet to 25 feet to be compliant by zoning 
regulations. This signage will be placed 10 feet northward from the south property 
line as required by the code.  
 
Also, the applicant is also proposing to remove the existing Blain’s free-standing sign 
advertising “Blain’s Farm and Fleet” along Highway 58 and want to replace it with a 
new free-standing sign that advertises both “Aldi’s” and “Blain’s Farm and Fleet” 
meeting all the code requirements. An off-premise sign is usually not allowed in 
HWY-1 zone but because Blain’s site is in HCG Highway Corridor and Greenbelt 
Overlay Zoning district and staff finds this a reasonable request as this sign would 
allow attracting traffic from the Highway and Intersection. As per free standing sign 
standards in HCG Corridor and Greenbelt Overlay Zoning district, the sign shall 
have a maximum of 25 feet above the surface of the highway or a maximum height 
of 40 feet above the grade on which they are mounted, whichever is less. The 
proposed sign is approximately 40 feet in height but staff notes that this will have to 
be revised to maximum possible height of 25 feet to meet the zoning code 
standards. Staff notes that no new free-standing sign will be allowed on Blain’s site 
as they have used the maximum sign area allowance on site. Both freestanding 
signs proposed meet the code requirement, sign details have been attached with the 
packet for additional review. Proposed Signage for Aldi’s lot  highlighting Aldi’s 
and the new proposed sign on Blain’s lot highlighting both Blain’s and Aldi 
will have to be revised to maximum height of 25 feet to be compliant with 
zoning regulations. 

 

377

Item 38.



10) Sidewalks: There is a 5-foot-wide PCC sidewalk proposed in the site plan which will 
extend the portion of Cedar Prairie Trail to the eastern lot line from its existing 
location. This will allow pedestrian traffic to access the building. This sidewalk will be 
placed 5 feet north to the south property line and will be over the existing 10 feet 
utility easement. To accommodate the sidewalk, a 5 feet wide public pedestrian 
access easement has been noted on both the minor plat and the site plan. The 
sidewalk proposed provides good pedestrian circulation and meets City standards. 

 
11) Storm Water Management: The stormwater management for this site will be taking 

the northeast corner of redevelopment and applying the current post-construction 
stormwater controls before this stormwater entering the existing stormwater facilities 
for the Blain’s Farm and Fleet site. With storm sewer piping and a detention basin in 
the very NE corner, the full capture of the 100-year rainfall event will be released at 
a rate less than the existing 2-year storm, while also controlling water quality through 
a control structure with two operating weirs. In the event of a storm exceeding the 
100-year event, there is an additional 1.05 feet of freeboard within the detention 
basin and outlet structure that will allow the temporary on-site capacity. The 
stormwater management plan meets City requirements and will be approved 
by the engineering division with the Maintenance and Repair Agreement. 

 
TECHNICAL COMMENTS 
 

Cedar Falls Utilities (CFU) has reviewed the Hwy 1 Site Plan for the proposed Aldi’s. 
Water, electric, gas, and communications utility services are available in accordance 
with the service policies of CFU. Water is available from a privately owned 12” water 
main in front of the proposed Aldi’s that serves two fire hydrants, one on the east side 
and one on the south side of Blain’s. The Aldi’s preliminary construction plans 
incorrectly show this 12” water main as a 6” main. The construction plans show 
relocating the east fire hydrant. Existing valving will require the interruption of the fire 
protection during this hydrant relocation work. Gas services are owned, installed, and 
maintained by CFU. If the primary heat source for the new building is natural gas, CFU 
will install the gas service at no cost to the owner. Plans show the proposed electric 
transformer location east of the proposed building. The building electrical contractor will 
install the conduits and electric service from the building to the transformer. High speed 
fiber service for internet, cable TV, and phone is available to the building site. CFU 
suggests the electric construction contractor install an additional conduit from the 
building to the electric transformer site for future fiber installation. Please have the 
general contractor contact CFU for coordination of utility service locations.  
 
All technical errors have been addressed in the revised drawing submitted for review. 
City staff has attached revisions for review in the packet.  
 
A courtesy notice to surrounding property owners was mailed on April 7, 2021. 
 

STAFF RECOMMENDATION 
Planning and Zoning Commission recommends approval of the submitted HWY-1 Site 
plan for Aldi’s at their regular meeting on 28th April 2021 with a vote of 8 ayes and 0 

378

Item 38.



nays. The Community Development Department also recommends approval, subject to 
the following conditions: 
  

1. The developer must address all comments and directions specified by the 
Planning and Zoning Commission. 

2. The developer’s plan must conform to all city staff recommendations and 
technical requirements. 

 
 
PLANNING & ZONING COMMISSION 
Discussion 
4/14/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information. He explained that the proposal is to develop a 20,299 square foot 
Aldi grocery store which will be created after the approval of the proposed Blain’s 
Corner 2nd addition minor plat. He discussed the basic information regarding the 
site plan, including setbacks, access points, lot lines and the trash location. He 
explained the requirements with regard to parking and open/green space, as well 
as the proposed sidewalk and landscaping plans. Mr. Atodaria provided 
renderings of the proposed signage and where it would be located if approved, 
as well as the design review, which includes proportion, roof 
shape/pitch/direction, pattern, materials, color and architectural features. He 
discussed the technical comments that still need to be addressed by the 
applicant and noted that they believe they will be completed by the next 
Commission meeting. At this time the item is just for discussion and public 
comment. 
 
Mr. Schrad asked if the proposed detention area meets the requirements for the 
square footage of the parking lot. Mr. Atodaria explained that it has been met.  
 
Mr. Larson asked what the technical issues are that still need to be resolved. Mr. 
Atodaria explained that they include the trash enclosure detail, updating the 
labeling of the water main, and technical comments to be reflected on the plan 
and the minor plat. 

 
 
Discussion 
& Vote 
4/28/2021 

Chair Leeper introduced the item and Mr. Atodaria provided background 
information, noting that this item was also discussed at the last meeting. He gave 
a brief re-cap of the project and noted that staff recommends approval of the site 
plan. 
 
Ms. Saul made a motion to approve the item. Ms. Lynch seconded the motion. 
The motion was approved unanimously with 8 ayes (Hartley, Holst, Larson, 
Leeper, Lynch, Prideaux, Saul and Schrad), and 0 nays. 

 

379

Item 38.



Industrial
Park

Viking Rd Trail

Ma
in S

t T
rai

l Western Home Trail

Cedar Prairie Trail

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

â

Sa
int

s D
r

Wa
lm

art
 Dr

An
dre

a D
r

Viking Plaza Dr

Nordic Dr

S Ma
in

St

Brandilynn Blvd

Hyacinth Dr

E Viking RdW Viking Rd

®¬27

®¬58

µ181.5M-1

R-3
A-1

A-1

HWY-1

MU

Cedar Falls Planning and Zoning Commission
April 28, 2021

New Aldi's Grocery Store Site Plan
315 Brandilynn Blvd.

Waterloo
Regional
Airport

Falls
Access

Cedar Falls

University Ave
Rainbow Dr

Orchard Dr

E Dunkerton Rd

W 18th St

Hu
ds

on
Rd

W Ridgeway Ave

S M
ain

 St

C ente rS t

Ma
in

St

W 12th St

W 1st St

E V ikin

g Rd
W Viking Rd

Un
ion

 Rd

W 27th St

E Greenhill Rd

Lincoln St

NUnion Rd E Lone Tree Rd

Le
ver

see
Rd

E 1st St
®¬57

®¬58

®¬27 £¤63£¤20

£¤218

^

Location
Map

380

Item 38.



16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE DATA

C-010

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-010 SITE DATA

 ---- ---- C-010

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

PROJECT LOCATION

N

S

W E

LOCATION MAP

0

SCALE IN FEET

1000 2000

SITE SUMMARY
ZONING: HWY-1, HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT

ALDI SITE BLAIN'S SITE TOTAL SITE

SITE/LOT AREA: 192,252 SF / 4.413 AC.731,739 SF / 16.799 AC.923,991 SF / 21.212 AC.

IMPERVIOUS AREA: 128,066 SF / 2.940 AC.634,974 SF / 14.577 AC.763,040 SF / 17.517 AC.

GREENSPACE
PROVIDED: 64,144 SF / 1.473 AC. 96,806 SF / 2.222 AC. 160,950 SF / 3.695 AC.

PARKING REQUIREMENTS (PER CITY CODE)

TYPE UNIT / AREA STALLS REQUIRED STALLS PROVIDED

10'x20' 4.5 / 1000 SF 92 166

ADA ACCESIBLE 6 6

TOTAL: 172

SETBACKS
PARKING BUILDING

FRONT YARD 20'-0" 30'-0"
SIDE YARD 20'-0" 20'-0"
REAR YARD 20'-0" 20'-0"

PROJECT ADDRESS / LOCATION:

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IOWA 50613

BLACKHAWK COUNTY
S25 T89N R14W

B.M. ELEVATION=964.26
TNFH LOCATED 17 FEET BACK OF SOUTH CURB LINE
OF BRANDILYNN BLVD. APPROXIMATELY 75 FEET
SOUTH OF THE SOUTHEAST PROPERTY CORNER

1. ALL WORK SHALL CONFORM TO THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, WHICH INCLUDE, BUT
ARE NOT LIMITED TO, THE OWNER - CONTRACTOR AGREEMENT, THE PROJECT MANUAL
(WHICH INCLUDES GENERAL SUPPLEMENTARY CONDITIONS AND SPECIFICATIONS),
DRAWINGS OF ALL DISCIPLINES AND ALL ADDENDA, MODIFICATIONS AND CLARIFICATIONS
ISSUED BY THE ARCHITECT/ENGINEER.

2. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS SHALL BE ISSUED TO ALL SUBCONTRACTORS BY THE
GENERAL CONTRACTOR IN COMPLETE SETS IN ORDER TO ACHIEVE THE FULL EXTENT AND
COMPLETE COORDINATION OF ALL WORK.

3. WRITTEN DIMENSIONS TAKE PRECEDENCE OVER SCALED DIMENSIONS. NOTIFY
ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES OR CONDITIONS REQUIRING INFORMATION OR
CLARIFICATION BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

4. FIELD VERIFY ALL EXISTING CONDITIONS AND DIMENSIONS. NOTIFY ENGINEER OF
ANY DISCREPANCIES OR CONDITIONS REQUIRING INFORMATION OR CLARIFICATION
BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

5. DETAILS SHOWN ARE INTENDED TO BE INDICATIVE OF THE PROFILES AND TYPE OF
DETAILING REQUIRED THROUGHOUT THE WORK. DETAILS NOT SHOWN ARE SIMILAR IN
CHARACTER TO DETAILS SHOWN. WHERE SPECIFIC DIMENSIONS, DETAILS OR DESIGN
INTENT CANNOT BE DETERMINED, NOTIFY ENGINEER BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH THE
WORK.

6. ALL MANUFACTURED ARTICLES, MATERIALS AND EQUIPMENT SHALL BE APPLIED,
INSTALLED, CONNECTED, ERECTED, CLEANED AND CONDITIONED ACCORDING TO
MANUFACTURERS' INSTRUCTIONS. IN CASE OF DISCREPANCIES BETWEEN
MANUFACTURERS' INSTRUCTIONS AND THE CONTRACT DOCUMENTS, NOTIFY ENGINEER
BEFORE PROCEEDING WITH THE WORK.

7. ALL DISSIMILAR METALS SHALL BE EFFECTIVELY ISOLATED FROM EACH OTHER TO
AVOID GALVANIC CORROSION.

8. THE LOCATION AND TYPE OF ALL INPLACE UTILITIES SHOWN ON THE PLANS ARE FOR
GENERAL INFORMATION ONLY AND ARE ACCURATE AND COMPLETE TO THE BEST OF THE
KNOWLEDGE OF I & S GROUP, INC. (ISG). NO WARRANTY OR GUARANTEE IS IMPLIED.  THE
CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY THE SIZES, LOCATIONS AND ELEVATIONS OF ALL INPLACE
UTILITIES PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION.  CONTRACTOR SHALL IMMEDIATELY NOTIFY
ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES OR VARIATIONS FROM PLAN.

9. THE CONTRACTOR IS TO CONTACT "IOWA ONE CALL" FOR UTILITY LOCATIONS,
MINIMUM 2 BUSINESS DAYS PRIOR TO ANY EXCAVATION / CONSTRUCTION (1-800-292-8989).

PROJECT GENERAL NOTES

ALL CONSTRUCTION SHALL COMPLY WITH THE CITY OF CEDAR FALLS REQUIREMENTS AND
WITH THE 2018 EDITION OF THE STATEWIDE URBAN DESIGN AND SPECIFICATIONS (SUDAS)
FOR PUBLIC IMPROVEMENTS, UNLESS DIRECTED OTHERWISE.

HORIZONTAL COORDINATES HAVE BEEN REFERENCED TO THE NORTH AMERICAN DATUM
OF 1983 (NAD83), ZONE, ON THE IA RCS ZONE 5 COORDINATE SYSTEM, IN U.S. SURVEY FEET.
ELEVATIONS HAVE BEEN REFERENCED TO THE NORTH AMERICAN VERTICAL DATUM OF 1988
(NAVD 88).
RTK GPS METHODS WERE USED TO ESTABLISH HORIZONTAL AND VERTICAL COORDINATES
FOR THIS PROJECT.

THIS PROJECT'S TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY CONSISTS OF DATA COLLECTED IN JANUARY / 2021
BY ISG, INC.

SPECIFICATIONS REFERENCE

PROJECT DATUM

TOPOGRAPHIC SURVEY

 LEGEND 
EXISTING

CITY LIMITS

ACCESS CONTROL

SECTION LINE
QUARTER SECTION LINE
RIGHT OF WAY LINE
PROPERTY / LOTLINE
EASEMENT LINE

CULVERT

WATER EDGEW

WET WETLAND BOUNDARY
WETLAND / MARSH

WATER

FENCE LINEX X X X

UT

STORM SEWER
SANITARY SEWER>

SANITARY SEWER FORCEMAIN<II

CONTOUR (MAJOR)

I

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE

OVERHEAD ELECTRICOE

UNDERGROUND ELECTRICUE

UNDERGROUND TVUTV

GASG

FBO UNDERGROUND FIBER OPTIC

CONTOUR (MINOR)
DECIDUOUS TREE
CONIFEROUS TREE

TREE LINE
MANHOLE/STRUCTURE
CATCH BASIN
HYDRANT

CURB STOP
VALVE

UTILITY PEDESTAL / CABINET
POWER POLE

990
989

PROPOSED

CULVERT
STORM SEWER

SANITARY SEWER>

WATERI I

OVERHEAD ELECTRICOE

UNDERGROUND ELECTRICUE

UNDERGROUND TVUTV

GASG

CONTOUR
MANHOLE
CATCH BASIN
HYDRANT
VALVE

EASEMENT
RIGHT OF WAY

>>

>>

>>

>>

STORM SEWER (PIPE WIDTH)

1015

LOT LINE

SANITARY SEWER (PIPE WIDTH)

OVERHEAD UTILITYOHL

UNDERGROUND UTILITY UTL

CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IOWA

CIVIL SHEET INDEX

PRINTED SIGNATURE

SIGNATURE SIGNATURE DATE

REGISTRATION EXPIRES

SEAL

TSI G E

W

E

LANOISSEFORP

R
DER

IO A

N
RE

EN
IG

E

I HEREBY CERTIFY THAT THIS ENGINEERING
DOCUMENT WAS PREPARED BY ME OR UNDER MY
DIRECT PERSONAL SUPERVISION AND THAT I AM A
DULY LICENSED PROFESSIONAL ENGINEER UNDER
THE LAWS OF THE STATE OF IOWA.

SHEETS COVERED BY THIS SEAL

ANDREW T.
BRANDEL

P21218

ANDREW T. BRANDEL

04/05/21

12-31-2021

   C-010 - C-620

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

E. VIKING RDVIKING RD

W. RIDGEWAY AVE

HWY IA-58

E GREENHILL RD

BRANDILYNN BLVD

C-010 SITE DATA
C-020 SITE DETAILS
C-021 SITE DETAILS
C-022 SITE DETAILS
C-023 SITE DETAILS
C-024 SITE DETAILS
C-025 PYLON SIGN DETAILS
C-110 SITE EROSION CONTROL PLAN
C-120 SITE EROSION CONTROL DETAILS
C-210 EXISTING SITE & REMOVAL PLAN
C-300 OVERALL SITE PLAN
C-310 SITE PLAN
C-320 SITE UTILITY PLAN
C-321 BUILDING DETAIL PLAN
C-410 SITE GRADING PLAN
C-420 BUILDING GRADING PLAN
C-510 SITE RESTORATION & PLANTING PLAN
C-520 SITE PLANTING NOTES & DETAILS
C-610 SITE LIGHTING PHOTOMETRICS PLAN
C-620 SIGHT LIGHTING CATALOGUE PAGES

OWNER TO PROVIDE 10 TRIPS TO THE CONSTRUCTION SITE FOR STAKING PURPOSES.
STAKING SHALL INCLUDE ANY COMBINATION OF THE FOLLOWING: GRIDLINES WITH OFFSETS,
ROUGH GRADE STAKING, UTILITIES, CURB & GUTTER, LIGHT POLES, SIGNS, SIDEWALK. ANY
ADDITIONAL SURVEY WORK NEEDED OR REQUIRED SHALL BE THE CONTRACTOR'S
RESPONSIBILITY TO EMPLOY AND PAY ISG, INC. CONTACT RYAN ANDERSON WITH ISG, INC.
AT (952) 426-0699 FOR PRICING INFORMATION.

CONSTRUCTION STAKING
CIVIL PLAN ABBREVIATIONS:
AC ACRE
ADA AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT
ADD ADDENDUM
AFF ABOVE FINISHED FLOOR 
AGG AGGREGATE 
APPROXAPPROXIMATE
ARCH ARCHITECT, ARCHITECTURAL 
BFE BASEMENT FLOOR ELEVATION
BIT BITUMINOUS 
CAD COMPUTER-AIDED DESIGN
CB CATCH BASIN
CFS CUBIC FEET PER SECOND 
CF CUBIC FOOT 
CI CAST IRON
CIP CAST IRON PIPE
CIPC CAST IN PLACE CONCRETE

CJ CONTROL JOINT 
CL CENTERLINE
CMP CORRUGATED METAL PIPE 
CO CLEANOUT
CONC CONCRETE 
CONST CONSTRUCTION 
CONT CONTINUOUS
CY CUBIC YARD
C&G CURB AND GUTTER
DEMO DEMOLITION
DIA DIAMETER
DIM DIMENSION 
DS DOWNSPOUT
EA EACH 
ELEC ELECTRICAL 
ELEV ELEVATION 

EOF EMERGENCY OVERFLOW
EQ EQUAL 
EX EXISTING 
FDC FIRE DEPARTMENT CONNECTION 
FDN FOUNDATION 
FFE FINISHED FLOOR ELEVATION 
FPM FEET PER MINUTE 
FPS FEET PER SECOND 
FT FOOT, FEET
FTG FOOTING
GA GAUGE
GAL GALLON 
GALV GALVANIZED 
GC GENERAL CONTRACTOR 
GFE GARAGE FLOOR ELEVATION
GL GUTTER LINE

GPM GALLONS PER MINUTE 
GV GATE VALVE
HDPE HIGH DENSITY POLYETHYLENE
HD HEAVY DUTY 
HH HANDHOLE 
HORIZ HORIZONTAL 
HR HOUR
HWL HIGH WATER LEVEL
HWY HIGHWAY 
HYD HYDRANT
I INVERT
ID INSIDE DIAMETER 
IN INCH 
INV INVERT 
IP IRON PIPE 
IPS IRON PIPE SIZE 

J-BOX JUNCTION BOX 
JT JOINT
LF LINEAR FEET
LIN LINEAR 
LPS LOW PRESSURE STEAM 
LS LUMP SUM
LSO LOWEST STRUCTURAL OPENING
MAX MAXIMUM 
MB MAIL BOX
MECH MECHANICAL 
MH MANHOLE
MIN MINIMUM
MISC MISCELLANEOUS 
NO NUMBER
NTS NOT TO SCALE
NWL NORMAL WATER LEVEL

OC ON CENTER
OCEW ON CENTER EACH WAY
OH OVERHEAD 
OHD OVERHEAD DOOR 
OZ OUNCE
PED PEDESTAL, PEDESTRIAN 
PERF PERFORATED
PL PROPERTY LINE
PP POLYPROPYLENE
PSI POUNDS PER SQUARE INCH 
PVC POLYVINYL CHLORIDE 
PVMT PAVEMENT 
QTY QUANTITY
RAD RADIUS
RCP REINFORCED CONCRETE PIPE 
RD ROOF DRAIN

REBAR REINFORCING BAR 
REM REMOVE
ROW RIGHT OF WAY 
R/W RIGHT OF WAY 
SAN SANITARY 
SCH SCHEDULE 
SF SQUARE FOOT 
SPEC SPECIFICATION
SQ SQUARE 
STA STATION 
SY SQUARE YARD 
T/C TOP OF CURB
TEL TELEPHONE 
TEMP TEMPORARY
THRU THROUGH 
TNFH TOP NUT OF FIRE HYDRANT

TRANS TRANSFORMER
TV TELEVISION 
T/W TOP OF WALL
TYP TYPICAL 
UT UTILITY, UNDERGROUND

TELEPHONE
VCP VITRIFIED CLAY PIPE 
W/O WITHOUT 
W/ WITH
YD YARD 
YR YEAR

04/20/21

381

Item 38.



TOP PAVEMENT

TOP CONCRETE WALK

TURN DOWN
CONCRETE WALK

TURN DOWN WALK TRANSITION
N.T.S.

BUILDING LINE

* DIRECTION OF DETAIL MAY BE MIRRORED

TURN DOWN WALK W/
PAVEMENT TRANSITION

N.T.S.
STORE ENTRANCE NO PARKING STRIPING DETAIL

(ALWAYS YELLOW)
STORE ENTRANCE STRIPING

POLE MOUNTED RESERVED
CURBSIDE PARKING SIGNS. SEE PLAN
FOR LOCATION AND TYPE (TYP)

PARKING
STALL WIDTH

ENTIRE PARKING
SPACES TO BE
PAINTED "ALDI BLUE"
WITH WHITE
NUMBERS AND
LETTERS

1 2 3 4
CURBSIDECURBSIDECURBSIDE CURBSIDE

ALDI BLUE CUSTOM COLOR:
CCE COLORANT        OZ    32     64    128

                L1-BLUE                          -      63      1       1
                R3-MAGENTA                -        5      -        1
                Y3-DEEP GOLD             -        1      1       -

-ARIAL BOLD FONT SHALL BE USED FOR NUMBERS AND LETTERS
-PAINT SHALL BE SEALMASTERS 'COLOR PAVE' OR 'LIQUID THERMOPLASTIC'
TRAFFIC MARKING  PAINT OR AS APPROVED BY ALDI CM. CONTACT ROCHESTER
JET-BLACK, GARY ROSBROOK, 585-441-4125 FOR ORDERING.
-a.  COLOR PAVE SHALL BE USED FOR NEW PAVEMENT
-b.  LIQUID THERMOPLASTIC SHALL BE USED FOR OLDER PAVEMENT THAT HAS

BEEN SEALED WITH A COAL TAR SEALER.
-SURFACE PREPARATION SHALL COMPLY WITH MANUFACTURERS REQUIREMENTS.
-SIGNS, NUMBERS AND WORDING TO BE PLACED CENTERED

PARKING SPACE
AND SIGN NUMBER

TO MATCH (TYP)

60"
NUMBERS
(TYP)

12"
LETTERS
(TYP)

WHITE PARKING
STRIPING

CURBSIDE PARKING DETAIL
N.T.S.

GRADE

ALDI MAILBOX W/ POST
N.T.S.

SALSBURY #4385SLV IN GROUND
MOUNTED POST

24
" M

AX
.

41
" T

O 
45

"
AB

OV
E 

GR
AD

E

12" CONCRETE
BASE

SALSBURY #4325SLV MAILBOX

(P
ER

 U
SP

S 
GU

ID
LIN

ES
)

6" TO 8"

*COORDINATE FINAL LOCATION WITH ALDI CONSTRUCTION MANAGER

PARK-IT BIKE RACK (5 BIKES)
N.T.S.

PARK-IT BIKE RACK
(7YT7062)

CONCRETE
GRANULAR
NATIVE SOIL

3
8" ANCHOR ROD

30 - 1/8" ±1"

9 - 7/8"

37
" ±

 1/
2"

47
" ±

 1/
2"

GRADE

GRADE

0.6
3'

36 - 3/4" ±1"

48
"

24"

66
"

36
"

ACCESSIBLE PARKING SIGN 
POST W/BOLLARD
N.T.S.

9"9"

#6 - 14" LONG REBAR
EACH WAY THROUGH

PIPE

PIPE BOLLARD USE 6"
SCHEDULE 40 STEEL PIPE

WITH TOP ROUNDED FILLED
W/ CONCRETE AND

PAINTED TRAFFIC YELLOW

SLOPE TOP OF
CONCRETE

3'
-8

"

SE
E 

SI
G

N
 S

C
HE

D
UL

E 
FO

R 
M

O
UN

TIN
G

 H
EI

G
HT

3'
-0

"

4000 P.S.I. P.C.
CONCRETE

3"

0" (N.T.S.)

GROUND/PAVING
SURFACE

PROVIDE SIGNAGE
AS NOTED ON

PLANS/SCHEDULE

SIGN POST W/ BOLLARD DETAIL
N.T.S. 16-19997

V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE DETAILS

C-020

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-020 SITE DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-020

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

382

Item 38.



957.75'957.75' 957.58'

SLOPE 3% MAX.
(SEE GRADING PLAN)

3'x2' PRE-CAST CATCH BASIN

UNDISTURBED EARTH OR ENGINEERED BACKFILL

LOADING DOCK
PAVEMENT SECTION
(SEE DETAIL)

HEAVY DUTY GRATE AND FRAME - NEENAH R-1878-B7G

SEAL WITH WATERSTOP

FOUNDATION WALL & FOOTING
(SEE ARCHITECTURAL DRAWINGS)

PROPOSED BUILDING FINISHED FLOOR
ELEVATION=962.00'

INVERT=956.16'

2' 2'

2'

6"
17

"

N.T.S.

LOADING DOCK CATCH BASIN A-2 DETAIL

P-2: 8" PVC

4" DIA. PERFORATED PIPE SUBDRAIN, MIN. 1% SLOPE

TRENCH WIDTH, SEE TABLE

1

1

6" GRANULAR
BEDDING

PIPE OD (BC)

12
"

COMPACTED BACKFILL

0.15 BC

STORM DRAIN PIPE

BACKFILL W/GRANULAR
MATERIAL OR SELECT

MATERIAL FROM
EXCAVATION TO 6"

ABOVE PIPE

TRENCH WIDTH
PIPE Ø TRENCH WIDTH
36" OR LESS BC + 24"
42" TO 54" 1.5 x BC

60" OR OVER BC + 36"

NOTES:
GRANULAR BEDDING AND BACKFILL FOR STORM DRAIN PIPES SHALL
BE INCIDENTAL TO STORM DRAIN CONSTRUCTION

0.6 BC

NON-CONCRETE
STORM DRAIN PIPE BEDDING
NTS SD600

TRENCH WIDTH, SEE TABLE

PIPE OD (Bc)

0.15 BC

12
"

1

1

COMPACTED BACKFILL

STORM DRAIN PIPE
6" GRANULAR
BEDDING

TRENCH WIDTH
PIPE Ø TRENCH WIDTH
36" OR LESS Bc + 24"
42" TO 54" 1.5 x Bc

60" OR OVER Bc + 36"

NOTES:
GRANULAR BEDDING AND BACKFILL FOR STORM DRAIN PIPES SHALL
BE INCIDENTAL TO STORM DRAIN CONSTRUCTION

0.6 Bc

BACKFILL W/GRANULAR
MATERIAL OR SELECT

MATERIAL FROM
EXCAVATION TO

SPRINGLINE

REINFORCED CONCRETE
STORM DRAIN PIPE BEDDING
NTS SD601

SANITARY SEWER PIPE

COMPACTED
BACKFILL

OD + 24" MAX

12
"

OD
6"

NOTES:
GRANULAR BEDDING AND ENCASEMENT FOR SANITARY SEWER PIPES SHALL BE
INCIDENTAL TO CONSTRUCTION

PIPE BEDDING
SANITARY SEWER
NTS SA400

WATERMAIN PIPE

GRANULAR BEDDING AS
REQUIRED FOR PVC PIPING IN

ACCORDANCE WITH CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS, IA STANDARDS

COMPACTED
BACKFILL

12
"

OD
6"

OD+24" MAX

NOTE:
GRANULAR BEDDING AND ENCASEMENT FOR WATERMAIN PIPES SHALL BE
INCIDENTAL TO CONSTRUCTION

PIPE BEDDING
WATER MAIN
NTS WM300

GRANULAR BEDDING AS
REQUIRED FOR PVC PIPING IN

ACCORDANCE WITH CITY OF
CEDAR FALLS, IA STANDARDS

A-3 (SW-401)
POND OUTLET STRUCTURE
NTS

'B'

'B'

'A''A'

ATTACH GRATE TO
MANHOLE USING (4)
 12" = 13 UNC HEX HEAD SS
BOLTS W/ NUTS & WASHERSPLANLOCK

SECTION B-B SECTION A-A

GALVANIZED 1/2" STEEL
POND SKIMMER GRATE
1/4" STEEL PLATE W/
1/2"Ø HOLE FOR LOCK

MANHOLE
WALL

1/4" STEEL PLATE W/
1/2"Ø HOLE FOR LOCK

(SEE LOCK DETAIL)

1/2"Ø CONTINUOUS HINGE
BAR (WELD TO GALVANIZED

SKIMMER GRATE)

48"Ø MANHOLE

1/4" STEEL PLATE W/
1/2" Ø HOLE FOR LOCK (SEE
LOCK DETAIL)

64" BASE SLAB

GALVANIZED 1/2" STEEL
POND OVERFLOW GRATE

CONSTRUCT 8" WEIR

GALVANIZED 1/2" STEEL
POND OVERFLOW GRATE

64"Ø BASE SLAB

NOTES:
GRIND EXPOSED FIELD & SHOP WELDS FLUSH WITH
ADJACENT SURFACES.
AFTER FABRICATION, GALVANIZE STRUCTURAL
SHAPES AND MISCELLANEOUS ITEMS IN
ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM A123.
REPAIR DAMAGED & SCRATCHED GALVANIZED
COATINGS AFTER INSTALLATION
GROUT AROUND ALL PIPES ON INSIDE AND OUTSIDE
OF MANHOLE

INLET PIPE
(SEE PIPE SCHEDULE)

OUTLET PIPE
(SEE PIPE SCHEDULE)

TOP OF GRATE/TOP OF CONCRETE STRUCTURE
ELEV =

3" WQV ORIFICE

3" WQV ORIFICE
INVERT =

P-9P-8

960.47

954.80

8" ORIFICE
INVERT =955.60

8" ORIFICE

TOP OF GRATE/TOP OF CONCRETE STRUCTURE
ELEV =958.0

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE DETAILS

C-021

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-021 SITE DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-021

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

383

Item 38.



SUBDRAIN
TERMINAL CLEANOUT/END
NTS SD451

SURFACE PROFILE

45° LONG RADIUS BEND

45° LONG RADIUS BEND

THREADED CAP
MARK WITH BURIED METAL
FOR METAL DETECTION

NOTE:
CLEANOUT LINE TO BE OF THE SAME DIAMETER
AS DRAIN TILE AND SHALL BE TYPE PSM, PVC
SEWER PIPE, SDR 35.
SEE PLANS FOR SIZE.
FOR USE IN GREEN SPACE.

CLEANOUT PIPE W/ PLUG,
FREE FLOATING INSIDE OF
CLEANOUT HOUSING

HEAVY DUTY CAST IRON CLEANOUT
HOUSING W/ HEAVY DUTY CAST IRON
COVER

SEE PAVEMENT SECTION

POUR CONCRETE COLLAR AROUND
HOUSING. 2.0' MIN. DIAMETER, DEPTH

SUFFICIENT TO COVER HOUSING
FLANGE

THREADED PLUG WITH
INTERNAL NUT

HEAVY DUTY
SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT
NTS SD455

GRADE
DROP LID

TOP

BOTTOM

EXTENSION

BASE

CAP TO BE SET 12"
BELOW GRADE.
BOX TO BE SET WITH
12" OF ADJUSTMENT.

RESILIANT WEDGE VALVE
CONFORMING TO AWWA
C-509-80 STANDARDS

GATE VALVE,
BOX SCREW TYPE THREE PIECE,
514" SHAFT SIZE G BOX,
7'6" EXTENDED,
#6 STANDARD BASE
GATE VALVE ADAPTOR

ALL GATE VALVES SHALL
BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH
CITY OF
STANDARDS

GATE VALVE
ADAPTER

1-1/2" WASHED ROCK
(INCIDENTAL)

MEGALUG

CONC BLOCKING

WATERMAIN PIPE BEDDING
(SEE DETAIL)

NOTES:
INSTALL TOP NUT EXTENDER TO 7' DEPTH ON ALL VALVES WITH OVER-DEPTH

TYPICAL
GATE VALVE & BOX INSTALLATION
NTS WM200

CEDAR FALL, IA

5' (TYP)
SEE PLAN

CONC CURB & GUTTER
(SEE DETAIL)

SEE TYPICAL PAVEMENT
SECTION

SINGLE CONDUCTOR COPPER
CLAD TRACER WIRE, SEE

SPECIFICATIONS FOR
REQUIREMENTS (INCIDENTAL)

6" GATE VALVE
& BOX SUPPORT

CONTRACTOR TO FURNISH AND
INSTALL A HIGH-VISIBILITY HYDRANT
MARKER ON EACH HYDRANT TO BE
INCLUDED IN THE CONTRACT PRICE
BID FOR HYDRANT.  CONTRACTOR
SHALL ALSO SUPPLY AN EXTRA
HYDRANT MARKER TO BE DELIVERED
TO CITY SHOP.

2" MIN. GROUND
CLEARANCE

COVER FILTER AGG.
W/ 2 LAYERS OF 8 MIL PLASIC

CONC THRUST BLOCKING &
ANCHORING IN ACCORDANCE
WITH  CITY OF CEDAR FALLS, IA
STANDARDS

IGNEOUS ROCK FILTER, 1.0 CY MIN,
AGGREGATE (NO LIMESTONE) TO 6"
ABOVE WEEP HOLES

CONC BASE
CONC BLOCKING

BEND AS
REQUIRED

JOINT RESTRAINT,
NON-CORROSIVE BOLTS,

(TYP)

WATERMAIN

DEEP WATERMAIN

HYDRANTS SHALL HAVE
16" TRAFFIC FLANGE AND

2-4 1/2" NST CONNECTIONS

2'
12" LONG x 3/4" PVC CONDUIT TO
PROTECT TRACER WIRE,  MIN 3"
TO BE ABOVE GROUND.  ATTACH
TRACER WIRE TO BOLT

ATTACH TRACER WIRE TO BOLT

WRAP HYDRANT WITH 8 MIL PLASTIC

TYPICAL
HYDRANT INSTALLATION
NTS WM100

BACK OF CURB

BACK OF CURB LEVEL WITH
GUTTER LINE

TRANSITION BACK OF
CURB DOWN

CATEGORY 3 TURF REINFORCEMENT MAT
INSTALL PER MANUFACTURE'S INSTRUCTIONS

GUTTER LINE

ANCHOR EDGE 6" MIN,
STAPLE EVERY 2' FT

(TYP, SEE EDGE ANCHOR DETAIL)

EDGE ANCHOR DETAIL

6"

6"

CATEGORY 3 TURF REINFORCMENT MAT

NOTES:
GRADE BEHIND CURB TO BE LEFT 2" LOWER THAN FLOW
LINE TO ALLOW ROOM FOR TURF REINFORCEMENT MAT AND
FOR GRASS TO NOT OBSTRUCT FLOW

CURB CUT
STORM OUTLET
NTS ST280

3'

3'

3'

4" CLEANOUT PIPE W/ PLUG,
FREE FLOATING INSIDE OF
CLEANOUT HOUSING

HEAVY DUTY CAST IRON CLEANOUT
HOUSING W/ HEAVY DUTY CAST IRON
COVER

SEE PAVEMENT SECTION

POUR CONCRETE COLLAR AROUND
HOUSING. 2.0' MIN. DIAMETER, DEPTH

SUFFICIENT TO COVER HOUSING
FLANGE

THREADED PLUG WITH
INTERNAL NUT

COIL 24" OF TRACER WIRE

HEAVY-DUTY
SANITARY CLEANOUT
NTS SA201

45° LONG RADIUS BEND

WYE

TRACER WIRE

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE DETAILS

C-022

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-022 SITE DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-022

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

384

Item 38.



LOADING DOCK PAVEMENT SECTION
N.T.S.

6" THICK CONCRETE SLAB W/ #5'S
18" O.C.E.W. (MIN. 4000 PSI)

AGGREGATE BASE

 GRANULAR BASE

24"

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

4" PERFORATED HDPE SUBDRAIN, NO SOCK (SEE PLAN
FOR LOCATIONS)

MIN. 2" FINE FILTER AGGREGATE AROUND
SUBDRAIN, AGGREGATE WRAPPED IN

FILTER FABRIC (MIRIFI 140N OR EQUAL)

2.00% SLOPE
(SEE GRADING PLAN)

PAVEMENT SECTION
(SEE DETAIL)

EXPANSION JOINT

CONCRETE WALK SECTION
(SEE DETAIL)

FINE FILTER AGGREGATE WRAPPED IN
FILTER FABRIC, (MIRIFI 140N OR EQUAL), TYP.

4" DIA. PERFORATED PIPE, MAINTAIN MIN. 1%
SLOPE, (SEE UTILITY PLAN FOR LOCATIONS)

N.T.S.

BUILDING SIDEWALK DRAIN TILE SECTION

PAVEMENT BASE
(SEE DETAIL)

CONSTRUCT BOLLARD, TYP.
(SEE ARCH. PLANS FOR DETAIL)

24
"

10
"

12"

2"

NOTE:
CONCRETE SHALL HAVE A NON-SLIP
BROOM FINISH

VARIES (SEE PLAN)

.02'/FT

N.T.S.

TURN DOWN CONCRETE WALK SECTION 

8"

20"

5" THICK CONC. WALK
(MIN. 4000 PSI)

SEE PLANS FOR SECTION
ADJACENT TO WALK

TURNED DOWN CONCRETE WALK, TYP.
W/2-#4 REBAR CONTINUOUS

1/2" EXPANSION JOINT

ELEVATIONS DIFFERENCE VARIES
FROM FLUSH TO 6" (SEE SPOT
ELEVATION PLAN)

AGGREGATE BASE AS
CURB FOUNDATION

12" GRANULAR BASE

1/2" EXPANSION JOINT

BUILDING

HORIZONTAL LINE

MATCH CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER
SECTION SEE PLAN FOR LOCATION

SECTION TO MATCH CONCRETE CURB
SHOE ROTATED TO DRAIN SEE PLAN

FOR LOCATION

SLOPE TO DRAIN
2.0% (TYP)

REVERSE PITCH
CONCRETE CURB & GUTTER
NTS ST250

STANDARD BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT SECTION
N.T.S.

HEAVY DUTY BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT SECTION
N.T.S.

CONCRETE SLAB (MIN 4000 PSI)

AGGREGATE BASE

5"
6"

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
NTS

IDOT GRADATION 13

STANDARD

ST120

CONCRETE SLAB (MIN 4000 PSI)

AGGREGATE BASE

6"
6"

COMPACTED SUBGRADE

CONCRETE PAVEMENT
NTS

IDOT GRADATION 13

HEAVY DUTY

ST125
16-19997

V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE DETAILS

C-023

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-023 SITE DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-023

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

385

Item 38.



PV-102

PCC CURB DETAILS

SUDAS DIRECTOR DESIGN METHODS ENGINEER

FIGURE 7010.102 STANDARD ROAD PLAN

BEAM CURB*
*For short replacement sections,

match existing curb profile

DRIVEWAY DROP CURB

FORM
GRADE
ELEV.

15
8''

12"

6" 2" R
Slope as
per plans

Slope as
per plans

6" SLOPED CURB 4" SLOPED CURB

12"
4"

4" 2" R

18"

6"
41
2'' 11

2''

1" R

6"
41
2'' 11

2''

6"
1" R

FORM
GRADE
ELEV.

Slope as
per plans

71
2''

41
2''

6"

6" STANDARD CURB

R 3"

DROP CURB
AT SIDEWALK

1
2'' (max.)

Back of Curb

Level
Line

Gutterline
2'-6" (or as specified)

FORM
GRADE
ELEV.

Slope as
per plans

Proposed
Pavement

1

2

3

1
8

1

2 3

CURB AND GUTTER UNIT

Varies

71
2''

FORM
GRADE
ELEV.

1 12'' to 3''
(as specified)

For joint details, see PV-101.

6" Standard Curb, 6" Sloped Curb, or 4"
Sloped Curb as specified.

  " if Proposed Pavement is HMA. No
elevation difference if Proposed
Pavement is PCC.
'BT' , 'KT', or 'L' joint if Proposed
Pavement is PCC. 'B' joint if Proposed
Pavement is HMA.

See Detail A

DETAIL A

FORM
GRADE
ELEV.

R 3"

Slope as
per plans

Slope as
per plans

7030.205

GENERAL SIDEWALK AND
CURB RAMP DETAILS

SUDAS Standard Specifications

DETECTABLE WARNING LOCATION AT RAILROAD CROSSING

TYPICAL SECTION - CURB RAMP

Slope Varies4
3

PERPENDICULAR CROSSINGSKEWED CROSSING

6 6

Pavement

12"

(length varies) (if required)

6.25% (target)

8.3% (max.)1 2

LC of Roadway

Detectable warning

Sidewalk

1

6" min.

Edge of Pavement

5

2

3

5

4

6

Key

Turning Space

See Detail A

5

Curb Ramp

Standard Sidewalk

5% max.
Cross Slope

(4'-0"x4'-0" min.)

24" Wide (min.)
Detectable Warning

Possible Crossing Arm
(location varies)

Back of Curb

DETAIL A

Gutterline

Level
Line

12" expansion joint or KT-2
or BT-3 joint when specified.

When a KT or BT joint is
installed at the back of curb,
provide 12" expansion joint at
front or back of the turning space.

12" (max.)

4" min.
6" min.

18"

Provide a minimum 2 foot width of
detectable warning surfaces in the
direction of pedestrian travel across
the full width of the curb ramp or
turning space, exclusive of curbs or
flares.

Provide a minimum of 6 inches of
concrete below the detectable warning
panel.

Minimum 4 feet by 4 feet. Target cross
slope of 1.5% with a maximum cross
slope of 2.0%.

If normal sidewalk elevation cannot be
achieved with the perpendicular ramp
between the street and landing due to
limited ramp length, provide a parallel
ramp to make up the elevation
difference between the landing and the
standard sidewalk.

The length of the parallel ramp is not
required to exceed 15 feet, regardless
of the resulting slope.  Do not exceed
8.3% slope for parallel ramps shorter
than 15 feet.

If crossing gate conflicts with
location of detectable warning or if
pedestrian crossing gate is provided,
place detectable warning panel in
advance of the crossing gate.

Locate front edge of detectable warning
panel 12 to 15 feet from centerline of
nearest rail.  Orient truncated domes
parallel to the direction of pedestrian
travel.

Parallel Curb RampTurning SpacePerpendicular Curb Ramp

7030.201

CLASSES OF SIDEWALKS

SUDAS Standard Specifications

W

12"

W

W

Sidewalk

Roadway

(Sidewalk extends from
back of curb to ROW)

Sidewalk

Roadway
4'-0" min.

R
O

W
R

O
W

Roadway
4'-0" min.

R
O

W

Sidewalk

CLASS C SIDEWALK

CLASS B SIDEWALK

CLASS A SIDEWALK

1'-0" or Greater

2

2

1

1

1

1

2

4" min.

See Figure 7030.202
for Curb Detail

  W =Sidewalk width as specified
in the contract documents.

Target cross slope of 1.5% with a
maximum cross slope of 2.0% (including
sidewalk through driveway).

Parking Slopes:
If parking width is less than 10 feet
wide, slope at 14 inch per foot.

If parking width is 10 feet wide and
greater, slope at 12 inch per foot.

Special grade may be specified in the
contract documents.

18"

7030.204

GENERAL FEATURES
OF AN ACCESSIBLE SIDEWALK

SUDAS Standard Specifications

5'-0" min.

Existing
Sidewalk

Cross Slope Transition
Segment (where necessary)

Curb ramp requirements:
1.  Maximum curb ramp slope
     of 8.3%, or

Grade Break

Grade Break

Back of Curb
Face of Curb

Pa
ra

lle
l

C
ur

b 
R

am
p

(if
 re

qu
ire

d)

Turning
Space

1

1

1

2

Special
Shaping

Special
Shaping

Detectable Warning

Key

Turning Space

Curb Ramp

Grass

Perpendicular Curb
Ramp Slope:
6.25% (target)
8.3% (max)

5'
-0

" m
in

.

2.  Minimum length of 15'-0"
     at any constant slope

Passing
area if

sidewalk
is less than
5'-0" wide.

Space passing area at
200'-0" (max.) intervals.
(Required for new
construction)

Match existing
sidewalk cross slope.

2

3

3

Match pedestrian street crossing slope,
or flatter.

Minimum 4 feet by 4 feet.  Target cross
slope of 1.5% with a maximum cross
slope of 2.0%.

Target cross slope of 1.5% with a
maximum cross slope of 2.0%.

Parking

9040.110

RIP RAP FOR PIPE OUTLET
ONTO FLAT GROUND

SUDAS Standard Specifications

Section A-A

2
1

AA

To
e 

of
 S

lo
pe

min.

Length, L

W
id

th
, W

P
ip

e 
D

ia
m

et
er

, D

3D

T

Slope = 0%

Engineering Fabric

Stable Ground

Thickness, T Construct notch
at end of apron.
Depth = 2T

Footing for Apron

PLAN

PROFILE

7030.210

DETECTABLE WARNING
PLACEMENT

SUDAS Standard Specifications

PARALLEL RAMPS

PERPENDICULAR RAMPS

1

2

Detectable Warning

Key

Turning Space

Curb Ramp

2'-0" min.

2'-0" min.

2'-0" min.

2'-0" min.

2'-0" min.

2'-0" min.

2

Grade Break

Grade Break

Grade Break

1

1

1

2

When detectable warning is located on
curb ramp surface, orient domes in the
direction of pedestrian travel.

When the distance between the grade
break and the back of curb is less than
5 feet, place detectable warning
surface at the bottom of the curb ramp.

Where one corner of the curb ramp is
more than 5 feet from the back of curb,
construct curb ramp as a parallel curb
ramp.  Move grade break back as
required to place detectable warning on
turning space at the back of curb.

Provide a minimum 2 foot width of detectable
warning surfaces in the direction of pedestrian
travel across the full width of the curb ramp or
turning space, exclusive of curbs or flares.

Grade Break

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE DETAILS

C-024

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-024 SITE DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-024

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

386

Item 38.



16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PYLON SIGN DETAILS

C-025

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-025 PYLON SIGN DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-025

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21
CONSTRUCTION NOTES:

A.  SPECIFICATIONS
1.  DESIGN, FABRICATION, AND ERECTION OF STRUCTURAL STEEL SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "STEEL CONSTRUCTION MANUAL", 14TH EDITION, BY THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF STEEL

CONSTRUCTION, UNO.
2.  STEEL MATERIALS SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE FOLLOWING SPECIFICATIONS, UNO.

a.  HSS RECTANGULAR, ASTM A500 GRADE B, Fy = 46 ksi
b.  HSS ROUND, ASTM A500 GRADE B, Fy = 42 ksi
c.  PIPE, ASTM A53 GRADE B, Fy = 35 ksi
d.  PLATES AND BARS, ASTM A36, Fy = 36 ksi

3.  ALL WELDING SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF AWS D1.1 (LATEST EDITION) "STRUCTURAL WELDING CODE".
4.  CONCRETE SHALL BE NORMAL WEIGHT, UNO, AND MEET THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA.

a.  f'c = 4,000 psi
b.  6% +/- 1.5% AIR ENTRAINMENT
c.  0.55 MAXIMUM WATER-TO-CEMENT RATIO
d.  CEMENT SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM C150, TYPE I/II
e.  READY-MIX CONCRETE SHALL BE MIXED AND DELIVERED ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C94.
f.  CONCRETE SHALL BE CAST INPLACE AGAINST UNDISTURBED SOIL. A SONO-TUBE FORM SHOULD ONLY BE USED FOR THE TOP 12" OF THE FOOTING. CONCRETE FORM-WORK SHALL CONFORM TO

ALL REQUIREMENTS OF ACE 301 (LATEST EDITION) "SPECIFICATIONS FOR STRUCTURAL CONCRETE FOR BUILDINGS", EXCEPT AS MODIFIED BY THESE DRAWINGS.
5.  ALL ANCHOR RODS SHALL BE SUPPLIED AND INSTALLED BY THE CONCRETE CONTRACTOR, UNO, AND MEET THE FOLLOWING SPECIFICATIONS.

a.  ALL ANCHOR RODS SHALL BE ASTM F1554, GRADE 36, HEX-HEAD, NUTS SHALL BE ASTM A563, GRADE A, HEAVY-HEX, HARDENED WASHERS SHALL BE ASTM 436, OVER-SIZED PLATE WASHERS
SHALL BE ASTM A36, AND ALL HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED.

b.  ALL ANCHOR RODS SHALL BE SET WITH TEMPLATES.
6.  DEFORMED BAR REINFORCEMENT SHALL BE ASTM A615, GRADE 60, UNO, AND MEET THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA.

a.  DEVELOPMENT LENGTH OF STRAIGHT BARS SHALL BE 48 TIMES THE DIAMATER OF THE BAR.
b.  MINIMUM CLEAR CONCRETE COVER SHALL BE 3 INCHES.
c.  ALL REINFORCING STEEL, ANCHOR RODS, DOWELS, AND INSERTS SHALL BE SECURED IN POSITION WITH WIRE POSITIONERS, OR EQUIVALENT, BEFORE PLACING CONCRETE.

7.  PYLON POLES ARE TO BE PAINTED "SHERWIN WILLIAMS SW-7019 GAUNTLET GRAY". FOLLOW MANUFACTURER'S SPEC FOR PAINTING.

B.  SUBMITTALS:
1.  PRIOR TO SUBMITTAL, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW THE SHOP DRAWINGS AND MAKE ANY CORRECTIONS REQUIRED. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL STAMP AND SIGN THE SHOP DRAWINGS PRIOR TO

SUBMITTAL TO THE ENGINEER.
2.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT PRODUCT DATA FOR PROPRIETARY MATERIAL AND ITEMS, INCLUDING FORMING ACCESSORIES, ADMIXTURES, PATCHING COMPOUNDS, SEALANTS, WATERSTOPS,

JOINT SYSTEMS, CURING COMPOUNDS, AND OTHERS IN AND FOR CONSTRUCTION.
3.  THE FABRICATOR SHALL CLEARLY HIGHLIGHT/CLOUD ANY CHANGES MADE IN THE SHOP DRAWINGS WHICH DO NOT COMPLY WITH DESIGN DRAWINGS, ANY CHANGES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE

ENGINEER PRIOR TO FABRICATION.
4.  CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT THE FOLLOWING DRAWINGS TO ENGINEER FOR REVIEW PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION OF SIGN.

a.  CONCRETE REINFORCING STEEL
b.  ANCHOR RODS
c.  CONCRETE MIX DESIGNS
d.  STRUCTURAL STEEL
e.  ADDITIONAL SHOP DRAWINGS REQUESTED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS.

5.  A COPY OF ALL SHOP DRAWINGS SHALL BE MAINTAINED ON SITE AT ALL TIMES.

C.  QUALITY CONTROL AND QUALITY ASSURANCE:
1.  COORDINATE FOR ENGINEER OR OWNER'S INDEPENDENT TESTING AGENCY TO INSPECT AND APPROVE REINFORCING STEEL AND EMBEDS PRIOR TO ORDERING CONCRETE.
2.  COORDINATE FOR OWNER'S INDEPENDENT TESTING AGENCY TO BE ON SITE AND PERFORM CONTINUOUS INSPECTION WHILE CONCRETE PLACEMENT IS OCCURING. PROVIDE NOTICE NO LESS THAN 48

HOURS IN ADVANCE OF CONCRETE PLACEMENT.
3.  COORDINATE WITH OWNER'S INDEPENDENT TESTING AGENCY TO SAMPLE CONCRETE AT TIME OF PLACEMENT IN ORDER TO PERFORM SLUMP, AIR, TEMPERATURE AND CASTING OF CYLINDERS.
4.  ANY AND ALL WORK PERFORMED WITHOUT PROPER INSPECTION AND TESTING AS OUTLINED IN THIS SPECIFICATION WILL BE CONSIDERED UNAUTHORIZED WORK. ANY CORRECTIVE MEASURES

REQUIRED OF THE UNAUTHORIZED WORK WILL BE AT CONTRACTORS OWN EXPENSE.

12
'-0

"

10'-0"

40
'-0

"

5'-
6"'A' 'A'

N.T.S.

ALDI, INC. PYLON SIGN DETAIL 'A'

GRADE 100'-0"

SEE DETAIL 'B'

N.T.S.

DETAIL 'B'

6"
 (T

YP
.)

48"ø REINFORCED CONCRETE PIER

'A'-'A'

18"Ø STD. PIPE COLUMN

(1) 1-3/4"x30"x30" PLATE
3" TYP.

(28) #9 BARS VERTICAL WITH 3" CONCRETE
COVER, HOOKED INTO BASE SLAB

#4 TIES @ 12" O.C. TYP. WITH TOP 24"
WITH #4 TIES @ 4" O.C.

2 1
/2"

 U
NG

RO
UT

ED

2'-
0"

 (4
" S

PA
CI

NG
)

HEAVY HEX NUT

1/2"x3-1/2"x3-1/2" PLATE WASHER

1/2" CONTINUOUS FILLET WELD

1-3/8"Ø ANCHOR BOLT ASSEMBLY 28" LONG
(ASTM F 1554 GR.36), HDG

1/2"x3-1/2"x3-1/2" PLATE WASHERS
TOP & BOTTOM WITH

LEVELING NUT & HARDENED WASHERS

18"Ø STD. PIPE COLUMN

(1) 1-3/4"x30"x30" PLATE

CONCRETE PIER
(MINIMUM 4000 P.S.I.)

F&I: ELECTRIC CONDUIT FOR
10'x12' ILLUMINATED PYLON SIGN
(COORDINATE W/SITE
 ELECTRICAL PLAN)

F&I: ELECTRIC CONDUIT FOR 10'x12' ILLUMINATED
PYLON SIGN (COORDINATE W/SITE ELECTRICAL PLAN)

5'-
6"

48" X 48" RECTANGULAR
REINFORCED CONCRETE PIER

48"

3'-
0"

F&I: CUSTOM 10'x12'
ILLUMINATED PYLON SIGN

2" GAP MAX

28
'

SIGN AT GRADE
(SEE GRADING PLAN FOR

FINISHED GRADE AT SIGN)

12
'-0

"

10'-0"

40
'-0

"

5'-
6"'A' 'A'

N.T.S.

ALDI, INC. PYLON SIGN DETAIL 'B'

6"
 (T

YP
.)

48" SQUARE REINFORCED CONCRETE PIER

F&I: CUSTOM 10'x12'
ILLUMINATED PYLON SIGN

2" GAP MAX

16
'-0

"

SIGN AT GRADE
(SEE GRADING PLAN FOR

FINISHED GRADE AT SIGN)

12
'-0

"

(12) 1-3/8"Ø ANCHOR BOLT ASSEMBLY 28" LONG
(ASTM F 1554 GR.36), HDG

TOP OF PEDESTAL = 100'-6"

TOP OF FOOTING = 95'-0"

GRADE 100'-0"

TOP OF PEDESTAL = 100'-6"

TOP OF FOOTING = 95'-0"
'B' 'B' 'B' 'B'

'B'-'B'

10
'-0

"

18'-0"

4'-0"

4'-
0"

4'-0"

4'-
0"

1'-1" 4'-0" 4'-0" 1'-1"

(28) #9 VERT BARS W/ #4 TIES @ 12" OC

18" CONCRETE BASE SLAB W/ #6 BARS
@ 12" OC, EW TOP & BOT
TSE = 5'-0" BELOW GRADE

SEE DETAIL 'B'

(28) #9 VERT BARS W/ #4 TIES @ 12" OC

387

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

15
BASIN A

BOTTOM ELEVATION: 954.69'
TOP ELEVATION: 958.00'

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

1
CURBSIDE

2
CURBSIDE

3
CURBSIDE

4
CURBSIDE

15

ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

>>
>>

>>
>>

BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

> > > >

I I I I I I I I

>>
>>

>>
>>

PCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPCPC

PC
PC

PC
PC

PC
PC

PC
PC

PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC

PC

96
0

96
0

96
5

95
9

95
9

961

96
1

96
2

96
3

96
4

96
6

960
960

959

959

96
1

961961

962

962

96
1

961

962
962

960

956

956

957

957

958

958
959

955

95
5

96
096

096
0

96
0

95
6

956

95
7

957

95
895
8

95
8

958
958

958

95
995

9

959

95
9

96
1

96
196
1

96
1

96
2

96
2

96
0

96
1

961

PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC PC

PC

PC

PC

PCPCPCPCPC
PC

PC

PC

PC

PC

PC
PC

PC
PC

15>>
>>

96
1

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE EROSION
CONTROL PLAN

C-110

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-110 SITE EROSION CONTROL PLAN

 ---- ---- C-110

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

20 40

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

EROSION CONTROL QUANTITIES
DESCRIPTION UNITS QUANTITY

RANDOM RIPRAP, CLASS 3 CY 16

STORM DRAIN INLET PROTECTION EACH 7
PERIMETER CONTROL LF 2,010
STABILIZED CONSTRUCTION EXIT EACH 2
SEDIMENT CONTROL LOG LF 195
CONCRETE WASHOUT AREA EA 1
QUANTITIES ARE FOR INFORMATIONAL PURPOSES TO MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE
CONSTRUCTION STORMWATER PERMIT. NO GUARANTEE IS MADE TO THE ACTUAL QUANTITIES
REQUIRED.

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

EROSION CONTROL LEGEND
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

RANDOM RIPRAP, CLASS 3

PERIMETER CONTROL

STORM DRAIN INLET PROTECTION

ROCK CONSTRUCTION EXIT

TURF REINFORCEMENT MAT, CATEGORY 3

CONCRETE WASHOUT AREA

EXISTING DRAINAGE ARROW

PROPOSED DRAINAGE ARROW

EXISTING CONTOUR (MINOR INTERVAL)

EXISTING CONTOUR (MAJOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED CONTOUR (MINOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED CONTOUR (MAJOR INTERVAL)

PERIMETER CONTROL CAN BE SILT FENCE OR SEDIMENT CONTROL LOG.

SEE SITE RESTORATION PLAN FOR FINAL TURF ESTABLISHMENT.

NOTE: EROSION CONTROL PLAN COVERAGE INCLUDES ELECTRIC, GAS, TELEPHONE, AND CABLE
INSTALLATION. EACH COMPANY OR THEIR SUBCONTRACTOR IS RESPONSIBLE TO FOLLOW THE
REQUIREMENTS OF THIS PLAN, INCLUDING PROVIDING THEIR OWN RESTORATION IF INSTALLATION
OCCURS AFTER PRIMARY INSTALLATION OF SEEDING/SODDING/MULCHING DURING CONSTRUCTION OF
EACH UTILITY.

PC

101

100

101

100

TURF REINFORCEMENT MAT, TYP. OF 4
(SEE CURB CUT DETAIL)

388

Item 38.



16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE EROSION
CONTROL DETAILS

C-120

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-120 SITE EROSION CONTROL DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-120

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

1'

EMBED IN 2" DEEP TRENCH

SEDIMENT CONTROL LOG

NOTES:
SEDIMENT CONTROL LOGS TO BE 6" DIAMETER UNLESS OTHEWISE NOTED.
STAKED INTO THE GROUND WITH WOOD STAKES.

WOOD STAKES ARE A MINIMUM OF 2"x16"x12" UNLESS PRECLUDED BY PAVED SURFACE OR ROCK.

WOOD STAKES DRIVEN THROUGH BACK HALF OF SEDIMENT CONTROL LOG AT AN APPROXIMATE ANGLE OF
45° WITH THE TOP OF STAKE POINTING UP STREAM.

WHEN MORE THAN ONE SEDIMENT CONTROL LOG IS NEEDED, OVERLAP ENDS A MINIMUM OF 6" AND STAKE

SEDIMENT CONTROL LOG STAKING
NTS EC300

FLOW

SEDIMENT CONTROL LOG

2' 1' 
MI

N

3' 
DE

EP

10'NATIVE
MATERIAL

5'x10'x3' CONCRETE
WASHOUT AREA

1' DEEP IMPERVIOUS
CLAY LINER

MINIMUM 10-MIL THICK
PLASTIC SHEETING OR
APPROVED EQUAL

NOTES:
CONTRACTOR SHALL INSTALL A SIGN INDICATING THE CONCRETE WASHOUT AREA.

CONTRACTOR SHALL MAINTAIN WASHOUT AREA TO REMOVE MATERIALS BEYOND 75% CAPACITY.

WASHOUT AREA SHALL NOT BE PLACED WITHIN 50' OF STORM DRAINS, OPEN DITCHES OR BODIES OF WATER.

CONTRACTOR SHALL INSPECT WASHOUT AREA AS NECESSARY TO PREVENT LEAKS AND OVER TOPPING.

WASHOUT AREA SHALL BE REMOVED AFTER CONSTRUCTION IS COMPLETE.

CONCRETE WASHOUT
NTS EC500

STAINLESS STEEL CLAMPING BAND

11 GA GALVANIZED STEEL SUSPENSION SYSTEM

LIFT HANDLES

REPLACEABLE SEDIMENT BAGS WITH
GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC

STANDARD 2"
OVERFLOW AREA

NOTES:
FOR SPECIFICATIONS AND MAINTENANCE GUIDELINES VISIT
WWW.INLETFILTERS.COM

INSTALLATION:
REMOVE GRATE
DROP FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER ONTO LOAD BEARING LIP OF CASTING OR
CONCRETE STRUCTURE
REPLACE GRATE

MATERIALS:
FRAMING - 11 GAUGE STEEL; CORROSION RESISTANT
SEDIMENT BAG - WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC; 2 CUBIC FOOT TYP VOLUME;
STAINLESS STEEL LOCKING BAND SECURING BAG TO FRAME

ROUND FILTER
INLET PROTECTION
NTS EC210

STANDARD 2"
OVERFLOW AREA 11 GA GALVANIZED STEEL SUSPENSION SYSTEM

LIFT HANDLES

REPLACEABLE SEDIMENT BAGS WITH
GEOTEXTILE FILTER FABRIC

NOTES:
FOR SPECIFICATIONS AND MAINTENANCE GUIDELINES VISIT
WWW.INLETFILTERS.COM

INSTALLATION:
REMOVE GRATE
DROP FLEXSTORM INLET FILTER ONTO LOAD BEARING LIP OF CASTING OR
CONCRETE STRUCTURE
REPLACE GRATE

MATERIALS:
FRAMING - 11 GAUGE STEEL; CORROSION RESISTANT
SEDIMENT BAG - WOVEN GEOTEXTILE FABRIC; 2 CUBIC FOOT TYP VOLUME;
STAINLESS STEEL LOCKING BAND SECURING BAG TO FRAME

RECTANGULAR FILTER
INLET PROTECTION
NTS EC211

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

9040.102

FILTER BERM AND FILTER SOCK

SUDAS Standard Specifications

Water Flow

Water Flow
1

1

12
"

24
"

Disturbed Area

Dire
cti

on of F
low

2'-0"

Water Flow

(for perimeter control along street)

10
'-0

" m
ax

.

(for sediment and slope control)

Area to
be Protected

Fill Material

Filter Material

Stakes (typ.)

Construct "J-hook" at each
end on an individual section
of sock or berm.

Place berm or sock
perpendicular to slope.

Stake

Berm shown is typical for slopes flatter than
3:1.  For steeper slopes, increase berm size
as directed by the Engineer.

Place berm in uncompacted windrow
perpendicular to the slope at locations
specified in the contract documents.

Filter sock diameter as specified in the
contract documents.

PLAN VIEW OF SLOPE

FILTER BERM

FILTER SOCK
SECTION VIEW AT STREET

TYPICAL PLACEMENT OF BERM OR SOCK

20
0'

-0
" m

ax
. l

en
gt

h 
pe

r s
ec

tio
n

(6
00

'-0
" i

f s
lo

pe
 is

 fl
at

te
r t

ha
n 

5%
)

 3' m
in.

Ove
rla

p

9040.120

STABALIZED
CONSTRUCTION ENTRANCE

SUDAS Standard Specifications

1

Length

1

1

Thickness as
specified (6" min.).

20'-0" m
inimum

10'-0" m
in.

1 Entrance length:  50 foot minimum
(30 foot for single family residential), or
as specified in the contract documents.
Length of entrance may be increased if
sediment track-out occurs.

9040.119

SILT FENCE

SUDAS Standard Specifications

(Plan View)

Flow

1

24"
36"

8'-0" Spacing

200'-0" max. length per section

(600'-0" if slope is flatter than 5%)

2

(Profile View)

1

1

See plans for spacing.

'T' Steel
Fence Post
4'-0" min.

Ground line

Fabric

Ground Line
Fabric

Ground ContoursInstall parallel to
ground contour.

Install "J-hook" at each end of an
individual section of silt fence.

Insert 12 inches of fabric a minimum
of 6 inches deep (fabric may be
folded below the ground line).

Reduce post spacing to 5'-0" at water
concentration areas, or as required
to adequately support fence.

1

2

TYPICAL SILT FENCE INSTALLATION ON LONGITUDINAL SLOPES

DETAILS OF SILT FENCE ON LONGITUDINAL SLOPES

TYPICAL SILT FENCE INSTALLATION ON LONGITUDINAL SLOPES

9040.119

SILT FENCE

SUDAS Standard Specifications

Foreslope Back
slo

pe

1

Post Spacing

(5'-0" max.)

Post Spacing

(5'-0" max.)

Fabric

Variable (20'-0" for a normal 10'-0" wide ditch.)

2" min.

20" min.

Post

Wire or
Cable Ties

Insert 12 inches of fabric a minimum
of 6 inches deep (fabric may be
folded below the ground line).

1

TYPICAL SILT FENCE DITCH CHECK

ATTACHMENT TO POST

389

Item 38.



ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

EX STM MH
R=958.63

I=955.65 (18" HDPE) W

EX CB
R=957.95
I=954.33 (15" HDPE) W

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL

I I

UE

UE

>>

I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

II

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE

BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

EX STM MH
R=960.94

I=957.15 (15" HDPE) W

EX SAN MH
R=961.04

I=936.64 (12" VCP?) E
I=936.62 (12" VCP?) W

I=955.11 Structure

G
G

G
G

G
G

G
U

E
U

E
U

E
U

E
U

E
U

E

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

I I I I I I I I I I I I I I I

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

EXISTING SITE &
REMOVAL PLAN

C-210

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-210 EXISTING SITE & REMOVAL PLAN

 ---- ---- C-210

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

20 40

REMOVAL LEGEND
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

REMOVE BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT

REMOVE CONCRETE
PAVEMENT

REMOVE CONCRETE WALK

REMOVE GRAVEL SURFACE

CONTRACTOR SHALL VERIFY EXISTING PAVEMENT SECTION
AND NOTIFY ENGINEER OF ANY DISCREPANCIES.
PAVEMENT REMOVALS SHALL INCLUDE FULL DEPTH
SAWCUT & SECTION REMOVAL.

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE CURB
& GUTTER SECTION

SAWCUT & REMOVE CURB
& GUTTER SECTION

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

REMOVE HYDRANT,
VALVE, & BOLLARDS

TEMPORARILY CAP WATER LINE
(SEE SITE UTILITY PLAN)

REMOVE OR ABANDON WATER LINE AS
NECESSARY FOR SITE CONSTRUCTION

 REMOVE CURB & GUTTER SECTION REMOVE STORM STRUCTURE

 REMOVE 18" STORM SEWER

 REMOVE CURB & GUTTER SECTION

 REMOVE BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT SECTION

REMOVE FENCE, GATE, POSTS, & BOLLARDS

REMOVE FENCE & POSTS, TYP.

PROTECT EXISTING FENCE

PROTECT EXISTING FENCE

REMOVE ALL EXISTING ABOVE & BELOW GROUND
SITE FEATURES TO ALLOW FOR CONSTRUCTION

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

PROTECT CURB & GUTTER
(BITUMINOUS REMOVAL ONLY)

PROTECT CURB & GUTTER
(BITUMINOUS REMOVAL ONLY)

PROTECT CURB & GUTTER
(BITUMINOUS REMOVAL ONLY)

SAWCUT & REMOVE CURB & GUTTERMA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

RELOCATE 'TRUCK PARKING' SIGN

SAWCUT & REMOVE CURB & GUTTER

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

PROTECT EXISTING WALK

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

SAWCUT & REMOVE
BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

390

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

15 15
BASIN A

BOTTOM ELEVATION: 954.69'
TOP ELEVATION: 958.00'

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

1
CURBSIDE

2
CURBSIDE

3
CURBSIDE

4
CURBSIDE

15

27

32

16

22

20

10

ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

FO

U
X

X
X

X
X

X X X
BENCHMARK TNFH
Leveled Elev= 964.26'

BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA

ADDENDUM 1 04/16/21

ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

OVERALL SITE PLAN

C-300

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-300 OVERALL SITE PLAN

 ---- ---- C-300

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

50 100

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY
LINE

PYLON SIGN 'B'
(SEE DETAIL)

PYLON SIGN 'A' (SEE DETAIL)

EXISTING PROPERTY LINE

REMOVE EXISTING PYLON SIGN,
BASE, FOOTING, AND BOLLARDS

5' SIDEWALK

5' SIDEWALK

TERMINATE 5' WALK AT PROPERTY LINE

CONNECT TO EXISTING PUBLIC WALK

ADA RAMP

ADA RAMP
PROPOSED PUBLIC SIDEWALK EASEMENT

PROPOSED ACCESS EASEMENT

BID ITEMS:
   BASE BID: CONSISTS OF ALL WORK AS SHOWN WITHIN THIS PLAN SET.

   BID ALTERNATE #4: SEAL COAT AND CRACK FILL ALL EXISTING PAVEMENT WITHIN
THE ALDI PROPERTY BOUNDARY NOT BEING REPLACED AS PART OF THE BASE BID.

   BID ALTERNATE #5: PERFORM 1.5" MILL AND OVERLAY OF ALL EXISTING PAVEMENT
WITHIN THE ALDI PROPERTY BOUNDARY NOT BEING REPLACED AS PART OF THE
BASE BID.

391

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

15
BASIN A

BOTTOM ELEVATION: 954.69'
TOP ELEVATION: 958.00'

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

1
CURBSIDE

2
CURBSIDE

3
CURBSIDE

4
CURBSIDE

15

ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

15

27

32

22

20

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE PLAN

C-310

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-310 SITE PLAN

 ---- ---- C-310

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

20 40

NOTE: F&I: ALL PARKING LOT STRIPING AND
MARKINGS AS SHOWN

NOTE: ALDI MAILBOX & POST LOCATION TO BE
DETERMINED BY U.S. POSTMASTER
(SEE DETAIL FOR DESIGN CRITERIA)

PARKING LOT STRIPING, TYP. (WHITE)

PAVEMENT LEGEND
SYMBOL DESCRIPTION

BITUMINOUS PAVEMENT

HEAVY DUTY BITUMINOUS
PAVEMENT

CONCRETE WALK

REVERSE PITCH CONCRETE
CURB & GUTTER

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

10'20
'

32'

10'10'

39.4'

10
'

10
'

79
.34

'

32
'

CURB CUT, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

50
.7'

ACCESSIBLE SIGN W/ BOLLARD,
TYP. OF 4 (SEE DETAIL)

H.C. STRIPING, TYP.

CURBSIDE PARKING SIGN &
POST, TYP. OF 4 (SEE DETAIL)

LIGHT POLE & BASE, TYP.
(SEE SITE LIGHTING PLAN)

"CURBSIDE PICKUP" PARKING
SPACES (SEE DETAIL)

TRASH LOCATION

LIGHT POLE & BASE, TYP.
(SEE SITE LIGHTING PLAN)

76'

R25'

R5'

R25'

R25'

R25'

R25'

R25'

R25'

R5'

R5'

10
'

5'

26'

SEE SHEET C-321 BUILDING DETAIL PLAN

CURB CUT, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

CURB CUT, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

CURB CUT, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

10'

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

PROPERTY LINE

PYLON SIGN 'A' (SEE DETAIL)

5' SIDEWALK

5' SIDEWALK

TERMINATE 5' WALK AT PROPERTY LINE

ADA RAMP

ADA RAMP

PROPOSED PUBLIC SIDEWALK EASEMENT

PROPOSED ACCESS EASEMENT

PROPERTY LINE

PROPERTY LINE

LIGHT POLE & BASE, TYP.
(SEE SITE LIGHTING PLAN)

RELOCATED 'TRUCK PARKING' SIGN

PROTECT EXISTING CURB & GUTTERPROTECT EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

PROTECT EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

MAINTAIN EXISTING FLOWLINE
THROUGH BACK OF ISLAND

MAINTAIN EXISTING FLOWLINE
THROUGH BACK OF ISLAND

MAINTAIN EXISTING FLOWLINE
THROUGH BACK OF ISLAND

6" CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

6" CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

6" CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

4" SLOPE CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

4" SLOPE CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

6" CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

4" SLOPE CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

4" SLOPE CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

R5' R5' R5'14'

14'14'

10'

20
'

R5'
10'

10' 20
'

R5' R5'

R10'

R3'R5'

MAINTAIN EXISTING FLOWLINE

R5'

10'

10'

10'10' 10'

10'

40.2'

27.3'

MATCH LINE 'B'

MATCH LINE 'B'

5' SIDEWALK

R5'

R5'

10'

10'

PROPERTY LINE

5'

10'

10'

R5'

R5'

10'

R5'

10'

20
'

20
'

392

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

15

G

G

G G

U
E

U
E

U
T

U
T

U
T

UT UT UT UT UT UT UT

BASIN A
BOTTOM ELEVATION: 954.69'

TOP ELEVATION: 958.00'

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

1
CURBSIDE

2
CURBSIDE

3
CURBSIDE

4
CURBSIDE

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE
UE

15

ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

EX CB
R=957.95
I=954.33 (15" HDPE) W

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O
FB

O

UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL

>>

I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

I

I

>>

II

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

> > > >

I I I I I I I I

>>
>>

>>
>>

SA-4
R=960.60

I=954.94 (6'') SP-5
I=954.94 (6'') SP-4

SP-5 (6")

SA-5
R=961.38
I=955.94 (6'') SP-6
I=955.94 (6'') SP-5

P-4 (6")

P-5 (6")

P-
6 (

6"
)

P-7 (6")

A-2
R=957.58
I=956.16 (8'') P-2
I=954.75 (SUMP)

P-2 (8")

A-1
R=961.48

I=956.11 (8'') P-2
I=956.11 (8'') P-1

P-1 (8")

RD-1
I=957.05

P-3 (12")

FES-1
I=956.50

FES-2
I=954.69P-9 (12")

A-3
R=960.47
I=954.63 (12'') P-9
I=954.53 (12'') P-8

P-
8 (

12
")

EX-ST-MH-1
R=957.95
I=954.33 (12'') P-8
I=954.33 (12'') EX-ST-4

A-96
I=955.58

RD-2
I=958.00

SAN-1
I=956.00

SP-6 (6")

2722 > >

> > > >
>

>
>

>

> > > >

>>
>>

>>

EX-SAN-MH-1
R=961.04

I=951.41 (6'') SP-1
I=936.64 (12'') EX-SAN-1
I=936.62 (12'') EX-SAN-2

SP-1 (6")

SA-1
R=962.28
I=951.94 (6'') SP-2
I=951.94 (6'') SP-1

SP-2 (6")

SA-2
R=961.26

I=952.94 (6'') SP-3
I=952.94 (6'') SP-2

SP-3 (6")

SA-3
R=960.33
I=953.94 (6'') SP-4
I=953.94 (6'') SP-3

SP-4 (6")

STORM DRAIN PIPE SCHEDULE

PIPE
NO.

P-1

P-2

P-3

P-4

P-5

P-6

P-7

P-8

P-9

DRAIN
FROM

A-1

A-2

RD-1

A-88

A-89

A-90

RD-2

A-3

FES-2

INLET
ELEVATION

956.11

956.16

957.05

957.11

957.48

957.88

958.00

954.53

954.69

DRAIN
TO

A-96

A-1

FES-1

A-87

A-88

A-89

A-90

EX-ST-MH-1

A-3

OUTLET
ELEVATION

955.58

956.11

956.50

956.00

957.11

957.48

957.89

954.33

954.63

PIPE
SIZE (IN)

8

8

12

6

6

6

6

12

12

MATERIAL

PVC

PVC

HDPE

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

HDPE

HDPE

PIPE
GRADE

0.50%

0.50%

0.50%

0.55%

0.55%

0.55%

0.62%

0.19%

0.19%

PIPE
LENGTH (FT)

105

11

110

201

68

73

18

105

29

SANITARY SEWER PIPE SCHEDULE

PIPE
NO.

SP-1

SP-2

SP-3

SP-4

SP-5

SP-6

DRAIN
FROM

SA-1

SA-2

SA-3

SA-4

SA-5

SAN-1

INLET
ELEVATION

951.94

952.94

953.94

954.94

955.94

956.00

DRAIN
TO

EX-SAN-MH-1

SA-1

SA-2

SA-3

SA-4

SA-5

OUTLET
ELEVATION

951.41

951.94

952.94

953.94

954.94

955.94

PIPE
SIZE

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

6"

MATERIAL

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PIPE
CLASS

SDR-26

SDR-26

SDR-26

SDR-26

SDR-26

SDR-26

PIPE
GRADE

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

1.00%

PIPE
LENGTH (FT)

53

100

100

100

100

6

SANITARY SEWER STRUCTURE SCHEDULE

STRUCTURE
 NO.

SA-1

SA-2

SA-3

SA-4

SA-5

STRUCTURE
TYPE

CLEANOUT

CLEANOUT

CLEANOUT

CLEANOUT

CLEANOUT

STRUCTURE
SIZE (In)

6 Ø

6 Ø

6 Ø

6 Ø

6 Ø

STRUCTURE
MATERIAL

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

PVC

CASTING

SOLID

SOLID

SOLID

SOLID

SOLID

TOP OF CASTING
ELEVATION

962.28

961.26

960.33

960.60

961.38

INVERT
ELEVATION

951.94

952.94

953.94

954.94

955.94

OUTLET
PIPE

SP-1

SP-2

SP-3

SP-4

SP-5

STORM DRAIN APRON
SCHEDULE

APRON
 NO.

FES-1

FES-2

APRON
SIZE (in)

12

12

APRON
MATERIAL

HDPE

HDPE

INVERT
ELEVATION

956.50

954.69

PIPE
NO.

P-3

P-9

STORM DRAIN STRUCTURE SCHEDULE

STRUCTURE
 NO.

A-1

A-2

A-3

STRUCTURE
TYPE

CLEANOUT

SEE DETAIL

SW-401

STRUCTURE
SIZE (In)

8 Ø

36 x 24

48 Ø

STRUCTURE
MATERIAL

PVC

RC

RC

CASTING

SOLID

NEENAH R-3210-Q

OVERFLOW GRATE

* TOP OF CASTING
ELEVATION

961.48

957.58

960.47

INVERT
ELEVATION

956.11

954.75

954.53

OUTLET
PIPE

P-1

P-2

P-8

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA

ADDENDUM 1 04/16/21

ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE UTILITY PLAN

C-320

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-320 SITE UTILITY PLAN

 ---- ---- C-320

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

20 40

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21
MA

TC
H 

LIN
E 

'A'

HYDRANT & VALVE

6" TEE & VALVE

TRANSFORMER LOCATION
(COORD. W/ UTILITY COMPANY)

NOTES:
· ALL UTILITIES  ARE TO BE CONSTRUCTED TO 5' OUTSIDE OF

BUILDING AND ARE TO BE CONNECTED TO BUILDING BY
MECHANICAL/PLUMBING CONTRACTOR.

· ENSURE 18" VERTICAL BETWEEN ALL PROPOSED & EXISTING
WATER, STORM, & SANITARY.

· R = TOP BACK OF CURB ELEVATIONS FOR CURB STYLE CATCH
BASINS, NOT GUTTER ELEVATIONS

UTILITY LEGEND
EXISTING PROPOSED

STORM DRAIN

SANITARY SEWER

SANITARY SEWER FORCEMAIN

WATER MAIN

GAS

OVERHEAD ELECTRIC

UNDERGROUND ELECTRIC

UNDERGROUND TELEPHONE

UNDERGROUND TV

OVERHEAD UTILITY

UNDERGROUND UTILITY

FIBER OPTIC

NOTE:
CONTRACTOR SHALL FIELD VERIFY THE LOCATIONS OF ALL EXISTING UTILITIES.

>> >>

> >

<II II>

I I

G G

OE OE

UE UE

UT UT

UTV

OHL

UTL

FBO

CONNECT TO EXISTING WATER MAIN
(VERIFY SIZE, DEPTH, & LOCATION)

CONNECT TO EXISTING 12" WATER MAIN
(VERIFY SIZE, DEPTH, & LOCATION)

INSTALL CLEANOUT TO EXISTING STORM
(FIELD VERIFY TYPE, SIZE, & DEPTH)

MAINTAIN 12" BETWEEN SERVICES
(VERIFY DEPTH & LOCATION)

MAINTAIN 12" BETWEEN SERVICES
(VERIFY DEPTH & LOCATION)

CONNECT SP-1 TO EXISTING MANHOLE
USING INSIDE DROP STRUCTURE

FDC (SEE ARCH)

83'

SEE SHEET C-321 BUILDING DETAIL PLAN

6" WATER SERVICE

393

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

U
E

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

> >

P-
6 (

6"
)

P-7 (6")

A-2
R=957.58
I=956.16 (8'') P-2
I=954.75 (SUMP)

P-2 (8")

A-1
R=961.48

I=956.11 (8'') P-2
I=956.11 (8'') P-1

P-1 (8")

RD-1
I=957.05

P-3 (12")

RD-2
I=958.00

SAN-1
I=956.00

SP-6 (6")

SA-5
R=961.38
I=955.94 (6'') SP-6
I=955.94 (6'') SP-5

DOCK BOLLARD, TYP. OF  3
(SEE ARCH)

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

BUILDING DETAIL
PLAN

C-321

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-321 BUILDING DETAIL PLAN

 ---- ---- C-321

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

10 20

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

CONNECT 4" SUBDRAIN TO LOADING
DOCK CATCH BASIN (SEE DETAIL)

HEAVY DUTY
SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT

4" SUBDRAIN PIPE @ 1.00% MIN
(SEE DETAIL)

LOADING DOCK SECTION
(HATCH) (SEE DETAIL)

LOADING DOCK
RETAINING WALL
(SEE STRUCTURAL)

6" CURB & GUTTER, TYP.
(SEE DETAIL)

FIRE DEPT. CONNECTION
(SEE ARCH)

TRASH LOCATION
(SEE ARCH)

DOCK WALL SUBDRAIN
(SEE ARCH)

DOCK STAIRS
(SEE ARCH)

6" SANITARY SERVICE TO 5' FROM BUILDING, CONNECTION
INTO BUILDING BY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR

PROVIDE GAS, ELECTRICAL, AND PHONE
SERVICE TO 5' FROM BUILDING, CONNECTION

INTO BUILDING BY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR
6" FIRE SERVICE TO 5' FROM BUILDING.

(CONNECTION INTO BUILDING BY MECHANICAL CONTRACTOR)

NOTES:
· ALL UTILITIES THAT ARE TO BE CONSTRUCTED TO 5' OUTSIDE OF

BUILDING ARE TO BE CONNECT TO BUILDING BY MECHANICAL
CONTRACTOR.

· ENSURE 18" VERTICAL BETWEEN ALL PROPOSED & EXISTING
WATER, STORM, & SANITARY.

· R = TOP BACK OF CURB ELEVATIONS FOR CURB STYLE CATCH
BASINS, NOT GUTTER ELEVATIONS

CONSTRUCT TURN DOWN WALK
(SEE DETAIL)

BIKE RACK, COORDINATE W/ ALDI
(SEE DETAIL)

TRASH BOLLARD, TYP. OF 2
(SEE ARCH)

CONSTRUCT TURN DOWN WALK
(SEE DETAIL)

F&I: "NO PARKING"
STRIPING (SEE DETAIL)

STORE BOLLARD, TYP. OF 4
(SEE ARCH)

CONNECT 6" PVC TO
CANOPY DOWNSPOUT

LOADING DOCK SUBDRAIN
(SEE DETAIL)

STORE ENTRANCE
(SEE ARCH)

CONNECT SUBDRAIN TO P-5

CURBSIDE ENTRANCE
(SEE ARCH)

CANOPY OUTLINE
(SEE ARCH)

24' 72'

DOCK WALL SUBDRAIN
(SEE ARCH)

CONSTRUCT TURNDOWN WALK
(SEE DETAIL)

UTILITY BOLLARD, TYP. OF 3
(SEE ARCH)CONSTRUCT TURNDOWN WALK

(SEE DETAIL)

CONSTRUCT 2"  WATER SERVICE TO
5' FROM BUILDING WITH CURB STOP.

ALDI MAIL BOX
(COORDINATE W/ LOCAL POSTMASTER)

4" SUBDRAIN PIPE @ 1.00% MIN
(SEE DETAIL)

4" SUBDRAIN PIPE @ 1.00% MIN
(SEE DETAIL)

SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT

SUBDRAIN CLEANOUT

394

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

15

G

G

G G

U
E

U
E

U
T

U
T

U
T

UT UT UT UT UT UT

BASIN A
BOTTOM ELEVATION: 954.69'

TOP ELEVATION: 958.00'

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

1
CURBSIDE

2
CURBSIDE

3
CURBSIDE

4
CURBSIDE

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE
UE

15

ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

X
X

X
X

X
X

X
X

X

X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X X

>>

>>

BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>>

> > > >

I I I I I I I I

>>
>>

>>
>>

96
0

959

95
9

96
1

96
2

96
3

96
0

960

95
9

96
0

959

959

96
1

961

960
960 961

961
962

955

95
5

96
0

96
0

96
0

95
6

956

95
7

957

95
8

95
8

958
958

958

95
9

95
9

95
9

96
1

96
1

96
196

2

96
1

96
196

2

960

959

961

960

956
957

958
959

-8.0% -3.0%

-2.4%

-2.3%

961.54

960.84

958.31

958.56

EOF

958.25

958.15

957.66

958.28

958.38

958.48
959.66

959.86

960.30

960.49

960.62960.77

960.48 961
.77

MATCH
960.76

961.25

961.89

961.61

959.03

960.35

960.51

960.96

961.44

959.50

960.98MATCH

961.37MATCH

958.36

959.56

959.93

958.62
958.74

958.03
958.01

961.71
960.13
960.48

961.89
961.82

961.61
961.49961.37

961.89
961.89

961.89
961.89 961

.89

961
.84

961
.89

962.01

962
.31

961
.17

MATCH

958.20

960.43

961.37MATCH961
.46

MATCH

961.36

961.35

960.82MATCH

960
.77

MATCH

960
.77

MATCH

960
.80

MATCH

960
.78

MATCH

960.65MATCH

961.33961.40

961.27

961
.23

961.19

961.26

961.31961.48

961.42

961
.39

960.90MATCH

960.95MATCH

961.08MATCH

961.01MATCH

961
.64

961.64

961.49

961
.61

961.45

961.30

961.44

15

G G G G G G G G G G G G G

UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT

27

32

22

20

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

> >

> > > >
>

>
>

>

> > > >

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

96
1

96
2 96

3

962

960.38MATCH

960
.60

MATCH

960.41MATCH

960.53MATCH

961.71

MATCH

961.83MATCH

961.51

MATCH

960
.52

MATCH

960
.43

MATCH
961

.44

MATCH961.07
960.95

961.02

960.91960.95

960.95

960.94

961.01

961.03960.98

962.21962.26

962.16

961.96
962.01

960.53

MATCH960.43

MATCH

961.55

962.03

961.48

961.98
962.03

961.52961.52

962.01

962.08

963.07

963.40

963.01

962.06
962.13

963.12

963.45

963.06

960
.45

MATCH

960.26MATCH

960.38MATCH

960
.11

MATCH

961.67MATCH

961
.72

MATCH

961
.66

MATCH

961
.91

MATCH

961.84MATCH

961.76MATCH

961
.88

MATCH

961.58MATCH 961
.60

MATCH

960.90

960.77

960.84

960.65

960.90

960.68

962
.13

962
.26

962
.21

962.23
962.29

962
.34

962
.34

962
.25

962.18

962.21

962
.10

962.11962.06

>>

>>

>>

>>

962.08
962.03

962.03

961.39MATCH

961.29MATCH

961.37MATCH

961
.39

MATCH

961
.39

MATCH

961
.34

MATCH

961.97961.92

961.92

961.89

961.83

961.91

961.87

962.29 962.24

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE GRADING PLAN

C-410

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-410 SITE GRADING PLAN

 ---- ---- C-410

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

20 40

GRADING LEGEND
EXISTING CONTOUR (MINOR INTERVAL)

EXISTING CONTOUR (MAJOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED CONTOUR (MINOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED CONTOUR (MAJOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED SPOT ELEVATION

PROPOSED TOP BACK OF CURB SPOT ELEVATION

SURFACE GRADE / DIRECTION

GENERAL GRADING NOTES
PROPOSED CONTOURS SHOW FINISHED GRADE ELEVATIONS.  BUILDING PAD AND PAVEMENT HOLD
DOWNS ARE NOT INCLUDED.  WHEN CONSTRUCTING BUILDING PADS WITH A HOLD DOWN, GRADE
AREAS TO ENSURE POSITIVE BUILDING PAD DRAINAGE.

101

100

101

100

XXX.XX

XXX.XX

-X.X%

24' 48' 4'

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

CONSTRUCTION EXPECTATIONS
FOR COMPLETE CONSTRUCTION CONSIDERATIONS AND EXPECTED CONDITIONS,
SEE GEOTECHNICAL REPORTB2100311 PREPARED BY BRAUN INTERTEC DATED
MARCH 26, 2021.

KEY ITEMS:
1. SOIL CORRECTIONS WITHIN BUILDING FOOTPRINT.
2. CLAY SOILS ARE SUSCEPTIBLE TO DISTURBANCE AND MOISTURE.

SEE SHEET C-420 BUILDING GRADING PLAN

PROTECT EXISTING CURB & GUTTERPROTECT EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

PROTECT EXISTING CURB & GUTTER

MAINTAIN EXISTING FLOWLINE
THROUGH BACK OF ISLAND

MAINTAIN EXISTING FLOWLINE
THROUGH BACK OF ISLAND

MAINTAIN EXISTING FLOWLINE
THROUGH BACK OF ISLAND

MATCH EXISTING
PAVEMENT GRADES

MATCH EXISTING PAVEMENT GRADES

MATCH EXISTING PAVEMENT GRADES
TO MAINTAIN SURFACE DRAINAGE

MATCH EXISTING PAVEMENT GRADES
TO MAINTAIN SURFACE DRAINAGE

MATCH EXISTING PAVEMENT GRADES
TO MAINTAIN SURFACE DRAINAGE

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

MA
TC

H 
LIN

E 
'A'

MATCH LINE 'B'

MATCH LINE 'B'

MATCH EXISTING PAVEMENT GRADES
TO MAINTAIN SURFACE DRAINAGE

MATCH EXISTING PAVEMENT GRADES
TO MAINTAIN SURFACE DRAINAGE

MATCH EXISTING PAVEMENT GRADES
TO MAINTAIN SURFACE DRAINAGE

395

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

U
E

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

> >

I I I I I I I I I

96
0

95
8

95
9

96
1

96
2

-8.0% -3.0%

-2.3%

961
.61

961
.50 961.96

961.50
961.96 961

.96

961
.89961.89

961
.96

961
.11

959
.19

961.11
959.19

957.97

957.97
957.75

957.75

957
.75

957
.75

957.58

961
.89

961
.97

961
.96

961
.96

962
.00

961
.96

961
.96

961
.89 961.89

961.96 961
.96

961
.89

961
.89

961.96

962.00

961.96
961.84

962.42

961.82

FLU
SH961

.74

FLUSH961
.74

FLUSH961.89

PAVE

961.39

961
.96

961.96

962.00

961.96
961.89

PAVE961.39961.89

961
.89

FLUSH
961.89

962.35

961.85961
.89

961
.89

961.39
961.44

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

BUILDING GRADING
PLAN

C-420

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-420 BUILDING GRADING PLAN

 ---- ---- C-420

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

10 20

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

GRADING LEGEND
EXISTING CONTOUR (MINOR INTERVAL)

EXISTING CONTOUR (MAJOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED CONTOUR (MINOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED CONTOUR (MAJOR INTERVAL)

PROPOSED SPOT ELEVATION

PROPOSED TOP BACK OF CURB SPOT ELEVATION

SURFACE GRADE / DIRECTION

GENERAL GRADING NOTES
PROPOSED CONTOURS SHOW FINISHED GRADE ELEVATIONS.  BUILDING PAD AND PAVEMENT HOLD
DOWNS ARE NOT INCLUDED.

101

100

101

100

XXX.XX

XXX.XX

-X.X%

TRANSITION PAVEMENT  TO FLUSH
(SEE DETAIL)

24' 48' 4'

396

Item 38.



EVERGREEN TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE ROOT
PD 4 PICEA GLAUCA `DENSATA`

BLACK HILLS SPRUCE
6` HT MIN B & B

PS 2 PINUS STROBUS
WHITE PINE

6` HT MIN B & B

OVERSTORY TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE ROOT
AA 6 ACER X FREEMANII `JEFFSRED` TM

AUTUMN BLAZE FREEMAN MAPLE
2" CAL B & B

GA 10 GINKGO BILOBA `AUTUMN GOLD` TM
AUTUMN GOLD MAIDENHAIR TREE

2" CAL B & B

UNDERSTORY TREES CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE ROOT
AG 13 AMELANCHIER X GRANDIFLORA `AUTUMN BRILLIANCE`

AUTUMN BRILLIANCE APPLE SERVICEBERRY
2" CAL B & B

BL 9 BETULA NIGRA `LITTLE KING` TM
FOX VALLEY DWARF RIVER BIRCH

2" CAL B & B

EVERGREEN SHRUBS CODE QTY BOTANICAL / COMMON NAME SIZE ROOT
BG 28 BUXUS X `GLENCOE` TM

CHICAGOLAND GREEN BOXWEED
5 GAL CONT

JB 100 JUNIPERUS CHINENSIS `DAUB`S FROSTED`
DAUB`S FROSTED JUNIPER

5 GAL CONT

PLANT SCHEDULE

ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

15 15G

G G G G G G G G G G

U
E

U
T

UT

UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

U
E

U
E

U
E

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE

15

27

32

16

22

20

10

I I I I I

(3) AA

(28) BG

(1) PS

(2) PD
(2) AG

(2) PD (1) PS

(100) JB

(1) AA
(1) GA

(2) BL

(1) BL

(1) GA
(1) AG

(2) BL
(2) AG

(4) BL

(1) GA

(2) GA

(1) GA

(2) AA (1) GA

(1) GA

(2) GA

(4) AG

(4) AG

ck2

30000
963.07

ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

ck2

30120
963.09
ck2

30121
963.07
ck2

30373
963.10
ck 2

90000
963.06
ck2

90581
963.12

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

O
H

L
O

H
L

X
X

X
X

X
X

X X X X X X X X X

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

FB
O

UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL UTL

G
G

G
G

G
G

U
E

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>I
I

I
I

I
I

I
I

I

I I I I I I I I I I

ck 2

90582
963.10
ck2

30374
963.10

ck4

30444
961.81

ck3

30445
960.88

ck2

30449
963.08

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

I

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

U
E

BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

EDGER QTY DESCRIPTION
588 LF POLYEDGER

GROUND COVERS QTY DESCRIPTION
17,824 SF DRY DETENTION BASIN SEED MIX (PRAIRIE

MOON NURSERY)

12,382 SF ROCK MULCH
2" DIA RIVER ROCK AT 3" DEPTH

13,737 SF TURF SOD MIX (IADOT APPROVED MIXES)

PREFERNCE NOTES SCHEDULES

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE RESTORATION &
PLANTING PLAN

C-510

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-510 SITE RESTORATION & PLANTING PLAN

 ---- ---- C-510

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

30 60SITE AREA POINTS
.02 Points / 1 SF (188,756 x .02) = 3,775 Points Requirements
(6 Trees x 80 Points) = 480 Points (6' HT Trees Proposed)
(2 Existing Trees x 100 Points) = 200 Points (10' HT or Greater Conifer Trees)
(3 Trees x 80 Points) = 240 Points (2" CAL Overstory Trees)
(22 Trees x 40 Points) = 880 Points (2" CAL Understory Trees)
(7 Existing Trees x 100 Points) = 700 Points (4" CAL or Greater Overstory Trees)
(126 Shrubs x 10 Points) = 1,280 Points (5 Gallon Shrubs)
Total Site Area Points = 3,780 Points Proposed

STREET FRONTAGE POINTS
.75 Points / 1 LF (220 x .75) = 165 Points Required
(3 Trees x 80 Points) = 240 Points (2" CAL Understory)
Total Street Frontage Points = 240 Points Proposed

PARKING TREES REQUIRED
10 Overstory Trees / 15 Parking Stalls (185 / 15) = (12) 2" CAL Trees
Less (2) Existing Site Trees = (1) 2" CAL Overstory Tree
Total Parking Lot Trees = 12 Trees Proposed

HWY-1 HIGHWAY COMMERCIAL DISTRICT LANDSCAPE REQUIREMENTS:

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

FOR INFORMATION ON IRRIGATION
SEE DETAIL SHEET

397

Item 38.



16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE PLANTING NOTES
& DETAILS

C-520

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-520 SITE PLANTING NOTES & DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-520

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

TOP OF ROOTBALL TO BE SET ABOVE GRADE 3"

CUT AND REMOVE AT MINIMUM THE TOP HALF OF
WIRE BASKETS, BURLAP AND/OR TWINE AND
REMOVE FROM THE PLANTING PIT.  AVOID CUTTING
OR SCARING ROOTS.  ANY ROOTS THAT ARE SCARED
OR BROKEN DURING PLANTING SHOULD BE CUT
CLEAN AT 90 DEGREES
BACKFILL PLANTING PIT PER TREE PLANTING
SPECIFICATIONS WHEN PROVIDED, OR WITH NATIVE
SOIL-EXCEPT WHEN IN HEAVY CLAY, MIX AMENDED
TOPSOIL FROM A LOCAL SOURCE WITH NATIVE SOIL
EXCAVATE PLANTING PIT TO A DEPTH EQUAL TO THE
DEPTH OF THE ROOTBALL MINUS 3" AND A MINIMUM
TWICE THE DIAMETER OF THE ROOTBALL
PLACE ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED SOIL AND
ENSURE TRUNK OF TREES IS PLUMB

3" LAYER OF DOUBLE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH
(NATURAL COLOR) MOUNDED AT EDGE TO FORM A
SHALLOW SAUCER - DO NOT PLACE MULCH
DIRECTLY ON TREE TRUNK, LEAVE A MIN. 3"  RING
AROUND CROWN. WHEN PLACED IN PLANTING BED
USE PLANTING BED MULCH SPECIFIED

ROOTBALL DIA

2X ROOTBALL DIA

DEPTH OF
ROOTBALL

NEVER CUT PRIMARY LEADER
PRUNE ALL BROKEN, DAMAGED, OR RUBBING LIMBS
AND BRANCHES IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING -
ALL PRUNING CUTS CLEAN AT 90 DEGREES
TIE NYLON STRAP AROUND TRUNK AS SHOWN
1/2" WIDE NYLON STRAPPING - COLOR TO BE
APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

FINISH GRADE

TREES 8'+ TREES 6'-8'

*NOTE: DO NOT
STAKE TREES
UNLESS INDICATED.

HARDWOOD STAKES
2"X2"X8' LONG -

INSTALL OUTSIDE
OF ROOTBALL AT 5'

MAX HT

STAKING DIAGRAM,
NO STAKING TREES
UNDER 6'

TIE NYLON STRAP AROUND TRUNK AS SHOWN

CUT AND REMOVE AT MINIMUM THE TOP HALF OF
WIRE BASKETS, BURLAP AND/OR TWINE AND REMOVE
FROM THE PLANTING PIT.  AVOID CUTTING OR
SCARING ROOTS.  ANY ROOTS THAT ARE SCARED OR
BROKEN DURING PLANTING SHOULD BE CUT CLEAN
AT 90 DEGREES
BACKFILL PLANTING PIT PER TREE PLANTING
SPECIFICATIONS WHEN PROVIDED, OR WITH NATIVE
SOIL-EXCEPT WHEN IN HEAVY CLAY, MIX AMENDED
TOPSOIL FROM A LOCAL SOURCE WITH NATIVE SOIL
EXCAVATE PLANTING PIT TO A DEPTH EQUAL TO THE
DEPTH OF THE ROOTBALL MINUS 3" AND A MINIMUM
TWICE THE DIAMETER OF THE ROOTBALL
PLACE ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED SOIL AND
ENSURE TRUNK OF TREES IS PLUMB

3" LAYER OF DOUBLE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH
MOUNDED AT EDGE TO FORM A SHALLOW SAUCER -
DO NOT PLACE MULCH DIRECTLY ON TREE TRUNK,
LEAVE A MIN. 3"  RING AROUND CROWN. WHEN
PLACED IN PLANTING BED USE PLANTING BED MULCH
SPECIFIED

ROOTBALL DIA

2X ROOTBALL DIA

DEPTH OF
ROOTBALL

NEVER CUT PRIMARY LEADER
PRUNE ALL BROKEN, DAMAGED, OR RUBBING LIMBS
AND BRANCHES IMMEDIATELY AFTER PLANTING - ALL
PRUNING CUTS CLEAN AT 90 DEGREES

FINISH GRADE

TREES 8'+ TREES 6'-8'
TOP OF ROOTBALL TO BE SET ABOVE GRADE 3"

1/2" WIDE NYLON STRAPPING - COLOR TO BE
APPROVED BY LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT

*NOTE: DO NOT
STAKE TREES
UNLESS INDICATED.

HARDWOOD STAKES
2"X2"X8' LONG -

INSTALL OUTSIDE
OF ROOTBALL AT 5'

MAX HT

STAKING DIAGRAM,
NO STAKING TREES
UNDER 6'

DECIDUOUS TREE PLANTING DETAIL
SCALE: 1" = 1'-0

CONIFER / EVERGREEN TREE PLANTING DETAIL
SCALE: 1" = 1'-0

1. COORDINATE LOCATION OF ALL UTILITIES (LINES, DUCTS, CONDUITS, SLEEVES, FOOTINGS, ETC.) WITH LOCATIONS OF PROPOSED LANDSCAPE ELEMENTS .  CONTRACTOR SHALL REPORT ANY
DISCREPANCIES TO OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE  PRIOR TO  WORK.

2. SAVE AND PROTECT ALL EXISTING TREES NOT NOTED TO BE REMOVED.
3. REMOVE ALL CONSTRUCTION DEBRIS AND MATERIALS INJURIOUS TO PLANT GROWTH FROM PLANTING PITS AND BEDS PRIOR TO BACKFILLING WITH PLANTING MIX.
4. ANY AREAS OUTSIDE THE LIMIT OF WORK THAT ARE DISTURBED SHALL BE RESTORED TO ITS ORIGINAL CONDITION AT NO ADDITIONAL COST TO OWNER.
5. LAWN AREAS SHALL HAVE 4" MINIMUM DEPTH OF TOPSOIL. TOPSOIL SHALL BE COMPACTED TO 85% MAXIMUM DENSITY AT OPTIMUM MOISTURE CONTENT.
6. REFER TO PLANTING DETAILS PLAN FOR AMENDED SOIL DEPTH IN PLANTING BEDS AND SURROUNDING TREES. REFER TO SPECIFICATIONS FOR MIX TYPE.
7. FIELD STAKE PLANTINGS ACCORDING TO PLAN.  OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE SHALL APPROVE ALL PLANT LOCATIONS PRIOR TO INSTALLATION. OWNER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REVISE

PLANTING LAYOUT AT TIME OF INSTALLATION.
8. ALL PLANT MATERIALS SHALL BE TRUE TO THEIR SCIENTIFIC NAME AND SIZE AS INDICATED IN THE PLANT SCHEDULE.
9. IF DISCREPANCIES EXIST BETWEEN THE NUMBER OF PLANTS DRAWN ON THE PLANTING PLAN AND THE NUMBER OF PLANTS IN THE SCHEDULE, THE PLANTING PLAN SHALL GOVERN.
10. OWNER RESERVES THE RIGHT TO REVISE QUANTITIES TO SUIT BUDGET LIMITATIONS.  CONTRACTOR'S UNIT BID PRICES SHALL PREVAIL FOR ANY CHANGES IN QUANTITIES.
11. ANY PROPOSED SUBSTITUTIONS OF PLANT SPECIES SHALL BE MADE WITH PLANTS OF EQUIVALENT OVERALL FORM, HEIGHT, BRANCHING HABIT, FLOWER, LEAF, COLOR, FRUIT AND CULTURE,

AND ONLY AFTER WRITTEN APPROVAL OF THE OWNER'S REPRESENTATIVE AND OWNER.
12. ALL PLANT MATERIALS MUST CONFORM TO AMERICAN STANDARDS FOR NURSERY STOCK (A.N.S.I.), LATEST EDITION PUBLISHED BY THE AMERICAN ASSOCIATION OF NURSERYMEN,

WASHINGTON D.C.  LARGER SIZED PLANT MATERIALS OF THE SPECIES LISTED MAY BE USED IF THE STOCK CONFORMS TO A.N.S.I.
13. ALL PLANT MATERIAL SHALL BE GUARANTEED TO BE IN A LIVE AND HEALTHY GROWING CONDITION FOR ONE FULL GROWING SEASON (ONE YEAR) AFTER FINAL PROJECT ACCEPTANCE OR

SHALL BE REPLACED FREE OF CHARGE WITH THE SAME GRADE AND SPECIES. ALL TREES SHALL HAVE A STRONG CENTRAL LEADER.
14. PROVIDE 2" DIA RIVER ROCK MULCH AT  3" DEPTH  WITH PERMEABLE WEED BARRIER IN ALL PLANTING BEDS, AND MAINTENANCE STRIP AREAS. FOR TREES NOT LOCATED IN PARKING ISLANDS,

OR PLANTING BEDS, PROVIDE DOUBLE SHREDDED HARDWOOD MULCH RING (NATURAL COLOR) AT 3" DEPTH PER PLANTING DETAILS.
15. ALL AREAS DISTURBED BY CONSTRUCTION TO BE SODED.

GENERAL PLANTING NOTES

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

2" DIA RIVER ROCK MULCH  AT 3" DEPTH

BACKFILL PLANTING PIT PER SHRUB PLANTING
SPECIFICATIONS WHEN PROVIDED, OR WITH NATIVE
SOIL-EXCEPT WHEN IN HEAVY CLAY, MIX AMENDED
TOPSOIL FROM A LOCAL SOURCE WITH NATIVE SOIL
EXCAVATE PLANTING PIT TO A DEPTH EQUAL TO THE
DEPTH OF THE ROOTBALL / CONTAINER MINUS 3" AND
A MINIMUM TWICE THE DIAMETER OF THE ROOTBALL
/ CONTAINER - TILL ALL PLANTING BEDS TO A
MINIMUM DEPTH OF 6" THROUGHT
PLACE ROOTBALL ON UNDISTURBED SOIL AND
ENSURE PLANT IS PLUMB

ALL PLANTS TO BE INSTALLED SO THAT THE TOP OF
THE CROWN OF THE PLANT IS SLIGHTLY ABOVE
FINISH GRADE 3"

ROOTBALL DIA

2X ROOTBALL DIA

DEPTH OF
ROOTBALL

FINISH GRADE

CUT AND REMOVE AT MINIMUM THE TOP HALF OF
WIRE BASKETS, BURLAP AND/OR TWINE, OR ENTIRE
CONTAINER, AND REMOVE FROM THE PLANTING PIT,
SCARIFY ROOTS FOR ALL CONTAINERIZED PLANTS 5
GALLONS FOR SMALLER

CONTAINER DIA

2X CONTAINER DIA

2" DIA RIVER ROCK MULCH  AT 3" DEPTH

PLANTING BED - SOIL PREPARATION PER PLANS
& NOTES

LAWN OR GROUND COVER

FINISH GRADE

LANDSCAPE EDGING AND STAKING - PER PLANS
& NOTES

SUBGRADE - PER PLANS & NOTES

LANDSCAPE EDGING DETAIL
SCALE: 1" = 1'-0

SHRUB PLANTING DETAIL
SCALE: 1" = 1'-0

IRRIGATION NOTES
1. IRRIGATION SYSTEM SHALL BE CONSTRUCTED AS A DESIGN BUILD  PROJECT. SUBMIT DESIGN DRAWINGS FOR APPROVAL BY OWNER..
2. ONLY PLANTING BEDS AND TURF AREAS AS SHOWN ON IRRIGATION LIMITS SHALL BE SERVICED BY THE IRRIGATION SYSTEM. ALL IRRIGATION SHALL BE COMPATIBLE WITH LOCAL JURISDICTION CODE.

IRRIGATION SHALL NOT OVER SPRAY ONTO ADJACENT HARDSCAPE, BUILDINGS, OR ANY OTHER NON-TURF AREAS.
3. PROVIDE ALL IRRIGATION LINE, SPRAY HEADS, SLEEVING UNDER HARDSCAPE, VALVES, WIRING, CONTROLLER, BACK-FLOW PREVENTOR, MAIN & LATER PIPES, CENTRAL CONTROL WATER MANAGEMENT

SYSTEM, AND ALL OTHER REQUIRED ACCESSORIES.
4. CONFIRM POINT(S) OF CONNECTION AND CONTROL BOX LOCATIONS WITH OWNER  PRIOR TO DESIGN OF IRRIGATION SYSTEM. COORDINATE LOCATIONS OF SLEEVING WITH ALL UTILITIES, FOOTINGS, AND

ANY OTHER UNDERGROUND CONSTRUCTION.
5. IRRIGATION WATER METER TO BE INSTALLED BY PLUMBING CONTRACTOR.

398

Item 38.



ALDI
BUILDING SQ. FT. = 20,288

FFE = 962.00'

15 15G

G G G G G G G G G G

U
E

U
T

UT

UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT UT

EXPANSION
SPACE

(FOR REFERENCE ONLY, NOT
PART OF THIS SITE PLAN)

U
E

U
E

U
E

UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE UE

15

27

32

16

22

20

10

ELEV=961.96ELEV=962.04

EX SB-

EX SB-4

EX SB-8

EX SB-3

EX SB-9

EX SB-5

EX SB-13

X
X

X
X

X

X X X X X X X X X

>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

>> BLAIN'S FARM & FLEET
FFE = 962.00

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

>>>>>>>>>>>>

> > > > > > >
>

>

> > >

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>
>>

>>

>>

I I I I I

>>
>>

>>

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
5

0
.
6

0
.
7

0
.
6

0
.
5

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
5

0
.
5

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
4

0
.
6

0
.
7

0
.
7

0
.
9

1
.
1

1
.
2

1
.
1

0
.
9

0
.
8

0
.
7

0
.
7

0
.
6

0
.
5

0
.
6

0
.
7

0
.
7

0
.
7

0
.
8

0
.
8

0
.
8

0
.
7

0
.
5

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
3

1
.
4

1
.
5

1
.
8

1
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
4

1
.
0

0
.
7

0
.
6

0
.
8

1
.
1

1
.
3

1
.
1

1
.
1

1
.
2

1
.
1

0
.
8

0
.
7

0
.
8

0
.
6

0
.
3

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
6

1
.
2

2
.
0

2
.
6

2
.
7

3
.
2

2
.
9

3
.
2

2
.
7

2
.
6

2
.
1

1
.
3

0
.
8

0
.
7

0
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
9

2
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
9

1
.
9

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
1

0
.
7

0
.
3

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
7

1
.
2

2
.
3

3
.
8

4
.
5

4
.
7

4
.
1

4
.
7

4
.
5

3
.
8

2
.
3

1
.
3

0
.
9

0
.
8

0
.
9

1
.
2

2
.
1

3
.
0

2
.
8

2
.
4

2
.
3

1
.
8

1
.
7

1
.
2

0
.
6

0
.
3

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
4

2
.
3

4
.
2

5
.
0

5
.
5

4
.
2

5
.
5

5
.
0

4
.
2

2
.
4

1
.
6

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
3

2
.
0

2
.
9

3
.
2

3
.
3

3
.
0

2
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
3

0
.
8

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
6

2
.
9

4
.
7

5
.
1

6
.
5

4
.
9

6
.
5

5
.
1

4
.
8

2
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
2

1
.
3

1
.
7

2
.
7

3
.
3

3
.
8

4
.
4

4
.
0

3
.
2

2
.
1

2
.
2

1
.
2

0
.
6

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
6

1
.
1

1
.
6

2
.
5

4
.
9

5
.
2

6
.
3

5
.
0

6
.
3

5
.
2

5
.
0

2
.
6

1
.
8

1
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
4

1
.
8

2
.
9

3
.
5

3
.
8

4
.
3

4
.
0

3
.
3

2
.
3

2
.
3

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
6

2
.
6

4
.
4

5
.
1

6
.
2

4
.
7

6
.
2

5
.
1

4
.
5

2
.
7

1
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
2

1
.
3

1
.
5

2
.
3

3
.
0

3
.
6

4
.
0

3
.
6

2
.
9

1
.
7

1
.
6

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
4

2
.
4

4
.
2

5
.
0

5
.
0

4
.
2

5
.
0

5
.
0

4
.
2

2
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
1

1
.
4

2
.
1

3
.
2

3
.
1

2
.
6

2
.
5

2
.
1

1
.
8

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
4

2
.
4

3
.
4

3
.
9

4
.
5

4
.
1

4
.
5

3
.
9

3
.
5

2
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
6

2
.
3

2
.
7

2
.
6

2
.
6

2
.
4

1
.
7

1
.
5

1
.
3

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
5

2
.
1

2
.
4

2
.
6

3
.
0

2
.
9

3
.
0

2
.
6

2
.
5

2
.
2

1
.
6

1
.
2

1
.
0

1
.
3

1
.
7

2
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
9

2
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
1

1
.
2

1
.
0

0
.
6

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
8

1
.
9

2
.
2

2
.
7

2
.
8

2
.
7

2
.
3

2
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
6

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
3

1
.
7

1
.
8

1
.
7

1
.
8

1
.
8

1
.
7

1
.
4

1
.
1

1
.
1

1
.
0

0
.
6

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
4

2
.
1

2
.
4

2
.
5

3
.
0

2
.
9

3
.
0

2
.
6

2
.
4

2
.
2

1
.
7

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
3

1
.
7

2
.
1

2
.
0

2
.
0

2
.
1

2
.
1

1
.
5

1
.
2

1
.
2

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
4

2
.
4

3
.
4

3
.
8

4
.
4

4
.
0

4
.
5

3
.
9

3
.
5

2
.
6

1
.
6

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
6

2
.
4

2
.
9

2
.
8

2
.
7

2
.
5

1
.
9

1
.
7

1
.
3

0
.
8

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
3

2
.
3

4
.
1

5
.
0

5
.
0

4
.
2

5
.
0

5
.
1

4
.
3

2
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
2

1
.
4

2
.
1

3
.
2

3
.
1

2
.
8

2
.
6

2
.
2

1
.
8

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
5

2
.
5

4
.
4

5
.
1

6
.
1

4
.
7

6
.
2

5
.
2

4
.
6

2
.
8

1
.
8

1
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
3

1
.
6

2
.
5

3
.
1

3
.
8

4
.
4

3
.
9

3
.
1

1
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
0

0
.
6

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
6

2
.
4

4
.
9

5
.
1

6
.
3

6
.
6

6
.
4

5
.
3

5
.
1

2
.
7

1
.
9

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
4

1
.
9

3
.
0

3
.
6

3
.
8

4
.
2

3
.
9

2
.
5

2
.
2

2
.
4

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
6

2
.
8

4
.
7

5
.
1

6
.
5

5
.
0

6
.
6

5
.
2

4
.
9

3
.
1

1
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
4

1
.
7

2
.
6

3
.
2

3
.
9

4
.
5

4
.
0

3
.
1

2
.
0

2
.
0

1
.
1

0
.
6

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
4

2
.
4

4
.
2

5
.
1

5
.
6

4
.
4

5
.
6

5
.
2

4
.
4

2
.
6

1
.
7

1
.
3

1
.
1

1
.
2

1
.
4

2
.
1

3
.
1

3
.
2

3
.
0

2
.
7

2
.
3

1
.
6

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
3

2
.
3

3
.
8

4
.
7

4
.
8

4
.
3

4
.
9

4
.
7

4
.
0

2
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
4

2
.
2

3
.
0

2
.
8

2
.
6

2
.
5

1
.
9

1
.
7

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
7

1
.
3

2
.
2

2
.
9

3
.
0

3
.
6

3
.
3

3
.
6

3
.
1

3
.
0

2
.
4

1
.
6

1
.
1

0
.
9

1
.
1

1
.
6

2
.
0

2
.
1

1
.
9

2
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
1

1
.
2

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
2

1
.
7

1
.
9

2
.
0

2
.
4

2
.
5

2
.
4

2
.
1

1
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
4

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
4

1
.
5

1
.
4

1
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
2

1
.
0

0
.
9

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
1

1
.
3

1
.
5

1
.
8

2
.
2

2
.
3

2
.
2

1
.
8

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
3

1
.
3

1
.
3

1
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
0

0
.
8

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
2

1
.
6

1
.
8

2
.
0

2
.
3

2
.
5

2
.
3

2
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
4

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
4

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
6

1
.
2

1
.
0

1
.
0

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
4

2
.
2

2
.
7

2
.
8

3
.
4

3
.
1

3
.
4

2
.
9

2
.
8

2
.
3

1
.
6

1
.
0

0
.
9

1
.
0

1
.
5

2
.
1

2
.
3

2
.
1

2
.
2

2
.
1

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
2

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
3

2
.
4

3
.
8

4
.
6

4
.
9

4
.
3

4
.
9

4
.
6

3
.
9

2
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
1

0
.
9

1
.
0

1
.
3

2
.
1

3
.
1

3
.
0

2
.
6

2
.
4

2
.
0

1
.
8

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
5

2
.
5

4
.
3

5
.
2

5
.
5

4
.
4

5
.
5

5
.
2

4
.
3

2
.
6

1
.
7

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
2

1
.
4

2
.
0

2
.
9

3
.
3

3
.
5

3
.
1

2
.
7

1
.
7

1
.
4

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
4

0
.
7

1
.
2

1
.
8

3
.
0

4
.
8

5
.
3

6
.
7

5
.
1

6
.
7

5
.
3

4
.
8

3
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
3

1
.
7

2
.
6

3
.
4

3
.
7

4
.
5

4
.
0

3
.
4

2
.
2

2
.
3

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
5

2
.
1

2
.
9

4
.
4

5
.
6

6
.
8

5
.
3

6
.
5

5
.
3

4
.
2

2
.
7

1
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
4

1
.
7

2
.
8

3
.
6

3
.
7

4
.
3

4
.
0

3
.
5

2
.
2

2
.
5

1
.
4

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

1
.
1

1
.
9

2
.
5

3
.
5

5
.
3

6
.
1

7
.
0

5
.
1

6
.
5

5
.
3

4
.
6

2
.
8

1
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
1

1
.
2

1
.
5

2
.
1

3
.
0

3
.
5

4
.
1

3
.
6

3
.
1

1
.
8

1
.
7

1
.
0

0
.
6

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
4

2
.
1

2
.
7

3
.
5

5
.
6

6
.
2

5
.
7

4
.
5

5
.
2

5
.
1

4
.
3

2
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
1

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
3

2
.
0

3
.
2

3
.
2

2
.
7

2
.
4

2
.
2

1
.
9

1
.
4

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
9

1
.
3

1
.
8

2
.
6

3
.
9

5
.
0

4
.
8

5
.
0

4
.
4

4
.
7

4
.
0

3
.
5

2
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
0

0
.
9

1
.
0

1
.
5

2
.
2

2
.
7

2
.
6

2
.
6

2
.
5

1
.
9

1
.
5

1
.
4

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
8

1
.
1

1
.
4

2
.
0

3
.
0

3
.
7

3
.
3

3
.
1

3
.
1

2
.
9

2
.
9

2
.
4

2
.
3

2
.
0

1
.
4

1
.
0

0
.
9

1
.
1

1
.
6

2
.
0

1
.
9

1
.
9

2
.
0

2
.
0

1
.
5

1
.
2

1
.
2

1
.
0

0
.
6

0
.
4

0
.
8

1
.
1

1
.
5

2
.
0

2
.
6

2
.
9

2
.
4

2
.
3

2
.
3

2
.
2

2
.
0

1
.
6

1
.
3

1
.
3

1
.
1

0
.
9

0
.
9

1
.
2

1
.
6

1
.
9

1
.
7

1
.
8

1
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
5

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
0

0
.
7

0
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
9

1
.
1

1
.
7

2
.
1

2
.
5

2
.
3

1
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
8

1
.
5

1
.
2

1
.
0

0
.
9

0
.
8

0
.
8

0
.
9

1
.
2

1
.
6

2
.
1

2
.
1

2
.
0

2
.
2

2
.
1

1
.
6

1
.
2

1
.
3

1
.
0

0
.
6

0
.
2

0
.
5

0
.
7

1
.
1

1
.
6

1
.
8

1
.
9

2
.
4

1
.
9

1
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
4

1
.
3

1
.
2

1
.
2

1
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
1

1
.
5

2
.
2

2
.
9

2
.
9

2
.
7

2
.
6

2
.
0

1
.
7

1
.
4

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
9

1
.
6

2
.
0

2
.
8

8
.
1

2
.
5

4
.
5

6
.
2

1
.
7

8
.
7

3
.
2

2
.
6

2
.
2

2
.
0

1
.
6

1
.
3

1
.
4

2
.
0

3
.
1

3
.
2

2
.
9

2
.
5

2
.
4

1
.
8

1
.
4

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
6

1
.
4

2
.
7

2
.
6

5
.
4

8
.
5

4
.
7

3
.
0

4
.
6

1
.
9

1
.
8

2
.
4

3
.
1

3
.
6

4
.
5

3
.
9

3
.
4

2
.
0

2
.
0

1
.
2

0
.
6

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
3

1
.
7

2
.
5

2
.
3

2
.
9

3
.
7

3
.
6

4
.
1

3
.
9

2
.
5

2
.
1

2
.
5

1
.
5

0
.
8

0
.
2

0
.
2

2
.
7

2
.
7

2
.
4

2
.
4

3
.
2

3
.
6

4
.
5

3
.
9

3
.
4

1
.
9

2
.
0

1
.
1

0
.
6

0
.
1

0
.
1

5
.
9

3
.
5

2
.
5

2
.
0

3
.
0

3
.
1

2
.
9

2
.
4

2
.
4

1
.
7

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
0

6
.
8

3
.
7

2
.
5

2
.
2

2
.
9

2
.
9

2
.
5

2
.
4

1
.
8

1
.
6

1
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
4

0
.
0

0
.
0

3
.
0

2
.
6

2
.
4

2
.
1

2
.
1

1
.
9

1
.
9

1
.
8

1
.
2

0
.
9

1
.
0

0
.
8

0
.
4

0
.
0

0
.
0

1
.
8

2
.
3

2
.
1

1
.
8

1
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
4

0
.
9

0
.
7

0
.
6

0
.
6

0
.
4

0
.
0

0
.
0

1
.
7

2
.
1

1
.
8

1
.
4

1
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
6

1
.
3

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
0

0
.
0

2
.
5

2
.
2

1
.
7

1
.
2

1
.
7

1
.
7

1
.
5

1
.
2

0
.
7

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
0

0
.
0

5
.
9

3
.
1

1
.
8

1
.
3

2
.
0

1
.
5

1
.
2

1
.
2

0
.
6

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

6
.
0

3
.
0

1
.
7

1
.
7

1
.
7

1
.
5

1
.
1

1
.
4

0
.
6

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
2

2
.
3

2
.
0

1
.
5

1
.
9

1
.
6

1
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
8

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
7

0
.
5

1
.
4

1
.
7

1
.
5

2
.
1

1
.
5

1
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
7

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

1
.
7

1
.
3

1
.
3

1
.
7

1
.
5

2
.
0

1
.
5

1
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
8

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

2
.
4

3
.
3

2
.
2

2
.
0

1
.
5

1
.
7

1
.
6

1
.
4

1
.
0

1
.
3

0
.
6

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

3
.
4

6
.
5

5
.
8

3
.
0

1
.
6

1
.
2

1
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
0

0
.
9

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

2
.
6

3
.
9

5
.
7

3
.
0

1
.
6

0
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
4

1
.
1

0
.
9

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

1
.
8

1
.
5

1
.
1

2
.
5

6
.
3

5
.
2

1
.
8

0
.
9

0
.
3

2
.
1

1
.
9

1
.
3

0
.
7

1
.
0

1
.
1

0
.
9

0
.
7

0
.
3

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
8

0
.
6

1
.
4

1
.
9

3
.
0

2
.
7

1
.
7

1
.
1

0
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
5

1
.
1

0
.
7

0
.
6

0
.
7

0
.
6

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
9

1
.
1

1
.
4

1
.
4

1
.
1

0
.
8

0
.
6

0
.
8

0
.
9

0
.
8

0
.
6

0
.
5

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
8

1
.
0

0
.
9

0
.
7

0
.
6

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
3

1
.
0

2
.
1

5
.
8

6
.
2

2
.
4

1
.
1

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
8

1
.
0

1
.
2

1
.
1

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
7

2
.
7

2
.
8

1
.
8

1
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
4

1
.
3

1
.
1

0
.
9

1
.
2

1
.
4

0
.
9

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
4

0
.
7

1
.
0

1
.
3

1
.
3

1
.
1

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
5

1
.
4

1
.
7

1
.
2

1
.
2

1
.
4

1
.
5

0
.
7

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
4

1
.
3

1
.
7

1
.
4

1
.
4

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
7

1
.
3

1
.
3

1
.
4

1
.
8

1
.
4

1
.
8

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
4

0
.
9

0
.
9

1
.
0

1
.
6

1
.
4

1
.
7

1
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
3

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
3

1
.
5

1
.
8

1
.
1

0
.
3

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

0
.
9

1
.
2

1
.
6

1
.
4

0
.
9

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
7

0
.
9

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
4

0
.
5

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
5

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
6

0
.
7

0
.
5

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
3

0
.
7

0
.
8

0
.
8

0
.
6

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
3

0
.
8

1
.
2

1
.
0

0
.
8

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
4

0
.
9

1
.
1

1
.
3

0
.
9

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
7

1
.
5

1
.
5

1
.
1

0
.
9

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
6

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
5

1
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
5

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
0

0
.
9

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
8

1
.
0

0
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
7

0
.
7

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

1
.
2

1
.
6

1
.
6

1
.
3

1
.
0

1
.
0

0
.
3

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
2

1
.
1

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
6

1
.
6

0
.
9

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
4

1
.
7

1
.
3

1
.
8

1
.
3

1
.
6

1
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
2

1
.
3

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
8

1
.
5

1
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
8

1
.
7

1
.
6

1
.
5

1
.
4

1
.
6

0
.
6

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
2

1
.
2

1
.
5

1
.
3

1
.
7

1
.
5

1
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
2

1
.
0

1
.
6

1
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
6

1
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

1
.
1

1
.
4

1
.
2

1
.
5

1
.
6

0
.
9

0
.
2

0
.
3

1
.
0

1
.
6

1
.
2

0
.
9

1
.
3

0
.
6

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
8

1
.
0

0
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
7

0
.
7

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
9

1
.
4

1
.
1

1
.
0

0
.
8

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
5

1
.
0

1
.
1

1
.
5

1
.
2

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
7

1
.
0

1
.
0

0
.
8

0
.
4

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
4

0
.
8

1
.
0

1
.
2

0
.
8

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
5

0
.
6

0
.
7

0
.
5

0
.
2

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
3

0
.
6

0
.
7

0
.
7

0
.
5

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
3

0
.
3

0
.
4

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
2

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
4

0
.
3

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
2

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
1

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

0
.
0

16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA

ADDENDUM 1 04/16/21

ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SITE LIGHTING
PHOTOMETRICS PLAN

C-610

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-610 SITE LIGHTING PHOTOMETRICS PLAN

 ---- ---- C-610

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

0

SCALE IN FEET

30 60

FOOTCANDLE LEGEND

1.00 FOOTCANDLE LINE

2.00 FOOTCANDLE LINE

"L31","L31A", "L32", "L32A", & "L34" LIGHT STYLE

"L23" LIGHT STYLE

"L21" LIGHT STYLE

 
LIGHT POLE DETAIL
N.T.S.1 NOTE: SEE ELECTRICAL PLAN

FOR SITE ELECTRICAL LAYOUT

"L24" & "24A" LIGHT STYLE

MANUFACTURER/MODEL NUMBER

LIGHT FIXTURE SCHEDULE
STYLETYPE LAMPS REMARKS

Provide light fixtures as shown on Fixture Schedule.  Substitutions shall have prior approval by the Project Engineer before bid date.  Being listed as an
acceptable Manufacturer in no way relieves the Contractors obligation to provide all equipment and features in accordance with these specifications.

CREE LIGHTING #XSPW-B-WM-3ME-4L-30K-UL-SV-PBUILDING MOUNTED WALL PACK
FINISHED FLOOR
MOUNT FIXTURE AT 12'-0" ABOVEL21 LED

CREE LIGHTING #CL-20364LEDD-SAT-CLR-SBACCENT CYLINDER
FINISHED FLOOR
MOUNT FIXTURE AT 17'-2" ABOVEL24A LED

L32
POLE
SITE POLE TRIPLE HEAD @ 90 CREE LIGHTING #OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-UL-SV, w/OSQ-DA-SV, W/OSQ-BLSMF 3@90 FIXED ARM MOUNT

25'-0" POLE
LED

CREE LIGHTING #SSS-4-11-25-CW-BS-3D90-C-SV

L34
CREE LIGHTING #SSS-4-11-25-CW-BS-4D90-C-SVPOLE

SITE POLE QUAD HEAD @ 90 CREE LIGHTING #OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-UL-SV, w/OSQ-DA-SV 4@90 FIXED ARM MOUNT
25'-0" POLE ON EXISTING BASE

LED

L23 CREE LIGHTING #AL-42WLED-UD-CG-120-30KDECORATIVE WALL SCONCES
FINISHED FLOOR
MOUNT FIXTURE AT 8'-0" ABOVELED

CREE LIGHTING #CL-20364LEDD-SAT-CLR-SBACCENT CYLINDER
FINISHED FLOOR
MOUNT FIXTURE AT 10'-6" ABOVEL24 LED

L31A
POLE
SITE POLE SINGLE HEAD @ 90 CREE LIGHTING #OSQ-A-NM-2ME-B-57K-UL-SV, w/OSQ-DA-SV, w/OSQ-BLSMF 1@90 FIXED ARM MOUNT

25'-0" POLE
LED

CREE LIGHTING #SSS-4-11-25-CW-BS-1D-C-SV

L31
POLE
SITE POLE SINGLE HEAD @ 90 CREE LIGHTING #OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-UL-SV, w/OSQ-DA-SV 1@90 FIXED ARM MOUNT

25'-0" POLE
LED

CREE LIGHTING #SSS-4-11-25-CW-BS-1D-C-SV

L32A
POLE
SITE POLE TRIPLE HEAD @ 90 CREE LIGHTING #OSQ-A-NM-4ME-B-57K-UL-SV, w/OSQ-DA-SV, W/OSQ-BLSMF 3@90 FIXED ARM MOUNT

25'-0" POLE ON EXISTING BASE
LED

CREE LIGHTING #SSS-4-11-25-CW-BS-3D90-C-SV

L31

L32

L34L34L34

L32AL32AL32AL31A

L31A

L31A

L31A

L24A

L24A

L24A

L24

L24

L23

L23

L23

L21

L21

L21

L21 L21 L21

L21

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

NOTE: CONTRACTOR TO DISCONNECT LIGHTS ON ALDI PROPERTY FROM THE BLAIN'S CIRCUIT AND
REFEED THE LIGHTS TO ALDI. SEE SITE ELECTRICAL PLANS FOR DESIGN.

399

Item 38.



16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

SIGHT LIGHTING
CATALOGUE PAGES

C-620

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-620 SIGHT LIGHTING CATALOGUE PAGES

 ---- ---- C-620

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21

400

Item 38.



B

A4 A21

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

3'-4" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY 

A1

A1

A3a

A5

A6

A6a

A9

A10

A21A12

A27

A10

TYP.

21'-2"  A.F.F.
CENTER OF LOGO SIGNSA1b

A2

A12

A15A17 A17 A2

D1
A301

D1
A306

C C

D1
A302

B1
A304

B1
A303

C1
A305

CA BB B
A31 A31 A31 A31

D1
A303

EQ EQ

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

9'
-6

"
SI

G
N

 O
PN

G
.

3'-4" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY

A

A4 A22A23 P1E6

A1

E2

A1

E5

F

E

19'-11" A.F.F.
T.O. BLKG

7'-11 5/8"
SIGN OPNG.

A2

A3

GRADE LINE - SEE
CIVIL DWGS.A4

A5

A6a

A6

A5

A7

A9

A10

A12

A27

A21

A9

A25
A20

TYP.

E1 A17A12 A28A3a
FLASHING AT
SILL BEYOND

A3a

A26

A1b

E3A17A17A17

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY 
FINISH

22'-1 1/2"  A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

A12 A12

C

D

A8

A8

A3

A9

G

@ BUILDING
WALL

@ CART
WALL

A1a

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/

STUD

A2 17
SIGNAGE

DESCRIPTION QUANTITY SQ. FT. PER SIGN TOTALS

TOWER SIGN 2 74.9 149.8

TOTAL SIGNAGE 149.8
SIGNAGE  IS SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY AND SHALL BE UNDER SEPARATE
PERMIT SUBMITTAL

FIRE DEPT. CONNECTION FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

MOTOR GONG FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

HOSE BIB FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

RPZ DISCHARGE FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GAS METER FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GLAZING KEY RE: DWG A602

ALIGN KEY
A: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
B: ALIGN ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
C: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS, ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS, AND WINDOW MULLIONS

F1

F2

P1

P2

P3

XX

XX

PREFINISHED ALUM. SILL FLASHING
A3 - BRIGHT SILVER
A3a - PETERSEN ALUM # "CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE"

SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUM. RE: DWG. A602

MEMBRANE ROOFING GRAY TOP OF SLOPED ROOF, CANOPY ROOF, AND BACK OF RAISED ROOF PROJECTIONS - SEE SPECIFICATIONS
APPENDIX 'B'

METAL SOFFIT PANELS A6 - SOLID PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER
A6a - 1/2 VENTED PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER RE: DWG. A301-A304

EXTERIOR PAINT PT-19 / CL-9 RE: DWG. A603

ALUMINUM CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE: DWG. A602

ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL BRIGHT SILVER PROVIDE PANEL JOINTS AS SHOWN - PROVIDE ONE PIECE TIGHT FIT EXTRUDED MOLDING INSTALLATION
SYSTEM WITH CENTER REVEAL TRIM BETWEEN PANELS AND J TRIM AT PANEL EDGES.

A3

A4

A5

A6

A7

A8

A9

BLRD-2 PT-19 / CL-4 RE: DWG A603

BLRD-4 RE: DWG A603

GUARD RAIL TYPE "A" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

GUARD RAIL TYPE "B" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

BLRD-3 GALVANIZED RE: DWG A603

DOCK LEVELER / SEAL AND BUMPERS LEVELER - FACTORY FINISH / SEAL AND
BUMPERS - FACTORY FINISH - BLACK PROVIDE BRICK BEHIND DOCK SEAL

MASONRY CONTROL JOINT MAX 20' OC

OVERFLOW SCUPPER MATCH COPING ABOVE RE: DWG A2/A507

ARCHITECTURAL CAST STONE TANNERSTONE: AG-1 SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - MORTAR COLOR TO MATCH CAST STONE

ALDI TOWER SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR 7'-11 1/8" w. x 9'-5 1/2" h.; VERIFY SIGN SIZE PRIOR TO FRAMING OPENING
SEE DETAIL C1/A504

CRTB NATURAL RE: DWG A603 - SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS

A11

A12

A13

A14

A15

A16

A17

A18

A19

A20

A21

BASE BID - BRICK 'A'
SPEC-BRICK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
CHESAPEAKE BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE CONCRETE PRODUCTS GROUP AT 800-789-0872 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 2 - BRICK 'B'
QUIK-BRIK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
MAROUS BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT ECHELON MASONRY AT 800-899-8455 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 3 - BRICK 'C'
BELDEN BRICK

MODULAR EBONY BLACK BLEND w/ HOLCIM
"SMITH GRAY" MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE BELDEN BRICK COMPANY AT 330-451-2031 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A2

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT EXTERIOR CLADDING VINTAGEWOOD 'CEDAR'
PANELS SHALL EXTEND ONTO THE ROOF FOR THE FULL DEPTH OF THE BUMPOUT.  CONTACT NICHIHA AT
770-805-9466 FOR ORDERING. SEE SPEC FOR TRIM REQUIREMENTS AND ADDITIONAL INFO. ALL INCLUDED
TRIM ('H', 'J', 'L', CORNER, ETC) TO MATCH FCP

A10

EXIT DISCHARGE LIGHT FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 8'-0" A.F.F.

WALL SCONCE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 14'-8" A.F.F.; RE: DWG. A111 FOR DIMENSIONS

JUNCTION BOX WITH COVER FOR FUTURE CARD
READER MOUNT CENTERED @ 46" A.F.F., SEE ELEC DWGS

UTILITY METERING & C.T. FACTORY FINISH SEE ELECTRICAL DWGS

EXTERIOR WALL PACK FACTORY FINISH MAN DOORS - MOUNT @ 9'-0" A.F.F.,  BREAK ROOM WINDOW @ 10'-0" A.F.F.
ALL OTHER LOCATIONS - MOUNT @ 12'-0" A.F.F.

EXTERIOR DUPLEX RECEPTACLE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 1'-6" A.F.F. IN 4" SQUARE J-BOX

E1

E2

E3

E4

E5

E6

NOT USEDA30

NOT USEDE7

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

KNOX BOX FACTORY FINISH CONFIRM TYPE AND LOCATION WITH LOCAL FIRE MARSHAL

AUTO DOOR SYSTEM & TRANSOM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE. DWG A601 & A602

ALDI LOGO SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR SURFACE MOUNTED SIGN: 15'-2 1/2" W. X 5'-1" H.

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM GUTTER MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM DOWNSPOUT MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING TERMINATE AT CONC. SPLASH BLOCK

ACP H/J TRIM / JOINT COVER TYPICAL AT EDGES AND BUTT JOINTS OF ACP

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT PANEL BASE FLASHING PETERSEN ALUMINUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A22

A23

A24

A25

A26

A27

A28

NOT USEDA29

NICHIHA CONTROL JOINT WITH "H" CLIPA31

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

PREFINISHED METAL COPING

A1- SILVER - AT HIGH ROOF & CANOPY
A1a - PETERSEN ALUM - MUSKET GREY-AT BRICK
A1b - PETERSEN ALUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' - AT NICHIHA TOWERS

SEE SPECIFICATIONS APPENDIX 'B'A1

NOT USED

NOT USED

A32

A33

B1
A305

A7 E1

E5 A1a

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

A2A17A17A17 A17A13 A14

A11

DUMPSTER IN
LOADING DOCK
BEYOND

Drawing No.Scale:

Project No.

Type:

Date:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Store #:

20-0647B

ALDI Inc.
Cedar Falls, IA
219 Brandilynn Boulevard
Cedar Falls, IA
Black Hawk County

02/25/21

RHSDV7ER

As Noted

64

Issued for Permit 03/19/21

Issued for Bid 04/05/21

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PL
O

TT
ED

: 4
/1

6/
20

21
 1

:4
3 

PM
Date:

A
Issued:

PROJECT ARCHITECT/ENGINEER DATE

PROJECT LEAD DATE

Seal Seal

DATEPROJECT DESIGNER

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

585.742.2222
585.924.4914.fax

615 Fishers Run
Victor, NY  14564

615 Fishers Run Victor, NY  14564
585.742.2222 - www.apd.com

Drawing Alteration
It is a violation of law for any person, unless acting under the

direction of licensed Architect, Professional Engineer, Landscape
Architect, or Land Surveyor to alter any item on this document in any
way. Any licensee who alters this document is required by law to affix
his or her seal and to add the notation "Altered By" followed by his or
her signature and the specific description of the alteration or revision.

APD Engineering & Architecture, PLLC

www.apd.com

CCopyright       2021

Copying, Printing, Software and other processes required to produce
these prints can stretch or shrink the actual paper or layout.

Therefore, scaling of this drawing may be inaccurate.  Contact APD
E&A with any need for additional dimensions or clarifications.

DO NOT SCALE PLANS

Exterior
Elevations

CB A-201
1 South Elevation

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2 West Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

401

Item 38.



SIGNAGE

DESCRIPTION QUANTITY SQ. FT. PER SIGN TOTALS

TOWER SIGN 2 74.9 149.8

TOTAL SIGNAGE 149.8
SIGNAGE  IS SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY AND SHALL BE UNDER SEPARATE
PERMIT SUBMITTAL

B1
A306

19'-11" A.F.F.
T.O. BLKG

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

22'-1 1/2" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

GRADE LINE - SEE CIVIL DWGS.

A6a

A5

A7

A1 A9A25

A26

A1

A2

A6

A9

A1A5

A1a

A2

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

A16

A14

A14P1

A17 A17 A17A2

A5
E5A7

A7

A13

A7 E1

E5

A1
A305

F2

E4 P2

H

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR GRADE LINE - SEE

CIVIL DWGS.A3

A5

A11A11

A6

A2

A10

A1

A5

A12 A21

A1

A9

E2

A18

A28

A25

A26

A4P3

A1

A2

E5

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY

A9

A11

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

A1a

A17

A17 A17 A17 A17 A17A2 A2

A9

A18 A18

5'
-1

"

15'-2 1/2" A24 E5

FIRE DEPT. CONNECTION FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

MOTOR GONG FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

HOSE BIB FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

RPZ DISCHARGE FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GAS METER FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GLAZING KEY RE: DWG A602

ALIGN KEY
A: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
B: ALIGN ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
C: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS, ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS, AND WINDOW MULLIONS

F1

F2

P1

P2

P3

XX

XX

PREFINISHED ALUM. SILL FLASHING
A3 - BRIGHT SILVER
A3a - PETERSEN ALUM # "CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE"

SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUM. RE: DWG. A602

MEMBRANE ROOFING GRAY TOP OF SLOPED ROOF, CANOPY ROOF, AND BACK OF RAISED ROOF PROJECTIONS - SEE SPECIFICATIONS
APPENDIX 'B'

METAL SOFFIT PANELS A6 - SOLID PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER
A6a - 1/2 VENTED PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER RE: DWG. A301-A304

EXTERIOR PAINT PT-19 / CL-9 RE: DWG. A603

ALUMINUM CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE: DWG. A602

ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL BRIGHT SILVER PROVIDE PANEL JOINTS AS SHOWN - PROVIDE ONE PIECE TIGHT FIT EXTRUDED MOLDING INSTALLATION
SYSTEM WITH CENTER REVEAL TRIM BETWEEN PANELS AND J TRIM AT PANEL EDGES.

A3

A4

A5

A6

A7

A8

A9

BLRD-2 PT-19 / CL-4 RE: DWG A603

BLRD-4 RE: DWG A603

GUARD RAIL TYPE "A" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

GUARD RAIL TYPE "B" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

BLRD-3 GALVANIZED RE: DWG A603

DOCK LEVELER / SEAL AND BUMPERS LEVELER - FACTORY FINISH / SEAL AND
BUMPERS - FACTORY FINISH - BLACK PROVIDE BRICK BEHIND DOCK SEAL

MASONRY CONTROL JOINT MAX 20' OC

OVERFLOW SCUPPER MATCH COPING ABOVE RE: DWG A2/A507

ARCHITECTURAL CAST STONE TANNERSTONE: AG-1 SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - MORTAR COLOR TO MATCH CAST STONE

ALDI TOWER SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR 7'-11 1/8" w. x 9'-5 1/2" h.; VERIFY SIGN SIZE PRIOR TO FRAMING OPENING
SEE DETAIL C1/A504

CRTB NATURAL RE: DWG A603 - SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS

A11

A12

A13

A14

A15

A16

A17

A18

A19

A20

A21

BASE BID - BRICK 'A'
SPEC-BRICK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
CHESAPEAKE BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE CONCRETE PRODUCTS GROUP AT 800-789-0872 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 2 - BRICK 'B'
QUIK-BRIK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
MAROUS BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT ECHELON MASONRY AT 800-899-8455 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 3 - BRICK 'C'
BELDEN BRICK

MODULAR EBONY BLACK BLEND w/ HOLCIM
"SMITH GRAY" MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE BELDEN BRICK COMPANY AT 330-451-2031 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A2

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT EXTERIOR CLADDING VINTAGEWOOD 'CEDAR'
PANELS SHALL EXTEND ONTO THE ROOF FOR THE FULL DEPTH OF THE BUMPOUT.  CONTACT NICHIHA AT
770-805-9466 FOR ORDERING. SEE SPEC FOR TRIM REQUIREMENTS AND ADDITIONAL INFO. ALL INCLUDED
TRIM ('H', 'J', 'L', CORNER, ETC) TO MATCH FCP

A10

EXIT DISCHARGE LIGHT FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 8'-0" A.F.F.

WALL SCONCE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 14'-8" A.F.F.; RE: DWG. A111 FOR DIMENSIONS

JUNCTION BOX WITH COVER FOR FUTURE CARD
READER MOUNT CENTERED @ 46" A.F.F., SEE ELEC DWGS

UTILITY METERING & C.T. FACTORY FINISH SEE ELECTRICAL DWGS

EXTERIOR WALL PACK FACTORY FINISH MAN DOORS - MOUNT @ 9'-0" A.F.F.,  BREAK ROOM WINDOW @ 10'-0" A.F.F.
ALL OTHER LOCATIONS - MOUNT @ 12'-0" A.F.F.

EXTERIOR DUPLEX RECEPTACLE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 1'-6" A.F.F. IN 4" SQUARE J-BOX

E1

E2

E3

E4

E5

E6

NOT USEDA30

NOT USEDE7

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

KNOX BOX FACTORY FINISH CONFIRM TYPE AND LOCATION WITH LOCAL FIRE MARSHAL

AUTO DOOR SYSTEM & TRANSOM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE. DWG A601 & A602

ALDI LOGO SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR SURFACE MOUNTED SIGN: 15'-2 1/2" W. X 5'-1" H.

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM GUTTER MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM DOWNSPOUT MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING TERMINATE AT CONC. SPLASH BLOCK

ACP H/J TRIM / JOINT COVER TYPICAL AT EDGES AND BUTT JOINTS OF ACP

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT PANEL BASE FLASHING PETERSEN ALUMINUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A22

A23

A24

A25

A26

A27

A28

NOT USEDA29

NICHIHA CONTROL JOINT WITH "H" CLIPA31

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

PREFINISHED METAL COPING

A1- SILVER - AT HIGH ROOF & CANOPY
A1a - PETERSEN ALUM - MUSKET GREY-AT BRICK
A1b - PETERSEN ALUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' - AT NICHIHA TOWERS

SEE SPECIFICATIONS APPENDIX 'B'A1

NOT USED

NOT USED

A32

A33

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/

STUD

A2 A17 A17 A17

A18 A18A1a

A2A7E1

E5

A13 A14

DUMPSTER IN
LOADING DOCK
BEYOND

A11

Drawing No.Scale:

Project No.

Type:

Date:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Store #:

20-0647B

ALDI Inc.
Cedar Falls, IA
219 Brandilynn Boulevard
Cedar Falls, IA
Black Hawk County

02/25/21

RHSDV7ER

As Noted

64

Issued for Permit 03/19/21

Issued for Bid 04/05/21

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PL
O

TT
ED

: 4
/1

6/
20

21
 1

:4
3 

PM
Date:

A
Issued:

PROJECT ARCHITECT/ENGINEER DATE

PROJECT LEAD DATE

Seal Seal

DATEPROJECT DESIGNER

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

585.742.2222
585.924.4914.fax

615 Fishers Run
Victor, NY  14564

615 Fishers Run Victor, NY  14564
585.742.2222 - www.apd.com

Drawing Alteration
It is a violation of law for any person, unless acting under the

direction of licensed Architect, Professional Engineer, Landscape
Architect, or Land Surveyor to alter any item on this document in any
way. Any licensee who alters this document is required by law to affix
his or her seal and to add the notation "Altered By" followed by his or
her signature and the specific description of the alteration or revision.

APD Engineering & Architecture, PLLC

www.apd.com

CCopyright       2021

Copying, Printing, Software and other processes required to produce
these prints can stretch or shrink the actual paper or layout.

Therefore, scaling of this drawing may be inaccurate.  Contact APD
E&A with any need for additional dimensions or clarifications.

DO NOT SCALE PLANS

Exterior
Elevations

CB A-202
1 North Elevation

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2 East Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

402

Item 38.



SIGNAGE

DESCRIPTION QUANTITY SQ. FT. PER SIGN TOTALS

TOWER SIGN 2 74.9 149.8

TOTAL SIGNAGE 149.8
SIGNAGE  IS SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY AND SHALL BE UNDER SEPARATE
PERMIT SUBMITTAL

19'-11" A.F.F.
T.O. BLKG

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

22'-1 1/2" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

3'-4" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY 

21'-2"  A.F.F.
CENTER OF LOGO SIGNS

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/

STUD

5'
-1

"

15'-2 1/2"

EQ EQ

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

9'
-6

"
SI

G
N

 O
PN

G
.

3'-4" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY

19'-11" A.F.F.
T.O. BLKG

7'-11 5/8"
SIGN OPNG.

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY 
FINISH

22'-1 1/2"  A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/

STUD

Exterior
Elevations

CB CEE-51 East Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2 West Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

3 North Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

4 South Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

Drawing No.Scale:

Project No.

Type:

Date:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Store #:

20-0647A

ALDI Inc.
Cedar Falls, IA
Project Address
Cedar Falls, IA
Black Hawk County

09/28/20

RHSD-V7

As Noted

XX

Issued for Client Review 09/29/20

Issued for Client Review 11/11/20

Issued for Client Review 11/24/20

Issued for Client Review 12/03/20

Issued for Client Review 02/18/21

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PL
O

TT
ED

: 2
/1

8/
20

21
 5

:0
8 

PM
Date:

A
Issued:

PROJECT ARCHITECT/ENGINEER DATE

PROJECT LEAD DATE

Seal Seal

DATEPROJECT DESIGNER

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

585.742.2222
585.924.4914.fax

615 Fishers Run
Victor, NY  14564

615 Fishers Run Victor, NY  14564
585.742.2222 - www.apd.com

Drawing Alteration
It is a violation of law for any person, unless acting under the

direction of licensed Architect, Professional Engineer, Landscape
Architect, or Land Surveyor to alter any item on this document in any
way. Any licensee who alters this document is required by law to affix
his or her seal and to add the notation "Altered By" followed by his or
her signature and the specific description of the alteration or revision.

APD Engineering & Architecture, PLLC

www.apd.com

CCopyright       2021

Copying, Printing, Software and other processes required to produce
these prints can stretch or shrink the actual paper or layout.

Therefore, scaling of this drawing may be inaccurate.  Contact APD
E&A with any need for additional dimensions or clarifications.

DO NOT SCALE PLANS

403

Item 38.



B1
A305

B

A4 A21

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

3'-4" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY 

A1

A1

A3a

GRADE LINE - SEE
CIVIL DWGS.

A5

A6

A6a

A7

A9

A10

A21A12

A27

A10

TYP.

A17

21'-2"  A.F.F.
CENTER OF LOGO SIGNS

E1

E5
A1b

A2

A12

A15

A1a

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

A2 A17 A17 A17 A17A17A17A17 A17A13 A2

D1
A301

D1
A306

A14

C C

D1
A302

B1
A304

B1
A303

C1
A305

CA BB B
A31 A31 A31 A31

D1
A303

EQ EQ

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

9'
-6

"
SI

G
N

 O
PN

G
.

3'-4" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY

A

A4 A22A23 P1E6

A1

E2

A1

E5

F

E

19'-11" A.F.F.
T.O. BLKG

7'-11 5/8"
SIGN OPNG.

A2

A3

GRADE LINE - SEE
CIVIL DWGS.A4

A5

A6a

A6

A5

A7

A9

A10

A12

A27

A21

A9

A25
A20

TYP.

E1 A17A12 A28A3a
FLASHING AT
SILL BEYOND

A3a

A26

A1b

E3A17A17A17

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY 
FINISH

22'-1 1/2"  A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

A12 A12

C

D

A8

A8

A3

A9

G

@ BUILDING
WALL

@ CART
WALL

A1a

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/

STUD

A2 17
SIGNAGE

DESCRIPTION QUANTITY SQ. FT. PER SIGN TOTALS

TOWER SIGN 2 74.9 149.8

TOTAL SIGNAGE 149.8
SIGNAGE  IS SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY AND SHALL BE UNDER SEPARATE
PERMIT SUBMITTAL

FIRE DEPT. CONNECTION FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

MOTOR GONG FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

HOSE BIB FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

RPZ DISCHARGE FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GAS METER FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GLAZING KEY RE: DWG A602

ALIGN KEY
A: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
B: ALIGN ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
C: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS, ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS, AND WINDOW MULLIONS

F1

F2

P1

P2

P3

XX

XX

PREFINISHED ALUM. SILL FLASHING
A3 - BRIGHT SILVER
A3a - PETERSEN ALUM # "CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE"

SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUM. RE: DWG. A602

MEMBRANE ROOFING GRAY TOP OF SLOPED ROOF, CANOPY ROOF, AND BACK OF RAISED ROOF PROJECTIONS - SEE SPECIFICATIONS
APPENDIX 'B'

METAL SOFFIT PANELS A6 - SOLID PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER
A6a - 1/2 VENTED PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER RE: DWG. A301-A304

EXTERIOR PAINT PT-19 / CL-9 RE: DWG. A603

ALUMINUM CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE: DWG. A602

ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL BRIGHT SILVER PROVIDE PANEL JOINTS AS SHOWN - PROVIDE ONE PIECE TIGHT FIT EXTRUDED MOLDING INSTALLATION
SYSTEM WITH CENTER REVEAL TRIM BETWEEN PANELS AND J TRIM AT PANEL EDGES.

A3

A4

A5

A6

A7

A8

A9

BLRD-2 PT-19 / CL-4 RE: DWG A603

BLRD-4 RE: DWG A603

GUARD RAIL TYPE "A" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

GUARD RAIL TYPE "B" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

BLRD-3 GALVANIZED RE: DWG A603

DOCK LEVELER / SEAL AND BUMPERS LEVELER - FACTORY FINISH / SEAL AND
BUMPERS - FACTORY FINISH - BLACK PROVIDE BRICK BEHIND DOCK SEAL

MASONRY CONTROL JOINT MAX 20' OC

OVERFLOW SCUPPER MATCH COPING ABOVE RE: DWG A2/A507

ARCHITECTURAL CAST STONE TANNERSTONE: AG-1 SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - MORTAR COLOR TO MATCH CAST STONE

ALDI TOWER SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR 7'-11 1/8" w. x 9'-5 1/2" h.; VERIFY SIGN SIZE PRIOR TO FRAMING OPENING
SEE DETAIL C1/A504

CRTB NATURAL RE: DWG A603 - SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS

A11

A12

A13

A14

A15

A16

A17

A18

A19

A20

A21

BASE BID - BRICK 'A'
SPEC-BRICK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
CHESAPEAKE BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE CONCRETE PRODUCTS GROUP AT 800-789-0872 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 2 - BRICK 'B'
QUIK-BRIK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
MAROUS BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT ECHELON MASONRY AT 800-899-8455 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 3 - BRICK 'C'
BELDEN BRICK

MODULAR EBONY BLACK BLEND w/ HOLCIM
"SMITH GRAY" MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE BELDEN BRICK COMPANY AT 330-451-2031 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A2

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT EXTERIOR CLADDING VINTAGEWOOD 'CEDAR'
PANELS SHALL EXTEND ONTO THE ROOF FOR THE FULL DEPTH OF THE BUMPOUT.  CONTACT NICHIHA AT
770-805-9466 FOR ORDERING. SEE SPEC FOR TRIM REQUIREMENTS AND ADDITIONAL INFO. ALL INCLUDED
TRIM ('H', 'J', 'L', CORNER, ETC) TO MATCH FCP

A10

EXIT DISCHARGE LIGHT FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 8'-0" A.F.F.

WALL SCONCE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 14'-8" A.F.F.; RE: DWG. A111 FOR DIMENSIONS

JUNCTION BOX WITH COVER FOR FUTURE CARD
READER MOUNT CENTERED @ 46" A.F.F., SEE ELEC DWGS

UTILITY METERING & C.T. FACTORY FINISH SEE ELECTRICAL DWGS

EXTERIOR WALL PACK FACTORY FINISH MAN DOORS - MOUNT @ 9'-0" A.F.F.,  BREAK ROOM WINDOW @ 10'-0" A.F.F.
LOADING DOCK - MOUNT @ 12'-0" A.F.F.

EXTERIOR DUPLEX RECEPTACLE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 1'-6" A.F.F. IN 4" SQUARE J-BOX

E1

E2

E3

E4

E5

E6

NOT USEDA30

NOT USEDE7

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

KNOX BOX FACTORY FINISH CONFIRM TYPE AND LOCATION WITH LOCAL FIRE MARSHAL

AUTO DOOR SYSTEM & TRANSOM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE. DWG A601 & A602

ALDI LOGO SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR SURFACE MOUNTED SIGN: 15'-2 1/2" W. X 5'-1" H.

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM GUTTER MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM DOWNSPOUT MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING TERMINATE AT CONC. SPLASH BLOCK

ACP H/J TRIM / JOINT COVER TYPICAL AT EDGES AND BUTT JOINTS OF ACP

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT PANEL BASE FLASHING PETERSEN ALUMINUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A22

A23

A24

A25

A26

A27

A28

NOT USEDA29

NICHIHA CONTROL JOINT WITH "H" CLIPA31

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

PREFINISHED METAL COPING

A1- SILVER - AT HIGH ROOF & CANOPY
A1a - PETERSEN ALUM - MUSKET GREY-AT BRICK
A1b - PETERSEN ALUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' - AT NICHIHA TOWERS

SEE SPECIFICATIONS APPENDIX 'B'A1

NOT USED

NOT USED

A32

A33

A11

Drawing No.Scale:

Project No.

Type:

Date:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Store #:

20-0647B

ALDI Inc.
Cedar Falls, IA
219 Brandilynn Boulevard
Cedar Falls, IA
Black Hawk County

02/25/21

RHSDV7ER

As Noted

64

Issued for Permit 03/19/21

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PL
O

TT
ED

: 3
/1

7/
20

21
 5

:0
3 

PM
Date:

A
Issued:

PROJECT ARCHITECT/ENGINEER DATE

PROJECT LEAD DATE

Seal Seal

DATEPROJECT DESIGNER

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

585.742.2222
585.924.4914.fax

615 Fishers Run
Victor, NY  14564

615 Fishers Run Victor, NY  14564
585.742.2222 - www.apd.com

Drawing Alteration
It is a violation of law for any person, unless acting under the

direction of licensed Architect, Professional Engineer, Landscape
Architect, or Land Surveyor to alter any item on this document in any
way. Any licensee who alters this document is required by law to affix
his or her seal and to add the notation "Altered By" followed by his or
her signature and the specific description of the alteration or revision.

APD Engineering & Architecture, PLLC

www.apd.com

CCopyright       2020

Copying, Printing, Software and other processes required to produce
these prints can stretch or shrink the actual paper or layout.

Therefore, scaling of this drawing may be inaccurate.  Contact APD
E&A with any need for additional dimensions or clarifications.

DO NOT SCALE PLANS

Exterior
Elevations

CB A-201
1 South Elevation

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2 West Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

404

Item 38.



SIGNAGE

DESCRIPTION QUANTITY SQ. FT. PER SIGN TOTALS

TOWER SIGN 2 74.9 149.8

TOTAL SIGNAGE 149.8
SIGNAGE  IS SHOWN FOR REFERENCE ONLY AND SHALL BE UNDER SEPARATE
PERMIT SUBMITTAL

B1
A306

19'-11" A.F.F.
T.O. BLKG

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR

28'-10" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

22'-1 1/2" A.F.F.
T.O. STEEL

GRADE LINE - SEE CIVIL DWGS.

A6a

A5

A7

A1 A9A25

A26

A1

A2

A6

A9

A1A5

A1a

A2

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

A16

A14

A14P1

A17 A17 A17A2

A5
E5A7

A7

A13

A7 E1

A1
A305

F2

E4 P2

H

0'-0"
FIN. FLOOR GRADE LINE - SEE

CIVIL DWGS.A3

A5

A11A11

A6

A2

A10

A1

A5

A12 A21

A1

A9

E2

A18

A28

A25

A26

A4P3

A1

A2

E5

11'-2" A.F.F.
B.O. CANOPY

A9

A11

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/STUD

A1a

A17

A17

18'-8" A.F.F.
T.O. MASONRY/

STUD

A2A17 A17 A17 A17 A17 A17 A17A2 A2

A9

A17

A18 A18 A18 A18A1a

A2

5'
-1

"

15'-2 1/2"

A7E1

E5A24

A13 A14

FIRE DEPT. CONNECTION FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

MOTOR GONG FACTORY FINISH SEE FIRE PROTECTION DWGS

HOSE BIB FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

RPZ DISCHARGE FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GAS METER FACTORY FINISH SEE PLUMBING DWGS

GLAZING KEY RE: DWG A602

ALIGN KEY
A: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
B: ALIGN ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS AND WINDOW MULLIONS
C: ALIGN NICHIHA PANEL JOINTS, ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL JOINTS, AND WINDOW MULLIONS

F1

F2

P1

P2

P3

XX

XX

PREFINISHED ALUM. SILL FLASHING
A3 - BRIGHT SILVER
A3a - PETERSEN ALUM # "CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE"

SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALUMINUM STOREFRONT SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUM. RE: DWG. A602

MEMBRANE ROOFING GRAY TOP OF SLOPED ROOF, CANOPY ROOF, AND BACK OF RAISED ROOF PROJECTIONS - SEE SPECIFICATIONS
APPENDIX 'B'

METAL SOFFIT PANELS A6 - SOLID PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER
A6a - 1/2 VENTED PANELS - BRIGHT SILVER RE: DWG. A301-A304

EXTERIOR PAINT PT-19 / CL-9 RE: DWG. A603

ALUMINUM CURTAIN WALL SYSTEM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE: DWG. A602

ALUMINUM COMPOSITE PANEL BRIGHT SILVER PROVIDE PANEL JOINTS AS SHOWN - PROVIDE ONE PIECE TIGHT FIT EXTRUDED MOLDING INSTALLATION
SYSTEM WITH CENTER REVEAL TRIM BETWEEN PANELS AND J TRIM AT PANEL EDGES.

A3

A4

A5

A6

A7

A8

A9

BLRD-2 PT-19 / CL-4 RE: DWG A603

BLRD-4 RE: DWG A603

GUARD RAIL TYPE "A" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

GUARD RAIL TYPE "B" GALVANIZED STEEL RE: DWG B2/A507

BLRD-3 GALVANIZED RE: DWG A603

DOCK LEVELER / SEAL AND BUMPERS LEVELER - FACTORY FINISH / SEAL AND
BUMPERS - FACTORY FINISH - BLACK PROVIDE BRICK BEHIND DOCK SEAL

MASONRY CONTROL JOINT MAX 20' OC

OVERFLOW SCUPPER MATCH COPING ABOVE RE: DWG A2/A507

ARCHITECTURAL CAST STONE TANNERSTONE: AG-1 SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFORMATION - MORTAR COLOR TO MATCH CAST STONE

ALDI TOWER SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR 7'-11 1/8" w. x 9'-5 1/2" h.; VERIFY SIGN SIZE PRIOR TO FRAMING OPENING
SEE DETAIL C1/A504

CRTB NATURAL RE: DWG A603 - SEE STRUCTURAL DWGS

A11

A12

A13

A14

A15

A16

A17

A18

A19

A20

A21

BASE BID - BRICK 'A'
SPEC-BRICK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
CHESAPEAKE BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE CONCRETE PRODUCTS GROUP AT 800-789-0872 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 2 - BRICK 'B'
QUIK-BRIK CONCRETE MASONRY VENEER

4Wx8Hx16L (12W @ CART WALL ONLY)
MAROUS BLEND w/ HOLCIM "SMITH GRAY"
MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT ECHELON MASONRY AT 800-899-8455 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

ALTERNATE No. 3 - BRICK 'C'
BELDEN BRICK

MODULAR EBONY BLACK BLEND w/ HOLCIM
"SMITH GRAY" MORTAR
MORTAR ALT: SOLOMON "85X DARK
CHOCOLATE"

CONTACT THE BELDEN BRICK COMPANY AT 330-451-2031 FOR ORDERING
SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A2

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT EXTERIOR CLADDING VINTAGEWOOD 'CEDAR'
PANELS SHALL EXTEND ONTO THE ROOF FOR THE FULL DEPTH OF THE BUMPOUT.  CONTACT NICHIHA AT
770-805-9466 FOR ORDERING. SEE SPEC FOR TRIM REQUIREMENTS AND ADDITIONAL INFO. ALL INCLUDED
TRIM ('H', 'J', 'L', CORNER, ETC) TO MATCH FCP

A10

EXIT DISCHARGE LIGHT FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 8'-0" A.F.F.

WALL SCONCE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 14'-8" A.F.F.; RE: DWG. A111 FOR DIMENSIONS

JUNCTION BOX WITH COVER FOR FUTURE CARD
READER MOUNT CENTERED @ 46" A.F.F., SEE ELEC DWGS

UTILITY METERING & C.T. FACTORY FINISH SEE ELECTRICAL DWGS

EXTERIOR WALL PACK FACTORY FINISH MAN DOORS - MOUNT @ 9'-0" A.F.F.,  BREAK ROOM WINDOW @ 10'-0" A.F.F.
LOADING DOCK - MOUNT @ 12'-0" A.F.F.

EXTERIOR DUPLEX RECEPTACLE FACTORY FINISH MOUNT @ 1'-6" A.F.F. IN 4" SQUARE J-BOX

E1

E2

E3

E4

E5

E6

NOT USEDA30

NOT USEDE7

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

KNOX BOX FACTORY FINISH CONFIRM TYPE AND LOCATION WITH LOCAL FIRE MARSHAL

AUTO DOOR SYSTEM & TRANSOM ANODIZED ALUMINUM RE. DWG A601 & A602

ALDI LOGO SIGN BY SIGN VENDOR SURFACE MOUNTED SIGN: 15'-2 1/2" W. X 5'-1" H.

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM GUTTER MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING

8" X 8" PRE-FINISHED ALUM DOWNSPOUT MATCH PREFINISHED METAL COPING TERMINATE AT CONC. SPLASH BLOCK

ACP H/J TRIM / JOINT COVER TYPICAL AT EDGES AND BUTT JOINTS OF ACP

NICHIHA FIBER CEMENT PANEL BASE FLASHING PETERSEN ALUMINUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' SEE SPEC FOR ADDITIONAL INFO

A22

A23

A24

A25

A26

A27

A28

NOT USEDA29

NICHIHA CONTROL JOINT WITH "H" CLIPA31

EXTERIOR FINISH SCHEDULE

KEY MATERIAL / MFG. COLOR / NO. NOTES

PREFINISHED METAL COPING

A1- SILVER - AT HIGH ROOF & CANOPY
A1a - PETERSEN ALUM - MUSKET GREY-AT BRICK
A1b - PETERSEN ALUM - #'CEDAR 397C0290
SPRAY CODE' - AT NICHIHA TOWERS

SEE SPECIFICATIONS APPENDIX 'B'A1

NOT USED

NOT USED

A32

A33

A11

Drawing No.Scale:

Project No.

Type:

Date:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Store #:

20-0647B

ALDI Inc.
Cedar Falls, IA
219 Brandilynn Boulevard
Cedar Falls, IA
Black Hawk County

02/25/21

RHSDV7ER

As Noted

64

Issued for Permit 03/19/21

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PL
O

TT
ED

: 3
/1

7/
20

21
 5

:0
3 

PM
Date:

A
Issued:

PROJECT ARCHITECT/ENGINEER DATE

PROJECT LEAD DATE

Seal Seal

DATEPROJECT DESIGNER

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

585.742.2222
585.924.4914.fax

615 Fishers Run
Victor, NY  14564

615 Fishers Run Victor, NY  14564
585.742.2222 - www.apd.com

Drawing Alteration
It is a violation of law for any person, unless acting under the

direction of licensed Architect, Professional Engineer, Landscape
Architect, or Land Surveyor to alter any item on this document in any
way. Any licensee who alters this document is required by law to affix
his or her seal and to add the notation "Altered By" followed by his or
her signature and the specific description of the alteration or revision.

APD Engineering & Architecture, PLLC

www.apd.com

CCopyright       2020

Copying, Printing, Software and other processes required to produce
these prints can stretch or shrink the actual paper or layout.

Therefore, scaling of this drawing may be inaccurate.  Contact APD
E&A with any need for additional dimensions or clarifications.

DO NOT SCALE PLANS

Exterior
Elevations

CB A-202
1 North Elevation

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

2 East Elevation
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

405

Item 38.



NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

NO PARKING

72
'-7

 1
/4

" C
LE

A
R

REF.

16 DOOR COOLER
22'-0" x 65'-0" x X'-X"h.

3'
-1

 3
/4

"
9'

-5
 3

/4
"

10
'-6

"

65'-0"

22
'-0

"

10'-9"
CLEAR

BACK
ROOM

109

UNISEX 1
103

BREAK
ROOM

106

OFFICE
107

HALL
104

UNISEX 2
105

14'-0"

5'
-0

"
RA

C
KI

N
G

MEAT
COOLER

11'-7"

12'-7 1/4" CLEAR

12'-0"

17
'-1

1"

6'-0" 16'-11"

7'
-4

 1
/2

"

(10) SPOT MERCHANDISERS

16 DOOR FREEZER
16'-0" x 43'-7" x X'-X"h.16

'-0
"

2'
-7

"

7'
-5

"

7'
-4

"
10

'-0
"

34'-2" 9'-8"

7'
-6

"
C

LE
A

R

43'-7"

6'
-0

"

5'
-0

"
RA

C
KI

N
G

5'
-1

 1
/2

"
8'

-0
"

4'
-9

 1
/2

"

HUB
DRAIN

NOTES:
1. THIS DRAWING IS FOR

GENERAL FIXTURING LAYOUT
AND REFERENCE TO
EQUIPMENT ONLY. ALL
INFORMATION IS FOR ALDI
OPERATIONAL USE ONLY
AND SHALL NOT BE USED FOR
CONSTRUCTION OR BIDDING
PURPOSES.

2. ALL DIMENSIONS TO WALLS
ARE TO FACE OF STUD
UNLESS NOTED OTHERWISE.

3. THIS FACILITY DOES NOT
CONTAIN A BAKERY, A
BUTCHER, A DELI OR FISH
COUNTER.

4. ALL FOOD IS PREPACKAGED.
THERE IS NO ON SITE FOOD
PREPARATION.

5. GONDOLA LOCATIONS ARE
MEASURED FROM THE FACE
OF THE STAINLESS STEEL PRICE
TAG MOLDING (SSPTM).

CHECKLANE BLASTS NOT
INCLUDED IN LINEAR
FOOTAGE OF BASE

7'
-4

 1
/4

"±
C

LE
A

R

15'-9 1/2"
CLEAR

CO2 TANKS

8'-0 1/4"

12'-0"
CLEAR

72
'-3

" M
UL

TI-
D

EC
K 

UN
ITS

12
' 6

D
M

LH
FR

ES
H 

M
EA

T

12' 6DMLH
FRESH MEAT

12' 6DMLH
PRODUCE

12
' 6

D
M

LH
D

EL
I

12' 6DMLH
PRODUCE

12
' 6

D
M

LH
D

EL
I

12
' 6

D
M

LH
D

EL
I

12
' 6

D
M

LH
D

EL
I

12
' 6

D
M

LH
8'

 D
EL

I /
 4

' F
M

36'-3" MULTI-DECK UNITS

12' 6DMLH
4' PRO / 8' DELI

3'-5"

7'-6 3/4" 32'-0"

7'-6 3/4"3'-1 3/4"
7'

-3
 1

/2
"

7'
-3

 1
/2

"
7'

-3
"

7'
-3

 1
/2

"
7'

-3
"

7'
-3

 1
/2

"

3'-1 3/4"

SALES
102

7'
-3

 1
/2

"
7'

-3
 1

/2
"

74
'-6

"

151'-1"

3'-1 3/4"

7'
-8

"
32'-0"

48'-0"

3'-1 3/4"

46'-0"

9'
-0

"±
C

LE
A

R

88
'-8

 1
/2

"
76'-0"

1'-0"

5

4

3

2

1

7'
-3

"

8'
-0

"
C

LE
A

R

54
'-8

"

2'-3" TYP.
EXTERIOR

WALL
THICKNESS

@ BUMPOUT

TRASH CAN

VESTIBULE
101

WALK
OFF MAT

16'-8 1/4"

16
'-8

 1
/4

"

HUB
DRAIN

HUB DRAIN

48'-0"

48'-0"

16'-0"

7'
-3

"

20
'-0

"

12'-8"

3'-1 3/4"

12'-10 1/2"

3'-1 3/4"

3'-1 3/4"

3'-1 3/4"

3'-1 3/4"

12
'-6

"

3'-1 3/4"

4'
-0

"

7'
-3

 1
/2

"
7'

-9
 3

/4
"

7'
-0

"

9'
-7

 1
/2

"

32'-0"3'-1 3/4"7'-6 3/4"

3'-1 3/4" 8'-0" 3'-3" 16'-0" 7'-0"

CHECK LANE
(TYP.)

F7

F6

4'-1 1/2"

WATER &
FIRE RISERS

UTILITY
AREA

108

ROOF
LADDER

DRINKING
FOUNTAINS

LOCKERS
COAT
CLOSET

FLOOR DRAINMANAGER
ORGANIZATION
DESK

BALER

EVAC EQUIPMENT

FLOOR
SCRUBBERRECALL SHELVING

163'-4"

3'
-0

"
7'

-1
"

6'
-0

"
4'

-8
"

3'
-0

"
4'

-8
"

3'
-0

"
4'

-8
"

3'
-0

"
4'

-8
"

3'
-0

"
4'

-8
"

eCOMMERCE
110

3'-3"
12'-9 1/4"

PRODUCE

10
'-1

"

PRODUCE

ATTIC STOCK
SHELVING

(120) MODEL
563W CART
STORAGE

BEVERAGE
COOLERS

8'-11 1/2"

6" DIA. COVERED
STEEL PIPE BOLLARD
(TYP. OF 4)

FLOOR DRAINREFRIGERATION
EQUIP PANEL

BATTERY
CHARGERS

39'-4"

202'-8"

40
'-0

"
79

'-4
"

11
9'

-4
"

STACKERS

BATTERY CHARGERS

11
10

PALLET JACKS

11
11

BACK
ROOM

109

8'-7 1/2"
CLEAR

9

ELECTRIC SWITCHGEAR
& BOLLARDS

MANAGER ORGANIZATION
DESK; VERIFY LOCATION W/
ALDI REP

1'
-1

 1
/2

" T
YP

.
EX

TE
RI

O
R

W
A

LL
TH

IC
KN

ES
S

9

3

2

2 5

CEDAR FALLS, IA - AREA SUMMARY
 OCCUPANCY USE  ROOM NAME SQUARE FOOTAGE
 MERCANTILE (M)  SALES / VESTIBULE 12,541

 UNISEX 2 84
 UNISEX 1 76
 HALL 137

 SUBTOTAL (MERCANTILE) 12,838

 BUSINESS (B)  OFFICE 190
 BREAK ROOM 305
ECOMMERCE 175

 SUBTOTAL (BUSINESS) 670

 STORAGE / STOCK (S-2)  BACKROOM 4,571
 COOLER 1,313
 FREEZER 648

 SUBTOTAL (STORAGE / STOCK) 6,532

 SUBTOTAL (OCCUPANCIES) 20,040
 EXTERIOR /INTERIOR WALLS / UNOCCUPIED SPACE 1,103
 BUILDING SQUARE FOOTAGE 21,143
 EXTERIOR CANOPY 890
 TOTAL SQUARE FOOTAGE (INCLUDING CANOPY) 22,033

CEDAR FALLS, IA - OPERATIONS DATA
 ITEM
 LINEAR FOOTAGE OF BASE
(PRODUCE INCLUDED) 828'-7"

 ASSUMED PALLET STORAGE 73
 BUILDING DIMENSIONS 119'-4" x 153'-4"
 SALES FLOOR DIMENSIONS 74'-6" x 151'-1"
 LENGTH OF MULTIDECK 120'
 COOLER MILK DOORS 4
 COOLER GENERAL DOORS 12
 FREEZER GENERAL DOORS 16
 SPOT MERCHANDISERS 10
 CART STORAGE 120

Drawing No.Scale:

Project No.

Type:

Date:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Store #:

20-0647A

ALDI Inc.
Cedar Falls, IA
Project Address
Cedar Falls, IA
Black Hawk County

09/28/20

RHSD-V7

As Noted

XX

Issued for Client Review 09/29/20

Issued for Client Review 11/11/20

Issued for Client Review 11/24/20

Issued for Client Review 12/03/20

Issued for Client Review 02/18/21

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PL
O

TT
ED

: 2
/1

8/
20

21
 4

:0
4 

PM
Date:

A
Issued:

PROJECT ARCHITECT/ENGINEER DATE

PROJECT LEAD DATE

Seal Seal

DATEPROJECT DESIGNER

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

585.742.2222
585.924.4914.fax

615 Fishers Run
Victor, NY  14564

615 Fishers Run Victor, NY  14564
585.742.2222 - www.apd.com

Drawing Alteration
It is a violation of law for any person, unless acting under the

direction of licensed Architect, Professional Engineer, Landscape
Architect, or Land Surveyor to alter any item on this document in any
way. Any licensee who alters this document is required by law to affix
his or her seal and to add the notation "Altered By" followed by his or
her signature and the specific description of the alteration or revision.

APD Engineering & Architecture, PLLC

www.apd.com

CCopyright       2021

Copying, Printing, Software and other processes required to produce
these prints can stretch or shrink the actual paper or layout.

Therefore, scaling of this drawing may be inaccurate.  Contact APD
E&A with any need for additional dimensions or clarifications.

DO NOT SCALE PLANS

Operations Plan

CB CFP-3
NORTH

1 Operations Plan
SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

NORTH
2 Loading Dock Plan

SCALE: 1/8" = 1'-0"

406

Item 38.



16-19997
V7.0 ER

CEDAR FALLS, IA
ALDI Inc.     Store #: 64

Drawing No.

ISG Project No.
Type:

Drawn By:

Project Name & Location:

Drawing Name:

Date:
A

Issued:

1
Date:Revisions:

B
C
D
E

2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

1

Designed By:

Reviewed By:

MANAGING LOCATION:

Inc.
(507) 333-9460

(507) 333-9475 fax

4201 Bagley Avenue North
Faribault, MN  55021

PYLON SIGN DETAILS

C-025

JMF

JMF

RJA
C-025 PYLON SIGN DETAILS

 ---- ---- C-025

219 BRANDILYNN BLVD
CEDAR FALLS, IA 50613
BLACKHAWK COUNTY

7900 INTERNATIONAL DRIVE
INTERNATIONAL PLAZA, SUITE 550
MINNEAPOLIS, MN 55425
PHONE: 952.426.0699

MINNEAPOLIS / ST. PAUL OFFICE

SITE PLAN SUBMITTAL 02/19/21

PERMIT SET 03/19/21

BID SET 04/05/21
CONSTRUCTION NOTES:

A.  SPECIFICATIONS
1.  DESIGN, FABRICATION, AND ERECTION OF STRUCTURAL STEEL SHALL BE IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE "STEEL CONSTRUCTION MANUAL", 14TH EDITION, BY THE AMERICAN INSTITUTE OF STEEL

CONSTRUCTION, UNO.
2.  STEEL MATERIALS SHALL MEET THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE FOLLOWING SPECIFICATIONS, UNO.

a.  HSS RECTANGULAR, ASTM A500 GRADE B, Fy = 46 ksi
b.  HSS ROUND, ASTM A500 GRADE B, Fy = 42 ksi
c.  PIPE, ASTM A53 GRADE B, Fy = 35 ksi
d.  PLATES AND BARS, ASTM A36, Fy = 36 ksi

3.  ALL WELDING SHALL CONFORM TO THE REQUIREMENTS OF AWS D1.1 (LATEST EDITION) "STRUCTURAL WELDING CODE".
4.  CONCRETE SHALL BE NORMAL WEIGHT, UNO, AND MEET THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA.

a.  f'c = 4,000 psi
b.  6% +/- 1.5% AIR ENTRAINMENT
c.  0.55 MAXIMUM WATER-TO-CEMENT RATIO
d.  CEMENT SHALL CONFORM TO ASTM C150, TYPE I/II
e.  READY-MIX CONCRETE SHALL BE MIXED AND DELIVERED ACCORDANCE WITH ASTM C94.
f.  CONCRETE SHALL BE CAST INPLACE AGAINST UNDISTURBED SOIL. A SONO-TUBE FORM SHOULD ONLY BE USED FOR THE TOP 12" OF THE FOOTING. CONCRETE FORM-WORK SHALL CONFORM TO

ALL REQUIREMENTS OF ACE 301 (LATEST EDITION) "SPECIFICATIONS FOR STRUCTURAL CONCRETE FOR BUILDINGS", EXCEPT AS MODIFIED BY THESE DRAWINGS.
5.  ALL ANCHOR RODS SHALL BE SUPPLIED AND INSTALLED BY THE CONCRETE CONTRACTOR, UNO, AND MEET THE FOLLOWING SPECIFICATIONS.

a.  ALL ANCHOR RODS SHALL BE ASTM F1554, GRADE 36, HEX-HEAD, NUTS SHALL BE ASTM A563, GRADE A, HEAVY-HEX, HARDENED WASHERS SHALL BE ASTM 436, OVER-SIZED PLATE WASHERS
SHALL BE ASTM A36, AND ALL HOT-DIPPED GALVANIZED.

b.  ALL ANCHOR RODS SHALL BE SET WITH TEMPLATES.
6.  DEFORMED BAR REINFORCEMENT SHALL BE ASTM A615, GRADE 60, UNO, AND MEET THE FOLLOWING CRITERIA.

a.  DEVELOPMENT LENGTH OF STRAIGHT BARS SHALL BE 48 TIMES THE DIAMATER OF THE BAR.
b.  MINIMUM CLEAR CONCRETE COVER SHALL BE 3 INCHES.
c.  ALL REINFORCING STEEL, ANCHOR RODS, DOWELS, AND INSERTS SHALL BE SECURED IN POSITION WITH WIRE POSITIONERS, OR EQUIVALENT, BEFORE PLACING CONCRETE.

7.  PYLON POLES ARE TO BE PAINTED "SHERWIN WILLIAMS SW-7019 GAUNTLET GRAY". FOLLOW MANUFACTURER'S SPEC FOR PAINTING.

B.  SUBMITTALS:
1.  PRIOR TO SUBMITTAL, THE CONTRACTOR SHALL REVIEW THE SHOP DRAWINGS AND MAKE ANY CORRECTIONS REQUIRED. THE CONTRACTOR SHALL STAMP AND SIGN THE SHOP DRAWINGS PRIOR TO

SUBMITTAL TO THE ENGINEER.
2.  THE CONTRACTOR SHALL SUBMIT PRODUCT DATA FOR PROPRIETARY MATERIAL AND ITEMS, INCLUDING FORMING ACCESSORIES, ADMIXTURES, PATCHING COMPOUNDS, SEALANTS, WATERSTOPS,

JOINT SYSTEMS, CURING COMPOUNDS, AND OTHERS IN AND FOR CONSTRUCTION.
3.  THE FABRICATOR SHALL CLEARLY HIGHLIGHT/CLOUD ANY CHANGES MADE IN THE SHOP DRAWINGS WHICH DO NOT COMPLY WITH DESIGN DRAWINGS, ANY CHANGES MUST BE APPROVED BY THE

ENGINEER PRIOR TO FABRICATION.
4.  CONTRACTOR TO SUBMIT THE FOLLOWING DRAWINGS TO ENGINEER FOR REVIEW PRIOR TO CONSTRUCTION OF SIGN.

a.  CONCRETE REINFORCING STEEL
b.  ANCHOR RODS
c.  CONCRETE MIX DESIGNS
d.  STRUCTURAL STEEL
e.  ADDITIONAL SHOP DRAWINGS REQUESTED IN THE SPECIFICATIONS.

5.  A COPY OF ALL SHOP DRAWINGS SHALL BE MAINTAINED ON SITE AT ALL TIMES.

C.  QUALITY CONTROL AND QUALITY ASSURANCE:
1.  COORDINATE FOR ENGINEER OR OWNER'S INDEPENDENT TESTING AGENCY TO INSPECT AND APPROVE REINFORCING STEEL AND EMBEDS PRIOR TO ORDERING CONCRETE.
2.  COORDINATE FOR OWNER'S INDEPENDENT TESTING AGENCY TO BE ON SITE AND PERFORM CONTINUOUS INSPECTION WHILE CONCRETE PLACEMENT IS OCCURING. PROVIDE NOTICE NO LESS THAN 48

HOURS IN ADVANCE OF CONCRETE PLACEMENT.
3.  COORDINATE WITH OWNER'S INDEPENDENT TESTING AGENCY TO SAMPLE CONCRETE AT TIME OF PLACEMENT IN ORDER TO PERFORM SLUMP, AIR, TEMPERATURE AND CASTING OF CYLINDERS.
4.  ANY AND ALL WORK PERFORMED WITHOUT PROPER INSPECTION AND TESTING AS OUTLINED IN THIS SPECIFICATION WILL BE CONSIDERED UNAUTHORIZED WORK. ANY CORRECTIVE MEASURES

REQUIRED OF THE UNAUTHORIZED WORK WILL BE AT CONTRACTORS OWN EXPENSE.

12
'-0

"

10'-11/16"

40
'-0

"

5'-
6"'A' 'A'

N.T.S.

ALDI, INC. PYLON SIGN DETAIL 'A'

GRADE 100'-0"

SEE DETAIL 'B'

N.T.S.

DETAIL 'B'

6"
 (T

YP
.)

48"ø REINFORCED CONCRETE PIER

'A'-'A'

18"Ø STD. PIPE COLUMN

(1) 1-3/4"x30"x30" PLATE
3" TYP.

(28) #9 BARS VERTICAL WITH 3" CONCRETE
COVER, HOOKED INTO BASE SLAB

#4 TIES @ 12" O.C. TYP. WITH TOP 24"
WITH #4 TIES @ 4" O.C.

2 1
/2"

 U
NG

RO
UT

ED

2'-
0"

 (4
" S

PA
CI

NG
)

HEAVY HEX NUT

1/2"x3-1/2"x3-1/2" PLATE WASHER

1/2" CONTINUOUS FILLET WELD

1-3/8"Ø ANCHOR BOLT ASSEMBLY 28" LONG
(ASTM F 1554 GR.36), HDG

1/2"x3-1/2"x3-1/2" PLATE WASHERS
TOP & BOTTOM WITH

LEVELING NUT & HARDENED WASHERS

18"Ø STD. PIPE COLUMN

(1) 1-3/4"x30"x30" PLATE

CONCRETE PIER
(MINIMUM 4000 P.S.I.)

F&I: ELECTRIC CONDUIT FOR
10'x12' ILLUMINATED PYLON SIGN
(COORDINATE W/SITE
 ELECTRICAL PLAN)

F&I: ELECTRIC CONDUIT FOR 10'x12' ILLUMINATED
PYLON SIGN (COORDINATE W/SITE ELECTRICAL PLAN)

5'-
6"

48" X 48" RECTANGULAR
REINFORCED CONCRETE PIER

48"

3'-
0"

10'x12' ILLUMINATED PYLON SIGN

2" GAP MAX

28
'

SIGN AT GRADE
(SEE GRADING PLAN FOR

FINISHED GRADE AT SIGN)

9'-
0"

7'-11 1/8"

40
'-0

"

5'-
6"'A' 'A'

N.T.S.

ALDI, INC. PYLON SIGN DETAIL 'B'

6"
 (T

YP
.)

48" SQUARE REINFORCED CONCRETE PIER

 9'x8' ILLUMINATED PYLON SIGN

2" GAP MAX

21
'-6

"

SIGN AT GRADE
(SEE GRADING PLAN FOR

FINISHED GRADE AT SIGN)

9'-
6"

(12) 1-3/8"Ø ANCHOR BOLT ASSEMBLY 28" LONG
(ASTM F 1554 GR.36), HDG

TOP OF PEDESTAL = 100'-6"

TOP OF FOOTING = 95'-0"

GRADE 100'-0"

TOP OF PEDESTAL = 100'-6"

TOP OF FOOTING = 95'-0"
'B' 'B' 'B' 'B'

'B'-'B'

10
'-0

"

18'-0"

4'-0"

4'-
0"

4'-0"

4'-
0"

1'-1" 4'-0" 4'-0" 1'-1"

(28) #9 VERT BARS W/ #4 TIES @ 12" OC

18" CONCRETE BASE SLAB W/ #6 BARS
@ 12" OC, EW TOP & BOT
TSE = 5'-0" BELOW GRADE

SEE DETAIL 'B'

(28) #9 VERT BARS W/ #4 TIES @ 12" OC

18'-0"

DRAFT

407

Item 38.



408

Item 39.



409

Item 40.



410

Item 40.



411

Item 40.



412

Item 40.



413

Item 40.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 
 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: Brett Armstrong, Civil Engineer I 
 
 DATE: June 3rd, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: 2020 Street Patching Project 
   Project No.: RS – 000 – 3243 
   Project Final Out 
 
The 2020 Street Patching Project is completed and ready for final acceptance. This 
project involved the construction of forty-three (43) utility patches on existing City 
streets. The work included removal and replacement of temporary patches, PCC curb 
and gutter, subgrade preparation, replacement of driveway approaches and pedestrian 
ramps though-out the City. This project was under contract with Boulder Contracting, 
LLC of Grundy Center, Iowa. Attached please find the following final documents: 
  -  Final Pay Estimate (releases retainage) 
  -  Final Breakdown of Costs 
   -  Copy of Maintenance Bond, Boulder Contracting LLC. 
 
The following lien waivers have been received, reviewed by the Engineering Division 
and are on file with the City Clerk: 
 
Boulder Contracting, LLC Suppliers: 
Benton’s Ready Mixed Concrete Inc. 

 

Boulder Contracting, LLC  
Subcontractors including subcontractor suppliers: 
Service Signing  
Tiedt 
Aspro 

 414

Item 41.



This project was funded by Cedar Falls Utilities and below is a breakdown of final 
contract costs by the funding source: 
 

Funding Source Attributed Costs 

Cedar Falls Utilities   $289,563.86 

 
I certify that the public improvements for the 2020 Street Patching Project were 
completed in reasonable compliance with the project plans and specifications. 
 
 
 
      ______________________________________ 
            Brett Armstrong   Date 
 
xc:  Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 
 David Wicke, P.E., City Engineer 

Lisa Roeding, Finance Manager  
 
 
 
 

6/3/2021 

415

Item 41.



5/29/2021

416

Item 41.



417

Item 41.



418

Item 41.



419

Item 41.



420

Item 41.



421

Item 41.



422

Item 41.



423

Item 41.



424

Item 41.



425

Item 41.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com  

 

MEMORANDUM 
Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

  

 
 
  

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M. Green and City Council  

 FROM: Matthew Tolan, EI, Civil Engineer II 

 DATE: June 3, 2021  

 SUBJECT: Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 

  City Project No.: RC-000-3171 
  Iowa DOT No.: 101—07-1185-652 

  Bid Opening 
 
On May 18th, 2021 at 10:00 a.m., bids were received and opened by the Iowa 
Department of Transportation for the Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project. A 
total of four (4) bids were received, with Peterson Contractors Inc. submitting low bid: 
 

 Bid Total 

Peterson Contractors Inc. $6,520,858.73 

Pirc-Tobin Construction, Inc.  $6,772,273.85 

Streb Construction Co. & E&F Paving Co. $7,158,096.30 

C.J. Moyna & Sons, LLC & Progressive Structures, LLC $7,306,137.32 

 
The Engineer's Estimate for this project was $7,560,000.  The bid submitted by 
Peterson Contractors Inc. of $6,520,858.73 is 13.7% below the Engineer's Estimate.  
 
We recommend acceptance of the low bid from Peterson Contractors Inc. of Reinbeck, 
Iowa in the amount of $6,520,858.73.  Upon acceptance of the low bid, we recommend 
authorizing the City Engineer to execute the contract, along with required bond and 
insurance, using the Iowa DOT’s electronic file management system.  Use of the Iowa 
DOT’s electronic file management system is required for this contract. 
 
 
Xc: Chase Schrage, Public Works Director 
 David Wicke, PE, City Engineer 

426

Item 42.



Apparent Bids for Letting of May 18, 2021
Letting ID: 21/05/18
Cut-off Time: 10:00:59 AM CDT
Proposal: 101--07-1185-652 
Counties: BLACK HAWK

PCC PAVEMENT - GRADE & REPLACE

Bidder Name Bid Amount Comment DBE
PETERSON CONTRACTORS INC. $6,520,858.73 0.00%
PIRC-TOBIN CONSTRUCTION, INC. $6,772,273.85 0.00%
STREB CONSTRUCTION CO & E&F PAVING CO., JV $7,158,096.30 0.00%
C.J. MOYNA & SONS, LLC & PROGRESSIVE STRUCTURES, LLC, JV $7,306,137.32 0.00%

(4 apparent bids)

427

Item 42.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 
 

City of Cedar Falls 
220 Clay Street 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 50613 
Phone: 319-268-5161 
Fax: 319-268-5197 
www.cedarfalls.com 

 
MEMORANDUM 

Engineering Division 

  

  

 

 

 
 
 

 

 TO: Honorable Mayor Robert M Green and City Council 
 
 FROM: David Wicke, PE - City Engineer 
 
 DATE: June 3, 2021 
 
 SUBJECT: Professional Services Agreement, Snyder & Associates, Inc.   
  Supplemental Agreement No. 3 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction – Greenhill Rd. to E. Viking Rd.  
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 
 
Please find attached Supplemental Agreement No. 3 to the Professional Services Agreement 
between the City of Cedar Falls and Snyder & Associates, Inc. for Cedar Heights Drive 
Reconstruction Engineering Services. This supplemental agreement provides construction 
administration, observation and staking services for the construction of the project. Services will 
include: construction observation and testing services in accordance with Iowa DOT 
requirements, project monitoring and documentation, change order processing, pay application 
review and processing, project quantity reporting, Iowa DOT audit preparations, SWPPP 
inspections and general instruction/training to City staff as needed for the use of the Iowa DOT 
Doc Express electronic filing system.     
  
The City of Cedar Falls entered into a Professional Services Agreement with Snyder & 
Associates, Inc. for the Reconstruction Project on April 20, 2019.  The construction project will 
utilize the Surface Transportation Block Grant (STBG) Programming Agreement of $2,900,000 
Federal-aid Swap funds and Traffic Safety Improvement Program (TSIP) funds of $500,000, 
Local Match funding sources (GO Bonds, Street Construction Funds and Local Option Sales 
Tax Funds).  
 
The attached supplemental agreement includes the construction services for Cedar Heights 
Drive Reconstruction Project. Compensation for the services shall be on an hourly basis and in 
a total amount not to exceed $367,000.  
 
The Department of Public Works requests your consideration and approval of this Supplemental 
Agreement No. 3 with Snyder & Associates, Inc. for construction services for the Cedar Heights 
Drive Reconstruction Project.  
 
If you have any questions or comments feel free to contact me. 
 
xc: Chase Schrage, Director of Public Works 

428

Item 43.



DEPARTMENT OF PUBLIC WORKS 

OPERATIONS & MAINTENANCE DIVISION 
2200 TECHNOLOGY PKWY 
319-273-8629 
FAX 319-273-8632 

ENGINEERING DIVISION 
220 CLAY STREET 
319-268-5161 
FAX 319-268-5197` 

WATER RECLAMATION DIVISION 
501 E. 4TH STREET 
319-273-8633 
FAX 319-268-5566 

 

 

 

 

 

 

SUPPLEMENTAL AGREEMENT NO. 3 
 

Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project Number RC-000-3171 
 

 
WHEREAS, a Professional Services Agreement was entered into by the City of Cedar Falls, Iowa (CLIENT), 
and Snyder & Associates, Inc. (CONSULTANT), of Cedar Rapids, Iowa, dated April 15, 2019 for the Cedar 
Heights Drive Reconstruction Project; and 
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to include Scope of 
Services and Compensation for additional design items required as a part of the Cedar Heights Drive 
Reconstruction Project,  
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to modify the Scope 
of Services and Compensation for Construction Phase items as a part of the Cedar Heights Drive 
Reconstruction Project,  
 
WHEREAS, the CLIENT and CONSULTANT desire to amend the previous agreement to assign fees to scope 
modifications as part of the Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project,  
 
NOW THEREFORE, it is mutually agreed to amend the original Professional Services Agreement as follows:  
 

I.  SCOPE OF SERVICES 
 
 The Scope of Services and basis for Compensation derivation are as follows: 
 

A. The CONSULTANT shall coordinate the protection and/or relocation of the CenturyLink 
infrastructure within their easements located within the Cedar Heights Drive ROW. The CLIENT 
shall be responsible for developing and implementing relocation agreements.  
 

B. The CONSUTLANT shall prepare and assist with the submittal of a Traffic Safety Improvement 
Program (TSIP) funding application for the Cedar Heights Drive and Huntington Road 
Roundabout. 
 

C. The CONSULTANT shall provide the following estimated number of acquisition documents in 
addition to the numbers listed in the original Professional Services Agreement:  

1. Right-of-way (fee title; plat signed by an LS) – 0 
2. Permanent easement (plat signed by an LS) – 0 
3. Temporary easement (exhibit; no signature required) – 3 

The acquisition services listed in the original agreement shall also apply to the parcels added 
herein.  
 

D. The CONSULTANT shall develop additional staging and traffic control options to address access 
to businesses and residents in the Cedar Hill Road area. Following review of the additional staging 

429

Item 43.



Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

and traffic control options, the CONSULTANT shall modify the plans as necessary to reflect the 
changes. 

 
E. The CONSULTANT shall provide limited staking of work limits for utilities in relocations areas, 

upon approval from the CLIENT. 
 

F. The Construction Phase Support Services below shall be provided and replace the Construction 
Phase Scope included in the original Professional Service Agreement, Task F- Construction 
Phase.  

Construction Phase Support Services 

The CLIENT will provide a staff member to serve as the Project Engineer for Iowa Department of 
Transportation (DOT) compliance and coordination. This person will be responsible for signing items 
uploaded to Doc Express. The CLIENT will provide a staff member to serve as the person in 
responsible charge for DOT compliance and coordination. The CONSULTANT shall provide staff to 
supplement CLIENT staff completing Construction Phase Support Services as requested during 
construction.  

If the Contractor does not meet the completion period requirements, or if change orders or Project 
additions require additional construction time, the CONSULTANT will be compensated for any 
additional administration and construction observation when authorized by the CLIENT. Additionally 
this agreement provides for an estimated maximum amount of construction phase support services. 
Additional time may be requested by the CLIENT. 

 

1.0  Construction Administration 

 The CONSULTANT will provide periodic and/or supplemental construction administration to 
assist the CLIENT’S staff for the Project during the Construction Phase. The time spent is 
dependent upon the CLIENT’S request, contractor’s schedule, rate of progress, and type of 
work. It is estimated that part time administration services will be provided. Below are tasks 
that the CONSULTANT should provide assistance with as requested by the CLIENT. 

1.1   Preconstruction Conference  

The CONSULTANT shall attend a pre-construction meeting scheduled and held by the 
CLIENT to review the contract requirements, details of construction, utility conflicts and 
work schedule prior to construction. The CONSULTANT shall be responsible for 
drafting meeting notices, facilitating the meeting, and meeting minutes. The CLIENT 
will be responsible for setup, coordination, follow-up for the meeting and distribution of 
the meeting minutes.   

1.2   Contractor Payment Requests  

The CLIENT shall review the requests of the contractor for progress payments and 
shall approve a request, based on site observations, which recommends payments 
and is a declaration that the contractor's work has progressed to the point indicated. 
Pay Requests and associated work is NOT part of the services to be provided by the 
CONSULTANT.  

1.3   Notification of Nonconformance  

The CLIENT shall be responsible for documenting any known work which does not 
generally conform to the construction contract, make recommendations for the 
correction of nonconforming work and seeing that these recommendations are 
implemented by the contractor. Notifications of Nonconformance and this associated 
work is NOT part of the services to be provided by the CONSULTANT. 

 

 

430

Item 43.



Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

1.4   Shop Drawings  

The CONSULTANT shall review shop drawings and other submissions of the 
Contractor for general compliance with the construction contract. Distribution of 
reviewed shop drawings shall be coordinated with the CLIENT and CONSULTANT. 

1.5   Change Orders  

The CONSULTANT shall negotiate and prepare change orders for approval by the 
CLIENT. The CONSULTANT shall prepare Information for distribution to the 
Contractor for additional direction and/or plan clarification.  

1.6   Pre-Pour Meeting  

The CLIENT shall schedule, prepare agendas and coordinate pre-pour meeting/s to 
review project. The CONSULTANT shall attend and participate in one pre-pour 
meeting for each of the 2021 and 2022 construction seasons. 

1.7   General Coordination 

The CLIENT shall be responsible for property owner coordination, organizing and 
scheduling as well as attending and conducting bi-weekly construction meetings, and 
provide monthly project updates for the City’s website. The CONSULTANT shall be 
available to assist with property owner coordination and plan to attend every other bi-
weekly construction meetings. 

1.8   Spring 2022 Kickoff Meeting 

The CONSULTANT shall assist with coordinating a spring 2022 construction kickoff 
meeting following winter shutdown. This meeting shall take place prior to construction 
beginning in the spring. Schedules and remaining construction activities shall be 
discussed. The CLIENT will be responsible for setup, coordination, follow-up for the 
meeting and distribution of the meeting minutes. 

1.9   Substantially Complete and Final Project Walkthrough  

The CLIENT shall perform a project walkthrough to determine if the PROJECT is 
substantially complete according to the plans and specifications and make a 
recommendation on final payment. This shall include the development of a punch list 
of items to be completed by the contractor for completion along with subsequent site 
review and correspondence. The CONSULTANT shall be available to assist with the 
(1) final project walkthrough which may include CLIENT staff (including Engineering, 
Public Works and Water Reclamation staff), the Contractor and DOT personnel. The 
CONSULTANT shall also be available for general assistance related to tasks included 
with this item.  

1.10 Final Acceptance  

It is understood that the CLIENT will accept any portion of a Project only after their 
review of the construction. Final acceptance and associated work is NOT part of the 
services to be provided by the CONSULTANT. 

1.11 As-Built Drawings 

The CLIENT shall be responsible for documenting construction and preparing as-built 
drawings for the PROJECT. Such as-built drawings may contain a waiver of liability 
phrase in regard to unknown changes made by the Contractor without 
CLIENT/CONSULTANT approval.  

The as-built drawings will include new water main fittings and valve locations and 
elevations, new storm sewer pipe flowline elevations and slopes, and new sanitary 
sewer main flowline elevations and slopes. As-built drawings and associated work is 
NOT part of the services to be provided by the CONSULTANT. 

431

Item 43.



Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
  Cedar Falls, Iowa 
  City Project No. RC-000-3171 

 

2.0  Construction Staking 

Construction staking and associated work is NOT part of the services to be provided by the 
CONSULTANT as part of this agreement. 

3.0 Construction Observation 

The CONSULTANT will provide periodic and/or supplemental site observation to assist the 
CLIENT’S staff for the Project during the Construction Phase. The time spent on site is 
dependent upon the CLIENT’S request, contractor’s schedule, rate of progress, and type of 
work. If a Contractor requests a waiver of any provisions of the plans and specifications, the 
CONSULTANT will assist the CLIENT with a recommendation and/or drafting a response to 
the request. The CLIENT will provide the responses to the Contractor. The CONSULTANT will 
give guidance to the Project during the construction period as requested by the CLIENT, 
including the following: 

3.1 Observation 

 The CONSULTANT shall provide staff when requested by the CLIENT to supplement 
observation of the work for general compliance with plans and specifications. It is estimated 
that part time observation services will be provided. 

3.2 Record/Log 

 The CLIENT shall keep a record of Contractor's activities throughout construction, 
including notation on the nature and cost of any extra work or changes ordered during 
construction. Record/Log and associated work is NOT part of the services to be provided 
by the CONSULTANT. 

3.3 Resident Construction Services  

 The CLIENT shall provide representation at the job site during the Construction Phase of 
the Project, which results in an increase in the probability that the Project will be 
constructed in substantial compliance with the plans and specifications. However, such 
Resident Services do not guarantee the Contractor's performance. Nor do such Resident 
Services include responsibility for construction means, techniques, procedures or safety 
used in constructing the work described in this agreement. Resident construction services 
and associated work is NOT part of the services to be provided by the CONSULTANT. 

3.4 Testing/Monitoring 

 The CLIENT will coordinate the acceptance testing and monitoring according to the 
specifications, including the services provided by an independent testing laboratory. 
Testing services by an independent laboratory may be performed on behalf of the CLIENT. 
The CLIENT shall be responsible for PCC air, slump and strength testing (if maturity is not 
utilized), certified plant monitoring, and aggregate testing. It is anticipated that the 
Contractor will be responsible for compaction, moisture and density, and special 
compaction testing. Testing and monitoring services and associated work is NOT part of 
the services to be provided by the CONSULTANT. 

 
II.  COMPENSATION 
 
 Compensation for this scope of Services shall be on an hourly basis in accordance with the hourly 

fees and other direct expenses in effect at the time the services are performed.  Total compensation 
is a not to exceed fee of Three Hundred Sixty-Seven Thousand Dollars ($367,000). This 
compensation shall be added to and included with the services and monthly invoice for this project. 
The CONSULTANT shall notify the CLIENT when approximately Twenty-Thousand Dollars 
($20,000) of budget remains on this project. This should allow for the CLIENT to consider and 
determine if additional budget should be added for Construction Phase Support services needed. 
Services are anticipated to end during the summer of 2023.  

432

Item 43.



Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction Project 
Cedar Falls, Iowa 

City Project No. RC-000-3171 

III. In all other aspects, the obligations of the CLIENT and CONSULTANT shall remain as specified in
the Professional Services Agreement dated April 15, 2019.

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties hereto have executed this agreement on the day and year written below. 

APPROVED FOR CLIENT APPROVED FOR CONSULTANT. 

By:  By:

Printed Name: Printed Name:   Lindsay Beaman        

Title: Title:        Business Unit Leader         

Date:  Date: May 12, 2021

433

Item 43.



434

Item 44.



435

Item 44.



436

Item 44.



437

Item 44.



438

Item 44.



439

Item 44.



440

Item 44.



441

Item 44.



442

Item 44.



443

Item 44.



444

Item 44.



445

Item 44.



446

Item 44.



447

Item 44.



448

Item 44.



449

Item 44.



450

Item 44.



451

Item 44.



452

Item 44.



453

Item 44.



454

Item 44.



455

Item 44.



456

Item 44.



457

Item 44.



458

Item 44.



459

Item 44.



460

Item 44.



461

Item 44.



462

Item 44.



463

Item 44.



464

Item 44.



465

Item 44.



466

Item 44.



467

Item 44.



468

Item 44.



469

Item 44.



470

Item 44.



471

Item 44.



472

Item 44.



473

Item 44.



474

Item 44.



475

Item 44.



476

Item 44.



477

Item 44.



478

Item 44.



479

Item 44.



480

Item 44.



481

Item 44.



482

Item 44.



483

Item 44.



484

Item 44.



485

Item 44.



486

Item 44.



487

Item 44.



488

Item 44.



489

Item 44.



490

Item 44.



491

Item 44.



492

Item 44.



493

Item 44.



494

Item 44.



495

Item 44.



496

Item 44.



497

Item 44.



498

Item 44.



499

Item 44.



500

Item 44.



501

Item 44.



502

Item 44.


	Top
	Item 1.	Regular Meeting of May 17, 2021
	210517MINUTES

	Item 2.	Proclamation-Bird Friendly
	2021-06-W3_Bird_Friendly_City

	Item 3.	Proclamation-Juneteenth
	2021-06-19_Juneteenth

	Item 4.	PH-Ashworth Drive Extension Right of Way
	1. Memo - ROW Acquisition Setting of Public Hearing
	2. Ashworth Exhibit

	Item 5.	PH-W 27th Street Sanitary Sewer Extension Project
	1. PH Memo - W 27th Street Sanitary Sewer
	2. Final Estimated Construction Costs - 2021-04-30

	Item 6.	PH-Oak Park Sanitary Sewer Repair
	1. PH Memo - Oak Park Sanitary Sewer
	2. EOPC_2021-05-12_OakParkBlvd

	Item 7.	2989-Rezoning Pinnacle Prairie
	1 - CC Staff Report for Cedar Heights Drive Rezoning 5.17.21
	2 -Rezoning Plat - 2-23-2021
	3 - Cedar Hts. Dr. Explanation of Request 3-8-2021
	4 - 309.001_PDP06-2021-03-08
	5 - 309.001_MP16-MP 2021-03-08
	6 - 309.001 DESIGN GUIDELINES - SDA 2021-03-08
	7 - Master Plan 4-9-15
	2989-Rezoning-Pinnacle Prairie

	Item 8.	2990-Board & Commission
	1-Memo to Mayor Council Sec.  2-276 amendment
	2-Redline Ordinance Amendment to Sec. 2-276
	2990-Board & Commission Appts

	Item 9.	2991-Parking-Place to Play Park
	1. Parking Prohibited on Algonquin and Ashworth Drive Ordinance Memo (1)
	2. Redlined Sec._23_374
	2991-Parking-Place to Play Park

	Item 10.	Mayor Monthly Report-May 2021
	2021-06-03_MayorMonthlyReport

	Item 11.	Appt-Standing Committees-2021
	CY2021.1 AppointmentofStandingCommittees

	Item 12.	HRC-Barney Resignation
	HRC-Barney Resignation

	Item 13.	Reappointments-Boards & Commissions
	3997_001
	2021-06-02_ACB_Reappoint

	Item 14.	Committee of the Whole Minutes - May 17, 2021
	210517 Committee of the Whole Meeting Minutes

	Item 15.	Public Safety Officer Civil Service Certified List
	PublicSafetyOfficer-CertList6-2021

	Item 16.	Monthly Report - April
	04 - April 2021 Departmental Monthly Report

	Item 17.	Tobacco Permits 06/07/2021
	06072021 Tobacco Applications

	Item 18.	Liquor - Beer 6/7/21
	Liquor Beer 6-7-21

	Item 19.	Assessment-1122 West 22nd Street
	1122 W 22nd Street-Assessment

	Item 20.	Assessment-2413 Olive Street
	2413 Olive Street-Assessment

	Item 21.	Assessment-804 Seerley Blvd.
	804 Seerley Blvd.-Assessment

	Item 22.	Assessment-818 Seerley Blvd.
	818 Seerley Blvd-Assessment

	Item 23.	Easement Agreement-Sidewalk Cafe-419 Main Street
	3998_001

	Item 24.	COBRA Admin-WEX Health, Inc.
	1. WEX COBRA Administration Services Council Memo 6-1-21
	2. City COBRA Administration Contract With WEX
	3. WEX Contract Exhibit A

	Item 25.	Group Long-Term Disability Insurance Renewal
	1. Group LTD Insurance Renewal Council Memo
	2. 2021 renewal letter_Madision National Life

	Item 26.	RETF Facilitation Proposal-ISU
	ISU Extension facilitator memo 06-07-21
	CF RETF Proposal 6 3 21

	Item 27.	FY22 Community Betterment Grant-Community Theatre
	1Memo Betterment Grants
	Community Theatre

	Item 28.	FY22 Community Betterment Grant-Historical Society
	3 historical

	Item 29.	FY22 Community Betterment Grant-CH Partnership
	4 College Hill

	Item 30.	FY22 Community Betterment Grant-UNI Gallagher Bluedorn
	5 UNI Gallagher

	Item 31.	FY22 Community Betterment Grant-Veterans
	Veterans

	Item 32.	FY22 Community Betterment Grant-Waterloo-CF Symphony
	Waterloo Symphony

	Item 33.	ePRepSolutions-Rec Center
	1. Comprehensive Analysis Council request 6.3.21 final
	2. ePrep Solutions contract 6-3-21
	PASS Scope of Services 5-3-21 Cedar Falls

	Item 34.	Agreement with Bear Creek Archeology-IEDA
	1_CC Memo Approving Contract 06-07-21
	2_Signed Contract BCA, Inc.
	3_Site Certification Area Map

	Item 35.	CHN Site Plan-2125 College St.
	1.CC Staff report-G&#39;s at 2125 College
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. Supplemental materials 1
	4. supplemental materials 2
	5. 2125 College suite D revised letter of intent

	Item 36.	Ingress/Egress Easement-River Place Properties II, LC. (302 Main Street and 123 E 3rd Street)
	1 CC Memo for ingress egress agreement
	2. Signed agreement
	3. 4&#39; NO BUILD EASEMENT

	Item 37.	Minor Plat-Blain's Corner 2nd Addition
	1. CC Staff report for Blain&#39;s Corner
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. 19997 PLAT-1 5-12-21
	4. 19997 PLAT-2 5-12-21
	5. Owner&#39;s statement dedicating easements and restrictions
	6. Certificate of survey

	Item 38.	HWY-1 Site Plan for Aldi's
	1_CC staff report for Aldi's Site Plan
	2. ZoningLocationMap
	3. 19997 ALDI Cedar Falls IA Bid-Permit Set 2021-04-20
	4. Cedar Falls IA - A201
	5. Cedar Falls IA - A202
	6. Color Elevations - ALDI
	7. Floor Plan - ALDI
	8. ALDI-Blain Pylon Sign-C-025

	Item 39.	PW-Equipment Purchase-End loader
	small wheel loader cc 6 7 21

	Item 40.	Lease Agreement-1500 Bluff Office
	Lease agreement cover
	lease agreement x 2

	Item 41.	2020 Street Patching Project Final Out
	1. 2020 Street Patching Project Final Out Memo (1)
	2. Retainage Release
	4. Performace, Payment and Maintenance Bond
	5. Lien Waivers

	Item 42.	Low Bid - Cedar Heights Drive Reconstruction
	1. Memo - Low Bid CHD
	2. Low Bid CHD Iowa DOT

	Item 43.	Supp No. 3-PSA-Cedar Heights Recon.
	1. Memo_SA no. 3 Snyder
	2. PSA_SuppAgr03_CHD

	Item 44.	Bills
	1 Daily Invoices 060721
	2 Council Invoices 060721

	Bottom

